
 

Dinas a Sir Abertawe 
 
Hysbysiad o Gyfarfod 
 
Fe'ch gwahoddir i gyfarfod 

 

Y Cabinet 
 

Lleoliad: 
 

Siambr y Cyngor, Neuadd y Ddinas, Abertawe 
 

Dyddiad: 
 

Dydd Iau, 21 Tachwedd 2019 

Amser: 
 

10.00 am 

Cadeirydd: Cynghorydd Rob Stewart 
 

Aelodaeth: 
Cynghorwyr: M C Child, R Francis-Davies, D H Hopkins, A S Lewis, C E Lloyd, 
S Pritchard, J A Raynor, A H Stevens a/ac M Thomas 
 
Hefyd gwahoddwyd: E J King & A Pugh 
 
Gweddarlledu: Gellir ffilmio’r cyfarfod hwn i’w ddarlledu’n fyw neu’n ddiweddarach 
drwy wefan y cyngor. Drwy fynd i mewn i Siambr y Cyngor, rydych yn cytuno i gael 
eich ffilmio ac i’r delweddau a’r recordiadau sain hynny gael eu defnyddio at 
ddibenion gweddarlledu a/neu hyfforddiant o bosib. 
 
Mae croeso i chi siarad Cymraeg yn y cyfarfod. 
Dywedwch wrthym erbyn canol dydd, ddeuddydd cyn y cyfarfod. 
 

Agenda 
Rhif y Dudalen. 

1.   Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.  
 
2.   Datgeliadau o fuddiannau personol a rhagfarnol.  

 www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeliadauBuddiannau  
 
3.   Cofnodion. 1 - 3 

 Cymeradwyo a llofnodi, fel cofnod cywir, gofnodion y cyfarfod(ydd) 
blaenorol. 

 

 
4.   Cyhoeddiadau Arweinydd y Cyngor.  
 
5.   Cwestiynau gan y cyhoedd.  

 Rhaid i'r cwestiynau ymwneud â materion ar ran agored agenda'r 
cyfarfod, ac ymdrinnir â hwy o fewn 10 munud. 

 

 
6.   Hawl i holi cynghorwyr.  
 
7.   Adborth ar Graffu Cyn Penderfynu - Cam 1 Abertawe Ganolog - 

Adroddiad Cyflwyno Terfynol.  (Llafar) 
 

http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeliadauBuddiannau


 

 

 
8.   Cam 1 Abertawe Ganolog - Adroddiad Cyflwyno Terfynol.* 4 - 344 
 
9.   Adborth ar Graffu Cyn Penderfynu - Canfyddiadau Adolygiad 

Comisiynu Tai.  (Llafar) 
 

 
10.   Canfyddiadau Adolygiad Comisiynu Tai.* 345 - 376 
 
11.   Monitro Refeniw a'r Gyllideb Gyfalaf - Chwarter 2il 2019/20 377 - 394 
 
12.   Marchnata Safleoedd Strategol - Cyfle am Fenter ar y Cyd yng 

nghanol y ddinas & FPR7. 
395 - 413 

 
13.   Strategaeth Cydymffurfio Statudol. 414 - 457 
 
14.   Ymchwiliad Craffu ar Dwristiaeth - Ymateb a Chynllun Gweithredu 

Aelod y Cabinet. 
458 - 492 

 
15.   Ymchwiliad Craffu ar Waith Cydraddoldeb - Ymateb Aelodau ' r 

Cabinet. 
493 - 525 

 
16.   Gwahardd y cyhoedd. 526 - 529 
 
17.   Cam 1 Abertawe Ganolog - Adroddiad Cyflwyno Terfynol.* 530 - 880 
 
 
 

* Gweithdrefn Galw i Mewn - Testun Craffu cyn Penderfynu: Mae’r penderfyniad 
hwn yn rhydd o Weithdrefn Galw i Mewn yr awdurdod gan fod “y penderfyniad wedi 
bod yn destun Craffu Cyn Penderfynu ac ni fu unrhyw newid pwysig i 
wybodaeth/dystiolaeth berthnasol”. 
 

 
 
Cyfarfod Nesaf: Dydd Gwener, 13 Rhagfyr 2019 ar 10.00 am 

 

 
 
Huw Evans 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd   
Dydd Mercher, 13 Tachwedd 2019 

Cyswllt: Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - Ffon: (01792) 636923 
 



 
 

 

City and County of Swansea 
 

Minutes of the Cabinet 
 

Council Chamber - Guildhall, Swansea  

Thursday, 17 October 2019 at 10.00 am  

 
Present: Councillor R C Stewart (Chair) Presided 

 
Councillor(s) Councillor(s) Councillor(s) 
M C Child R Francis-Davies D H Hopkins 
A S Lewis J A Raynor S Pritchard 
 
Officer(s)  
Adam Hill Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Resources 
Tracey Meredith Chief Legal Officer / Monitoring Officer 
Huw Evans Head of Democratic Services 
Ben Smith Chief Finance Officer / Section 151 Officer 
Phil Roberts Chief Executive 
 
Apologies for Absence 
Councillor(s): C E Lloyd, A H Stevens and M Thomas 

 

 
79. Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 

 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City and County of 
Swansea, the following interest was declared: 
 
1) Councillors R Francis-Davies and A S Lewis declared a Personal Interest in 

Minute 87 “Local Authority Governor Appointments”; 
 
2) Councillor J A Raynor declared a Personal & Prejudicial Interest in Minute 87 

“Local Authority Governor Appointments” and stated that she had 
dispensation from the Standards Committee to Stay, Speak but Not Vote on 
matters relating to the Appointment of Local Authority Governors. 

 
80. Minutes. 

 
Resolved that the Minutes of the meeting(s) listed below be approved and signed as 
a correct record: 
 
1) Cabinet held on 19 September 2019. 
 

81. Announcements of the Leader of the Council. 
 
1) Honorary Alderman Alan Lloyd – Condolences 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.



Minutes of the Cabinet (17.10.2019) 
Cont’d 

 

The Presiding Member referred with sadness to the recent death of Honorary 
Alderman Alan Lloyd.  Alan was a former Councillor and former Lord Mayor. 

 
All present stood as a mark of sympathy and respect. 

 
82. Public Question Time. 

 
No questions were asked. 
 

83. Councillors' Question Time. 
 
No questions were asked. 
 

84. Annual Review of Performance 2018/19. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Delivery & Performance submitted a report which sought to 
publish the Annual Review of Performance 2018-2019, reporting progress 
undertaken to meet the Council’s Well-being Objectives described in the Corporate 
Plan and to meet other requirements set out within statutory guidance concerning 
the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2009. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
1) The Annual Review of Performance 2018-2019 be approved. 
 

85. Contract Award and Capital Programme Authorisation for New Build for YGG 
Tan-y-lan. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Education Improvement, Learning & Skills submitted a 
report which sought: 
 
i) To approve the scheme for the new build for YGG Tan-y-lan subject to 

confirmation of grant and contract with Welsh Government; 
 
ii) Authorisation to award the contract for the works to Tender No. 1, subject to 

confirmation of grant and contract with Welsh Government; 
 
iii) To approve the notification of a modification to the proposal to enlarge YGG 

Tan-y-lan to a revised implementation date in line with the proposed 
contractor appointment and updated project timeline. 

 
Resolved that: 
 
1) The contract be approved for the remaining design and construction of a new 

build for YGG Tan-y-lan on land in the ownership of the Council at 
Beaconsview Road, Clase to Tender No. 1, subject to confirmation of grant 
and contract with Welsh Government 

 

Page 2



Minutes of the Cabinet (17.10.2019) 
Cont’d 

 

2) The notification of a modification to the proposal to enlarge YGG Tan-y-lan to 
a revised implementation date in line with the proposed contractor 
appointment and updated project timeline be approved; 

 
3) The capital scheme as detailed together with the financial implications be 

approved in line with FPR7, subject to confirmation of the grant and contract 
with Welsh Government. 

 
86. Regenerating Our City for Wellbeing and Wildlife – The Draft Swansea Central 

Area Green Infrastructure Strategy. 
 
The Chair of the Economy & Infrastructure Policy Development Committee submitted 
a report which sought approval to undergo public consultation on the Draft Swansea 
Central Area Green Infrastructure Strategy. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
1) The Draft Swansea Central Area Green Infrastructure Strategy be approved 

to go out to public consultation. 
 

87. Local Authority Governor Appointments. 
 
The Local Authority Governors Appointment Group submitted a report, which sought 
approval of the nominations submitted to fill Local Authority (LA) Governor vacancies 
on School Governing Bodies. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
4) The following nominations recommended by the Director of Education in 

conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Education Improvement, Learning & 
Skills be approved: 

 

1) Crwys Primary School Linda Place 

2) Hendrefoilan Primary School Cllr Mary H Jones 

3) Pen y Fro Primary School Andrea Jones 

4) St Helen’s Primary School Cllr Erika T Kirchner 

5) Morriston Comprehensive School Paul Relf 

6) Penyrheol Comprehensive School Graham Ashman 

 
 
The meeting ended at 10.27 am 
 

Chair 
 

Call In Procedure – Relevant Dates 

Minutes Published: 17 October 2019 

Call In Period Expires (3 Clear Working 
Days after Publication): 

23.59 on 22 October 2019 

Decision Comes into force: 23 October 2019 

 

Page 3



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Cabinet Member for Economy and Strategy. 
 

Cabinet 21 November 2019 
 

Swansea Central Phase 1  
Contractor Appointment and FPR7 

 

Purpose: To set out the detailed business case to inform the decision 
making process on whether to proceed with the development, 
and the stage 2 contract award in accordance with Financial 
Procedures Rules and Contract Procedure Rules. 

Policy Framework: Swansea Local Development Plan 2019, Swansea Central Area 
Regeneration Framework (2016)(SCARF), Corporate Priority 
Creating a Vibrant and Viable City and Economy, Council 
Constitution FPR and CPR rules 

Consultation: Finance, Legal, Access to Services. 

Recommendation(s): Cabinet are recommended:- 

 1. To approve the scheme and its financial implications, 
specifically the addition to the capital programme of 
£110.720m under FPR7 

 2. To authorize the award of the main construction contract to 
Buckingham Group Contracting Ltd to deliver the project 

  

Page 4

Agenda Item 8.



 3. To grant delegated authority to the Leader, Director of Place, 
Chief Finance Officer and Chief Legal Officer to approve and 
enter into any documentation and to approve any related 
funding necessary to complete the scheme including the 
Heads of Terms and any documentation necessary to 
facilitate the development of a  hotel on the site. 

 4. To approve the establishment of maintenance and sinking 
fund budgets with spend to be authorised by the Director of 
Place and Chief Finance Officer. 

 5. To approve the capitalisation of officer time working on the 
scheme to support further project delivery, as authorized by 
the Director of Place and Chief Finance Officer. 

 6. To approve setting up a bonded advance payment to 
Buckingham with agreement of the terms and final amount 
delegated to The Director of Place and the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

Report Author: Huw Mowbray 

Finance Officer: Ben Smith 

Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 

Access to Services 
Officer: 

Rhian Millar 

 

 
1.0 Introduction 

 

1.  One of the councils 6 corporate priorities is a vibrant city and economy. Major 
 steps to achieve this have taken place in recent years, including securing of 
 Wales’s biggest city deal the £1.3bn Swansea Bay city deal. The 11 projects 
 within the deal are focused on addressing the region’s economic problems, 
 primarily by diversifying and modernising the South West Wales economy, 
 increasing the productivity of the region and creating jobs. 

 
2.  The biggest project within the City Deal for the City and County of Swansea is 

 the Swansea Digital Waterfront project. The city deal element of this project 
 together with the substantial additional respective U.K. and Welsh Government 
 funding form part of largest regeneration the City of Swansea has seen since 
 its post war rebuilding. 

 
3.  This digital waterfront project has been progressed over the last 3 years and 

 has been the subject of a number of previous cabinet reports of 18th August 
 2016, 16th  March 2017 15th June 2017, 17th March 2017, July 2018 and 29th 
 November 18.The Council has taken a prudent and iterative approach to 
 progressing the scheme through a project management milestone approach to 
 ensure the commitment of budget has been on an as required basis, with the 
 major funding decision at the end of the process, allowing greater certainty over 
 project costs. 
  

4.  A significant amount of progress has been made by officers and Rivington 
 Land and their professional team working through the key milestones for the 
 Swansea Central Phase 1 project since the November 2018 report. This 

Page 5



 means that the scheme has been progressed to a point where a clear 
 recommendation can now be made to Cabinet, setting out the associated 
 issues and risks for Cabinet to scrutinise when making the decision on 
 whether to proceed with the project. This report, together with appendices, 
 sets out the detailed business case and processes which the Council have 
 followed to get to this decision making point. 

 
5. The following key partners are referenced through the report. 

 
o Ambassador Theatre Group – The Councils arena operating partner and 

anchor tenant. A leading international leisure operator with 60 venues across 
the world who run major West End and Broadway events as well as music, 
comedy and conferencing. 

o Buckingham – The Councils appointed construction partner. A leading UK 
building contractor and specialist in delivering leisure schemes including the 
recent Tottenham football club ground. 

 

2.0 Background. 
 
2.1 It is fundamentally important to understand why the Swansea economy has 
 declined in recent decades, the reasons for that economic failure, the 
 research and due diligence the Council has undertaken looking to address 
 this decline.  Building on this research and due diligence, the Council has put 
 in place policies which aim to address the economic failure, halting and 
 reversing the decline. The following paragraphs therefore set out the 
 important process followed, which led to the rationale to select the Arena 
 Project. 
  
2.2 The City of Swansea flourished on the back of primary industry. As primary 
 industry withered and the global economy changed Swansea has struggled to 
 identify its USP. It has failed to regenerate and restructure its economy at the 
 pace of its competitor cities and became an increasingly peripheral location.   
 The last major regenerative shift in Swansea occurred following the three 
 nights blitz which effectively flattened the City Centre and in doing so required 
 its comprehensive redevelopment. 
 
2.3 Through necessity that redevelopment was rapid and geared to the economic 
 patterns of the 1950s. The consequences were that:- 

a) Residents were scattered to suburban areas 

b) Offices relocated out of the main City area 

c) The remaining retail footprint was too large and empty space grew 

d) The price of that redevelopment was in many cases the letting of long 

leases at low rents to promote regeneration but at the same time this 

removed key levers and frustrated future regeneration activity. 

e) Given that rebuilding occurred rapidly the economic failure of those 

buildings has been simultaneous and has accelerated. 

Page 6



2.4 Interventions since then by public authorities were generally small scale, 
 failed to trigger private investment and were doomed to failure. In many 
 instances regeneration was piecemeal, with insufficient thought as to the 
 impact on other areas of the City. It was not founded on an evidence based 
 analysis which supported often vague ambitions. The most recent attempt to 
 regenerate the City Centre in partnership with Hammerson was more credible 
 but was unfortunately timed as the financial crisis and resulting recession bit 
 hard and damaged the investment proposition. The response of the Council 
 was not a knee jerk one. It commissioned a robust regional economic strategy 
 on behalf of the region and produced the most comprehensive analysis of the 
 challenge facing South West Wales. Tackling productivity, skills, social 
 inclusion and the prospect of jobless growth became the mission and this was 
 reflected and supported by statements from Welsh and UK Governments. 
 Productivity, the conventional proxy indicator for economic health and 
 prosperity, had fallen from 93% of the UK average to 77% within three 
 decades. The proposals for Swansea City Centre form the core part of the 
 programme to recover this lost ground for the region by promoting the key 
 economic sectors of the digital economy, energy, leisure and tourism. 
 
2.5 At the same time it became clear that the future role of cities was changing; 
 shaped by structural changes to the economy, environmental concerns and 
 the growth of the World Wide Web. Cities were widely regarded as the 
 engines of future of economic growth and the creation of wealth and value but 
 in ways which required a structurally different approach to their development.  
 Swansea was no different. The response of the Council was to commission 
 an analysis of these patterns which concluded that; 
 

 The fundamental problem was one of footfall. The reasons to visit the 

City Centre were diminishing. This had been exacerbated by the 

depopulation of the City Centre and the relocation of offices and 

workspaces. 

 Retail patterns were changing rapidly with internet shopping rapidly 

outpacing the high street competition. Consequently buildings in the 

central area were becoming redundant and unoccupied. 

 Cities need to play to their strengths and USPs.  Swansea was unclear 

about what these were.  The proximity of the beach, the natural 

environment and the cultural and leisure offer were not being 

capitalised upon. Tourism was a growing market but still 

underperforming against potential. 

 Geographical peripherality will be less of a disadvantage in a digitally 

connected economy. 

2.6 The Council commissioned the following reports to inform decision making 

 Strategic Insight Retail Capacity Study. 

 FSP Analysis. 

 Swansea Central Area Regeneration Framework. 

Page 7



 Regional Economic Strategy. 

 Amion Economic Benefits Analysis. 

2.7 Despite the low value base the private sector would not unilaterally intervene 

 in the City Centre. The precondition to this was public sector intervention in 

 creating the right environment and infrastructure to encourage inward and 

 indigenous investment. At a time of austerity this would be a significant 

 challenge. 

2.8 However the evidence is clear that failure to intervene would see further 

 rapid decline in the City fabric, depopulation, and continuing falls in 

 productivity, skills leakage, and increases in poverty and worklessness. The 

 Council must consider its duties under the Well-being of Future Generations 

 legislation. 

2.9 This provided the basis for spatial planning and a different approach which 
 is evidence based, market tested, comprehensive and recognises the 
 dynamics and interdependence of connected parts of the City. The result is 
 the Swansea Central Area Regeneration Framework and its translation into 
 distinct marketable sites. The challenge that remained was to secure the 
 public sector intervention and private sector confidence. City Centre 
 regeneration became one of a limited number of explicit corporate priorities 
 for the Council. 
 
2.10 The Council prepared itself to meet the challenge by restructuring its 
 economic development and planning functions onto a can-do footing and 
 petitioning UK and Welsh governments for financial support to deliver the 
 plan. At the same time the  Council’s member and officer leaders invested 
 major effort in promoting and marketing the City to investors and developing a 
 strategy to ensure a digitally competitive Swansea. 
 
2.11 The agreement of the Swansea Bay City Deal gave the additional impetus to 
 move the plans on more rapidly through the delivery of the Swansea Central 
 and Kingsway Digital District projects. There is no doubt that this direct public 
 sector intervention is already driving other private investment. There is 
 currently a level of regeneration activity in the City that we have not witnessed 
 for six decades. There are already 10 residential schemes taking place within 
 the regeneration framework area delivering 100 new homes and 6 student 
 developments delivering a further 1500 student units. In addition to arena 
 operator interest, schemes like Skyline, the Hafod Copperworks, development 
 on the Kingsway and the relocation of UWTSD facilities have all been 
 triggered by renewed confidence  in the City. 
  
2.12 This is why the Swansea Central scheme is so important to the City and the 
 well-being of its future generations. It is an important piece in a jigsaw that will 
 become easier to complete as confidence grows. The Council must balance 
 the risks associated with investing in regeneration against the risks of not 
 doing so and in so doing ensure that its obligations to future generations are 
 met. 
 

Page 8



2.13 Therefore the key reasons for undertaking this project are to:- 
 

• Address the lack in footfall in the city centre. 
• Encourage more living and working in the city to drive more footfall. 
• Create a major new Leisure Destination for the city. 
• Deliver new Conference Facilities 

• Add new Public Realm enhancements to create a more attractive place. 
• Improve connectivity between the City and the bay 

• Uncompromising design quality to drive up design ambition in Swansea. 
• Implement Digital Strategy 

• Major Qualitative improvement in city parking facilities 

• Creating jobs and increasing GDV 

• Create a significant Catalyst for phase 2 and other city-wide 
development stimulating private sector investment in the city. 

 

3.0 The Project and Update since Nov 2018 Cabinet report – Digital Square 
 
3.1 The Swansea Central Phase 1 project will deliver a 3500 capacity arena with 
 digital  facade, a ‘digital square’, car parking, a coastal parkland, commercial 
 units, residential units, and a pedestrian bridge connecting the development 
 from the north to the south of Oystermouth road. 
 
3.2 The project will create significant economic benefits assessed by independent 
 experts Amion of circa £17.1m net GVA per annum for the city and create 600 
 net FTE new permanent jobs and 2000 construction jobs, as well as improving 
 Swansea’s future prospects for growth. This investment will provide the catalyst 
 and momentum to inspire further confidence in the City’s future and will help 
 lever future private sector investment as part of Swansea Central Phase 2 and 
 longer term additional income for the council which will help offset borrowing. 
 Images of the completed scheme are attached at Appendix 1. 
 
3.3 The Digital Arena will provide a high tech facility that would be capable of 
 holding major digital events, including worldwide computer gaming 
 competitions and other digital and data driven events, alongside more 
 traditional live theatre and concert events. The  arena will be located within a 
 new cutting edge Digital Square and parkland to create a distinctive 
 and unique destination. The Digital Arena will provide the digitally enabled 
 conference and events space required by Swansea’s growing tech business 
 sector and Universities, and help revitalise the environment and leisure offer of 
 Swansea City Centre. 
 
3.4 The delivery of this project will attract people to the city centre and therefore 
 generate significant new footfall, marking the beginning of a new era of 
 regeneration that will reverse the failures set out above and provide the catalyst 
 and confidence for the private sector to invest and continue the delivery of the 
 SCARF objectives. 
  
3.5 The Arena boasts a flexible and functional building design that includes the 
 following key modes and facilities: 

 3,500 capacity mode for a seated and standing entertainment event  

Page 9



 2,200 capacity mode for a fully seated entertainment or large business 

event  

 750 capacity auditorium for medium conferences and business events  

 1,450sqm of exhibition space on the arena event floor  

 Additional complementary exhibition space available on concourses 

 A variety of meeting rooms  

 Foyer space and foyer café. 

3.6 It can be seen from the mix of facilities above, that the Arena will be capable 
 of hosting small, medium and large-scale events through its combination of 
 meeting rooms, ancillary spaces, exhibition areas and auditorium options. It 
 will also be capable of accommodating both formal and informal meetings and 
 networking usage.   
 
3.7 A critical and attractive feature for local tech companies will be the digital 
 capabilities of the Arena spaces, including dense WIFI coverage and 
 innovative digital features. From our analysis of demand, we are confident 
 that the digital infrastructure will encourage usage by tech companies and 
 make it a natural home for digital  innovation and creative thinking linked to 
 the Digital Village. 
 
3.8 The Digital Square Arena proposals have been developed with advice from 
 the council’s specialist Arena advisers IPW and the procured arena operators 
 Ambassador Theatre Group in consultation with local tech businesses and 
 Swansea’s Universities.  
 
3.9 The detailed rationale for the Swansea Central phase 1 project, the 
 procurement undertaken, and the design and cost positions are all set out in 
 the attached Business Plan. 
 
3.10 A hotel development opportunity will also form part of the development, to meet 
 the requirements of  business and entertainment tourism linked to the Arena. 
 
4.0     Curent Position 
 
4.1 Significant work has been undertaken to create a detailed architectural design 
 to RICS Stage 4 which provides the detail required by a contractor to calculate 
 a construction cost. Therefore the project is now at a point where sufficient 
 detail is in place for the Council’s Development Managers, Rivington Hark, to 
 recommend that Cabinet proceed with the project. 
 
4.2 Significant progress has been achieved with the City Deal, the Swansea 
 Waterfront Digital District 5 Case Business model has been approved by the 
 City Deal private sector Economic Strategy Board and then by the UK 
 and Welsh governments which then released the City deal funding Terms and 

Page 10



 Conditions which have now been received and has led to the first tranche of 
 project funding to be agreed. 
 
4.3 A detailed project management approach to progressing the scheme has been 
 followed working towards delivery through a milestones based approach 
 including:- 
 

 Identifying the scheme. 

 Securing a planning consent. 

 Selecting an anchor ATG as arena operator. 

 Securing a contractor for RIBA Stage 4 design 

 Agreeing a final construction cost 
 

4.4  A check list of issues to resolve to allow a report to progress to cabinet is set 
 out at appendix 3.The completion of these milestones means that the detailed 
 design and the cost to deliver the project is also known and therefore the 
 council now has all  the information it needs to be able to make an informed 
 decision on whether to commit the budget necessary to deliver the scheme. 
 
4.5 The overall scheme will deliver income from car parks, housing, restaurants 
 and shops which will deliver a long term income stream for the council, cover 
 the costs of annual maintenance of the scheme and provide sinking funds for 
 replacement of the assets created. The current income is based on current 
 levels of car parking any future increases will be decided by cabinet. 
 
4.6 The income from the scheme offsets the costs of maintenance and sinking 
 fund to ensure the assets created by the project are properly maintained and 
 replaced over their design life. The budget required to maintain and replace the 
 assets created by this scheme are set out at paragraph 8.5.The detailed 
 maintenance and Income schedules are set out in the Rivington Business Plan. 

 
4.7  The maintenance and operation responsibilities of the assets created by the 
 project are set out in detail in the Rivington Business plan however the high 
 level maintenance responsibilities are set out below:- 
 Arena - To be operated and maintained by ATG. 
 Arena LED’s – To be operated and maintained by the Council. 
 Public Realm - Digital Square and Coastal Park to be managed and 
 maintained by the Council. 
 Car Parks – to be operated and maintained by the Council. 
 Residential – External to be maintained by the Council with a service charge 
 from the purchaser. Internal to be undertaken by the purchaser. 
 
4.8 The project design is fully compatible with the Council’s and Welsh 
 Government’s adopted policies and best practice on place making, economic 
 regeneration, and reflects the objectives identified in the Well-being of 
 Future Generations  Act, A  prosperous Wales and other relevant guidance.  
  
4.9     The Swansea Central Phase 1 scheme will help in delivering change through 
 catalysing further private sector investment. This project, and those  catalysed 

Page 11



 by it, will be key drivers in making the city a visitor destination of choice 
 building on Swansea’s current cultural offer. 
 
4.10 Swansea has delivered a number of successful events including the annual 
 Air Show and The Radio 1 Big weekend in summer 2018. Delivery of the 
 project will broaden the existing events programme and will provide a key 
 opportunity to put Swansea on the map in terms of regular events and the 
 conference market.  Residents will no longer have to travel to events and it will 
 draw a new demographic into the city. 
 
4.11 The design embraces the Future  Generations Act and the detail of how the 
 scheme addresses this act is set  out in the Rivington Land business Plan. 
 The Council’s environmental consultants PBA have confirmed that there will 
 be greater biodiversity after the scheme is delivered, the green and 
 biodiversity credentials are set out in the Rivington Business Plan at appendix 
 1. The scheme includes the coastal parkland and green wall which add 
 significantly to meet this challenge. In addition the scheme includes bat 
 boxes, bee hotel, coppicing, 35 Electric Charging stations with the 
 infrastructure in place to increase this figure. The new car park spaces 
 including disabled spaces are set at Welsh standards and the scheme has 
 contributed to additional spaces on the Fabian Way Park & Ride. 
 
4.12 The buildings once delivered and operational will provide an opportunity to 
 improve the quality and perceptions of Swansea. The arena design will create 
 an iconic image for Swansea which will become known worldwide which will 
 put Swansea on the map, generate increased tourism and catalyse further 
 private sector development, investment and tourism. 
 
4.13 Coverdale Barclay with local marketing agents MGB have been appointed to 
 orchestrate a regional / national / international PR and marketing strategy to 
 ensure the local economy makes the most of the arena being delivered in 
 terms of generating interest in Swansea to achieve increases in tourism and 
 associated spend and an increase in private sector interest in developing and 
 investing in Swansea. 
 
4.14 Non city centre residents benefit in the same way as city centre residents in 
 that they will have a nationally renowned arena to visit to see that range of 
 entertainment not currently available. There will be jobs and an evening 
 economy (F&B) along with much improved public realm and CCTV making 
 the city centre feel like a place to visit. The wider benefits are set out in the 
 Amion economic benefits report in the Rivington Land report. 
 
4.15 Discussions are also underway between officers and transport providers to 
 ensure adequate public transport and park & ride provision.  
 

4.16 The scale of change proposed by this project is significant, this scheme is 
 currently the largest scheme in Wales. 
 
5.0 Social & Economic Benefits. 
 

Page 12



5.1      As part of the Council’s due diligence to consider the impacts of an area on the  
           economy of Swansea independent economic benefit analysists, Amion. Consulting  
           were appointed to assess the economic benefits of the Swansea Central phase 1  
           scheme to the city, the region and Wales.  
 
5.2       The key findings is that an arena in Swansea would create significant economic  
            benefits to the city, the scheme will generate:- 
 

 Added GVA into the local economy every year - £17.1m. 

 Generate £855m added GVA over the borrowing period.  

 The number of construction jobs created 1262 

 Permanent jobs once operational – 620 
 
5.3     The detailed benefits are summarised in the table below and the detailed Amion     
          analysis is set out in the Rivington Land Business plan at appendix 1.  
   

 
 
5.4 The procurement of a main contractor included the requirement to comply 
 with the Councils Beyond Bricks and Mortar policy. This policy imposes 
 requirements to include community benefits in the construction contract. This 
 focuses on targeted recruitment and training (TR&T), a provision of training 
 weeks for local people from disadvantaged groups and encourages the use of 
 local sub-contractors. The construction contract is made up of circa 200 
 separate packages and Buckingham the contractor have held 3 events Meet 
 the Buyer evets to explore the skills of local contractors and put the packages 
 together based on the discussions held with the 180 companies that 
 attended and the skills they demonstrated. 

Page 13



5.5 Buckingham held an initial “Meet The Buyer” event in May 2019 to consider 
 the major construction packages where approx.300 organisations where 
 interviewed for opportunities within the project ranging from Sub-Contractors 
 to Suppliers. A further 2 Meet the Buyer events are planned for the 11th March 
 2020 for internal trades and a final event in July 2020 for external type trades. 
 In addition Buckingham have attended various Job Events ranging from 
 4TheRegion, Veterans Job Fairs and Job Centre Job Fair. 
 

The current Buckingham forecast for the split of packages between Local, 
Welsh and UK/EU is as follows:- 
  

 Local (NPT & west) 17% 

 Welsh 38% 

 UK & EU 45% 

 
5.6 The community benefits negotiated with Buckingham are: 

 4325 person weeks of TR&T which will include opportunities for new 
apprentices, new trainees, jobs for new entrant’s i.e.  the unemployed, 
economically inactive and NEETs, work tasters and work experience 
placements.  

 A requirement to undertake meaningful engagement with the local 
suppliers and businesses in the region through Meet the Buyer events and 
through visibility, where possible, of sub contract opportunities for new 
suppliers to bid for 

 Also a requirement to provide contributions to education in the form of school 
engagement, STEM activities and wider community initiatives and community 
engagement.  

 
6.0       Rivington Land Report and Business Plan. 
 
6.1 Rivington Land, the Council’s retained Development Manager, have been 
 working with the Council for 3 years. During this time they have reviewed the 
 research and Due Diligence work undertaken by the Council to inform the 
 feasibility and design evolution of the scheme. Using the research, their 
 professional advice and Swansea’s need to regenerate and stop decline 
 Rivington Land have produced a final stage report to enable the Council to 
 take an informed decision on whether to invest in the project. The report is 
 attached as an appendix 1. This is the key document that sets out the detailed 
 rationale and it documents the risks, issues, decision making process and 
 milestones achieved in progressing this scheme. The contents are:- 

 Reviews the rationale for the Swansea Central regeneration project and the 

role of phase 1 

 Reiterates the scheme evolution 

 Describes the content of the scheme 

 It sets out the financial requirements of the project 

 Provides an update on all key matters impacting phase 1 

Page 14



 Provides a commentary on the contractor procurement process 

 Sets out the delivery programme to completion 

 Assesses the ongoing risk profile 

 Provides an update on various aspects of detail such as digital, arts and 

leasing strategy 

 Sets out the development managers recommendation  

6.2 The Rivington Land report makes clear recommendations, sets out the risks 
 and information relating to the Council making a decision on whether to 
 proceed.  
 
6.3 The recommendation in this report is to commit the funding necessary to 
 enable the Council to enter into the construction contract with Buckingham to 
 enable a full start on site.  
 
7.0      Digital 
 
7.1 Digital is a key theme of the Swansea Bay City Deal and this is embedded in 
 the visual appearance of the Arena with 70,000 LED’s, this allows an array of 
 experiences ranging from pure light shows to the ability hold digital art 
 competitions, advertising. This imagery will be recognized world-wide. 
 
7.2      The Swansea Central Phase 1 scheme will deliver the best available 
 technology to create digital ready infrastructure to support Swansea 
 becoming a Smart City. The scheme provides state of the art CCTV and WIFI 
 with the potential to be able to connect to the wider city digital infrastructure. 
 
7.3 Phase 1 will see new CCTV cameras which will be digitally enabled, the 
 existing City CCTV is analogue and is no longer fit for purpose. The Phase 1 
 digital infrastructure is being designed to ensure it can fit with a new wider city 
 centre network. To this end discussions are continuing with digital providers to 
 review the wider city centre requirement and a separate cabinet report will be 
 presented on this matter detailing the work undertaken and the budget 
 required to undertake the work. The budget requirement is included in the 
 FPR7section of this report. 
 

7.4 The Council’s digital strategy principles are attached as appendix 2 which 
 are aligned with the City regional digital project.  

 
8.0 Budget, Resources and Capitalisation Requirements. 
 
8.1     The works commissioned under the Pre-Contract Services Agreement entered  
          into between the Council and Buckingham Construction have been completed.  
          The purpose of this agreement was to firstly complete the RIBA Stage 4 scheme  
          design, to create a final contract sum for the phase 1 scheme. Secondly the  
          completion of the works to stabilise the revetment wall on the LC carpark site. 
 

Page 15



8.2 The detail of the construction contract and the negotiations undertaken with 
 Buckingham are set out in the Rivington Land report in Appendix 1 to this 
 document.  
 
8.3 The total budget figure required to complete the project is in the sum of 
 £134.837m which includes the Buckingham construction cost, all fees 
 and charges and contingency on the Arena cost and city centre 
 digital/CCTV costs. A figure of £24.117m has already been approved by 
 previous Cabinet reports and therefore to complete the scheme an additional 
 authorisation of £110.72m is now required to enable the Council to enter into 
 the Construction Contract to compete the construction of the scheme. The 
 impacts of Brexit on the construction cost are costed and included in the 
 contract with  Buckingham. 
 
8.4 The Council’s borrowing requirements will be further reduced by the City Deal 
 contribution £22.849m and the sale of the residential element by a further 
 £4.9m. In addition further grant applications of £2.2m have been made 
 together with further applications as appropriate to support delivery of 
 elements of the scheme which if successful will further reduce the Council’s 
 contribution. 
 
8.5 The total income from the scheme is derived from car park charges, rent from 
 ATG under the arena lease, rent from commercial units and commercial 
 receipts. This is currently an estimate based on officer knowledge and UK best 
 practice. The total gross income is £1.704m which will be received once all 
 units are let and income producing. If existing car park income is deducted the  
 income produced will be £956k. A detailed breakdown is included in the 
 Rivington Land business plan. The Maintenance and Sinking fund requirements 
 for the scheme are set out in the Rivington Land Report at Appendix 1. A total 
 annual running cost budget estimate of £938k is required to be set aside for the 
 maintenance of the  scheme and a sinking fund provision to provide for the 
 future  replacement of assets as they reach the end of their design life. The 
 maintenance and sinking fund requirements will be fully funded through the 
 income generated by the scheme. It is recommended that any spend against 
 these budgets is delegated to the Director of Place and the Chief Finance 
 Officer. 
 
8.6  The Council will be responsible for the operation and management of the Arena 
 digital screen, the lights in the park and digital square; requiring a balance 
 between animation for general ambience and sense of place, depending on the 
 time of day and /or other activity in the area; and destination promotion. The 
 scheme will put in place digital controls and a number of treatments for the 
 screen, within the above parameters, which will be available for programming 
 on completion of the scheme. The ongoing management and the production 
 and presentation of further designs for the digital scheme, including 
 opportunities for video installations and the prospect of an annual arts 
 competition, or for example, an international digital arts festival, will require day 
 to day management and a  budget to be in place. The maintenance schedule in 
 the Rivington report in the appendix makes provision for this and discussions 
 have taken place with the Head of Culture to run this element of the scheme. It 

Page 16



 is proposed that our internal Cultural Services take this on as part of their remit 
 of providing cultural activity for the Wellbeing of Future Generations, marketing 
 the destination, developing and enhancing, tourism, creative industries and the 
 visitor economy. 
 
8.7 During the Second Stage procurement period, the issue of Brexit was 
 discussed and the Contractor was asked for a proposal to take on the risk 
 arising from Brexit. The risks which may arise from this event might be 
 matters such as cost of materials and labour increases, currency fluctuations, 
 programme delays in delivery of materials. The Contractor’s proposal to take 
 all these risks is for the Council to make an Advanced Payment under the 
 contract. The Advanced Payment is made for the Contractor to use as they 
 wish and is protected by an on demand Bond. The Bond would be taken out 
 by the Contractor under the provisions of the Building Contract and at their 
 cost, and this would allow the Council to demand re-payment of the 
 amount outstanding on the Advanced Payment without reason but not 
 vexatiously. 
 
8.8 The November 2018 cabinet report agreed to capitalise the salaries of the 
 eligible staff  working on this scheme. The volume of work has meant that more 
 resources are working to deliver the scheme. Staff working on this scheme will 
 need to time record their hours spent working on the scheme.  
 
8.9 It is in the Council’s interest to capitalise the time spent by staff on this project.  
 There are significant Council internal resources employed on this project and 
 therefore £336k p.a. can be capitalized and used to support further scheme 
 delivery. 
  
9.0 Risks  
 
9.1 The detailed risk analysis is set out in the Rivington Land report in       
        Appendix 1. The key risks to the Council are summarised below:- 
 

Risk Mitigation Level of Risk 

Pre-Contract   

Do Nothing - The research undertaken by the 
council indicated that perceptions of Swansea 
were poor and private sector investment will not 
currently be forthcoming. The risk is that if the 
council does not undertake strategic 
interventions to regenerate Swansea that 
Swansea will continue to decline. 

Implementation of the 
Swansea Central 
Area Regeneration 
Framework (SCARF) 
and the Phase 1 
project as catalyst. 

 
High- if scheme 
not committed.  

Page 17



Retail and Business Confidence - If scheme 
delivery does not happen the divestment from 
Swansea and store closures are likely to occur, 
which will dramatically impact Swansea’s retail 
offering. This in turn will significantly undermine 
business and investor confidence in the city. 

A commitment to 
deliver the scheme 
linked to a clear PR 
strategy to inform the 
business community 
of how Swansea is 
changing is planned 
together with targeted 
key stakeholder 
discussions. 

High - if 
scheme not 
committed. 

Post Contract   

Maintenance - Whilst significant work has been 
undertaken using specialist local knowledge 
and national benchmarked costs there is a risk 
that unforeseen issues arise which increase 
costs. 

A detailed 
maintenance 
schedule has been 
produced utilizing 
national standards 
and local 
benchmarking. 

Low Risk 

Income - There is a risk that revenue may fall, 
or that increased car parking income may not 
be achieved. It is possible, that not all 
commercial letting is likely to be in place at 
Practical Completion. 

Car park income is 
based on existing 
tariffs and cautious 
assumptions in terms 
of future usage. Whilst 
arena rent is based on 
figures agreed with 
ATG. The delivery of 
future phases has the 
potential to 
significantly alter 
current forecast 
usage. 

Low Risk 

Contingency - An appropriate level of 
contingency to cover unforeseen construction 
risks or other costs needs to be in place.  

A percentage level of 
construction cost has 
been assessed by the 
Rivington Land Team 
and agreed with the 
council as being 
appropriate at this 
stage of the project. 

Low/Medium 

Page 18



ATG & Business Plan Whilst ATG is a large 
company there is always a risk of company 
failure.  

The Business Plan 
has been formulated 
by the company using 
their experience of 
running over 60 
venues worldwide. 
ATG were selected 
through competitive 
tender Should the 
tenant not be able to 
take possession for 
their business 
reasons, then the 
Council may be able 
to revisit the other 
Venue Tenderers. 

Low 

Risk of volatility in the Construction 
Industry. 
 
 
 
 
 
Brexit 

It is proposed through 
the contract with 
Buckingham that 
there will be 
contractor’s insurance 
and performance 
bonds to protect the 
council against failure 
of the contractor. Due 
diligence on 
Buckingham was 
undertaken during the 
procurement process. 
 
Utilising JCT standard 
advance payment 
clauses and a small 
premium payment to 
move this risk to the 
contractor. 

Low 

Project payments - If the project substantially 
starts on site the management and audit 
governance in order to expend the total project 
cost expenditure will be critical.  

A dedicated resource 
has been identified to 
undertake this role as 
it is essential that 
contracted payments 
are made on time. 

Low 

Page 19



Ongoing design risk- The resolution of the 
outstanding design issues and provisional sum 
related activities impacting either project costs 
or programme. 

Buckingham have 
been requested to 
provide a detailed 
information schedule 
to enable them to 
deliver to their 
construction 
programme, this will 
then provide a 
framework to address 
these items through 
the remaining phases 
of the project. 

Low 

Arena Handover Failure to deliver the Arena 
within the agreed timeframes following Council 
service of the 6 Month Access Notice to the 
tenant.   

As the Council will be 
liable for potential 
consequential costs 
for the tenant should 
the handover be 
delayed, the 6-month 
access notice will only 
be issued when   
absolute certainty is 
received on the date.  

Low 

Interfaces with potential future phases 
Additional future costs associated with abortive 
works due to future development phases 
changing from current direction. 

Provision has been 
made to 
accommodate 
anticipated future 
phases (Hotel, Phase 
2) adjacent to the site 
boundaries. Such as 
ensuring service 
diversions for Phase 1 
do not interfere with 
proposed sites and 
the planning 
parameters set for 
these developments. 
Should future 
adjacent works 
expand in scope 
these will need to be 
reassessed 

Low 

Page 20



Transportation – Bus/train times need to be 
considered to ensure the arena can operate 
and Planning policy needs to be reviewed to 
ensure future schemes can progress. 

The Council is 
reconsidering its 
strategic approach to 
transportation and the 
required changes to 
public transport 
programming working 
with third party 
providers with an aim 
of ensuring an 
appropriate level of 
service will be in place 
prior to the full 
opening of the arena. 

Low/Medium 

Bio Diversity - Risk that scheme will address.  The scheme has 
engaged PBA to 
advise on bio diversity 
and protect designs 
through the 
construction phase.  
The scheme included 
a new parkland and a 
significant green wall 
to the South side car 
park. In addition the 
council is in the 
process of adopting a 
GI strategy. 

 

Page 21



3rd Party Engagement – there are several 
neighbours (LC, NWM, Tesco, Church, 
Residents etc.) who will be impacted by the 
works.  

Where required Legal 
agreements have 
been sought with the 
affected neighbours, 
in addition a protocol 
for project 
communication has 
been agreed between 
the Main Contractor 
and Council to provide 
periodic updates on 
site activities to the 
BID, adjacent 
operators and local 
residents. There is a 
requirement for the 
Arena tenant to 
complete an Arena 
Management Plan 
which requires 
compliance with a 
neighbour 
engagement plan 
(both commercial and 
residential), this plan 
must be approved by 
the Council prior to 
the operation of the 
Arena. 

Low  

Costs of Borrowing £90m has been 
borrowed at the 
lowest rate possible 
(1% below existing 
rates) saving £45m on 
current rates  

Low 

 
10.0  Key next steps and continuing Swansea Regeneration. 
 
10.1 If the decision is made to allocate the funding required to progress the scheme 
 and enter into the construction contract then there will be a number of key work 
 streams that will need to be undertaken:- 

 The Rivington Land Team will be appointed to monitor the delivery of the 
scheme to ensure the detail of the design and overall architectural design 
integrity is delivered in line with Stage 4 RIBA designs and that the project 
is delivered within the project timeline. 

 Work with ATG on the programme for the arena including community 
involvement and aiming to coordinate with the Grand Theatre. 

 Coverdale Barclay and MGB (Swansea) have been appointed to prepare 
and implement the PR strategy to make sure residents and businesses are 

Page 22



fully aware of the project and the benefits it will bring to the whole of the 
Swansea area. They will meet with key stakeholders and occupiers to get 
commitment to the city centre and ensure there is an awareness of the 
ongoing delivery of Phase 2 and other projects. 

 Secure lettings of the commercial opportunities for units on the park and 
public realm link to the arena. 

 Ensure as much continuity of car parking and that the city can continue to 
operate during construction. 

 If the Council commits to deliver Swansea Central Phase 1 it is essential to 
capitalise on these investments to further regenerate the city, delivering 
further economic growth and creating a better place for people to live, work 
and visit in accordance with the Council’s priorities and objectives, in 
particular the Swansea Central Area Framework (SCARF) and LDP. To this 
end a separate report is recommending marketing of Strategic Sites to 
select a JV partner to take forward the next phases of regeneration 

 
10.2 Looking longer term, whilst the arena project is critical, the delivery of other key 

regeneration projects must continue to ensure the momentum is maintained 
and Swansea continues to grow. The Council may not wish to fund further 
regeneration projects and therefore officers, in conjunction with property 
advisors Cushman Wakefield, have been exploring how to attract private 
investment to ensure ongoing delivery of developing Council owned strategic 
development sites. 

 
10.3 The Council and its advisors are aware of other Local Authorities entering into 

long term Joint Venture agreements with development companies as a potential 
way forward and a PIN Notice was issued via Sell2Wales asking for potential 
investors to register their interest. Other organisations have also come forward 
separately and in total there have been 14 expressions of interest. 

 
10.4 A separate Cabinet report sets out a proposed way forward to secure a Joint 

Venture partner and seeks authority to proceed with a formal OJEU marketing 
exercise inviting offers from a shortlist of developers following a competitive 
dialogue procurement process. 

 
11.0    Financial Implications 
 
11.1 The total budget figure required to complete the project is in the sum of 
 £134.837m  which includes construction cost, all fees and charges and 
 contingency. A figure of £24.117m has already been approved by previous 
 Cabinet reports and therefore to complete the scheme an additional 
 authorisation of figure of £110.720m is required to be able to enter into the 
 building contract to compete the  construction of the scheme. 
 
11.2 Subject to UK and Welsh Government issuance of grant terms and conditions  
 £22.849m of the scheme cost will be potentially funded by the City Deal, 
 thereby reducing the Council’s net contribution by this figure. The Council’s 
 contribution could be further reduced by the capital receipt received from the 
 disposal of the residential element. Given the scale of grant it is imperative that 
 full grant terms and conditions are received, and deemed acceptable to the 

Page 23



 Section 151 officers for both the Joint Committee and this Council. An offer in 
 relation to the first tranche of £18m, for 2019-20 only, and for running the 
 programme and Yr Egin and Swansea Central only, has been received. This is 
 clearly advantageous to Swansea’s scheme and a request will be made for 
 early release (this year) of the whole funding from the City Region once it has 
 itself received the cash. The release of funding for the City Deal in future years 
 and the consideration of business cases for other Projects will be conditional 
 on the Conditions of the initial grant offer being met in full.  
  
11.3 The Arena is being let for a 30 year period to Ambassador Theatre Group who 
 will be responsible for FRI terms of the arena itself. The residential and 
 retail elements of the scheme will be let on similar terms. However, the 
 remainder of the development including the car parks, bridge, coastal parkland, 
 digital square, digital arena façade and LED’s, public realm areas and events 
 programme will require an annual maintenance and a management revenue 
 budget. This will include replacement of the LED’s at year 15 and 30.The 
 final budget cost of this has been established and included in the detailed 
 design and final costs estimate. 
 
11.4 Likely revenue income from ATG and for the increased returns of the car park 
 offer will offset and exceed any ongoing revenue “running” costs and sinking 
 fund for maintenance once decisions are made on the future car parking 
 strategy and future pricing options. The cost of repayment are already covered 
 for the first 5 years from a mixture of capital equalization reserve and MRP 
 reprofiling. From 2022/23 the income position is likely to improve as new 
 additional income streams come on line further helping to contribute to cover 
 the long term cost of repayment.   
 
11.5 On this basis that would leave a public sector subsidy for the overall scheme 
 to meet the capital financing costs broadly as follows: 
  
 Indicative capital financing subsidy at current pool loan rates (4.22%) and 
 current MRP (2.5%). 

      

  
19-20 20-21 21-22 22-23 

23-24 
onwards 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

        

Total financing  0.98 3.70 6.47 8.27 8.27 

City Deal Grant -3 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 

Loan Repayment 0 0 0 0.3 0.3 

        

Local subsidy -2.02 2.20 4.97 7.07 7.07 

Page 24



Capital equalisation reserve  0 -1 -2.5 0 

  
 2.20 3.97 4.57 7.07 

Net cost 

  
 2 4 5 7 

Budget/MTFP 

            

      

Estimated balance on capital equalisation reserve 
   

    £M  

Capital equalisation reserve balance end 18-19               15  

Used to help set 19-20 budget                                     -3.5  

Used as above to smooth costs for this scheme               -3.5  

Allocated for Oracle ERP Cabinet September               
 -3.6  

Added to reserve by Council 24 October                     
 2.6  

Allocate to City Centre JV due Cabinet November                -0.9  

      

Still available to fund future capital or revenue                  6.1  

 
11.6 A public sector overall intervention and subsidy is not only to be expected, it is 
 required if the economy is to recover. The very nature of a City Deal and a 
 co-investment by the UK and Welsh Governments, and local authorities to 
 pump prime future direct and indirect private sector investment in the City is 
 because of existing market failure: without it there would be insufficient a case 
 to proceed. The wider public sector, as well as Council, must take a lead to 
 stimulate regeneration. That decision in principle has already been taken, with 
 unanimous Council  approval of the City  Deal. 
 
11.7 This is the final FPR 7 report on the scheme and substantial spending 
 commitments are having to be considered before any future revenue budget
 affordability certainty. 
 
11.8 The sums proposed are very substantial and thus financial risk increases at 
 each stage of approval and therefore has to be stress tested for the “worst 
 case scenario”. Please see scenario section at Appendix 5 
  
 

Page 25



11.9 The Section 151 Officer also has to form a view as to the reasonableness and 
 value for money of  the proposals in discharging his fiduciary duty to council 
 taxpayers. The proposed level of local public subsidy is less than the envisaged 
 economic benefits set out in the report and on that basis it can be considered 
 justified.  The financial cost to the Council of supporting this scheme’s financing 
 costs  over other revenue spending is a matter of policy decision by Cabinet 
 today  and Council in future annual budget decisions.  
 
11.10 The scheme has progressed through a UK and WG five case business model 
 assessment process and deemed satisfactory  to national and sub national 
 governments from a value for money point of view.  
 
11.11 It must be borne in mind however, that the respective contributions are 
 significantly  different in scale (the Council is putting in the majority of financing 
 and takes all  the risks – the UK and Welsh Government contribution is a fixed 
 sum, the Council’s is not yet fully fixed, Future UK and Welsh Government 
 budgets could impact negatively and positively upon the Council in terms of its 
 funding. Equally there are spend side risks given capital cost certainty cannot 
 be fully assured (despite contingency sums assumed), nor interest rate 
 certainty, nor ongoing revenue cost certainty, nor ongoing overall affordability  
 certainty (future budget decisions).   
  
11.12 This report does significantly help move the scheme along to the last stage 
 with relative capital cost certainty, an ability to lock in at known interest rates 
 and a developed revenue business case. Interest rates for PWLB borrowing 
 have moved substantially adversely in recent weeks as a result of HM Treasury 
 decisions to add a 1% premium on new borrowing. Nevertheless borrowing 
 costs remain relatively low by historic standards and the sums already 
 borrowed and locked in mean that it is reasonable to assume that borrowing 
 costs can be capped at an average of 4.22% (the current pooled rate) with the 
 lower MRP repayment (2.5% versus 4%), costs of servicing the new capital 
 finance are around 1/3 lower per £ than only a few years ago. 
 
11.13  This FPR7 report is being determined before the budget and medium 
 term financial plan are agreed by a future Council. This is a normal risk for this 
 time in the budget cycle but the scale of spend approval sought outside the 
 normal budget cycle is material in this instance. It is therefore appropriate to be 
 mindful of likely future budget settlements from both UK and Welsh 
 Governments.  
 
11.14 This FPR7 report is being determined before wholly assured credible  
 plans are finalised to redress the current budget imbalance approved by 
 Cabinet. 
 
11.15 Directors proposals to date are set out in Appendix 5. This is only to address in 
 year issues. Future budget savings are also required to assure overall scheme 
 affordability.   
 
11.16 Capital costs have now been revised to £135m to reflect positive scheme 
 additions and enhancements including CCTV provision. A number of 

Page 26



 grant applications are being progressed and Welsh Government has also 
 announced recent additional capital support. If those bids are successful 
 then the bulk of this  excess cost can be potentially covered. If ultimately not 
 successful then the  excess will need to be addressed by reviewing the overall 
 future capital programme.  
 

 
11.17 A range of financial risks have been set out in this report. There are clear risks 
 of doing nothing. There are equally clear risks of doing something on this scale. 
 In summary the risks are currently categorised as follows: 
 

Risk S151 RAG Rating Mitigation 

Cost certainty Green Whilst not absolutely 
certain an agreed sum is 
provided for and 
contingency provided for 
to mitigate further potential 
cost pressures  

Grant Terms and Conditions  Amber Exceptional and 
conditional 19-20 offer 
made. Future years fully 
conditional on range of 
milestones. Not able to 
control –need to be fully 
issued by Welsh 
Government  

Maintenance of LEDs Green Maintenance schedule 
and sinking fund provided 
for  

Revenue running and 
maintenance costs 

Green Reasonable and prudent 
running costs and 
maintenance costs have 
been fully provided for in 
the income schedules  

Financing subsidy Amber Funding costs are 
assumptions only. £90m 
of borrowing has been 
locked in at fixed rates. 
Remainder of borrowing 
will be at prevailing rates 
when borrowed in due 
course.  

Page 27



Balance on capital equalisation 
reserve 

Green Sufficient balance is being 
currently maintained to 
insure against write off. 
Balance will be used to 
smooth the cost as 
scheme progresses.  

Public subsidy Green Policy decision for Cabinet 
and Council to accept or 
otherwise the level of 
return (low financial, 
higher wider economic 
and social benefits)  

Scheme abandoned Green Extremely unlikely – write 
off of costs covered by 
general reserves and 
capital equalisation 
reserve. Risk mitigate by 
scheme proceeding once 
revenue savings fully 
identified to pay for capital 
financing  

Capital affordability Amber Cost cap of £135m. 
Cabinet will be aware of 
the timing of capital grant 
bids and the need to 
review the overall 
programme if these are 
not successful to live 
within net cost cap so 
mitigation risk is Amber  

Revenue affordability  Amber This is essential to afford 
the capital financing 
subsidy. Proposals are not 
wholly developed at this 
stage and thus not fully 
mitigated. 

 
 
11.18  The S151 Officer and CMT are satisfied, on balance, that it is reasonable to 
 progress to this final stage at the date of report publication, and that it is 
 reasonable to add the whole scheme cost to the budgeted capital programme 
 under FPR7 5b with that clear expectation on funding and agreed in principle 
 high level mitigations if those expectations are confounded. 
 

There are clear risks still to be managed as fully set out in the report but as 
long as Cabinet and in due course Council continues to commit to undertake, 
as they have clearly done so with all previous budgets and MTFPs, whatever 

Page 28



revenue and capital decisions are necessary, at the relevant time, to afford 
the headroom needed to provide for the capital financing costs, then a future 
funding route can be potentially identified now to allow this this unbudgeted 
cost to be added the approved capital programme in line with the constitution 
(FPR7 5b). This is likely to be a mixture of future capital reprioritisation, 
additional revenue savings, future additional revenue income and potential 
capital receipts from the wider city regeneration, future council tax level 
decisions and a re-evaluation of future years’ government grant support, once 
known. On the latter matter, there are raised expectations of a better increase 
in funding for future local government finance settlements compared to recent 
previous years.  

 
11.19 This clear understanding of the consequences and prior commitment to act  
 it is imperative  to ensure the Council does have at all times sufficient resources 
 to complete the scheme and to set lawfully balanced future budgets given the 
 substantial spending decision is being sought ahead of future budget rounds.   
 
12.0 Legal Implications 
 
12.1 The Council has previously appointed Buckingham Group Contracting Ltd  
 under a two stage tendering process. Following the successful completion of 
 stage one, the Council is now seeking to award the stage two contract. Care 
 must be taken to ensure that all contractual rights and obligations are contained 
 within the contract documentation in order to protect the Council’s interests. 
 
12.2   The Council will need to ensure that it complies with the terms and conditions 
 of Welsh government and UK government offers of grant funding. 
  
 
13.0  Equality and Engagement Implications 

 
13.1   The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales) and must, in 

the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

Our Equality Impact Assessment process ensures that we have paid due 
regard to the above.  

 
13.2 The EIA process has been duly followed for all aspects of this scheme from its 

inception. The EIA report attached in the Appendix provides an assessment of 
all equalities implications relating to each element of the scheme. The EIA 
report is extensive, large amounts of engagement has taken place to inform the 

Page 29



scheme and identify its implications. This engagement will continue through the 
duration of the project and EIA will be updated as the project progresses. 
Please see the Appendix for full details of the Equality Implications in relation 
to this scheme. 

 
13.3  This project is a good example of the 5 Ways of Working promoted by the Act 

and will make a significant contribution to the 7 well-being goals. It is an 
example of collaborative working between the public and private sector in a 
sustainable way with the objectives of developing the city centre for the benefit 
of future generations. 

 
13.4  This is a major public and private sector investment programme, assisting  in 

the regeneration of our city center, stimulating economic growth, addressing 
issues such as city center decline, poverty, inequality, jobs and skills which 
directly contributes to the council’s obligations to act in a sustainable way 
pursuant to the WFGA. 

 
Appendices: 

Appendix 1 - Rivington Land Report. 
Appendix 2 – Digital Core Principles 
Appendix 3 Check List  
Appendix 4 – EIA 
Appendix 5 - Revenue In year Action/Future Scenarios 
Appendix 6 – FPR7 Table and Cashflow 
Appendix 7 – WAO letter 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Appendix 2 Swansea Digital Core Principles 
 
 

Council Digital Core Principles. 
The city centre development in phase one is aligned to the new City Centre Digital 
strategy. The strategy identifies the long-term vision and aspirations for a digital 
Swansea across the following core themes: 

▪ Improving health and well-being (for residents and visitors) through the use of 

digital technology 

▪ Enabling digital businesses 

▪ Enabling joined-up public services through technology 

▪ Ensuring public safety and security 

▪ Optimising operations and cost. 

 
The core digital infrastructure will enable cloud services for the public sector, 
residents and businesses. Delivery of the strategy will be phased and piloted over 
many years and is dependent on investment. However, examples of what this could 
mean includes: 

▪ Wi-Fi access for residents and visitors on the move in the city centre 

▪ Energy efficient street lighting with central management of brightness / dimming 

and fast digital reporting of faults 

▪ Noise detection which could be used in conjunction with CCTV and trigger a real-

time community safety response 

▪ Movement detection to monitor footfall and traffic flow and aid city planning 

▪ Air pollution detection linked to dynamic traffic management 

Page 285



▪ Intelligent waste collection and street cleansing, e.g. solar powered bins with 

sensors that are emptied when full, real-time monitoring of streets for the 

purposes of cleansing, aids planning, reduces operational costs and supports a 

greener environment 

▪ Access to traffic information for residents, visitors and blue-light services via 

integrated digital technology 

▪ Detection of parking spaces for residents and visitors and utilisation data / 

monitoring for the Council 

▪ Smart buildings to reduce energy consumption, using technology to give real-time 

alerts and information around fire, security, lifts, communications, and access, 

whilst automatically adjusting areas such as lighting and temperature when not 

occupied 

▪ Enhancing leisure and cultural experiences through the use of social media and 

digital technologies 

▪ Improving information for residents and visitors with a disability via digital 

technology 

▪ Increasing mobile working for public sector staff so services can be delivered 

close to the communities they serve 

▪ Enabling residents, businesses and visitors to access digital public services 24/7. 

 
City Centre phase one is aligned in the following ways: 

▪ Planning has taken a holistic approach to Wi-Fi and security, linking with the 

tactical use of street furniture. The proposal takes a long-term sustainable view of 

CCTV, community safety and City Centre Wi-Fi in the design of phase one 

▪ In the absence of a Regional Digital Strategy the phase one proposal has made 

reasonable planning assumptions around long-term digital developments, e.g. 

Page 286



Welsh Government’s ambition to provide a fibre link along the M4 corridor, East 

to West Wales 

This is the first part of the journey delivering the core digital infrastructure and 
directly supports the connected city strand of the city deal, of which Swansea is the 
main focus. 
 

Page 287



Appendix 3 
 

Check List of issues to be resolved for decision making. 

ITEM STATUS SIGNED OFF BY STATE OF 

COMPLETION 

CITY Deal Terms 

and Conditions 

T&C’s agreed  Cabinet Amber 

Council budget 

savings achieved 

Agreed Cabinet Green  

ATG agreement to 

Gateway 3 Design 

Agreed   Cabinet & Officers Green 

ATG Deed of 

Variation 

Awaiting final ATG 

sign off 

Cabinet & Officers Amber 

Total Project Cost 

& Rivington 

Recommendation 

Received Cabinet Green 

Building contract Agreed –subject to 

Cabinet approval 

Cabinet & Delegation 

to Officers  

Green 

Planning pre-start 

conditions 

In place subject to 

entering into 

building contact. 

Planning Green 

Pobl agreement Agreed  Cabinet in August 

2019 

Green 

CCS approvals to 

Stage 4 design  

Agreed  Cabinet & Officers Green 

3
rd

 Party 

agreements 

Agreed  Officers Green 

Title indemnity Insurance quotes in 

place. 

Officers Green 

Tesco – plan B Option A ongoing fall 

back Plan B agreed  

Officers Green 

Future 

Generations Act 

Fully addressed. Cabinet & Officers Green 

Digital strategy Agreed  Cabinet & Officers. Green 

 

Page 288



 1 

Appendix 4 

 

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Report – 2017/8 

This form should be completed for each Equality Impact Assessment on a new or existing 
function, a reduction or closure of service, any policy, procedure, strategy, plan or project which 
has been screened and found relevant to equality.  
 
Please refer to the ‘EIA Report Form Guidance’ while completing this form. If you need 
further support please contact accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk. 

 

Where do you work? 

Service Area:  Regeneration 

Directorate: Place 

 
(a) This EIA is being completed for a: 
 

             Service/                  Policy/  
             Function                Procedure          Project             Strategy              Plan              Proposal 

                                                                                                   
 

(b) Please name and describe here: 
 
Swansea Central Phase 1 Mixed Use Development  
 
Location 
 
The scheme will be built on land laying immediately to the north and south of Oystermouth Road on land 
currently used as LC car park, St Mary’s car park and St David’s shopping centre.  
 
Scheme Description 
 
The Swansea Central Phase 1 is a mixed use development involving the design and build of an Arena, 2 
multi-storey car parks, Coastal Park, Bridge, Residential, and Commercial units. Cabinet authority to fund 
and deliver will be sought in August 2019. Subject to Cabinet approval, the Council will become the 
developer who will fund and enter into contract with a main building contractor to build the scheme.  
 
The development on the south side of Oystermouth road consists of an Arena, Multi-Storey car park and 
Costal Park. The development on the north side of Oystermouth road consists of a block containing Multi-
storey car park, Residential units, and Commercial Units. Both sides of the development will be 
connected by a newly built Bridge. 
 

 
Indicative plan of development 

 
 

Page 289

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 2 

 
 
Planning  
 
Outline planning permission has been granted for Swansea Central Phase 1 (2017/0648/OUT) and 
Reserved Matters application has also already been approved. (2018/1648/RES) 
 
Due to a change in design on the north development block a Section 73 planning application has been 
subsequently approved by Planning (2019/0980/S73), followed by a Reserved Matters application being 
submitted shortly.  
 
A proposal to change the access over the new bridge to allow cyclists as well as pedestrians has also 
been submitted to Planning and is currently under consideration (2019/1112/NMA). 
 
Early Works include amendments to road layout at Wellington Street, approved under planning 
application (2018/1125/FUL and 2019/0061/NMA), and listed building consent works to Revetment Wall 
approved under planning application (2018/1823/LBC). 
 
Timescales 
 
Early works have already commenced on site at Wellington Street and on the Revetment Wall.  
 
The Swansea Central scheme is programmed to start on site in September 2019 with completion 
targeted for 2021, subject to Cabinet approval to fund and deliver the scheme in August 2019. 
 
 
EIA Screening  
 
Due to the scale of the development, separate EIA screening and impact assessments have been carried 
out on the following distinct elements of the scheme, all of which are accessible from this one main 
document by reference to the Contents Page: 
 
 

Contents Page Needed: 
Screening 

Form/Report/Both 

a) Arena – (Screening Form) 
creation of a new 3500 
seat indoor arena for 
music concerts, comedy 
events, conferencing. 

b) Arena – (Full Report) 
 

 
4 – 6 

 
 
 

7 - 24 

 
Both 

c) Coastal Parkland 
(Screening Form) – 
creation of a new 1 Acre 
coastal themed park at 
podium level above new 
south side car park 

 

 
25 - 31 

 
Screening 

d) Car Parks – creation of 
two new multi-storey car 
parks, one to the north 
and one to the south side 
of Oystermouth  Road 
providing approx. 939 car 
parking spaces in total 

 

 
32 - 37 

 
Screening 

e) Bridge – creation of new 
pedestrian and cycle 
friendly partially covered 
bridge over Oystermouth 

 
38 - 42 

 
Screening 

Page 290



 3 

Road to connect the 
development on the South 
side to the north and 
existing city centre. 

 

f) Residential & Commercial 
– Creation of 33 
residential apartments on 
the north side of 
Oystermouth Road 
together with 6 
commercial units.  

 

 
43 - 46 

 
Screening 

 
 

 

 
(c) It was initially screened for relevance to Equality and Diversity on: 6th June 2017 
   
 
(d) It was found to be relevant to… 

Children/young people (0-18) ....................   Sexual orientation ........................................   

Older people (50+) ....................................   Gender reassignment ..................................   

Any other age group  ................................   Welsh language ...........................................   

Disability ...................................................   Poverty/social exclusion ..............................   

Race (including refugees) .........................   Carers (including young carers) ...................   

Asylum seekers .........................................   Community cohesion ...................................   

Gypsies & Travellers .................................   Marriage & civil partnership .........................   

Religion or (non-)belief ..............................   Pregnancy and maternity .............................   

Sex ............................................................   

 
(e) Lead Officer      (f) Approved by Head of Service  
 

Name: Chantel Ellis/Dawn Jenkins  Name: Philip Holmes  
 

Job title: Project Officer/Physical Regeneration Manager Date: 24/7/19 
  
 Date: 10/7/19    
  

Page 291



 4 

a) Arena – Screening Form 
 
 
Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form. 
If you would like further guidance please contact your directorate support officer or the 
Access to Services team (see guidance for details). 

 

 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: Regeneration    

Directorate: Place 
 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 
 

      Service/                Policy/  
      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                      √                                                       
 
 

 

(b) Please name and describe below 
 
Arena - South of Oystermouth Road 
 

The proposed Arena venue will be approx. 8,300 m2 and will host a range of concerts, comedy 
shows, musicals, and sports events such as boxing, exhibitions and conferences. Similar sized 
arenas being developed across UK including Hull Venue, O2 Indigo London and Edinburgh 
Playhouse and will become part of a new circuit of mid-scale venues.  
 
City Deal funding has been secured (subject to a 5 case business model) to deliver the Arena. 

 
We have procured ATG as the operator and they were engaged in July 2017 following a Cabinet 
approval June 2017 
 
  
 

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 
Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 
         
 √  (H)        (M)  (L) 
 

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 
     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   

need to want to  automatically provided to basis 
 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)    √   (M)    (M)  (L) 
 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 
        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 
    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 
Children/young people (0-18) √     
Any other age group (18+) √     
Disability √     
Gender reassignment √     
Marriage & civil partnership   √   
Pregnancy and maternity   √   

Page 292



 5 

(If NO, you need to consider whether you should be undertaking consultation 

and engagement – please see the guidance) 

Race   √   
Religion or (non-)belief   √  
Sex   √  
Sexual Orientation   √  
Welsh Language √    
Poverty/social exclusion √    
Carers (inc. young carers) √    
Community cohesion √    
 

Q4 HAVE YOU / WILL YOU UNDERTAKE ANY PUBLIC CONSULTATION AND 
ENGAGEMENT RELATING TO THE INITIATIVE?  

 

√   YES        NO   
 
 
If yes, please provide details below  
Information has been gathered through our three Consultation events which focused on the 
overall SC redevelopment were held in Nov 2016, Dec 2016 and Feb 2017 - More than 700 
people have visited these events and we‘ve received more than 100 feedback cards.   In 
response to the key question “What is your overall opinion of our initial ideas for the 
development?” so far 74.7% are in favour. 
 
Focusing on the Arena itself the following was recorded:- 
87.0% of respondents said that they were in favour of a new indoor arena for concerts and 
events – making the arena the most popular in the proposed list of potential uses. 5.8% were 
against the arena, 3.1% were undecided and 4.1% did not answer the question.  

 
Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 
  √  (H)    (M)  (L) 
 
(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? (Consider the 

following impacts – legal, financial, political, media, public perception  etc…)  
 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
     (H)       √ (M)          (L) 

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  √   Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below 
Highways, Leisure, Waste, Museums, Maintenance, IT, Access to Services, Comms and 
Engagement, Legal, Finance, Procurement  

 
Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   → √  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 
 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      →  Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 followed by Section 
2  

 
Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for a full EIA report, you must 

provide adequate explanation below.  In relation to the Council’s commitment to the 

Page 293



 6 

UNCRC, your explanation must demonstrate that the initiative is designed / planned 
in the best interests of children (0-18 years).  For Welsh language, we must maximise 
positive and minimise adverse effects on the language and its use.  Your explanation 
must also show this where appropriate.  

      
 

Section 2 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email – no electronic signatures or paper copies are needed. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Chantel Ellis 

Job title: Programme Support 

Date: 6.6.17 
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name:       

Position:       

Date:       

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 294

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 7 

 
b) Arena– Report 

 
Section 1 – Aims (See guidance): 
 

Briefly describe the aims of the initiative: 

 
 
What are the aims?  
 
The Arena forms part of the wider Regeneration Strategy, specifically forming part of Swansea 
Central Phase 1 development.  Regeneration as part of the Swansea Central Area Framework and 
the Corporate Aim of creating a vibrant and viable city and economy. 

 

 To create an Indoor Arena for concerts, conferences, and events. 

 The Arena will enable future integration of the city centre to the Waterfront – Linking the City 
Centre experience to the Sea.  
 

 Create a first class environment with economic benefits for the city that positively impact on 
peoples decisions to visit and live in the city.   

 

 Enable enhanced Social Cohesion  
 

 Foster good relations between different groups 
 

 Reduction in Social exclusion 
 

 Contribute to the goals of the Future Generations act 2015, Equality Act 2010 and Planning 
Policy Wales 2018 

 
 

 

Who has responsibility? 
 
Rob Stewart – Leader 
Robert Francis Davis – Councillor 
Phil Roberts – Chief Executive  
Martin Nicholls – Director 
Phil Holmes – Head of Services 
Huw Mowbray -  Development and Physical Regeneration Manager 
Lee Richards – Team Leader 
Regeneration Team 
Planning Team 
Finance Team 
Procurement Team 
Highways Team 
Legal Team 
Culture and Tourism Team  
 

Page 295



 8 

 
Section 2  - Information about Service Users (See guidance):  
Please tick which areas you have information on, in terms of service users:  

Children/young people (0-18) ....................   Carers (inc. young carers) ...........................   

Older people (50+) ....................................   

Any other age group (18+) ........................   Race ............................................................   

Disability ...................................................   Religion or (non-)belief ................................   

Gender reassignment ...............................   Sex ..............................................................   

Marriage & civil partnership.......................   Sexual orientation ........................................   

Pregnancy and maternity ..........................   Welsh language ...........................................   

 

Who are the stakeholders? 
 
All residents of and visitors to Swansea as well as local businesses and other organisations based 
in the area 

Page 296



 9 

Please provide a snapshot of the information you hold in relation to the protected groups 
above: 
 
From Census Data 2011 
 
The usually resident population of Swansea was 239,023 in 2011, an increase of 15,500 or seven per cent 
since 2001 

 
Children /Young People 
Of this population around 17% (41,400) are aged under 16.  
 

Any other age group/older people (50+)  
Nearly one in five (18 per cent, 42,800) of Swansea residents were aged 65 or over 
 

Disability 
In 2011 Swansea had a higher percentage of residents with a long term health problem or disability, at just under 
a quarter of all people (23.3%, around 55,700); slightly above the Wales average (22.7%). This proportion has 
fallen slightly since 2001 (24.7%).  

 

Race/Religion 

In terms of ethnicity, the census recorded that 94% of Swansea's usually resident population were white (around 
224,700 people). The proportion of non-white ethnic population in Swansea has increased from 2.2% in 2001 (around 
4,800 people) to 6.0% in 2011 (14,300), with the largest non-white ethnic groups in Swansea now Chinese (2,052 
people, 0.9%) and Bangladeshi (1,944, 0.8%).  

Fifty-five per cent (131,451) of Swansea residents stated Christian as their religion in 2011, a 16 percentage point 
drop since 2001. Over one third (34%, 81,219) of the population in Swansea stated they had no religion in 2011, 
up from around 44,000 in 2001. The largest minority religion in Swansea is Muslim (5,415, or 2.3% of all people).  

In 2011, 7.2% (17,233) of people in Swansea were born outside the UK, an increase of 3.6 percentage points (around 
9,300 people) on 2001.  

Marriage & civil partnership 

A higher proportion of residents aged 16 and over are single in 2011 than 2001 (up from 29.7% to 36.7%). Conversely, 
a lower proportion was married in 2011 (43.8%) than in 2001 (50.1%). The numbers and proportions separated or 
divorced have also increased over the ten year period.  

 

Welsh language 

2011 Census Key Statistics: Table 
QS207WA: Welsh language skills (detailed)     

     
All usual residents W06000011: SWANSEA WALES 

 Numbers Percentage Numbers Percentage 

All categories: Welsh language skills 239,023 100 3,063,456 100 

No skills in Welsh 193,938 81.1 2,263,975 73.9 

Can understand spoken Welsh only 12,906 5.4 162,859 5.3 

Can speak Welsh: Total 26,532 11.1 568,500 18.6 

Can speak but cannot read or write Welsh 4,839 2.0 85,605 2.8 

Can speak and read but cannot write Welsh 2,703 1.1 45,767 1.5 

Can speak, read and write Welsh 18,668 7.8 431,759 14.1 

Can speak and other combinations of skills in Welsh 322 0.1 5,369 0.2 

Can read but cannot speak or write Welsh 3,969 1.7 44,327 1.4 

Can read and write but cannot speak Welsh 1,372 0.6 18,742 0.6 

Can write but cannot speak or read Welsh 306 0.1 5,053 0.2 

Page 297



 10 

 

    
 

 
Swansea Visitor data/Tourism 2018 (Increases) 

 
 
 Total economic impact of tourism £M 417.85 
% change on 2016 (£’s 2017) 1.7% 

 
 Total visitor days (Millions) 8.06 
% change on 2016 2.0% 

 
 Staying visitor days (Millions) 4.99 
% change on 2016 3.3% 

 
 
 Total visitor numbers (Millions) 4.64 
% change on 2016 1.0% 

 
 
 Number of staying visitors (Millions) 1.57 
% change on 2016 2.9% 

 
 
 Number of day visitors (Millions) 3.07 
% change on 2016 0.0% 

 
 
 Number of FTE jobs supported by tourism spend 5,704 

% change on 2016 0.5% 

 
 
Below are the Characteristics of the visitors to Swansea:- 
 
Little change in visitors to Swansea Bay 
As evident in the below tables, there is little significant difference in the type of visitors heading to 
Swansea Bay, Mumbles and Gower, compared to three years ago. 
 
Marital status 
Marital status % of interviews 2015 % of interviews 2012 
Married or equivalent 75% 75% 
Single, never married 15% 15% 
Widowed / divorced / separated 9% 10% 
Refused 1% 0% 
Swansea Bay attracts a high proportion of people in a relationship, with three quarters of visitors to 
Swansea Bay are married, or equivalent, which is the same proportion reported in 2012. 
In addition, 15% are single and 9% are widowed, divorced or separated. 
 
Social class 
Social class % of interviews 2015 % of interviews 2012 
ABC1 69% 70% 
C2 18% 17% 
DE 12% 13% 
Refused 1% 0% 
The majority (69%) of visitors to Swansea Bay are ABC1 – this is not significantly different to 2012. 
 
Gender 
Gender % of interviews 2015 % of interviews 2012 

 

Page 298



 11 

Male 50% 51% 
Female 50% 49% 
There remains an even split of male and female visitors to Swansea Bay. 
 
 
Age 
The age of visitors to Swansea Bay has not changed significantly in the last three years. 
A large proportion (58%) of visitors are aged between 35 and 64, but fewer visitors at either end of the 
age scale, with 7% aged 16 to 24 and 5% over 75 years old. 
 
Welsh language 
Welsh Language % of interviews 2015 % of interviews 2012 
Yes – fluently 5% 6% 
Yes – not fluently 9% 9% 
No 86% 85% 
Most (86%) visitors to Swansea Bay do not speak Welsh. Only a very small proportion (5%) speak 
fluent Welsh, and 9% speak the language, but not fluently. 
 
Illness and disability 
Long-standing 
illness/disability/infirmity % of interviews 2015 % of interviews 2012 
Yes 9% 11% 
No 91% 89% 
The vast majority (91%) of visitors do not have any long-standing illness, disability or infirmity. 
Those that do (9%), 80% say that it limits their day-to-day activities in some way. 
 
Age % of interviews 2015 % of interviews 2012 
16-19 2% 3% 
20-24 5% 5% 
25-34 13% 14% 
35-44 19% 20% 
45-54 20% 20% 
55-64 19% 19% 
65-74 16% 16% 
75+ 5% 3% 
 
 

Ethnicity 
Ethnicity % of interviews 2015 % of interviews 2012 
White 96% 96% 
Asian or Asian British 1% 1% 
Chinese or other ethnic group 1% 1% 
Black or Black British 0% 1% 
Mixed / other 1% 1% 
Nearly all (96%) visitors to Swansea Bay are white British or another white background. 
 
Residency 
Residency % of interviews 2015 % of interviews 2012 
Wales 50% 42% 
Rest of UK 41% 46% 
Overseas 9% 12% 

 There has been an increase in Welsh residents taking a holiday or short break 

 in Swansea Bay, with half (50%) of visitors in the area making the trip from 

 elsewhere in the country compared to 42% in 2012 

 Fewer visitors are from the rest of the UK (41% compared to 46% in 2012) and overseas (9% 
compared to 12% in 2012). 

 Large proportion (85%) of overseas visitors reach Britain by plane, an increase on 2012 (72%). 

 
 

Page 299



 12 

 
 

 
 
 
Section 3 - Impact on Protected Characteristics (See guidance): 
Please consider the possible impact on the different protected characteristics.  
 

           Positive       Negative             Neutral         Needs further   
                                                          investigation  
Children/young people (0-18)      
OIder people (50+)     
Any other age group       
Disability      
Race (including refugees)      
Asylum seekers      
Gypsies & travellers      
Religion or (non-)belief     
Sex     
Sexual Orientation     
Gender reassignment      
Welsh Language     
Poverty/social exclusion     
Carers (Inc. young carers)     
Community cohesion     
Marriage & civil partnership      
Pregnancy and maternity       
 

 
Any actions required, e.g. to fill information gaps? 
 
No Actions required at present. 
 

Page 300



 13 

Thinking about your answers above, please explain in detail why this is the case. 

 
Children and Young People 
 
The new Arena area will provide more for young people to do within the City Centre – 
events that they can enjoy and socialise with others.   The Arena’s events programme will 
adhere to the Future Generations Act and ensue that children and young people are catered 
for. 
 
We will also encourage the operator to hold Welsh Cultural events which will be educational 
for young people. 
 
Any other age group/older people (50+)  
 
The Arena development will provide more for these age groups to enjoy within the City 
Centre - events that they can enjoy and socialise with others.   
 
The design will also comply with the Planning Policy Wales (PPW) to ensure ease of access 
to all – older members of the public can feel at ease in attending events due to ease of 
access into and out of the building. 
   
Disability 
 
We are engaging with the Disability Liaison Group on a regular basis – in terms of 
accessing the impact (refer to the following Engagement section.) 
 
The Arena will be fully accessible to disabled people.  It’s also being designed accordingly 
to the PPW which ensures that ease of access for all. 
 
An Access Consultant sits on the design team to provide advice throughout the design 
process.  Along with this a Design and Access Statement was developed for the Planning 
application and which has to be adhered to. (Report available on request). This report 
covers such areas as:- 
 

 Access issues  

 Continual review of design to ensure the disability agenda remains key in the design 
process 

 Adopt a Pan Disability Approach –Considering the needs of all disabled groups 
equally 
 

Regarding the access to the Arena the pedestrian, cycle and vehicle routes have been 
considered with their associated bridges, crossings, controls, gradients and materials, but 
as the design develops the requirements for people with hearing, visual and learning 
disabilities will equally be considered to ensure that all disability groups are equally 
considered in the detailed design 

 
The design of the Arena building and surrounding public realm which provides access into 

the Arena has considered the following elements of the design from a disability perspective 

and will adopt suitable design concepts to enhance a disabled user’s experience of 

attending the venue:- 

 Kerbs 

 Paving 

 Tactile warnings and Tactile paving 

Page 301



 14 

 Crossing controls 

 Signage and Wayfinding 

 Public Seating 

 Street Furniture 

 External Lighting 

 Lifts and Stairs 
 

Statement of Intent -  It is the design team’s intention to produce a design which 

satisfies a pan disability approach and all best practice guidance with the result the 

that new development incorporates the broadest possible needs of the disabled 

community of Swansea and the larger demographic which will visit the development.

  

Gender Reassignment/Sexual Orientation 

Once the Arena is open, engagement between the operator ATG and the LGBT Liaison 

Group can ensure that they would benefit from nights when the arena is hosting acts which 

would appeal to the ‘gay community’. 

After consultation with LGBT Forum Oct 2016 it was stated that some members of the group 

feel that they have to avoid public places because of the lack of gender neutral toilet 

facilities – The Arena will be providing these facilities so this group can be ensured that they 

will feel comfortable attending events that the Arena will offer. 

The Arena will also provide conference facilities and event areas which will be open to 

everyone to take advantage of. 

The Arena development will have state of the art CCTV and the Crime Prevention Officers 

are involved in the design process to enable this group to avoid homophobic abuse. 

Race/Religion/Carers 

The Arena development will provide a place of entertainment for all groups of the 
community to get together and build relationships thereby contributing to Social Cohesion 
within the City Centre.  
  
Welsh Language 
 
We have approached the Welsh Commissioner and have received the following response:- 
 
As ATG will be leasing the arena rather than running it on our behalf the WL standards are 
not relevant. 
However, they would urge us to ensure that ATG and the new arena promote and facilitate 
using Welsh. 
 
Poverty and Social Exclusion/Community Cohesion 
 
The new Arena will enable Community Cohesion by bringing together different groups within 
the venue. It will also affect Poverty and Social Exclusion in that it the Arena will provide 
events that some members of the community before could not afford to attend as the costs 
of travel to other venues would be prohibitive.  Social Exclusion as a result would decrease 
as the venue will offer those who were previously disadvantaged to feel more included 
within what’s going on in the City Centre. 
 
 

Page 302



 15 

 
 
 
 
Section 4  - Engagement: 
Please consider all of your engagement activities here, e.g. participation, consultation, 
involvement, co-productive approaches, etc. 

Page 303



 16 

What engagement has been undertaken to support your view?  How did you ensure this was accessible to 
all? 
 
 
As part of the reserved matters planning application for Swansea Central Phase 1 a public consultation 
event was held exhibiting the detailed design proposals for scheme which includes the Arena. The 
event was publicised and invites sent to groups to stakeholder groups to attend. Individual meetings 
were also organised between the project team and special interest groups, to ensure a thorough 
consultation was undertaken.  
 
We ensured that the public consultation events and meetings were accessible to all in that we had the audio 
loop available and the offer of sign language and welsh translation was also available on request.  All 
literature was also produced in Welsh and English. 
 
The programme was designed to comply with national policy and guidance promoting pre-application 
consultation. 
 
It was also designed to comply with the latest Planning Policy Wales documentation.  
 
In addition to the public exhibition, the project team encouraged individuals to provide formal feedback on 
the proposal via forms made available at the event, at special interest meetings, and on the Swansea 
Central website. Steps were taken to ensure engagement with the community was continued after the event, 
with a dedicated project email address and Freepost mailing address made available to for correspondence 
purposes. The public exhibition materials were also made available on the Swansea Central website to allow 
those who were unable to attend the event to provide informed feedback.  
 
The exhibition attracted 223 attendees. The project team received formal feedback from 78 members of the 
local community in the course of carrying out the above public engagement. 
 
The project team collated 52 completed feedback forms over the course of the exhibition, with a further 26 
received via the project’s Freepost address and the development’s website. In total, 78 feedback forms were 
collected and the findings detailed in this report.  
 
The key objectives of the consultation were:  

 To engage with the local community in accordance with both national planning policy and local 
guidance.  

 To properly explain the proposed detailed design proposals and lay out the potential benefits of the 
scheme.  

 To give local residents and stakeholders the opportunity to provide direct feedback and ask questions 
regarding the proposal.  

 To ensure the local community was informed of the various channels through which people could 
voice their opinions on the proposal, primarily through feedback questionnaires, but also by directing 
questions towards project team members in attendance, a dedicated email address, and a Freepost 
mailing address.  

 
Public exhibition  
The exhibition was held at St David’s Church Hall. This is next door to St David’s Church, which is 
immediately adjacent to the application site. This venue was chosen on account of it being easy to find, its 
proximity to the project site, and equal access considerations.  
 
The event was held on Friday 15 June and ran all day from 9.30am to 8pm in order to ensure that as many 
interested parties as possible would be able to attend at a time convenient to them. Please see images of 
the exhibition at Appendix 1.  
 

Page 304



 17 

 
 
 
Publicity  
A number of channels were utilised in order to ensure the event was well publicised in compliance with the 
aforementioned policy and guidance as well as in English and Welsh. The following activities were 
undertaken with this in mind:  
 

 Two half-page press adverts and online advertising  
 

 Flyers distributed locally  
 

 Development website updates  

 Individually addressed letters sent via post (appendix 3)  
 

 An advert on the Castle Square big screen  
 
Two half-page adverts were placed in the 4 June and 13 June editions of a local news publication - the 
South Wales Evening Post. These also appeared as banners online. The adverts provided key information 
regarding the exhibition including the location, date, and time in both English and Welsh. The advert also 
provided contact details for the project team and invited the local community to share its views on the 
proposals.  
 
A flyer was delivered by hand by members of the project team to relevant interest groups and businesses in 
the area. The flyer provided key information regarding the exhibition including the location, date, and time in 
English and Welsh. The flyer also provided contact details for the project team and invited the local 
community to share its views on the proposals.  
 
The Swansea Central development website (swanseacentral.info) provided key information regarding the 
exhibition including the location, date, and time in Welsh and English. The site also provided contact details 
for the project team and a full downloadable version of the boards available two days before the exhibition. 
The website also invites the local community to share its views on the proposals with an electronic version of 
the feedback form available two days before the exhibition.  
 
An advert was also placed on the Castle Square big screen. The advert provided key information regarding 
the exhibition including the location, date, and time in both Welsh and English. The advert also provided 
contact details for the project team and invited the local community to share its views on the proposals.  
 
 
What did your engagement activities tell you?  What feedback have you received? 
 
The consultation strategy was devised in three ‘phases’ in order to best inform the general public about the 
scheme, while also providing opportunities to engage closely with special interest groups and explain the 
detailed design proposals.  
 
The first phase consisted of meetings with interested stakeholder groups, this included a cabinet members 
briefing, as well as meetings on an individual basis with neighbours. A series of meetings were also set up 
with special interest groups to discuss key elements of the project.  
 
Meetings with stakeholder groups  
The scheme was presented to members on Wednesday, 6 June. Key areas in relation to the Arena part of 
the development that were discussed included construction timelines and costs. The project team were able 
to answer all queries or revert back to any outstanding concerns.  
 

Page 305



 18 

The following groups were also met with on an individual basis. All were supportive of the scheme in general 
and no specific comments about the Arena were raised. 

 Museum  

 Tesco   

 St David’s Church   

There was a total of five special interest sessions over the course of Thursday 14 June and Friday 15 June. 
These focused on trees, transport, local residents, community groups and business and civic society. Invites 
were sent to relevant groups for each session in English and Welsh. There were also English and Welsh 
speakers available at each session as well as a hearing loop, which was used at the community group 
session.  
 
On Friday, 15 June a special interest session was held with various local community groups in an area 
adjacent to the main exhibition. Invitees included representatives of disability groups, cycling and Mother & 
Baby groups. Only the disability groups attended with four representatives. This was the only group who 
raised comments specifically related to the Arena and approach/access into the Arena venue. The group 
welcomed the pedestrianised routes to the Arena – particularly the bridge and covered areas along the 
route, although there were concerns about how cyclists would be encouraged to dismount.  
 
 
The Schools engagement will be detailed in section 6. 
 
The following section presents the data collected from the feedback channels open to the public. Most of this 
was via feedback forms filled in at the public exhibition by people in attendance, with a small proportion of 
those received later via the Freepost address. All respondents have had the chance to review the 
information presented about the proposals either in person or online.  
 
In total, 78 completed feedback forms were submitted to the project team. The feedback collated from these 
forms is displayed and analysed in the following section.  
 
Of the 78 completed forms returned to the project team, 52 were received during the course of the public 
exhibition. A further three were returned via the Freepost mailing address, and 23 were completed online, as 
set out in the below table.  
 
Feedback forms  
Collected at 
exhibition  

52  

Returned by post  3  
Submitted online  23  
Total  78  

 
The feedback forms provided the opportunity for the project team to collect both qualitative and quantitative 
data about people’s responses to the application.  
 
Respondents were asked to think about a number of statements, and state in each case whether they 
agreed or disagreed, or did not know. These statements related to separate aspects of the proposed design 
for Swansea Central Phase 1 scheme. If they expressed an opinion on the statement, they were asked 
whether they felt strongly or not about their opinion.  
 
Respondents were also given the opportunity to provide any other comments that they considered relevant 
or would like to make. These have been analysed after the quantitative questions below.  
 

Page 306



 19 

The total number of answers for each question varies, as some respondents omitted some. The total number 
of answers collected for each question is noted above the respective question where applicable.  
 
 
Question one asked whether respondents agreed with the statement ‘I am in favour of the design for the 
new 3,500-capacity indoor digital arena’, and was completed by 77 of 78 respondents. The results were as 
follow:  
 
Strongly agree, 45 
Agree, 15 
Disagree, 5 
Strongly disagree, 4 
Don't know, 8 
 
'I am in favour of the design for the new 3,500-capacity indoor digital arena' 
 
Don’t know 8 
Strongly agree, 45 
Agree, 15 
Disagree, 5 
Strongly disagree, 45 
 
As can be seen from the figures above, the design of the digital arena was supported by 60 of 77 
respondents (80%), with almost three-fifths of all respondents saying that they strongly agreed with the 
statement.  
 
Only nine respondents (12%) did not agree that they were in favour, with only two of those strongly 
disagreeing.  
 
Eight respondents (11%) did not know whether they agreed with the statement.  
 
 
To people left general feedback to say that we should ensure that Swansea’s Grand Theatre must remain 
despite the development of a new Arena.  
 
 
In addition to the public exhibition, there has also been a programme of schools engagement (feedback 
detailed in section 6) 
 
 

How have you changed your initiative as a result? 
 
Responses to feedback  
 
The project team has carefully considered all of the feedback received during the community engagement 
process.  
  
 
 
 

Issue raised during 
engagement  

Response 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 307



 20 

 
 
 
Section 5 – Other impacts: 
Please consider how the initiative might address the following issues - see the specific 
Section 5 Guidance  
 

Foster good relations between  
different groups 

Advance equality of opportunity between 
different groups 

Elimination of discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation 

Reduction of social exclusion and poverty 

 
 

Please explain any possible impact on each of the above. 
 
This scheme will have a positive impact on the above as it will be a place to bring the 
general public together and different communities together. It will give the residents of 
Swansea and visitors to the area the opportunity of experiencing concerts and events 
which they may not have had the means to do so in the past.   
 
The Arena will have CCTV installed and regular meetings take place with the police 
regarding reduction in crime etc. The Arena including all event and conference areas will 
be fully accessible. 
 
 
What work have you already done to improve any of the above? 
 
Beyond Bricks and Mortar have contributed to Tender documentation for the 
procurement of the Arena operator and the Arena main contractor contract to maximise 
social benefits from the development and operation of the scheme. 
 
In a recent Focus Group consultation event one concern was raised over shared 
spaces– An accessibility consultant has been appointed to ensure that all areas of the 
design will meet the requirements for the whole spectrum of potential users. Accessible 
routes and step free access are important considerations throughout the public realm 
leading into the Arena. Vertical movement is provided by stairs and ramps. This also 
contributes to the main objectives of the PPW by ensuring ease of access for all.  
 

Noting that Swansea’s 
Grand Theatre must 
remain  
 

This does not fall within 
the scheme’s domain and 
as far as the project team 
is aware there are no 
plans for it to close.  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Any actions required (e.g. further engagement activities, mitigation to address any adverse impact, 
etc.): 
 
Further consultation to be carried out at the next stage. 
 
Ongoing liaison with the Julie Humphries and the Welsh language team.   

Page 308



 21 

ATG, the Arena operator have detailed their play strategy in their procurement 
documentation detailing how they will be going out to schools to run different workshops 
which will enable children of all ages and abilities to enjoy the Arena regardless of socio-
economic background. 

 
An Economic Impact Assessment has been developed on the Swansea Central 
programme one of the key objectives of this Economic Impact Assessment are as 
follows is to consider whether the economic benefits generated by the development of 
the Arena are well aligned with the economic and social needs of the local area. 
 
The report also details:- 
 
SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY 

Emphasis is also placed on reducing inequalities and poverty.  The strategy states that a 
mix of housing opportunities should be provided and the development should be 
designed for the needs of all communities.  To tackle ill health, proposals should mitigate 
air quality issues and provide green open space, which will also promote good health 
and well-being.   

A changing places facility will be provided within the Arena which will enable people to 
access a changing area which will accommodate their needs. 
 
Is the initiative likely to impact on Community Cohesion?  Please provide details.  
 
The Arena will encourage wider use of the Centre of Swansea from all of Swansea’s 
communities and also encouraging all communities to engage with each other and Also 
all feedback from these communities will be taken into account in the design details. 
 
 
How does the initiative support Welsh speakers and encourage use of Welsh? 
 
All of the signposting approaching Swansea Arena will be in Welsh and English.  
 
Guidance from the Welsh Commissioner - it is stated in the Welsh Language Standards 
(Number 1) Regulations 2015 that:   
  
(1)(5) According the these regulations- 
(a) references to any activity carried out by a body, or to any service which is provided 
by a body, are to be read as if they include a reference to that activity being carried out 
on behalf of the body, or to that service being provided on behalf of the body, by a third 
party under arrangements made between the third party and the body;  
  
(b) pursuant to that, unless there is a compliance notice to provide evidence to the 
contrary, a body will have failed to conform to a standard in relation to an activity which it 
has arranged to be carried out, or a service which it has arranged to be provided, by a 
third party if that activity or that service has not been carried out or provided according to 
the standard.  
  
The above clause means that the body must ensure that any service which is provided 
or any activity which is carried out on its behalf by a third party conforms with the 
standard(s) which pertain to that service or that activity. The type of relevant 
arrangements can include arrangements made through a contract or partnership. 
  

Page 309



 22 

The Welsh Language Commissioner has a Welsh language promotion team which works 
closely with third sector businesses and organisations to increase their use of the Welsh 
language. The team can offer advice and support to companies such as ATG to assist 
them in completing a Welsh language promotion plan, which is a way of planning their 
use of the Welsh language with an emphasis on trying to increase that use over time. 
The team also offers a proof-reading service which assists organisations in the private 
sector or the third sector in a practical way as they start to make use of the Welsh 
language.  
 
The Arena will be able to promote welsh culture in holding events.  There could possibly 
be the opportunity to work with the local Fforwm Iaith or Menter Iaith Abertawe. 
 

Actions (to mitigate adverse impact or to address identified gaps in knowledge). 
 
Ongoing liaison with the Welsh language promotion team which works closely with third 
sector businesses and organisations to increase their use of the Welsh language. The 
team can offer advice and support to companies such as ATG to assist them in 
completing a Welsh language promotion plan, which is a way of planning their use of the 
Welsh language with an emphasis on trying to increase that use over time. The team 
also offers a proof-reading service which assists organisations in the private sector or 
the third sector in a practical way as they start to make use of the Welsh language. Each 
organisation has an allowance of up to 1000 words. 
 
A member of the project team to attend regular Engagement Team meetings to obtain 
feedback and process continuity. 

 

 

Section 6  - United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 
(UNCRC): 
Many initiatives have an indirect impact on children and you need to consider whether 
the impact is positive or negative in relation to both children’s rights and their best 
interests.  Please read the UNCRC guidance before completing this section. 
 

Will the initiative have any impact (direct or indirect) on children and young people 
(think about this age group holistically e.g. disabled children, those living in 
poverty or from BME communities)?  If not, please briefly explain your answer 
here and proceed to Section 7. 
 
Improving the City Centre and its offer for future generations. 
 
All initiatives must be designed / planned in the best interests of children and 
young people.   
Best interests of the child (Article 3): The best interests of children must be the primary 
concern in making decisions that may affect them. All adults should do what is best for 
children. When adults make decisions, they should think about how their decisions will 
affect children. This particularly applies to budget, policy and law makers. 
 
Please explain how you meet this requirement: 
 
Schools were sent tasks to complete on what they would like to see from the Arena and 
surrounding parkland. 
 
Feedback from  

 

Page 310



 23 

A response was received from Glyncollen Primary School, where 24 pupils took part in an 
exercise looking at the proposals, and considering what play options they would like, what 
temporary activities they supported, and what sort of acts they would prefer to see in the arena.   
 
The third task of the exercise related directly to the Arena. Pupils were asked what they would 
like to see happen at the arena in future. Suggestions included:  
 

 Musical theatre  

 Comedy  

 Pop concerts  

 Circus 
 Music festival (big weekend)  

 Stunt show (freestyle BMX)  
 
The exhibition team has noted the responses alongside the play responses from the exhibition, 
which were very helpful, and they have been fed back to ATG for consideration.  
 
The project team is also holding monthly meetings with the play team who were involved in 
helping to arrange the above event.  

 

Actions (to mitigate adverse impact or to address identified gaps in knowledge). 
 
Further consultation for Children’s Rights Team, Youth Support Services and Schools 
and Play Team 

 

Section 7 - Monitoring arrangements: 
Please explain the monitoring arrangements for this initiative: 
 

Monitoring arrangements: Each stage will include an EIA update 
 

Actions: Update report 
 

Section 8 – Outcomes: 
Having completed sections 1-5, please indicate which of the outcomes listed below applies to 
your initiative (refer to the guidance for further information on this section). 
 
Outcome 1: Continue the initiative – no concern                            √ 

Outcome 2: Adjust the initiative – low level of concern                    √ 

Outcome 3:Justify the initiative – moderate level of concern                                   

Outcome 4: Stop and refer the initiative – high level of concern.                                 

For outcome 3, please provide the justification below: 
For outcome 4, detail the next steps / areas of concern below and refer to your Head of Service 
/ Director for further advice: 

 
Section 9 - Publication arrangements: On completion, please follow this 3-

step procedure: 

      

 

Page 311



 24 

1. Send this EIA report and action plan to the Access to Services Team for feedback 
and approval – accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

2. Make any necessary amendments/additions. 
3. Provide the final version of this report to the team for publication, including email 

approval of the EIA from your Head of Service. The EIA will be published on the 
Council’s website - this is a legal requirement. 

 
EIA Action Plan: 

 
 

Objective - What 
are we going to 
do and why? 

Who will be 
responsible for 
seeing it is done? 

When will it be 
done by? 

Outcome - How will we know 
we have achieved our 
objective?  

Progress 

News letters 
 

Buckingham/SC Monthly Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Website SC Monthly All other stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Press Releases SC As and when 
necessary 

Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Tactile Model of 
hoarding to be 
developed to aid 
the visually 
impaired (during 
construction)  

SC Before hoarding is 
erected 

Visually impaired are in receipt 
of the models 

 

Competitions to 
be arranged 
through schools 
and visits 
scheduled – i.e. 
Time Capsules 

SC Throughout project Schools are included in the 
consultation process 

 

Ongoing liaison 
with the Welsh 
language 
promotion team 

SC Throughout project All material is translated 
accordingly 

 

Further 
consultation for 
Children’s Rights 
Team, Youth 
Support Services 
and Schools and 
Play Team 

SC Throughout project Keeping young people involved 
in the consultation process 

 

A member of the 
project team to 
attend regular 
Engagement 
Team meetings to 
obtain feedback 
and process 
continuity. 
 

SC Throughout project Continuous engagement 
feedback being fed into the 
design process  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 312

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 25 

 
 

c) COASTAL PARKLAND DEVELOPMENT – SCREENING FORM 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form. If you would like further 

guidance please contact your directorate support officer or the Access to Services team (see guidance for details). 

 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: Planning & City Regeneration    

Directorate: Place 

 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 

 

      Service/                Policy/  

      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                                                                             

 

 

 

(b) Please name and describe below 

 

Swansea Central Phase 1 Coastal Parkland Development 

 

The Swansea Central Phase 1 is a mixed use scheme comprising Arena, 2 multi-storey car parks, Coastal Park, 

Bridge, Residential and Commercial units for which Cabinet authority to fund and deliver will be sought in August 

2019. Subject to Cabinet approval, the Council will become the developer who will fund and enter into contract 

with a main building contractor to build the scheme.  

 

Outline planning permission was granted for Swansea Central Phase 1 and due to change in the design of the 

north development block which comprises the Residential and Commercial elements of the scheme, a Non-

material Amendment has been subsequently approved by Planning, with the Reserved Matters application being 

submitted shortly thereafter to cater for a start on site in September 2019 with completion targeted for 2021. 

 

The new coastal themed parkland will be created on the roof of the new two storey south side car park which is 

being constructed on the current LC car park site. The park is approximately 1 Acre.  The parkland will therefore be 

on the same level as the entrance to the new arena which is being built adjacent to the new car park with coastal 

park above.  

 

Access to the park will be possible from a number of key locations. 

 from the new arena and new bridge to the North East 

Page 313



 26 

 from stairwell and public lift beside new arena 

 from the South East via footpath along existing revetment wall 

 from North West via ramp over Paxton St tunnel down onto existing Oystermouth Road pavement 
 

The coastal park will have primary and secondary routes through the parkland to connect it with other parts of the 

scheme such as the north side development via the new bridge, and will also connect into the existing city centre 

cycle network. 

 

The primary route through the park will be shared between pedestrians and cyclists and continue over the new 

bridge into the city centre and back onto Oystermouth Road cycle route in the other direction. Bicycle parking 

facilities will also be provided for in the park at the eastern end near the new arena. Different routes within the 

parkland will have different flooring treatments to differentiate between the different routes. A mixture of 

different coloured tarmacadam with granite set edging with some composite decking is being proposed for the 

hard landscaped areas. 

 

The aim of the parkland is to create an accessible destination for people of all ages and abilities. The design of the 

parkland will have a coastal theme and will incorporate opportunities for natural play and discovery as oppose to 

providing traditional playground equipment.  

 

 

The multi-generational approach to play aims to encourage play and education through peer interaction.  The 

parkland has zoned areas to cater for different age groups: 

 Adventure zone – to challenge children age 14+ 

 Active play zone – active play for 11-16 year olds 

 Water and sand zone – ages 4-11, wheelchair accessible 

 Social play zone – multi-generational social team games 

 Explorative play zone – young children, natural materials 
 

 

People will benefit from an improved sense of wellbeing that can be brought about by green open space. The 

proposed planting scheme will focus on native planting to increase biodiversity. Whilst it has been necessary to 

remove trees to clear the site in readiness for the development, trees have been translocated where possible, 

timber has been stored for reuse by community projects, and lots more new trees are being planted to replace 

those lost. 

 

Seating areas will feature throughout the park, these will be a mixture of benches and reclaimed log seating.  

 

Planting will be used to screen areas, create privacy for adjacent properties and act as a secondary barrier to veer 

people away from the edges of the park which will have a 14000mm high balustrade system around the 

perimeter. 

 

The park will incorporate three viewing holes giving people a view down inside the car park, also acting as a source 

of natural light to the car park below. 

Page 314



 27 

 

Plans for the park also include the creation of a new kiosk/commercial unit sitting between the park and the new 

arena serving food and beverages. It will have a large outdoor covered area with tables and chairs so people can 

enjoy the facility whilst watching their children play in the park. 

 Kiosk A – 44m2 

 Kiosk B – 50m2 

 Kiosk C – 32m2 

 Kiosk D – 32m2 

 Kiosk E – 52m2 

 Unit F – 267m2 

 Total – 478m2 
 

Adjacent to the commercial unit, accessible public WC facilities will be built. (Changing places and gender neutral 

facilities will be provided in the nearby arena).  

 

Bilingual signage in the park will be in Welsh and English. As part of the wayfinding strategy through the park an 

information point will be located on the eastern end near the arena and various play and ecology interpretation 

points will be located throughout the park. A connection will also be made to Swansea’s Dillys Dragon trail to 

strengthen the connection from the park to the city centre. 

 

The primary route through the park will also act as a means of access for emergency vehicles to the new arena 

adjacent. As such, drop bollards will be necessary on the western entry point into the park to prevent any other 

vehicles gaining entry into the park. The drop bollards will only be opened in an emergency. 

 

 

 

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 

Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 

         

  (H)        (M)  (L) 

 

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 

     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   

need to want to  automatically provided to basis 

 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)      (M)    (M)  (L) 

 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 

Page 315



 28 

(If NO, you need to consider whether you should be undertaking consultation 

and engagement – please see the guidance) 

    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 

Children/young people (0-18)      

Any other age group (18+)      

Disability      

Gender reassignment      

Marriage & civil partnership      

Pregnancy and maternity      

Race      

Religion or (non-)belief     

Sex     

Sexual Orientation     

Welsh Language     

Poverty/social exclusion     

Carers (inc. young carers)     

Community cohesion     

 

Q4 HAVE YOU / WILL YOU UNDERTAKE ANY PUBLIC CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT RELATING TO THE 

INITIATIVE?  

 

 YES        NO   

 

 

If yes, please provide details below  

Swansea Central development has been the subject of several public consultation events which outlined the 

development proposals to build a mixed use scheme which incorporates the coastal park. Public consultation 

events have taken place at appropriate stages in the design process to obtain public opinion which has been fed 

back into the design. 

 

 

Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 

     (H)    (M)  (L) 

 

(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? (Consider the following impacts – legal, 

financial, political, media, public perception  etc…)  

Page 316



 29 

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 

     (H)        (M)          (L) 

 

 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  

 

      Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below 

Finance, Legal, Corporate Property, Events, Parks 

 

Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   →  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 

 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      →  Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 followed by Section 2  

 

Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for a full EIA report, you must provide adequate 

explanation below.  In relation to the Council’s commitment to the UNCRC, your explanation must 

demonstrate that the initiative is designed / planned in the best interests of children (0-18 years).  For 

Welsh language, we must maximise positive and minimise adverse effects on the language and its use.  

Your explanation must also show this where appropriate.  

 

 The EIA screening demonstrates that there are minimal equality implications in relation to the design and 

development of the coastal parkland element of the Swansea Central scheme. 

 

 The parkland will be accessible for all and provide a new green space in the city centre for all residents of 

Swansea to enjoy. A new car park directly underneath, cycle racks, and direct shared pedestrian and cycle 

routes over the new bridge and into the city centre towards other transport hubs will make the park 

accessible via all modes of transport. 

 

 The interests of young people have been taken account at the public consultation events, via school 

newsletter and through Big Conversation Events. 

 

 At the public consultation event, a board designed for young people asked them to put a post it note on the 

play options they would most like to see in the new park. Sensory trail path, table tennis & group game play, 

Page 317



 30 

natural play, and water play were the most popular options which have been fed back into the design 

process. Two people also commented that accessible play equipment should be provided and again this 

feedback has been fed back to the design team. 

All schools were also set a task via the school newsletter which again asked them to vote for the play options 

they would most like to see in the new park. The options which received the most votes included water 

play, movement play, natural play, and boulder play. All results were gratefully received and have been fed 

back into the design process. 

 Opportunities will be provided to young people thoughout the construction of with school visits, 

competitions, and time capsule initiatives being planned.   

The park will be managed by the Council’s Parks section and as with all parks in the authority, bilingual 

(Welsh & English) signage and information points will be used throughout the park and approach to. 

Section 2 

NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before obtaining approval 

from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via email – no electronic signatures or paper 

copies are needed. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Dawn Jenkins 

Job title: Regeneration Manager 

Date:  
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Phil Holmes 

Position: Head of Planning & City Regeneration 

Date:  

Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

EIA Action Plan: 
Objective - What 
are we going to 
do and why? 

Who will be 
responsible for 
seeing it is done? 

When will it be 
done by? 

Outcome - How will we know 
we have achieved our 
objective?  

Progress 

News letters 
 

Buckingham/SC Monthly Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Website SC Monthly All other stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Press Releases SC As and when 
necessary 

Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Tactile Model of 
hoarding to be 
developed to aid 
the visually 
impaired (during 
construction)  

SC Before hoarding is 
erected 

Visually impaired are in receipt 
of the models 

 

Competitions to 
be arranged 
through schools 
and visits 

SC Throughout project Schools are included in the 
consultation process 

 

Page 318

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 31 

scheduled – i.e. 
Time Capsules 

Work experience 
opportunities 
may also exist for 
young local 
people during the 
construction 
period as social 
benefits are 
being sought 
through the 
contract. 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 319



 32 

E) CAR PARK DEVELOPMENT – SCREENING FORM 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form. If you would like further 

guidance please contact your directorate support officer or the Access to Services team (see guidance for details). 

 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: Planning & City Regeneration    

Directorate: Place 

 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 

 

      Service/                Policy/  

      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                                                                             

 

 

 

(b) Please name and describe below 

 

Swansea Central Phase 1 Car Parks Development 

 

The Swansea Central Phase 1 is a mixed use scheme comprising Arena, 2 multi-storey car parks, Coastal Park, 

Bridge, Residential and Commercial units for which Cabinet authority to fund and deliver will be sought in August 

2019. Subject to Cabinet approval, the Council will become the developer who will fund and enter into contract 

with a main building contractor to build the scheme.  

 

Outline planning permission was granted for Swansea Central Phase 1 and due to change in the design of the 

north development block which comprises the Residential and Commercial elements of the scheme, a Non-

material Amendment has been subsequently approved by Planning, with the Reserved Matters application being 

submitted shortly thereafter to cater for a start on site in September 2019 with completion targeted for 2021. 

 

One multi-storey car park (MSCP) is being built on the south side of Oystermouth Road and another MSCP is being 

built on the north side of Oystermouth Road. A total of 939 car parking spaces will be created between the two car 

parks which will replace the existing LC and St Mary’s surface level car parks and the existing St David’s multi-

storey car park and will serve the new development (arena, commercial, parkland etc) as well as meeting existing 

needs of city centre, LC, museum etc. 

 

The car parks will be modern well lit and welcoming environments built to Parking Standards and also to strict new 

fire safety standards. 63 of the spaces will be allocated for disabled blue badge holders in line with guidance. 

 

Page 320



 33 

28 Electric charging points will be installed for drivers of electric vehicles including 4 specifically for disabled 

electric car drivers. The infrastructure has been futureproofed in this regard to cater for predicted future increase 

in electric car usage, thereby allowing us to increase the number of electric car charging points in the future 

if/when required.  

 

The car parks will have accessible pedestrian entrances at key locations to allow convenient access to the Arena 

and City Centre. Each floor in the car park will be accessible via stairwell and lift. Disabled parking spaces will be 

located nearest the entrances/stairwell/lift for convenience. Within the car park, a dedicated pedestrian walkway 

painted on the floor will help pedestrian circulation between vehicle and entrance/exit points. 

 

The car parks will be well lit and will utilise as much natural light as possible. The south side car park will benefit 

from natural light provided through ‘holes/cut outs’ in the roof which will form a feature in the parkland which will 

sit on the roof of the car park. 

 

A security consultant has been engaged throughout the car park design process, and CCTV coverage will be 

provided within the car parks. Once built, an application will be made to apply for Park Mark Safer Parking Award 

Standard to give customers added reassurance regarding safety. 

 

Modern car parking equipment will be installed to make it convenient for users to pay via a variety of payment 

methods including cash, card or mobile phone. 

 

Motorcycle and bicycle parking facilities will also be provided for within the car parks meaning that people can 

park regardless of mode of transport. 

 

Bilingual road signage will direct road users to the car park entrances off of Oystermouth Road. For convenience 

and to help avoid congestion, information boards on the Highway will show available spaces within the car parks. 

All road markings and signage within the car park will also be displayed in Welsh and English.  

 

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 

Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 

         

  (H)        (M)  (L) 

 

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 

     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   

need to want to  automatically provided to basis 

 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)      (M)    (M)  (L) 

Page 321



 34 

(If NO, you need to consider whether you should be undertaking consultation 

and engagement – please see the guidance) 

 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 

    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 

Children/young people (0-18)      

Any other age group (18+)      

Disability      

Gender reassignment      

Marriage & civil partnership      

Pregnancy and maternity      

Race      

Religion or (non-)belief     

Sex     

Sexual Orientation     

Welsh Language     

Poverty/social exclusion     

Carers (inc. young carers)     

Community cohesion     

 

Q4 HAVE YOU / WILL YOU UNDERTAKE ANY PUBLIC CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT RELATING TO THE 

INITIATIVE?  

 

 YES        NO   

 

 

If yes, please provide details below  

Swansea Central development has been the subject of several public consultation events which outlined the 

development proposals to build a mixed use scheme containing multi-storey car parks . Public consultation events 

have taken place at appropriate stages in the design process to obtain public opinion which has been fed back into 

the design. 

 

 

Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 

     (H)    (M)  (L) 

Page 322



 35 

 

(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? (Consider the following impacts – legal, 

financial, political, media, public perception  etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 

     (H)        (M)          (L) 

 

 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  

 

      Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below 

Finance, Legal, Highways, Car Parks 

 

Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   →  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 

 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      →  Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 followed by Section 2  

 

Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for a full EIA report, you must provide adequate 

explanation below.  In relation to the Council’s commitment to the UNCRC, your explanation must 

demonstrate that the initiative is designed / planned in the best interests of children (0-18 years).  For 

Welsh language, we must maximise positive and minimise adverse effects on the language and its use.  

Your explanation must also show this where appropriate.  

 

 The EIA screening demonstrates that there are minimal equality implications in relation to the design and 

development of the two new car park elements of the Swansea Central scheme. 

 

 The car parks will be modern well let, accessible and safe environments to park whilst visiting the existing 

and new city centre facilities. All floors of the car parks will be accessible to pedestrians via lifts or stairwells.  

 

 The interests of young people have been taken account at the public consultation events. Whilst car parking 

does not directly relate to children’s needs, the provision of car parks in essential to meet the needs of 

young people as they may rely on parent/guardian who will utilise the car parks to take young people to the 

Page 323



 36 

new facilities being built alongside the car parks. The design of the car parks complies with Car Parking 

standards and as such will provide dedicated child & parent parking spaces. 

  

 Opportunities will be provided to young people thoughout the construction of with school visits, 

competitions, and time capsule initiatives being planned. Work experience opportunities may also exist for 

young local people during the construction period as social benefits are being sought through the contract. 

 

The car parks will be maintained and operated by the Council’s car parking section and as with all Council car parks, 

bilingual (Welsh & English) signage will be used throughout the car park and approach to. 

Section 2 

NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before obtaining approval 

from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via email – no electronic signatures or paper 

copies are needed. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Dawn Jenkins 

Job title: Regeneration Manager 

Date:  
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Phil Holmes 

Position: Head of Planning & City Regeneration 

Date:  

Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

EIA Action Plan: 
Objective - What 
are we going to 
do and why? 

Who will be 
responsible for 
seeing it is done? 

When will it be 
done by? 

Outcome - How will we know 
we have achieved our 
objective?  

Progress 

News letters 
 

Buckingham/SC Monthly Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Website SC Monthly All other stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Press Releases SC As and when 
necessary 

Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Tactile Model of 
hoarding to be 
developed to aid 
the visually 
impaired (during 
construction)  

SC Before hoarding is 
erected 

Visually impaired are in receipt 
of the models 

 

Competitions to 
be arranged 
through schools 
and visits 
scheduled – i.e. 
Time Capsules 

SC Throughout project Schools are included in the 
consultation process 

 

Page 324

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 37 

Once built, an 

application will be 

made to apply for 

Park Mark Safer 

Parking Award 

Standard to give 

customers added 

reassurance 

regarding safety. 

 

    

Work experience 

opportunities may 

also exist for 

young local 

people during the 

construction 

period as social 

benefits are being 

sought through 

the contract. 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 325



 38 

G. BRIDGE SCREENING FORM 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: Planning & City Regeneration    

Directorate: Place 
 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 
 

      Service/                Policy/  
      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                                                                             
 
 

 

(b) Please name and describe below 
 
Swansea Central Phase 1 Bridge Development 
 
The Swansea Central Phase 1 is a mixed use scheme comprising Arena, 2 multi-storey car parks, Coastal 
Park, Bridge, Residential and Commercial units for which Cabinet authority to fund and deliver will be 
sought in August 2019. Subject to Cabinet approval, the Council will become the developer who will fund 
and enter into contract with a main building contractor to build the scheme.  
 
Outline planning permission was granted for Swansea Central Phase 1 and due to change in the design of 
the north development block which comprises the Residential and Commercial elements of the scheme, a 
Non-material Amendment has been subsequently approved by Planning, with the Reserved Matters 
application being submitted shortly thereafter to cater for a start on site in September 2019 with completion 
targeted for 2021. 
 
A new bridge will connect the development on the south side of Oystermouth Road to the development on 
the North side and existing city centre. The bridge will be in approximately the same location as the existing 
pedestrian bridge that traverses Oystermouth Road but will be significantly different in design.  
 
The new bridge will be ramped (gradient compliant with the Equality Act 2010) on the north side down into 
the existing city centre where the current St David’s shopping centre is located. On the south side, the 
bridge will effectively land on the public realm square at the front of Arena’s main entrance which is at 
podium level, adjacent to the new parkland. 
 
The bridge will be a steel structure 12m wide in width and will be partially covered to help protect users 
from the elements at its central point over Oystermouth Road. 
 
The bridge will be exclusively for the use of pedestrians and cyclist as a shared path, as a means of 
crossing Oystermouth Road and connecting the city centre to the new Arena and parkland.  
 
The bridge will connect into the existing cycle network in a westerly direction through the new parkland and 
onto Oystermouth, and in a northerly direction up into the city centre, onto St Mary’s and Princess Way. 
 
Detailed designs of the bridge are currently being prepared which will include suitable lighting, resting 
points on the ramped approach, and wayfinding markers. 
 
 

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 
Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 
         
  (H)        (M)  (L) 
  

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 
     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   

Page 326



 39 

(If NO, you need to consider whether you should be undertaking consultation 

and engagement – please see the guidance) 

need to want to  automatically provided to basis 
 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)      (M)    (M)  (L) 
 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 
        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 
    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 
Children/young people (0-18)      
Any other age group (18+)      
Disability      
Gender reassignment      
Marriage & civil partnership      
Pregnancy and maternity      
Race      
Religion or (non-)belief     
Sex     
Sexual Orientation     
Welsh Language     
Poverty/social exclusion     
Carers (inc. young carers)     
Community cohesion     
 

Q4 HAVE YOU / WILL YOU UNDERTAKE ANY PUBLIC CONSULTATION AND 
ENGAGEMENT RELATING TO THE INITIATIVE?  

 

 YES        NO   
 
 
If yes, please provide details below  
Swansea Central development has been the subject of several public consultation events which 
outlined the development proposals to build a mixed use scheme which incorporates the new 
bridge. Public consultation events have taken place at appropriate stages in the design process 
to obtain public opinion which has been fed back into the design with the concept of creating 
resting points on the ramped access onto the bridge being one such suggestion which will feature 
in the design. 
 
During the public consultation carried out for the original outline planning application, it was 
intended that the bridge would be for pedestrian use only and cyclists would need to dismount. In 
order to comply with the Active Travel Plan Wales Act 2013, it was subsequently felt that cyclists 
should also be allowed to use the bridge without dismounting. Therefore a Non-Material 
Amendment (NMA) to the original planning permission was submitted. Prior to submission, a letter 
was sent to all access groups that were originally consulted and invited/attended the public 
consultation, to advise of the proposed amendments to means of access over the bridge and 
through the new parkland, to allow cyclists as well as pedestrians.  
 
This NMA application was approved by Planning on 11th June 2019. 
 
Two responses were received to the letter that was issued to the access groups, and a meeting 
was held on 18th June with a representative from RNIB to discuss concerns raised over the 
amendments. At the meeting, a 3D tactile model of Swansea was used to illustrate the location of 
the proposed new bridge within the development. The design team are currently working on the 
detailed designs for the bridge and have been tasked with ensuring safety and accessibility of all 
users including visually impaired. We have therefore agreed to maintain close dialog with the RNIB 
representative (and other access groups via RNIB) during the detailed design of the bridge so that 
a suitably accessible and acceptable final design is reached. The use of a more detailed 3D tactile 

Page 327



 40 

model of the bridge design will be developed if required to help illustrate the design to visually 
impaired at the next meeting.  
 
 
 
Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 
     (H)    (M)  (L) 
 
(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? (Consider the 

following impacts – legal, financial, political, media, public perception  etc…)  
 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
     (H)        (M)          (L) 

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

      Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below 
Finance, Legal, Highways 

 
Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   →  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 
 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      →  Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 followed by Section 
2  

Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for a full EIA report, you must 
provide adequate explanation below.  In relation to the Council’s commitment to the 
UNCRC, your explanation must demonstrate that the initiative is designed / planned 
in the best interests of children (0-18 years).  For Welsh language, we must maximise 
positive and minimise adverse effects on the language and its use.  Your explanation 
must also show this where appropriate.  

 
 The EIA screening demonstrates that there are some  equality implications in relation to 

the design and development of the new bridge as part of the Swansea Central scheme. 
 
 As stated above there will be ongoing communication with local access groups during the 

detailed design of the bridge so that a suitably accessible and acceptable final design is 
reached. 

 
 The bridge will be accessible to pedestrians and cyclists and will provide a safe crossing 

over Oystermouth Road. The bridge will provide direct connection between the existing city 
centre and new development on the north of Oystermouth road to the new development on 
the South side including the arena, parkland and car park. 

 
 The bridge will connect into existing cycle routes to help create interconnected communities 

with sustainable means of transport.  
 
 The interests of young people have been taken account at the public consultation events, 

via school newsletter and through Big Conversation Events. 
 

Page 328



 41 

 Whilst children have provided comments and suggestions on other elements of the 
Swansea Central development, and the bridge is a purely a means of connecting the 
elements of the development, we haven’t received any comments or suggestions in relation 
to the bridge itself from children. 

  
 Opportunities will be provided to young people throughout the construction of with school 

visits, competitions. Work experience opportunities may also exist for young local people 
during the construction period as social benefits are being sought through the contract. 

 
 The bridge will be adopted as Council highway once built and will therefore be maintained 

by the Council’s highways section.  
 
 Any signage or wayfinding on the bridge or the ramped approach will be bilingual (Welsh 

& English). 
Section 2 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email – no electronic signatures or paper copies are needed. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Dawn Jenkins 

Job title: Regeneration Manager 

Date:  
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Phil Holmes 

Position: Head of Planning & City Regeneration 

Date:  

Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

EIA Action Plan: 

Objective - What 
are we going to 
do and why? 

Who will be 
responsible for 
seeing it is done? 

When will it be 
done by? 

Outcome - How will we know 
we have achieved our 
objective?  

Progress 

News letters 
 

Buckingham/SC Monthly Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Website SC Monthly All other stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Press Releases SC As and when 
necessary 

Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

RNIB Updates 
 

SC Once stage 4 
detailed plans are 
available 

Meeting held  

Tactile Model of 
hoarding to be 
developed to aid 
the visually 
impaired (during 
construction)  

SC Before hoarding is 
erected 

Visually impaired are in receipt 
of the models 

 

Competitions to 
be arranged 
through schools 
and visits 
scheduled – i.e. 
Time Capsules 

SC Throughout project Schools are included in the 
consultation process 

 

Page 329

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 42 

Work experience 
opportunities may 
also exist for 
young local 
people during the 
construction 
period as social 
benefits are being 
sought through 
the contract. 
 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 330



 43 

K) RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT – SCREENING FORM 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form. 
If you would like further guidance please contact your directorate support officer or the 
Access to Services team (see guidance for details). 

 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: Planning & City Regeneration    

Directorate: Place 
 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 
 

      Service/                Policy/  
      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                                                                             
 
 

 

(b) Please name and describe below 
 
Swansea Central Phase 1 Residential/Commercial Development 
 
The Swansea Central Phase 1 is a mixed use scheme comprising Arena, 2 multi-storey car parks, 
Coastal Park, Bridge, Residential and Commercial units for which Cabinet authority to fund and deliver 
will be sought in August 2019. Subject to Cabinet approval, the Council will become the developer who 
will fund and enter into contract with a main building contractor to build the scheme.  
 
Outline planning permission was granted for Swansea Central Phase 1 and due to change in the design 
of the north development block which comprises the Residential and Commercial elements of the 
scheme, a Non-material Amendment has been subsequently approved by Planning, with the Reserved 
Matters application being submitted shortly thereafter to cater for a start on site in September 2019 with 
completion targeted for 2021. 
 
The residential and commercial elements of the scheme are to be incorporated into a new building being 
built on the north side of Oystermouth road, adjacent to one of the new multi-storey car parks.  
 
The residential element consists of 13 no. 1 and 20 no. 2 bed units. The 33 units will be built above and 
below the commercial units which will have a frontage onto the new ramp running from the city centre to 
the new bridge crossing Oystermouth Road.  
 
Following a procurement exercise, we now have an agreement with a local registered social landlord who 
will lease the residential property on completion from the Council on a long 125 year lease for a premium 
payment. A turnkey operation means that the units will be fitted out (excluding fitted kitchen appliances) 
before the lease is granted to the housing association who will let the individual units to tenants who 
require affordable homes to live in. 
 
The residential units will not only need to satisfy current building regulations but have also been designed 
to be Design Quality Requirements (DQR) compliant.  This Welsh Government legislation sets out 
minimum functional standards for Welsh Housing to ensure well designed, good quality homes are 

provided for to safeguard tenants best interests. The DQR compliance will ensure the residential 
units are designed and built to be: 

 flexible and adaptable to meet the changing needs of tenants, have shower and bath 
facilities, and meet Lifetime Homes(LHS) and Housing Sight standards (RNIB); 

 safe environments with minimal hazards; 

 secure, and comply with Secure by Design Standards; 
 of sufficient size and have convenient layout  

 
The commercial space being built includes a number of units of varying sizes.   The commercial units will 
be retained by the Council and let our individually to business tenants. The units will have an accessible 

Page 331



 44 

(If NO, you need to consider whether you should be undertaking consultation 

and engagement – please see the guidance) 

active frontage onto the new ramp running from the city centre to the new bridge crossing Oystermouth 
Road. The units will be built to shell finish allowing individual tenant fit out. 
 

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 
Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 
         
  (H)        (M)  (L) 
 

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 
     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   

need to want to  automatically provided to basis 
 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)      (M)    (M)  (L) 
 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 
        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 
    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 
Children/young people (0-18)      
Any other age group (18+)      
Disability      
Gender reassignment      
Marriage & civil partnership      
Pregnancy and maternity      
Race      
Religion or (non-)belief     
Sex     
Sexual Orientation     
Welsh Language     
Poverty/social exclusion     
Carers (inc. young carers)     
Community cohesion     
 

Q4 HAVE YOU / WILL YOU UNDERTAKE ANY PUBLIC CONSULTATION AND 
ENGAGEMENT RELATING TO THE INITIATIVE?  

 

 YES        NO   
 
 
If yes, please provide details below  
Swansea Central development has been the subject of several public consultation events which 
outlined the development proposals to build a mixed use scheme containing residential and 
commercial units. Public consultation events have taken place at appropriate stages in the 
design process to obtain public opinion which has been fed back into the design.  
 
 
Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 
     (H)    (M)  (L) 
 
(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? (Consider the 

following impacts – legal, financial, political, media, public perception  etc…)  
 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
     (H)        (M)          (L) 

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  

Page 332



 45 

 

      Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below 
Finance, Legal, Corporate Property, Housing 

 
Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   →  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 
 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      →  Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 followed by Section 
2  

 
Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for a full EIA report, you must 

provide adequate explanation below.  In relation to the Council’s commitment to the 
UNCRC, your explanation must demonstrate that the initiative is designed / planned 
in the best interests of children (0-18 years).  For Welsh language, we must maximise 
positive and minimise adverse effects on the language and its use.  Your explanation 
must also show this where appropriate.  

 
 The EIA screening demonstrates that there are minimal equality implications in relation to 

the design and development of the residential and commercial elements of the Swansea 
Central scheme. 

 
 The residential units will be modern fit for purpose affordable housing and are being built 

to be DQR compliant. The main entrance to the residential apartments will be from the 
ramp with all floors being accessible via lift or stairs.  

 
 The commercial units will sit on the third floor of the residential building and will wrap around 

underneath the new car park. The units will also be accessible from the ramp leading to the 
new bridge also being built as part of the development (subject to a separate EIA). The 
Council will retain the commercial units and lease to commercial operators and local 
businesses to create employment opportunities for local people. 

 
 The interests of young people have been taken account at the public consultation events, 

through school newsletter engagement, and via Big Conversation events. The housing 
being provided will be modern living accommodation to meet young family’s needs and 
there will be employment and work experience opportunities for young local people during 
the construction of and the operation of the commercial premises thereafter. Opportunities 
will also be provided to young people throughout the construction of with school visits, 
competitions, and time capsule initiatives being planned. 

 
 

Section 2 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email – no electronic signatures or paper copies are needed. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Dawn Jenkins 

Job title: Regeneration Manager 

Date:  
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Page 333



 46 

Name: Phil Holmes 

Position: Head of Planning & City Regeneration 

Date:  

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 
  

 

EIA Action Plan: 

 
Objective - What 
are we going to 
do and why? 

Who will be 
responsible for 
seeing it is done? 

When will it be 
done by? 

Outcome - How will we know 
we have achieved our 
objective?  

Progress 

News letters 
 

Buckingham/SC Monthly Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Website SC Monthly All other stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Press Releases SC As and when 
necessary 

Stakeholders being kept 
informed 

 

Tactile Model of 
hoarding to be 
developed to aid 
the visually 
impaired (during 
construction)  

SC Before hoarding is 
erected 

Visually impaired are in receipt 
of the models 

 

Competitions to 
be arranged 
through schools 
and visits 
scheduled – i.e. 
Time Capsules 

SC Throughout project Schools are included in the 
consultation process 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 334

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


Appendix 5 - Revenue In year Action 
 

1.  Key Financial Background 
 

 £28.5m of headroom has been created to fully cover the first 6 years of 
repayments via the capital equalisation reserve and MRP reprofiling. By 
year 7 further income generation will be online (including phase 2) which will 
assist capital repayment  

  

 By April 2020 the authority will have repaid £120m of existing debt 
 

 The £79m required to fund the councils contribution to the project is over 
£40m less than the amount repaid since 2012. 

 

 It will create new revenue streams for the council, which subject to further 
decisions will assist and may cover the councils repayment requirements  

 

 The cost of unsupported borrowing is now a 1/3rd less than in 2004.  
 

 The identified of level of unsupported borrowing in 2012 would be £93m if 
adjusted for inflation.  

 
1. Directorate Budget Savings. 
 

Place £nil shortfall 
 

In year action will be taken to permanently address the budget and a continued 
forecast nil outturn is forecast. This is in line with previous year’s performance. 
 
Education £2m base shortfall 
 
Many of the pay, price and demand pressures identified in the second quarter 
budget monitoring report are a continuation of the overspend position from 
2018/19. Ongoing robust management action will continue. This will seek to 
mitigate pressures and continue to bring forward additional savings where 
possible.  

 
The scale of external demand and cost pressures facing education services is 
such that no continuing robust management action will be able to bring the net 
spending across the directorate into balance within the 2019-20 financial year.  
By far the most significant area of education spending is the delegated 
schools budget and whilst this cannot be reduced in year it would be possible 
to effectively ‘top slice’ the budget in 2020-21, as a one off base adjustment, 
to effectively recover any net overspend by the year end on the 1st April 2020.  
Any such retrospective ‘top slicing’ would be in addition to any cash or real 
terms reductions in funding for schools approved as part of the Council 
budget for 2020-21. The LEA central budgets will also be subjected to a 
further review to maximise the contribution the authority can make to 
redressing the balance and thus reduce any potential impact on schools 
delegated budgets. 

Page 335



 
Social Services one off shortfall £1m rising to £4m after one off grants  
 
At the halfway point of the financial year, the forecast outturn is for a c £1.0m 
overspend on gross expenditure of c. £175m. This is a significantly improved 
half year position compared with recent financial years. 
 
The £1.0m is predominantly made up of a £975k shortfall on likely 
achievement of savings.  

 
In order to address the £1m gap, an in year review of gross expenditure 
across the Directorate compared to last financial year is being undertaken. 
For any increases above 2% wage inflation, remedial action will be taken to 
bring increased spend back below 2% by year end. 
 
In addition to the above, a vacancy freeze will be implemented across the 
Directorate for any posts which do not give rise to either a safeguarding or 
business continuity risk. 
 
Finally WG have announced a further tranche of regional grants to address 
Winter pressures and the local authority will seek to draw down further 
funding to accelerate transformational activity this financial year. 

 
In light of the above, there is a good deal of confidence that the Social 
Services & Poverty and Prevention Directorate will achieve a balanced budget 
by year end (if not a small underspend). 
 
However there remains concern that at least £4million of grant income will 
cease in the new financial year creating an additional financial burden for 
which alternative income or further compensatory savings have not yet been 
agreed. 

 
Resources in year balanced one off but base shortfall of £1.4m 

 
Corporate Services underwent significant change in 2017/18 which followed 
into 2018/19, in order to realise savings and rebalance the budget.   
 
The Directorate has proactively and strictly managed any overspending in 
Quarter 1, and as a base budget has performed well. The legacy savings from 
the previous years have affected the budget and for Quarter 2 these have 
been offset by underspends on service areas mainly as a result staff savings 
through managing vacant posts and from a one off income item in relation to 
the Liberty Stadium court case and CTRS underspend which is dependent on 
caseloads. This has resulted in an overall variance of £-65k. 

 
Detailed plans and proposals are in place for all of the savings variances 
above by 31st March 2020. 

 
 Action Plans for Resources include: 
 

Page 336



 Releasing of vacancies in each service 

 Ensuring all legacy savings are achieved, which were previously 
allocated to services 

 Service budget reviews to release additional savings, reviewing the risk 
across the Council including impact on other Directorates. 

  A range of other measures are being considered as part of in year and 
annual budget savings considerations, these include. 

o Review of the CTRS which is a demand-led service 
o Reductions in corporate services. 

 Bringing forward savings as a result of digital wherever possible 

 Reducing and stopping fees and subsidies wherever possible. 
 
 

2. Future Stress Tested Scenarios 
 
 In extremis, if for any reason schemes could not progress and all spend to 
 date, plus now sought, was deemed ultimately abortive capital costs to be 
 written off to revenue, it would exceed the totality of General Fund Reserves 
 and clearly breach the Council’s fiduciary duty. That is one of several reasons 
 why the capital equalisation reserve was established by Council on top – 
 predominantly to smooth future costs of the whole scheme when it fully 
 progresses – but also to provide “insurance” in the worst case scenario. It is 
 intended that the capital equalisation reserve is actually used to offset some 
 of the future costs as shown in the capital financing table above, even further.  
 
 The Section 151 officer is required under the Constitution to determine a 
 source of funding for the scheme as it is not in the existing capital programme. 
 This is unsupported capital borrowing present with some future offset from 
 City Deal Grant, capital receipts and some limited future net revenue 
 operating income streams. The total amount envisaged spent over the next 
 two years is substantial. The level of ongoing risk and magnitude of the 
 decision is therefore very substantial and must be fully borne in mind when 
 taking any decision to proceed. 
 
 Any capital spending within the envisaged affordability envelope in the 
 medium term is predicated on creating the necessary headroom to increase 
 overall capital financing costs by 50% and making all current and planned 
 future revenue savings to achieve that headroom. Deviation from that plan will 
 limit the ability to finance the future capital ambition. There is already 
 substantial current deviation from the revenue planning assumptions in the 
 current year of around £3m per annum. This position also masks a number of 
 one off actions and one off grant which when they fall out will increase the 
 underlying gap to nearer £7m. Cabinet has previously resolved in August 
 2019 to task all Directors with bringing forward credible plans to balance. 
 Those are still to be fully developed but some progress is being made. 
 
 The current planning assumption is that in agreeing these step phases all 
 necessary action will be taken at officer and member and Cabinet level to 
 assure and ensure no material deviation from revenue savings plans in the 
 current and all future years to enable capital to proceed in stepwise fashion as 

Page 337



 requested. A Welsh Audit office letter is attached as appendix 7. The contents 
 of which need to be considered as part of decision making. 
 
 Whilst neither the Section 151 officer or Cabinet may bind or fetter future 
 decision of Council, the decision to proceed “locks in” yet more spend 
 that must be ultimately financed. Given the outlook for public finances over the 
 longer term, where real term cuts for local government potentially remain the 
 order of the day, failure to fully offset that locked in spend with other savings 
 would itself increase the likelihood of the Section 151 officer forming an opinion 
 that future resources could fall short of future expenditure.  
 

3. Future Disposal Option 
 

It might be appropriate at a future point in time, once Council have completed 
their market intervention and place shaped and led the city’s regeneration to 
take a step back and consider onward disposal of the asset to free up future  
revenue spending power (by reducing net debt) or provide a source of capital 
receipts for future wave of capital spending. This would likely only realistically 
be after the cessation of the initial 15 year city deal period to ensure compliance 
with the deal, and could otherwise be subject to any grant clawback provisions 
applying at the time. Any such future beneficial capital receipts have not been 
factored into the evaluation of costs in this report. Equally foregone future 
revenue income from amongst others potentially increased car park income has 
not been factored in to any potential disposal. Potential future disposal 
consideration will need to weigh the immediacy of a capital receipt with lost 
future income at that time.    

 

Page 338



Financial Procedure Rule 7
 ppendix A

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS : SUMMARY

Portfolio: PLACE
Service   : City Regeneration & Planning
Scheme  :Swansea Central phase 1 - Full scheme indicative capital cost

Actual spend to 31st March Actual Approved Indicative Indicative Indicative Ongoing cost
2018

1. CAPITAL  COSTS 2015/16 to 2017/18 2018/19 2020/21 2021/22 2022-33 TOTAL Notes
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 RIBA Stages 1-4 (inc. enabling) 4,212 5,131 8,857 18,200 1
RIBA Stage 5: Build 5,511 25,000 40,853 43,531 114,895 2
City Centre CCTV 1,000 1,000
Capitalised staff 70 336 336 742
EXPENDITURE 4,212 5,201 14,704 25,000 42,189 43,531 0 134,837

Financing
WG Loan 4,212 1,988 6,200
CCS Regen Reserve C06325 1,256 1,256
City Deal 3,047 1,523 1,523 16,756 22,849
Capital receipts from residential disposals 4,900 4,900
CCS USB 1,957 14,704 21,953 40,666 37,108 -16,756 99,632 3

0
FINANCING 4,212 5,201 14,704 25,000 42,189 43,531 0 134,837

2. REVENUE COSTS FULL YEAR
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

City Deal annual contribution 100 50 50 50 250
Officer revenue costs not capitalised 450 450

0
EXPENDITURE 550 50 50 50 0 0 700

 Financed by:
Contingency fund 550 50 600
Addition to revenue budget 50 50 100
Total 550 50 50 50 0 0 700

Notes
1 Estimated cumulative budget to Nov'19, to complete RIBA Stage 4.
2 £5.5m balance of existing £24m approved budget. Additional £25m required in 19/20 to commence build
3 Repayment of £16.7m USB on receipt of City Deal grant over remaining 11 years

2019/20

P
age 339



Financial Procedure Rule 7 
Appendix B

Swansea Central Phase 1 - Indicative cash flow statement

£m
Scheme cost 135 Repayment

Financed by:
WG Loan 6 20 years interest free £0.3m per annum 
CCS Match funding 1
USB 123
Capital Receipts 5
Total 135

City Deal 23
Years 15

Per annum 1.5

Phasing of borrowing
18-19 19-20 20-21 21/22 22-33 Total

USB (£) 2 40 42 39 - 123

Potential Future Pool borrowing to consider
£m

Current 458 4.22% 19.3276
New 123 3.17% 3.8991

581 4.0% 23.2267
New MRP rate 2.50%

Phasing MRP (rate set at 2.5%) £m
£'M 18-19 19-20 20-21 21-22 22-23 23-24 24-25

MRP 2 0.00 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05
MRP 40 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
MRP 42 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05
MRP 39 0.98 0.98 0.98

MRP 123 0.00 0.05 1.05 2.10 3.08 3.08 3.08

Int half year, in year borrowing £m
£'M

Int 2 0.04 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.08
Int 40 0.84 1.69 1.69 1.69 1.69 1.69
Int 42 0.89 1.77 1.77 1.77 1.77
Int 39 0.82 1.65 1.65 1.65

Interest 123 0.04 0.93 2.65 4.37 5.19 5.19 5.19

Total 0.04 0.98 3.70 6.47 8.27 8.27 8.27
City Deal 0.00 -3.00 -1.50 -1.50 -1.50 -1.50 -1.50
Loan Repay 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.30 0.30 0.30

Local subsidy 0.04 -2.02 2.20 4.97 7.07 7.07 7.07

P
age 340



19-20 20-21 21-22 22-23 23-24 
onwards

£m £m £m £m £m

Total financing 0.98 3.70 6.47 8.27 8.27
City Deal Grant -3 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5
Loan Repayment 0 0 0 0.3 0.3

Local subsidy -2.02 2.20 4.97 7.07 7.07

Net cost

Budget/MTFP

Estimated balance on capital equalisation reserve
£M

Capital equalisation reserve balance end 18-19              15
Used to help set 19-20 budget                                   -3.5
Used as above to smooth costs for this scheme              -3.5
Allocated for Oracle ERP Cabinet September              -3.6
Added to reserve by Council 24 October                    2.6
Allocate to City Centre JV due Cabinet November               -0.9

Still available to fund future capital or revenue                 6.1

Capital equalisation reserve 0 -1 -2.5 0

7.07

2 4 5 7

2.20 3.97 4.57

Page 341



 

 

Page 1 of 3 – City and County of Swansea Council – Financial Sustainability Review- please 

contact us in Welsh or English / cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

 

Mr Phil Roberts 

Chief Executive Officer 

City and County of Swansea Council 

Civic Centre 

Oystermouth Road  

Swansea  

SA1 3SN 

Reference:    191022HDR 

Date issued:  22 October 2019 

Dear Phil 

City and County of Swansea Council  

Financial Sustainability Review 

 
As you will be aware, the Wales Audit Office is currently undertaking a review of 
financial sustainability across all Welsh Councils.  I would like to thank you and 
your team for providing your self-assessment submission in line with the 
requested deadlines. 
 
We will be undertaking the detailed work on this review over the next few weeks 
and as part of that process we look forward to meeting with both yourself and the 
Council Leader to discuss your current financial position and future strategy.   
 
We have undertaken an initial review of your self-assessment and key 
documentation and consider it appropriate to bring to your attention some of our 
early concerns, particularly in view of some significant capital investment 
decisions the Council may be considering in the coming weeks. 
 
As you will know our 2018 annual audit letter included the following conclusion: 
 
“I am satisfied that the Council and the Group have appropriate arrangements in 
place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in their use of resources, 
but the Council continues to face significant financial challenges” 
 
We reached this conclusion for the following reasons: 
 

24 Cathedral Road / 24 Heol y Gadeirlan 

Cardiff / Caerdydd 

CF11 9LJ 

Tel / Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 

Fax / Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone / Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

info@audit.wales / post@archwilio.cymru 

www.audit.wales / www.archwilio.cymru 

Page 342

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


Page 2 of 3 - City and County of Swansea Council – Financial Sustainability Review  - Please contact 

us in Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

• For the last three years the Council had not being able to maintain its cost of 
services within annual budgets and as a result had utilised reserves to fund 
these overspends;   

• The Council had continued to have difficulty in delivering its planned levels of 
efficiency savings in a number of service areas; 

• The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) had identified the need to find 
further significant levels of efficiency savings to deliver balanced budgets; and 

• The Council was planning to undertake a significant capital investment 
programme including the 21st Century Schools programme and major capital 
schemes flowing from the Swansea Bay City Deal including the digital village 
(£30 million) and the Swansea Arena and Swansea City Centre development 
(£130 million). Significant unsupported funding would be required to finance 
these developments. 
 

Since we reported this conclusion, we have continued to monitor the Council’s 
financial position. We have also been working with officers to derive assurance 
that the ‘Sustainable Swansea – Fit for the Future’ programme can deliver the 
financial savings and income generation targets set out in the Council’s 2019-20 
budget at the pace and scale required. Whilst this work is ongoing, to date, 
officers have been unable to provide us with the level of assurance needed.   
The quarter 1 monitoring return for 2019-20 projects a year-end overspend of £4m 
and shows that services are not delivering their planned efficiency savings and will 
need to develop alternative savings proposals.  Your financial sustainability self-
assessment describes an intended freeze on service expenditure budgets for the 
next 4 years, and this will require each service to identify further significant 
efficiency savings to cover all inflationary pressures. In addition, the MTFS shows 
a cumulative budget deficit by 2022-23 of £63million.  
 
We understand that you will soon be considering whether to proceed on the 
Swansea Central Phase 1 project. This will involve taking out significant additional 
unsupported borrowing with capital financing costs that will worsen the budget 
deficit going forward by up to £9million p.a., according to the November 2018 
report to Cabinet.   
 
Given the current financial position, increasing future pressures, previous 
difficulties experienced in ‘closing the gap’, and impending decisions that may 
significantly heighten the Council’s financial risk, I feel it more timely to convey my 
concern now, in advance of us reporting our financial sustainability review. You 
will of course be aware of the need for statutory officers to ensure the financial 
prudence of decision making, and no doubt be seeking the assurance that you 
require to address these financial challenges in a sustainable way. 
 
 
 

Page 343



Page 3 of 3 - City and County of Swansea Council – Financial Sustainability Review  - Please contact 

us in Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

We look forward to meeting you on 29 October to discuss these issues as we 
continue to seek the assurance we require on the financial sustainability of the 
Council. 

Yours sincerely 

 

 
Huw Rees 
Engagement Director 
 
 

 

Page 344



 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Homes, Energy & Transformation 
 

Cabinet - 21 November 2019 
 

Housing Commissioning Review Findings 
 

Purpose: 
 
 
 
 

This report seeks approval to implement the Housing 
commissioning review findings and to undertake 
formal tenant consultation regarding the future model 
of the District Housing Office service.  

Policy Framework: Sustainable Swansea – Fit for the Future 
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal.  
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that:  
 
1. The key findings of the review are approved for implementation. 

 
2. The proposed change to the future model of the District Housing Office 

service is subject to a formal tenant consultation exercise and the results 
are reported back to Cabinet prior to implementation. 

 
  Report Author:     Lynda Grove 

 
Finance Officer:       Aimee Dyer 

 
Legal Officer:           Lyndsay Thomas 

 
Access to Services Officer:  Rhian Millar 

 
1.0 Introduction 

 
1.1 This report focuses on the findings of the Housing Commissioning review and 

seeks endorsement to implement the findings and approval to undertake a 
formal tenant consultation exercise on the proposed change to the future 
model of the District Housing Office service. Appendix A contains background 
information on the review process and data which underpins the findings such 
as service scope, cost, performance, customer, risks and external review 
feedback.  

 
1.2 The aim of the Housing review has been to look at how the service can work 
 differently to deliver efficient, modern services, which are sustainable, meet 
 future needs  and contribute to the Council’s Transformation and Future 
 Council development objective. The review acknowledges that much of the 

Page 345

Agenda Item 10.



 structure of the service has been in place for a number of years and the way in 
 which  service users wish to communicate with organisations and 
 businesses is changing whilst at the same time, demands on services 
 continue to increase.  
  

 1.3 The review also looks at agile/mobile working and how that can positively  
 influence the  way the service is provided by ensuring staff have the right tools 
 to carry out their role for service users. The long term sustainability of District 
 Housing Offices has also been examined. 
 
2.0 Service Background 
 
2.1 The service is based within the Place Directorate and provides a wide range of 
 statutory and preventative functions across two divisions, i.e. Landlord 
 Services and Strategic Housing.  
 
2.2 Landlord Services provides a comprehensive housing management service to 

13,525 Council properties. The service is primarily delivered through 9 District 
Housing Offices. It also provides housing advice, homelessness prevention 
and tenancy support via the Housing Options service. Strategic Housing 
provides a range of strategic/service planning and direct operational functions 
including a leasehold management function for 637 leaseholders. A detailed 
list of those services subject to review are attached at Appendix A, reference 
point 1.  
  

2.3 The Housing service’s overall purpose is to manage and invest in Council 
housing stock, support individuals and sustain communities. Good quality 
housing plays a significant role in helping meet the Council’s vision for 
Swansea. 

 
2.4 The service provides a diverse range of functions with some distinct 
 characteristics as follows;  

 The service is complex, high profile and one of the largest social housing 
providers in Wales. 

 It is funded differently to other Council services as the majority of housing 
services are funded by the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  

 89% of the total HRA expenditure is realised via rental income which can 
only be spent on Council housing. 

 The majority of the services are frontline, provide support, are provided at 
the homes of tenants and residents, are preventative in nature and have a 
direct impact on individuals and communities.  

 Getting things wrong could have an impact on the reputation of the Council 
and there could be serious consequences on individuals if services fail as 
our service users are often the most vulnerable in society.  

 Investment in housing has a big economic impact locally, for example, the 
service will have delivered £498m of improvements to achieve the Welsh 
Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) by December 2020. This will result in 
direct benefits to individuals in relation to safety, security, reduced heating 
costs and a positive impact on health. In addition improving existing Council 
housing and building new Council homes provides considerable benefits to 
the wider community in terms of employment, investment in the local 

Page 346



economy and help to supply more affordable housing to meet the known 
need. 

 
  2.5 To maintain a focus on sustainability and continuous improvement the service 

must adapt the way it responds to increasing demands and the significant 
challenge of Universal Credit. This is impacting on tenants and the amount of 
HRA income available to run services. In addition, there are a number of key 
challenges and pressures facing the service. These include an ageing 
population, new statutory homelessness duties, building new Council houses, 
ongoing investment and regeneration of estates, the impact of austerity and 
the implementation of new legislative requirements such as the Renting 
Homes (Wales) Act 2016.  
 

3.0     Service Improvements 
 

 3.1 The review has highlighted that the way service users access housing 
services is changing with more transactions being undertaken over the phone 
and online. In response, the service needs to significantly invest in new 
technology and introduce agile/mobile working for staff. This will have a 
positive impact on the way services run, how service users can access them 
and generate efficiencies by reducing reliance on paper based processes.  

   
3.2 The key findings of the review are categorised under the headings of 

maximising income, improving service user access, improving operational 
systems and processes, service specific issues and the future model of the 
District Housing Office service.   

 
 It is recommended that the following key findings are implemented;  

 
a. Maximising income 

 Increase resources in the Rents team in order to offer early support to 
tenants and minimise the impact of arrears on tenants themselves and the 
HRA business plan. 

 Explore the introduction of charges for some functions not currently charged 
for, subject to stakeholder consultation. 

 Review the annual leasehold management charge. 

 Review the capacity of the Furniture Store. 

 Consider phasing out paying for TV licences for new Sheltered tenants and 
review the scheme for existing tenants, subject to tenant consultation. 

 Develop a HRA Asset Management Plan. 
 

b. Improving service user access 

 Upgrade outdated telephony systems. 

 Implement a digital solution to improve the way service users can make 
online transactions such as rent payments. 

 

c. Improving operational systems/processes 
  
     Back office systems 

 Implement the corporate electronic document management system. 
 
 

Page 347



   Software solutions/new systems 

 Procure new software solutions for key business critical areas, i.e.  
 Homelessness, leasehold service charges, asset management/WHQS, 
 Renewal & Adaptation database and the Tenancy Support case 
 management system. 
 

d. Service specific improvements 
Some services/functions are facing more significant challenges and need to 
consider how they can address the issues and/or overhaul systems with IT 
improvements, etc, as follows; 

 
 Housing application, assessment and waiting list  

 Modernise the housing application, assessment and waiting list process 
 utilising new technology to improve the service user experience and 
 facilitate access to Housing.  

 
               Empty properties/Voids/lettings   

 Maintain the focus on minimising the time taken to let a property as it has a 
 big impact  on the availability of housing and on loss of income. 
 Improvements will include extending early viewings while a property is in 
 repair and continuing to promote Home Swapper to encourage tenants to 
 swap their homes.   

 

      Prospective tenants  

 Help prepare new tenants, particular vulnerable households to be ‘tenancy 
ready’. 

 

     Furnished tenancy scheme  

 Implement a computerised inventory system to replace the manual system 
 of coding furniture. 

 Consider the implementation of a points based choice system to examine 
 how the scheme could be more financially viable to those not in receipt of 
 benefit. 

 Explore expansion of the scheme to other social landlords to increase 
 income. 

 Carry out a pilot to charge a £20 re-delivery fee when a prearranged 
 delivery is missed unless its due to exceptional circumstances. 

 

     Sheltered service  

 Continue the ongoing review of this service to support people to remain in 
their homes for longer. This includes working with Social Services to 
explore how the extra care provision model could be incorporated into the 
existing sheltered housing provision and the introduction of assistive 
technology. 

 Other improvements include reviewing the use of guest bedrooms and 
communal areas and introducing a handyperson service to assist tenants 
with minor jobs such as putting up curtain rails and changing light bulbs. 

  

Anti-social behaviour (ASB)  

 Increase resources in the ASB Support Team to effectively deal with high 
level ASB. 

 Procure a noise “app” to help complainants provide evidence of noise 

Page 348



problems and help reduce ASB incidents. 
 

 Neighbourhood Support Unit  

 Implement the findings of a pilot to not alarm voids in some areas. This is 
 taking place to help inform future alarm/service provision.  

 

Estate management/gardening scheme  

 Implement changes to the eligibility criteria for the “Tend and Mend” service 
to help manage demand. 

 Explore a garden tool hire scheme and work with the Local Area Co-
ordinators (LAC) to identify any opportunities for community run initiatives 
and commercial opportunities. 

 Continue to work with the Tenants Panel to update the Estate Management 
strategy to ensure resources are targeted effectively to meet tenants 
priorities to maintain safe and attractive estates.  

 

3.3 Future Model of the District Housing Office Service 
 
3.4 Information from a range of sources has been used to assess the long term 
 sustainability of District Housing Offices.  

 This information suggests that the DHO footprint should be reduced from 9 
to 6. The proposals being considered include closing Penlan, Eastside and 
West Cross offices. To effectively manage the reduction in DHOs, housing 
services would continue to be provided from the nearest housing offices 
and Neighbourhood officers would make more home and estate visits.  

 Housing advice/rent surgeries are proposed for local community buildings 
for tenants who may not want a home visit. Feedback will be sought from 
tenants, Ward Members and staff to identify potential community space 
venues for surgeries should the proposals go ahead. This could include 
local schools as an approach has been made from one to offer use of their 
community space. The service is taking this opportunity to trial a surgery in 
the school which started in September 2019. 

 Tenants would still be able to pay their rent in local post offices, shops 
displaying the payzone sign, online, over the phone and by direct debit, or 
by calling into other District Housing Offices or the Civic Centre. Recycling 
bags can be picked up from local libraries, some shops, post offices, 
ordered online/over the phone or by putting request tags out with recycling 
bags. 

 A project is taking place to co-locate the District Housing office with the 
Library service in Gorseinon in 2020. 

 The implementation of a digital solution/customer portal will improve the 
way service users can access more housing services and make online 
transactions via a computer, mobile of tablet device. 

 
3.5 Service user/Stakeholder Feedback on Proposals 
 

  Four internal stakeholder workshops took place with colleagues from 
 services across the Council such as Social Services, Employability, Welfare 
 Rights, Planning, Parks, Union, Local Area Coordinators, etc. The responses 
 were very positive, with further ideas identified to improve how services 
 continue to work together. A consultation exercise took place with Local Ward 
Members which was undertaken by the Area Housing Managers. 

Page 349



 
3.6  In June, all tenants and leaseholders were invited to provide responses on the 

 proposals to reduce the number of District Housing offices via written feedback 
 slips, online or by attending events in the local District Housing Offices. The 
 number of responses totalled just under 150. The feedback highlighted the 
 value tenants place on the housing services provided in communities and 
 concern over staffing and any job losses.  

 
3.7 It is envisaged that any changes will not create compulsory job losses and a 
 seamless transition of services will be maintained with no impact on the 
 established tenant/staff relationships. Another key concern raised was that any 
 improvements to IT systems should not replace the face to face service being 
 delivered but should enhance it as a mechanism for those who choose to 
 contact the service in this way. A further  formal tenant consultation process on 
 the future model of the District Housing office service will take place in early 
 2020. A copy of the consultation letter is attached at Appendix C. 
 
3.8 Summary and Conclusion  

 
 The review has illustrated the vast majority of functions delivered are 

statutory, frontline and/or provide a significant preventive and supporting 
role which have a direct impact on individuals and communities.  

 Investment in housing also has a big economic impact locally with £498m 
being invested in meeting the WHQS by December 2020. 

 The majority of the total HRA expenditure is funded via rental income.  

 The extensive range of services provided make a significant contribution to 
Corporate priorities. They also contribute to the wider national and local 
agenda of health, well-being, public service improvement and play an 
important direct and indirect preventative role.  

 The service needs to respond to and progress a number of high profile 
issues over the next few years. Some examples of these include achieving  
WHQS, developing post 2020 improvement schemes, the new Renting 
Homes (Wales) Act 2016, delivering the More Homes strategy and 
Homelessness Strategy.  

 There is a need to invest to save and provide greater service efficiencies via 
a significant number of IT improvements. This will improve service user 
access, streamline back office processes, give staff better tools to deliver 
services and allow more time spent to support service users.  

 The findings suggest that the DHO footprint should be reduced from 9 to 6 
which will help make local services more sustainable for the future. An 
implementation plan will be drafted subject to the proposals and formal 
consultation process being approved. This will be the subject of a future 
report to Cabinet.  

 Demand and expectation from the public continues to increase whilst 
performance continues to be maintained/ improved and satisfaction levels 
are positive.  

 The review has identified potential service improvements across many 
areas in Housing. Service users will continue to be encouraged to become 
actively involved as part of the Tenant Participation Strategy to ensure 
Housing services are efficient and responsive.  

 
 

Page 350



 
 
4.0     Equality and Engagement Implications 
 

    4.1    The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales) and must, in   
the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 
4.2     The Equality Impact Assessment process ensures that we have paid due 

regard to the above. An EIA screening form was completed in July 2019 and is 
attached at Appendix B. It identified that a full EIA will be required as part of 
the formal tenant consultation process. The EIA screening indicated that the 
proposed service improvements in the Housing service will have no negative 
impact.  

  
4.3 Feedback on services has been sought from Tenants and Leaseholders as part 

of the review process and the Council’s Tenant Participation Strategy. A further 
formal consultation exercise is planned for early 2020. 

  
  5.0 Legal implications  

 
5.1 A formal consultation process will be undertaken in accordance with 

 Section 105 of the Housing Act 1985 to inform and consider any 
 representations made by secure tenants on the proposed changes to the 
 future model of the District Housing Office service.  

 
6.0 Financial Implications 
  
 6.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. Any investment 
 requirements will be met from existing budgets.  
 
Background papers: Progress report to Scrutiny Programme Committee 1st August 
2019 
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=188&MId=8749
&Ver=4&LLL=0 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A: Background information on review process and data to support findings 
Appendix B: EIA screening form 
Appendix C: Copy of tenant consultation letter 

 
 

Page 351

https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=188&MId=8749&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=188&MId=8749&Ver=4&LLL=0


Appendix A  
 
 
 
 Index 

 
1. Service Scope 

 
2. Vision 

 
3. Service Priorities 

 
4. Service Characteristics  

 
5. External review of key service areas  

 
6. Statutory requirements and responsibilities 

 
7. How services are provided elsewhere 

 
8. Working with partners to deliver services 

 
9. Stakeholder engagement  

 
10. Service user demand  

 
11. Service user complaints 

 
12. Performance information  

 
13. Service cost  

 
14. Service achievements and Good Practice  

 
15. Service Improvement findings 
 
16. Future Key Challenges 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 352



1. Service Scope 
The Housing Service is structured across two divisions, i.e. Landlord Services and 
Strategic Housing and a summary of what is delivered is included below. 

Landlord Services 

Landlord Services provides a comprehensive council housing management 
service to 13,525 council owned properties. It also provides services such as the 
provision of housing advice, homeless prevention, tenancy support and a 
furnished tenancy scheme. The service is delivered to council tenants primarily 
through 9 District Housing Offices and includes tenancy, estate, lettings, rent and 
empty property management and the sheltered housing service. 
 
Housing Options provides general housing advice and information, homeless 
prevention, money advice and assessment services, council tenant transfers and 
the management of council temporary accommodation and housing related 
support to residents across all tenures. 

Strategic Housing 

Strategic Housing provides a range of service planning/direct functions. It  
co-ordinates the investment and improvement to council housing stock and liaison 
role with tenants. It enables the provision of new affordable housing via the 
allocation of Welsh Government funding and co-ordinates the development of 
new build council housing. It determines the annual Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Business Plan, manages the rent setting/accounting function and 
leaseholder services, is responsible for delivering the Local Housing Strategy, 
identifying local housing need and the statutory requirements for Tenant 
consultation and communication.  
 
It is also responsible for the delivery of private sector grants, council house 
adaptations, delivering improvements in renewal areas and coordinating energy 
efficiency improvements across all housing tenures and improvement of housing 
standards in the private sector. 

 
The key areas covered by the review are the core business and frontline service 
user functions that manage homes and estates. These functions focus on delivery 
of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) business plan, making sure properties are 
let, ensuring the rent is paid, preventing anti-social behaviour, sustaining tenancies, 
estate management activities, etc. The core property functions focus on the 
investment in and delivery of the Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) 
(excluding the repairs service as this has been subject to review by Building 
Services). Other core support functions, some of which generate income/and or 
receive funding such as furnished tenancies and sheltered services, have also been 
reviewed to ensure they are shaped to support the overall housing corporate 
priorities and are effective in the services they provide. Finally, some indirect 
support functions, which assist frontline delivery such as policy development, 
training and tenant consultation and communication, have been reviewed.        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 353



 
A full list of the functions are detailed below. 

 
Core Business and 
Service user Functions 
which maximise 
income/deliver HRA 
Business Plan 

Rent Management and  
Leasehold 
Management  

Financial & Orchard 
Management 

Lettings/ void 
property 
management 

Tenancy/estate management for existing tenants 
(DHOs) 
Sustaining tenancies, tenancy agreements/property upkeep, 
gardens, tenancy enforcement, allocations, inspections, ASB, 
transfers, referrals, etc. 
Housing advice Applications and tenant transfers  

 
Core Property Functions - to 
maintain housing stock, support 
service provision 

Improvements to housing stock/repairs policy/liaison 
role with tenants/technical strategy/assessment for work 
programme and management of disrepair process. 

Sustainability of office assets/agile 
working 

 
Core 
support 
& other 
functions 

Adaptations  

Delivery of   

private  

sector 

grants, 

including 

renovation 

grants,       

mandatory 
DFGs and 
council house   
adaptations. 

Furnished   

Tenancies  

For new 

tenants to 

rent.    

Affordable     

assistance 

to help with 

the set up of 

their home  

Neighbourhood  
Support 
Service 

Providing void 
property security 
and to enhance 
estate/tenancy 
management 
services by 
providing a 24 
hour landlord 
response. 

Estate           
Caretaking    
Service   
   

All aspects of 
council  
housing 
estates 
including 
management 
of open  
spaces, safety 
issues,    
caretaking and 
routine  
inspections of 
estates 

Sheltered 
Service  

Provision of a 
warden      
service at 31 
complexes 
across the 
city, including 
regular visits 
and support to 
tenants to 
enable them to 
lead an 
independent 
life. 

Tenancy Support  

 Provision of free 
advice and 
support to all 
residents across 
all tenures. 
Support clients to 
sustain their 
tenancies, 
address anti-social 
behaviour issues 
and manage new 
tenancies. Provide 
help with applying 
for benefits,    
managing debt, 
coping with mental 
or physical illness, 
overcoming 
alcohol or drug 
abuse etc. 

Homelessness 
Assistance  

 Homelessness 
prevention/       
assessment services, 
manage Council 
temporary   
accommodation/ money 
advice services.    

Coordinate the 
nomination 
agreement with 
RSLs, coordinate 
and develop 
partnerships with 
voluntary sector 
organisations, utilise 
the Adapt register to 
source suitable 
properties to meet 
individuals specific 
needs, 
development/ 
delivery of the 
Homelessness 
Strategy. 

 

Indirect 
Support  
Functions 

Policy/Performance/Service 
Development/Training/Tenant 
participation/communications 

Enabling role  More Homes Programme 

 
Code  

GF 

HRA 

 
 

2. Vision 
The ‘vision’ for the Housing and Public Health service is that ‘We will provide good 
quality homes and services which support communities and help to safeguard and 
protect both people and the environment of Swansea’. 
 

3. Service Priorities 
 Good quality housing plays a significant role in helping meet the Council’s vision for 

Swansea. The review has captured the headline priorities that apply across all 
services that support the delivery of key Corporate priorities, in particular 
safeguarding people from harm, tackling poverty, transforming our economy and 
infrastructure and maintaining and enhancing Swansea's natural resources and 
biodiversity. In addition, the extensive range of housing services contribute to the 
wider national and local agenda of health, well-being, poverty, public service 
improvement and plays a direct and indirect preventative role.  
 

Page 354



 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires public bodies to 
carry out their functions in a sustainable way, which improves economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being. Safe and secure housing is fundamental to the 
wellbeing of individuals, the wider community, and an essential element in achieving 
the well-being of future generations. Without a secure, affordable home, it is difficult 
for people to progress in other areas of their lives including employment, education, 
training, health and family life. The review has been undertaken in accordance with 
the requirements of the Act. 

 
Poverty and low income prevents people from accessing the full range of housing 
choices and can make housing costs hard to sustain. The Housing Service is a key 
contributor to the Council’s anti-poverty agenda through a wide range of activities. 
These include the provision of Council housing as a safe, secure and affordable 
option for households, support with financial matters, homelessness prevention, 
working with the private rented sector to improve conditions and security for tenants, 
provision of tenancy support to enable people to live independently and through the 
development of additional affordable housing to meet needs. 
 
Key service priorities are as follows; 
 

 Fulfil statutory duties. 

 Maximise income to the HRA and deliver a 
viable rolling 30 year business plan.  

 Meet statutory consultation requirements 

 Prevent homelessness.  

 Maximise people’s independence and the 
ability to live in their homes for longer.  

 Help tenants to sustain tenancies.  

 Tackle ASB and help tenants affected by 
anti-social behaviour and support 
community cohesion across estates and 
improve the wider environment.  

 Improve housing conditions in the 
private sector. 

 Deliver WHQS by December 2020 
and maintain it thereafter.   

 Deliver the More Homes strategy 
to increase the supply of 
affordable housing/new build 
Council housing.  

 Co-ordinate delivery of the Social 
Housing Grant programme, 
increase the supply of affordable 
homes.  

 
4. Service characteristics 

The service area is large with some distinct characteristics and challenges.  
 

The distinct characteristics are as follows; 

 The service is complex, high profile and one of the largest social housing providers 
in Wales. 

 It is funded differently to other Council services. The majority of housing services 
are funded by the HRA with resources mainly generated by rental income which 
can only be spent on Council housing.  

 The HRA has a net annual turnover of £81m and includes a Capital programme 
spend in excess of £43m per year. The net cost of the Housing General Fund 
(HGF) service is £2.2m and it has a capital programme of £7m per year. 
(Appendix A reference point 1 highlights which services are funded from the HRA 
or HGF).  

 The service co-ordinates a Social Housing Grant and Housing Finance Grant 
Programme working in partnership with Registered Social Landlords and 
developers to deliver more affordable housing (this totalled £13m in 18/19). 

 There is a national ambition to provide/build more homes. The Council has 
developed a More Homes strategy to respond to this challenge.   

Page 355



 Many of the services are frontline, provide support, are preventative in nature and 
have a direct impact on individuals and communities.  

 Much of the service is provided at the homes of tenants and residents and this is 
enhanced by a local 24/7 Neighbourhood Support Unit. 

 Getting things wrong could have an impact on the reputation of the Council and  
there could be serious consequences on individuals if services fail as our service 
users are often the most vulnerable in society.  

 Investment in housing has a big economic impact locally, for example the service 
will have delivered £498m of improvements to achieve the WHQS by December 
2020. This will result in direct benefits to individuals in relation to safety, security, 
reduced heating costs and a positive impact on health. In addition improving 
existing Council housing and building new Council homes provides considerable 
benefits to the wider community in terms of employment, investment in the local 
economy and help to supply more affordable housing to meet the known need. 

 It provides a significant response to tackling homelessness along with partners 
and agencies. 

 Work in partnership with other service providers/agencies to support individuals 
and families who maybe in crisis.  

 
5. External review of key service areas 

Over the last few years, a number of services within Housing have been subject to 
review due to budget pressures, legislation changes and external review/funding. 
These include Adaptations and Renewals, Homelessness, Tenancy Support and the 
Sheltered Housing service. In addition, the work undertaken to invest and improve 
the housing stock up to the WHQS has recently been scrutinised by the Wales Audit 
Office (WAO) together with a national WAO study on Homelessness and 
Adaptations. 
 
Service issues from external review  
Two high profile services have recently been subject to scrutiny by the Wales Audit 
Office and one has recently undergone an in-depth exercise with partners as a result 
of new Welsh Government legislation to review outcomes for service users.  

 

 Improvements to Housing stock/WHQS – In 2018, the Wales Audit Office 
undertook a review to look at whether the Council has effective arrangements in 
place to meet the WHQS by 2020. Overall, the findings identified that tenants are 
satisfied with the improvement works and the Council has a sound approach to 
meeting the WHQS by December 2020. The WAO made a number of 
recommendations for improvements in its final report. These have been included 
in an action plan which was considered by the Service Improvement and Finance 
Scrutiny Performance Panel in March 2019.   

 Adaptation services - The WAO have undertaken a review of adaptation services 
across all local authorities in Wales in order to consider improvements for service 
users. The service’s response to the findings and an action plan on the 
recommendations have been considered by the Adult Services Scrutiny 
Performance Panel in June 2019. 

 Homelessness – This service has recently been subject to review as part of the 
work it has undertaken with a significant number of stakeholders to develop the 
Homelessness Strategy and action plan. The findings from the Scrutiny 
Homelessness Working Group held in June 2018 fed into the development of the 
strategy. Scrutiny Programme Committee considered the final draft of the strategy 
in October 2018 and in November 2018 prior to Cabinet approval. Delivery of the 

Page 356



action plan in collaboration with partners will result in improved access to services 
for service users.  

 The review and some research carried out by Shelter’s Take Notice Project 
identified the need to consider minimal cost improvements to Housing Options 
reception area to enhance the physical environment for service users. Work is 
being carried out with Facilities and the Ministry of Furniture on what 
improvements can be made to this frontline service.  

6. Statutory requirements and responsibilities 
Swansea is one of 11 Local Welsh Authorities who have retained their housing stock 
and landlord role. In delivering this role, the Authority must comply with a number of 
statutory functions and responsibilities. These include operating a Housing Revenue 
Account, housing advice, allocations scheme, maintenance of the stock and estates, 
delivering the Welsh Housing Quality Standard, dealing with antisocial behaviour and 
evaluating the local housing and accommodation needs of Swansea residents.  

 
There are a range of statutory functions in relation to vulnerable people. This includes 
the requirement to provide DFGs to people with a disability and to assess the needs 
of people presenting themselves as homeless and to provide them with 
accommodation if they are considered as vulnerable under the legislation. 
 

      7. How services are provided elsewhere 
Research has been undertaken to see how the other Welsh Local Authorities deliver 
services but comparison is difficult as many are split across different portfolios, 
structured differently, have different demand issues, don’t operate a 24/7 landlord 
presence etc. However, the majority do deliver their housing activities in a similar way 
to Swansea through specialist teams for homelessness, rents, liaison work for 
WHQS, neighbourhood teams and most have area/estate based offices. 

      8. Working with partners to deliver services 
Successful internal and external partnership working is critical to the performance 
and delivery of services and the right outcomes to service users. As the service is so 
diverse the number of partnerships are vast and include legal, social services, police, 
fire, probation, local health services, universities, Supporting People, Multi-Agency 
Public Protection Arrangements, Women’s aid, RSLs to name just a few.    

9. Stakeholder engagement 
The review commenced in August 2018 and the following framework was put in place 
for the review process; 
 

 A Review Programme Board and 11 Staff focus groups were established  

 SWOT sessions were undertaken with all staff and regular team briefings held  

 Head of Service video messages cascaded to staff  

 A number of service user surveys and tenant events took place 

 A consultation exercise took place with Local Ward Members which was 
undertaken by the Area Housing Managers. 

 Meetings held with Union representatives 

 Internal stakeholder workshops were attended by a wide range of colleagues from 
other services across the Council such as Social Services, Employability, Welfare 
Rights, Planning, Parks, Union, Local Area Coordinators, etc. 

 Liaison with other external stakeholders took place via a number of mechanisms 
including questionnaires/ongoing partnership meetings etc to address service 
improvements. These included the Department of Work & Pensions, local housing 

Page 357



associations, Tenancy Support Unit providers, The Wallich, Police, Community 
Safety, SWP Domestic Abuse Unit, Supporting People, Emerging Role of 
Sheltered Housing regional group and Western Bay Care and Repair.  

 Some service areas have recently been subject to extensive partner consultation 
such as homelessness when developing the homelessness strategy with other 
agencies such as CRISIS, Shelter, etc and others subject to scrutiny via WAO 
reviews, i.e. WHQS and adaptations.  

 Feedback from the WAO reviews has been incorporated into the review process. 
 

10. Service user Demand 
  Service user demand remains high across services, examples from 2018/19 

include; 

 2511 homeless applications,  

 2091 referrals to the Tenancy Support Unit,  

 A total of 1257 private sector and Council house adaptations, 

 Removal of 1,116 tonnes of rubbish,  

 1499 end of tenancies and 1423 properties were let,  

 Visits and support to 1068 sheltered tenants,  

 Management of 2465 furnished tenancy packs compared to 50 in 1996 when a 
pilot started,  

 4352 incidents reported to the Neighbourhood Support Unit,  

 Around 1600 enquiries to District Housing offices in a one week period.   
 

  Whilst demand remains high, it is encouraging that service user satisfaction across    
services is positive. Examples of these include; 

 A comprehensive tenant’s survey was sent out to around 13,500 tenants in 
2017/18 and a total of 2807 responses were received. A subsequent WAO 
telephone survey with 680 respondents was carried out in 2018. Findings 
indicated 80% of respondents were satisfied with the condition of their home, 82% 
satisfied with their neighbourhood, 88% satisfied with responses to enquiries, 80% 
satisfied with the housing service and 83% were satisfied they are kept informed. 
Findings of the survey and areas for improvement were published in Open House 
magazine which is sent to each tenant. This information highlighted some areas of 
dissatisfaction, in particular 17% of tenants were not satisfied with the information 
they receive about their home. An article was included with the survey findings to 
advise tenants that officers had met with a tenant’s panel to discuss what 
improvements can be made to the way tenants access information. Information in 
this Open House edition also included how tenants can find out when their 
bathroom and kitchen improvements are due to take place. 

 Service user surveys in 2017/18 for the adaptations service indicate that 98% are 
satisfied with the delivery of housing adaptations/repairs to their properties and 
100% of service users were satisfied regarding repair loans. 

 The Tenancy Support Unit undertook a small user questionnaire in 17/18. Results 
indicate that overall, service users feel better about managing new 
accommodation, relationships and money. They also said they feel better mentally 
and physically after receiving support. Almost 100% said that support was 
available when they need it and it had helped them to achieve the things they 
wanted and that they could live more independently.  

 A new Homelessness Strategy has been implemented for 2018-22. Its 
development involved detailed consultation with service users and partner 

Page 358



organisations to ensure that they had the opportunity to influence the content of 
the strategy and action plan. 

 A number of tenant groups meet with senior managers on a regular basis to 
discuss service issues, i.e. Building & repairs group, Estate management & 
Caretaking group, Sheltered Reps panel and Highrise group. In addition, two 
Tenants consultative panel meetings were held during the review process to 
discuss service priorities, what services they value, etc. Feedback included the 
value of face to face contact, services provided by the NSU, support to tenants on 
Universal Credit claims, improvements suggested for Furnished Tenancy Scheme, 
Tend and Mend Service, environmental improvements/pathways, clearer 
information for services e,g TSU, NSU, the role of neighbourhood officers, works 
carried out on homes, costs for furnished tenancy.   

 
The majority of housing services routinely aim to collect and analyse service user 
satisfaction to identify any trends of dissatisfaction etc in order to make 
improvements. However, these surveys are paper based which can be off putting 
for a service user to complete, return by post etc and this impacts on response 
rates. Paper survey methods are also resource intensive and have cost issues re 
postage/printing etc, so further work will be undertaken to identify IT solutions and 
best practice to increase service user feedback. Staff having the IT tools out on site 
and in homes will improve the way data can be directly collated from individuals.  

 
Whilst some services set targets for improving satisfaction rates, e.g. % of tenants 
satisfied with outcome of their ASB case 77.8% against a target of no less than 60% 
and % of people successfully able to manage their money following TSU support 
82% against a target of no less than 70% this is not applicable across all Housing 
services. Individual service areas need to look at what improvements can be put in 
place to address this when considering better mechanisms to capture data.   
 
In addition, the Welsh Government requested all Local authorities undertake an 
annual STAR survey in 2019 which Registered Social Landlords have completed for 
some time. In August, the Housing service sent out this survey to all its tenants and 
responses are currently being analysed. The STAR survey is a core set of 7 
questions which allow the Welsh Government to compare year on year like-for-like 
comparisons amongst social housing providers. However the STAR framework is 
currently subject to review and consultation with housing providers on potential 
changes is taking place. 

 
11. Service user complaints 
 Whilst Housing services experience high volumes of service user demand, the 

overall number of complaints remain fairly static. In 2018/19, 174 stage 1 
complaints were received. However only 35 of these were justified and 48 were part 
justified. 84 were not justified. Complaints are analysed at the end of each financial 
year to establish whether there are any common themes identified. The complaints 
cover the range of diverse service functions provided by Housing and the relevant 
manager will review the findings to ensure any related service improvements are 
considered.  

 
12.  Performance information 

 The service collects a significant amount of performance information to 
 demonstrate how its performing and to identify areas for service improvements. 

These include National Indicators set by the Welsh Government which are collected 

Page 359



annually, together with Corporate and local indicators, the majority of which are 
measured on a quarterly basis. 

 
 National indicators - Whilst demand on services continues to be high, performance 

in a number of areas remains positive, e.g. in 17/18 national performance indicators 
for the delivery of Disabled Facilities grants and homelessness prevention were in 
the second quartile of local welsh authorities which is encouraging as the volume of 
cases/demand dealt with were among the highest. Performance in both these areas 
has continued to improve since 2017/18. Results for 18/19 for homeless prevention 
(result – 75.4% against a target of 67%) and the average number of calendar days 
taken to deliver a Disabled Facilities Grant (result - 235 days against a target of 265 
days).  

 
Four new indicators being collected for 2019/20 include the number of additional 
affordable housing units delivered per 10,000 households, average number of days 
to complete repairs, percentage of homes that meet the WHQS and rent lost due to 
properties being empty.  
 
Corporate Performance Plan indicator - There is only one indicator for Housing in 
the Corporate Plan, i.e. the average number of days all homeless families with 
children spent in Bed & Breakfast accommodation (result for 18/19 was 1.5 days 
against a target of 6 days). 
  
Local indicators - There are a number of local indicators which are used to gauge 
performance in different service areas. Key ones include those that focus on 
maximising income and outcomes for tenants. The following information looks at 
which performance indicators achieved target and those that missed in 18/19. 

 

Target achieved 2018/19 Target missed 2018/19 

 Void loss £1,501,025 against a 
target £1,569,947. 

 Number of void properties was 196 
against a target of 230. 

 % of rent collected as a % due was 
97.75% against a target of 97.5%.  

 % of tenants satisfied with outcome 
of their ASB case 77.8% against a 
target of no less than 60%. 

 % of people successfully able to 
manage their money following TSU 
support 82% against a target of no 
less than 70%.  

 Amount of current tenant arrears 
were £2,116,555 against a target 
of £1,450,000.  

 Average number of calendar days 
taken to re-let a void property was 
90 days against a target of 75 
days.  

 

There are ongoing challenges to performance in two key areas, i.e. rent arrears and 
how quickly properties are let. The challenge of Universal Credit is having an impact 
on arrears and a number of service improvements have been identified to tackle 
this. In relation to how long it takes to let a property, the WHQS programme is 
currently having an impact on the turnaround time of a void property. This was 
acknowledged by the 2018 Welsh Audit Office (WAO) review as a number of voids 
are undergoing major improvements, i.e. kitchen and bathroom renewal. A number 
of service improvements are being put in place to reduce the time taken to let a 
property. It is also hoped that the turnover of around 1450 tenancies ending and 

Page 360



being let each year will slow down as the current investment and significant kitchen 
and bathroom programme will help tenants want to settle longer.  

13. Service cost  
  

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  
The HRA operates as a ring fenced account whereby income from rents can only be 
used to pay for HRA services.  
 
For 2018/19 the net annual income for the HRA = £80.64m 
Monies from rents/other income/Welsh Gov MRA (£9.2m) = £71.5m 
Monies from borrowing = £5.3m 
Monies used from reserves = £0.6m 
89% of the total HRA expenditure is realised via rental income and the remaining 
amount comes from borrowing/reserves. 

 
  Current Spend 
  In terms of spend, over £54m is spent on the maintenance/improvement of the  

housing stock, £0.9m on the More Homes development programme and just under 
£10m is used to repay borrowing costs. The cost of running the Housing 
Management service is just over £15m which covers the majority of services in 
scope (excluding homelessness, tenancy support, and adaptations services which 
are resourced by a mix of general fund/Welsh Government and Supporting People 
funding). 

 
  General fund housing services  
  For 18/19 the total expenditure for General Fund housing services =£4,579,500 
  A number of the services generate income = £-2,247,200, so total net budget for   

2018/19 = £2,332,300.  
 
  Number of staff delivering the service 

Across all the services in Housing, there are 362 FTEs (295.09 funded by the HRA,    
68.31 from the GF). 

 
Housing Management cost comparison  
Research has been undertaken to see how the other Welsh Local Authorities 
deliver services but comparison is difficult as many are split across different 
portfolios, structured differently, have different demand issues, don’t operate a 24/7 
landlord presence etc. However, the majority do deliver their housing activities in a 
similar way to Swansea through specialist teams for homelessness, rents, liaison 
work for WHQS, neighbourhood teams and most have area/estate based offices. 
  
Some cost data is available for the 11 stock holding local authorities for 18/19 HRA 
spend on management costs per property. These costs range from £622 to just 
over £1,800 however, a detailed breakdown of who provides what services for these 
costs is not available. Out of the 11 authorities, Swansea is in the mid-range with an 
average cost per property of £1,146. Approximately 63% of this relates to employee 
costs with the remainder made up of premises 11%, transport 2%, supplies and 
services 11% and support services e.g. legal/IT/procurement services etc is 13%. 

 
 
 

Page 361



14.   Service Achievements and Good Practice  
  Improvements have been made across a number of services with recognition for      

some as best practice as follows;  

 Track record of implementing projects, e.g. Housing Futures & More Homes. 

 1st pilot scheme of 18 new Council properties in Colliers Way was completed on 
target. 2 further schemes started in 2019 and were awarded Innovative Housing 
Programme funding. 

 Retrofit scheme commenced to transform 6 resiform bungalows to include 
renewable technology, such as PV and battery storage to make them more energy 
efficient. 

 Facilitated full spend of £10.5m Social Housing Grant and £2.5m Housing Finance 
Grant allocation for 18/19. 

 Introduced a Leaseholder loan scheme to help those leaseholders facing major 
service charge invoices.  

 Leasehold practices appeared in Best practice guide for major works by Welsh 
Government. 

 The Housing Service provides extensive support to Universal Credit claimants. 
This has included the successful provision of Universal Support (US); as 
previously contracted by the DWP, Personal Budgeting Support (PBS) and 
Assisted Digital Support (ADS) was provided for Council tenants by the Rents 
Team and by Tenancy Support for private rented and Housing Association 
tenants. 

 New relationships built with the DWP, particularly at a local level, including 
shadowing between Job Centre Staff and Housing staff, presentations to Job 
Centre staff in relation to rent and rent arrears, close links built and regular liaison 
with relevant DWP representatives; Partnership Manager, Work Coaches, 
Homelessness Work Coach.  

 Introduction of Rents Surgeries to provide intensive face-to-face support to 
tenants. 

 The ASB service has been recognised as good practice by partner agencies and 
officers have received awards from the police.  

 Achieved the Wales Housing Management Standard for tackling ASB and 
increased service user satisfaction with the outcome of their case. 

 A streamlined, more responsive estate caretaking service ensures rubbish on 
estates and in blocks of flats is cleared quickly. There is more emphasis on 
prevention with a successful rubbish amnesty undertaken. 

 Commissioning of a Regional Housing Market Assessment for Mid and West 
Wales (6 local authorities and 2 national parks) is underway.  

 Production of an ambitious four year Homelessness Strategy and a well-
established focus on successful homelessness prevention work. 

 Establishment of the Homelessness Prevention Fund.  

 Significant reduction in use of bed and breakfast through the development of 
alternative forms of temporary accommodation. 

 Development of Cross-Borders regional provision to provide temporary supported 
accommodation for women with complex needs. 

 Increased the number of adapted temporary accommodation units to make them 
fully accessible. 

 Development of the holistic, BAYS+ Service for young people incorporating a 
range of services, alongside homelessness advice and assistance. 

 Successful Move-On Strategy, which ensures that individuals can effectively 
transition from supported accommodation into a permanent home. 

Page 362



 Improved access to the private rented sector by embedding the Private Rented 
Sector Access Team within Housing Options, in partnership with the Wallich. 

 Development of provision for rough sleepers including establishment of a Rough 
Sleeping Intervention Team and extension of the support offered to a 7 day 
service. 

 Working with Swansea Hope and partners to resource Swansea Night Shelter to 
provide temporary accommodation and re-settlement support to rough sleepers 
during the coldest months. 

 Collaborative approach with the voluntary sector and Health Service (i.e. 
Homelessness Nurse and Mental Health Outreach Nurse) that provides advice 
and support to rough sleepers.  

 The WAO reported Swansea has robust, comprehensive and wide-ranging plans 
in place to support the Council’s ambition to meet the WHQS by December 2020.  

 Homes Preparation unit recycles household goods and furniture left in empty 
properties to reduce landfill/tipping costs. 

 Mobile wardens have been introduced for adults 60 years + in the community.  

 A pilot at a sheltered housing complex has proved a success in bringing together 
older people and children. Working with XL Wales, an educational charity, older 
people at the complex and children from the nearby Gendros primary school 
worked together on a number of hands-on skills and activities. XL Wales want to 
expand the scheme across the city. 

 Tenant Participation Advisory service recognised Swansea for the way it handled 
its communication to tenants post Grenfell. 

 A number of WAO adaptation report recommendations reference activities 
adopted in Swansea.  

 The ADAPT scheme provides a register of adapted homes for disabled residents 
which is a partnership between local RSLs and the Council. 

 Partnership with Western Bay Care and Repair handyperson scheme to provide 
Minor Adaptations and Comfort, Safety Security assistance to elderly and disabled 
residents quickly. 

 The service has enabled much needed additional accommodation to be brought 
back into use and empty properties converted through the Welsh Government 
Houses into Homes/Landlord Loans scheme and Grants For Nominations 
assistance. 

 Track record of delivering the £8-10m annual Housing Adaptations and 
Improvement capital programme assisting elderly and disabled residents to remain 
living independently at home with over 1800 households assisted each year. 

 15.   Service Improvement findings 
The headline emerging issues of the review fall into the categories below and are 
detailed in the following tables: 
a. Maximising income 
b. Improving service user access 
c. Improving operational systems and processes  
d. Service specific issues  

 

a. Maximising income  

The vast majority of funding for the HRA comes from the collection of rent. The 
introduction of Universal Credit (UC) has meant that the Rents Team is facing 
significant challenges to maximise income. As a result there is a need to increase 
resources in this team in order to offer early support and minimise the impact on 

Page 363



tenants themselves and on the HRA business plan.  
 
The Rents Team has over the last 18 months, experienced an unprecedented 
increase in demand in terms of volume, complexity of work and support required 
by tenants. The team continue to implement numerous strategies and support 
measures to mitigate the impact of Welfare Reform on tenants and rent arrears. 
These measures include; awareness campaigns, targeted preventative work, 
dedicated training for officers, enhancing the working relationship with Welfare 
Rights/Employability, increased partnership working with other support services, 
the introduction of weekly Rents Surgeries at DHOs, restructure of the Rents 
Team to incorporate Rents Officers and specialised UC Rents Officers. These are 
in addition to changes to all processes, procedures and working practices within 
the Rents team which are ongoing. 
 
It has been identified as part of the review that the Rents Team should be located 
together in one office, that further development should be considered in respect of 
how the Rents Team is structured and reinforcing the Rents Team with Officers 
focussed on early targeted support, including specific provision in respect of 
welfare benefits.  

Staff focus groups identified a number of opportunities that should be explored 
further to maximise income which include:  
 
Exploring the introduction of charges for some functions not currently charged for, 
e.g. lift maintenance/window cleaning/ NSU/lost alarm pendants (Sheltered) 
subject to stakeholder consultation.  
 A working group of senior officers has been set up to examine the feasibility of 

additional service charges.   
 
Reviewing the annual leasehold management charge and options to charge 
solicitors for work relating to the resale of leasehold properties.  
 As part of the annual leasehold service charge bill a management charge of 

£50 is included. This contributes to the cost of providing the leasehold 
management service, which is funded by the HRA. An analysis has identified 
that an inflationary increase should be applied as the cost of this service is no 
longer fully recovered by the charge. Work is currently underway to ensure that 
any legal requirements set out in the leases would be met.  

 Information is currently supplied to solicitors as part of the conveyancing 
process when leasehold properties are sold. An analysis is currently being 
undertaken with other local authorities to identify potential charging options and 
prices. 

 
Reviewing the capacity/floor space of the Furniture Store to store furniture items 
we have a statutory duty to store in order to reduce costs rather than paying 
contractors for storage.  
 There is a statutory duty for the Council to protect a households belongings if 

they are at risk where they may be homeless and have a priority need.  Costs 
for storage have risen significantly to £16,108 in 2018/19. Whilst there is no 
available space within the Furniture store building, there is a possibility of hiring 
a container outside. An analysis is being undertaken on legal and logistical 
issues to see if this will result in savings. At the same time the policy and 
procedure are being reviewed to ensure belongings are protected for the 
minimum period only. 

Page 364



 
Considering phasing out paying for TV licences for new Sheltered tenants and 
review the scheme for existing tenants subject to tenant consultation.  
 This currently costs around £12,000 per year. The impact of the recent 

announcement to withdraw free TV licences for the over 75’s and the current 
uncertainty over the future of concessionary schemes could have a significant 
impact on costs if the HRA were to continue these payments.  

 
In addition:  

 A HRA Asset Management Plan is being developed which will include key 
actions to explore opportunities to generate additional income from HRA 
garages, leases and car parks. 

 The service will continue to seek capital funding income streams including WG 
Arbed Ambyth and Enable programmes to support provision of energy 
efficiency schemes. 

 

b. Improving service user access  

The way service users access services is changing, with significantly more 
transactions being undertaken over the phone and online.  

 A key priority is the upgrade of the different telephony systems across satellite 
offices which are out dated and do not work efficiently to enable direct service 
user access to the relevant officer/team. Work is underway to replace these 
systems and link the offices to the Council’s Unified Comms system. This will 
improve service user access and allow calls to be routed to relevant services 
more efficiently. 

 Improvements are required to online transactions, e.g. rent payments, housing 
applications, grant applications, report repairs, fly tipping, incidents of anti-social 
behaviour online, etc. Officers are exploring digital solutions which will allow 
service users to access more housing services online via a computer, mobile 
phone or tablet device.  

 An upgrade of the Council’s online payments system is due to be implemented 
which will improve the way service users can make rent payments via a mobile 
phone/tablet.  

 
The service needs to invest to save in new technology as IT will have a significant 
positive impact on the way services run, how service users can access them, cost 
reduction, officer time and inefficiencies in paper based and back office processes.    

 

c. Improving operational systems/processes 

Agile mobile working WiFi & communication 

 Historically, access to IT systems for staff has been provided via fixed desktop 
computers. In order to facilitate a more agile/mobile approach to working a 
number of improvements to hardware devices and network infrastructure are 
being implemented.  Desktop machines have been replaced with laptops as part 
of a corporate programme and the service will install staff WiFi into offices to 
allow offices to be used in a more ‘agile’ way. Frontline staff have also been 
issued with smart phones to allow access to emails on site and enable service 
users to contact them directly. 

 Officers are also exploring mobile solutions which would allow officers to input 
information whilst on site and in service users’ homes. 

 

Page 365



Back office systems  

 Many processes and records across all services are currently paper based which 
causes significant inefficiencies both for physical storage and access to 
information.  

 An electronic document management system is required to facilitate the 
introduction of more modern ways of working. A Corporate project is examining 
these issues for all services and Housing is currently piloting this. Improvements 
to back office systems will simplify and reduce time spent on a number of 
transactional processes. 

Software solutions/new systems 

 A number of services are currently reliant on unsupported bespoke databases, 
i.e. homelessness, leasehold service charges, asset management/ WHQS, 
Renewal & Adaptation service and the Tenancy Support case management 
system. These systems were developed as short term solutions and pose 
significant risk around long term resilience. Officers are currently exploring 
replacements and costings for these systems to ensure that more robust 
solutions are introduced for these key business areas.  

 
Service specific issues 
Some services/functions are facing more significant challenges and need to consider 
how they can address the issues and/or overhaul systems with IT improvements, etc, 
including: 
 

a. d. Service specific issues 

Housing application, assessment and waiting list –There is a need to 
modernise the housing application, assessment and waiting list process as well as 
improving the way the service user can access this service and information on 
properties and estates online. This will help manage service user expectation of 
realistic housing options/likely waiting times, minimise the time a property remains 
empty, reduce an officer’s time spent making abortive offers due to no contacts 
and the service user not really wanting the area they originally chose.  
 
Housing Options are currently working in partnership with Shelter who are carrying 
out research into the Council’s Waiting list process/Allocations Policy in 
conjunction with RSL’s across the city. The project will include research from a 
service user perspective for those who have gone through the waiting list process 
or are currently on the waiting list and also look at each organisations processes to 
help identify best practice, etc.  
 
The findings from this will feed into Swansea’s review of its Allocations Policy and 
aim to improve the service user experience for anyone applying for 
accommodation. 
 
Options for new technology are being explored to improve the service user journey 
of applying for housing. This will include providing more detailed information on 
property types and areas to ensure service users’ expectations can be better 
managed and an interactive website to advertise properties which are readily 
available. In addition, improving back office processes, removing paper 
applications and files will free up staff time to support the service user to manage 
their housing need/expectations.  
 
 

Page 366



Empty properties/Voids/lettings – The void and lettings processes have 
previously been subject to a systems thinking review and continue to be 
scrutinised as they have a big impact on loss of income when a property is empty. 
Current void levels are around 200 which is a significant reduction from when they 
stood at over a 1000 in 2002.  
 
A number of service improvements are being considered to reduce the time taken 
to let a property. These include; promoting alternatives to transfers via 
HomeSwapper to encourage tenants to swap their homes, extending early 
viewings while the property is in repair, making changes to how waiting lists are 
updated with the aim of reducing abortive offers and in liaison with Building 
Services monitoring the void process stages to minimise rent loss and turnaround 
times. It is hoped that the turnover of around 1500 tenancies ending and being let 
each year will slow down as the current WHQS investment and significant kitchen 
and bathroom programme should help tenants be happier in their homes and want 
to settle in them longer.  

Prospective tenants - The service also needs to consider what mechanisms it 
could put in place to prepare new tenants for successfully managing a tenancy.   
 
Housing Options and the Tenancy Support Unit are currently looking at ways to 
ensure that new tenants, particular vulnerable households, are tenancy ‘ready’ at 
the point of signing for a property. In addition to looking at moving to a more 
support-on-demand service, it is also looking at developing a pre-tenancy support 
officer and recruitment to this is underway.  

Furnished tenancy scheme – There is an opportunity to consider implementing a 
points based choice system to examine how the scheme could be made more 
financially viable to those people not in receipt of benefit. The scheme could also 
explore its expansion to other social landlords to increase income. 
 
The manual system of coding furniture needs to be replaced with a computerised 
inventory system which is being considered corporately as part of a wider solution 
for other services. 
 
In addition, the service has been looking at how it can recoup resources for missed 
furniture pack deliveries. This is due to a high number of aborted deliveries as the 
tenant does not turn up at the allocated slot. This has a big impact on the number 
of deliveries completed in a day and staff time.  
 
A pilot will be carried out to charge a £20 re-delivery fee when the prearranged 
delivery is missed unless its due to exceptional circumstances. The aim is to offset 
some of the lost resource (ie staffing and vehicle costs) as well as encouraging 
new service users to respect terms and conditions from the outset.  New service 
users will be informed of an am/pm delivery slot verbally at the time of signing for 
the furnished tenancy, in writing on the addendum to their tenancy agreement, and 
by way of text message the day before.  

Supporting individuals/tenancy enforcement - The service deals with an 
increasing proportion of service users who present with complex needs requiring 
high levels of support. These include safeguarding, drug/alcohol misuse, a range 
of mental health and well-being issues. Taking a holistic approach and working 
with a range of professional partner agencies to deliver the support needed to help 
sustain tenancies is pivotal to this. As an example, a Neighbourhood Officer 
dealing with a case of hoarding will work intensively with a range of partners such 

Page 367



as Community Mental Health, Fire Service, Pollution Control, Local Area Co-
ordinators and Social Services to help support a tenant. Frequently there will also 
be complaints of ASB. The introduction of agile working and a mobile solution will 
assist officers to spend more time on tenancy support in tenants homes and on 
estates. 

Sheltered service – This service is subject to continual review as it faces many 
challenges to support people to remain in their homes for longer. These 
challenges include the future of Supporting People funding, an ageing population, 
increases in dementia/other related illnesses and new technology. As a result, the 
service needs to review its cleaning and weekend service, 24hr analogue alarm 
system, its use of guest bedrooms and the level of future investment required for 
furnishings, lifts and ramps in some complexes. It is also exploring the feasibility 
of introducing a handyperson service to assist tenants with minor jobs, e.g. 
changing light bulbs, putting up curtain rails, minor repairs of furniture etc, which 
could help them stay in their homes for longer. Further investment will also be 
required longer term with the likely introduction of new assistive technology such 
as movement sensors. The service is also working with Social Services to explore 
how the extra care provision model could be in corporated into the existing 
sheltered housing provision. 

Anti-social behaviour (ASB) - ASB related activities are currently delivered 
through 9 District Housing Offices, who are in turn supported by a small ASB 
Support Team of 3 officers. Any type of enforcement action linked to ASB, has to 
be proportionate and tailored to the individual as it is carried out within a restrictive 
legal framework based on evidence and proof. A larger ASB Support Team 
dealing with high level ASB, would lead to a more consistent, measured and 
timely approach to effectively deal with ASB. The service also needs to explore 
the procurement of a noise “app” which would help complainants to provide 
evidence of noise problems as a significant amount of ASB incidents are low level 
noise issues. 

Neighbourhood Support Unit – The unit was set up in 1997 with the main role to 
provide a 24/7 landlord presence on Council estates to support District Housing 
Offices, prevent ASB and provide security to empty Council properties. However, 
the existing empty property alarms are becoming obsolete and need replacing 
which will require significant investment and there are low levels of breaches 
occurring in the alarmed voids. Research has shown that other organisations do 
not generally alarm empty properties so it is opportune to review this provision. 
The service is piloting not alarming voids in some areas to help inform the 
analysis.  

Estate management/gardening scheme – When Housing first adopted the “Tend 
and Mend” service in 2015, the intention was to provide 3 cuts per year to gardens 
covered by the scheme. However, it has only been able to achieve one cut per 
year due to significant increases in demand and this is likely to continue due to an 
ageing population and the lack of verification required to demonstrate disability. 
Whilst the service is available to those aged 65 and over or disabled, changes are 
being made to alter this criteria to those aged over 70 or with a qualifying disability. 
This should ensure the garden cutting scheme can continue to provide a valued 
service to those that need it whilst redirecting demand from those tenants who are 
able to carry out the work themselves or who may have family who can provide 
assistance. 
 
Alternatives to direct delivery of garden cutting are also being explored, including a 
garden tool hire scheme, and working with the Local Area Co-ordinators to identify 

Page 368



any opportunities for community run initiatives. Detailed analysis is taking place to 
look at how this could operate and in relation to some specific issues around 
delivery/collection of garden tools, maintenance, PAT testing, insurance, risk 
management etc. In addition, exploration of a pilot to issue a strimmer to new 
tenants as an incentive to take responsibility for their own gardens is being 
considered.  
 
A grant bid to fund a corporate Community Catalyst resource whose remit would 
be to help start and develop social enterprises is also being explored to work 
alongside the LAC team. 
 
The service is also working with the Estate Management Tenant Panel to update 
its Estate Management strategy to ensure resources are targeted effectively and 
that the service continues to meet tenants priorities to keep estates safe and 
attractive.  
 
The service will also focus on how it addresses significant garden issues, i.e 
extensive/difficult to maintain plots as part of the regeneration investment schemes 
needed post 2020.  

 
Future Model of the District Housing Office service 
The review acknowledges that much of the structure of the service has been in place 
for a number of years and the way in which service users wish to communicate with 
organisations and businesses is changing whilst demands on services continue to 
increase.  
 
Information from a range of sources has been used to assess the long term 
sustainability of District Housing Offices. These include building surveys, analysis of 
patterns of changes in service user access, preference towards more contact over 
the phone/online and falling numbers of face to face callers. In conjunction with 
looking at new ways of working for staff, this information suggests that the DHO 
footprint should be reduced from 9 to 6. The proposals being considered include 
closing Penlan, Eastside and West Cross offices.  
 
To effectively manage the reduction in DHOs, housing services would continue to be 
provided from the nearest housing offices and Neighbourhood officers would make 
more home and estate visits. Housing advice/rent surgeries are proposed for local 
community buildings for tenants who may not want a home visit. Feedback will be 
sought from tenants, Ward Members and staff to identify community space venues 
for surgeries should the proposals go ahead. This could include local schools as an 
approach has been made from one to offer use of their community space. The 
service is taking this opportunity to trial a surgery in the school starting in September 
2019. 
 
Tenants would still be able to pay their rent in local post offices, shops displaying the 
payzone sign, online, over the phone and by direct debit, or by calling into other 
District Housing Offices or the Civic Centre. Recycling bags can be picked up from 
local libraries, some shops, post offices, ordered online, by phone or putting request 
tags out with recycling bags. 
 
The implementation of a digital solution/customer portal will improve the way service 
users can access more housing services and make online transactions via a 

Page 369



computer, mobile of tablet device. 
 
There is project taking place to co-locate the District Housing office with the Library 
service in Gorseinon in 2020. 

16. Future Key Challenges  
 
The service is facing significant challenges over the next few years. A number of high 
level policy, strategy and audit/review findings that need to be progressed are as 
follows; 
 Deliver achievement of the WHQS by December 2020. 
 Deliver More Homes strategy.  
 Implement the outcome of the Welsh Government Affordable Housing Supply & 

Rents Policy review which could impact on the HRA business plan.  
 Co-ordinate impact/delivery of the Decarbonisation agenda. 
 Coordinate delivery of Welsh Government Social Housing Grant funding. 
 Development/introduction of WAO Adaptations report recommendations and 

proposed WG Adaptation service standards. 
 Implement WAO WHQS findings. 
 Update Repairs policy.  
 Develop asset management plan.  
 Review WHQS compliance policy and report to Council. 
 Implement the project/requirements of the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 

through the issuing of new occupation contracts (replacing current tenancy 
agreements) to all Council tenants. 

 Introductory tenancies—consider future of these in light of the implications of the 
Renting Homes Act. 

 Develop rents strategy. 
 Review Allocations policy by 2020. 
 Development of post 2020 regeneration investment schemes.  
 Review outcome of energy efficiency pilot in sheltered and consider wider 

implementation. 
 Deliver the Homelessness Strategy and action plan. 
 Deliver Tenant Participation strategy and action plan. 
 Contribute to the development of the West Glamorgan Regional Partnership 

Health and Housing strategy. 
 Deliver the Private Sector Housing policy to provide assistance/annual capital 

programme. 
 Completion of local housing market assessment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 370



 
Appendix B 

 
 
 
Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form. If you 
would like further guidance please contact the Access to Services team (see guidance for details). 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: Housing    

Directorate:Place 
 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 
 

      Service/                Policy/  
      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                                                                            
 
 

 

(b) Please name and describe here: 

Emerging findings from the commissioning review highlight proposals to 
consider reducing the number of District Housing Offices from 9 to 6. The 
commissioning review has also identified a number of service improvements 
that will help to modernise the service to help meet increasing customer 
demand i.e. IT improvements, customer surgeries etc. 
 

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 
Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 
         

   (H)        (M)  (L) 
 

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 

     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   
need to want to  automatically provided to basis 
 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)        (M)    (M)  (L) 
 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 
    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 

Children/young people (0-18)      

OIder people (50+)     

Any other age group       

Disability      

Race (including refugees)      

Asylum seekers      

Gypsies & travellers      

Religion or (non-)belief     

Sex     

Sexual Orientation     

Gender reassignment      

Welsh Language     

Page 371



Poverty/social exclusion     

Carers (inc. young carers)     

Community cohesion     

Marriage & civil partnership      

Pregnancy and maternity      
 

Q4 WHAT ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION / CO-PRODUCTIVE APPROACHES WILL YOU 
UNDERTAKE?  

Please provide details below – either of your planned activities or your reasons for not undertaking 
engagement 

Face to face Surveys were undertaken at all of the DHO’s in 2018 in order to establish the volume of 
customer demand on the each of the offices and the way in which customers access the service and 
this has informed the proposals. We also have data from our major tenants survey in 2017 which tells 
us about customer contact preferences. 
 
Feedback on these proposals are currently being sought from 13,500 tenants and 600 leaseholders as 
part of the review process, prior to any recommendations being reported to Cabinet later this year 
and a formal consultation with tenants. All tenants and leaseholders have received a letter outlining 
the proposals and the opportunity to attend a consultation event in a DHO, they have also been 
offered the opportunity to provide written feedback. In addition, 4 internal stakeholder workshops 
have been held with colleagues from services across the Council. 
 
Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 

    (H)   (M)  (L) 

 
(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? (Consider the following 

impacts – legal, financial, political, media, public perception  etc…)  
 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 

     (H)         (M)          (L) 

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  

      
 
Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   →  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 
 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      →  Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 followed by 
Section 2  

 
Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for an EIA report, you must provide a full 

explanation here.  Please ensure that you cover all of the relevant protected groups.   
   
Findings from the analysis of the long term sustainability of District Housing Offices including building 
surveys, changes in customer access, more contact done over the phone/online, falling numbers of 

Page 372



face to face callers together with looking at new ways of working for staff suggests that the DHO 
footprint should be reduced from 9 to 6 initially.  
 
Our intention is to mitigate this as services would continue to be provided from the nearest housing 
offices and there would be no reduction of staff resources in terms of meeting customer demand and 
no impact on staff from these proposals. 
 
Neighbourhood officers would continue to make home and estate visits where requested in order to 
meet the needs of the community including elderly residents or those with disabilities. Housing 
advice/rent surgeries will be held in local community buildings if tenants didn’t want a home visit.  
 
Tenants would still be able to pay their rent in local post offices, shops displaying the payzone sign, 
online, over the phone and by direct debit, or by calling into other District Housing Offices or the 
Civic Centre. Recycling bags can be picked up from local libraries, some shops, post offices, online, by 
putting request tags out with recycling bags.  
 
These proposals are not expected to have any impact on the Welsh language 
 
We are still going through a period of consultation in terms of our proposals so the EIA process will 
be engaged further at the earliest opportunity when the recommendations for the full Cabinet report 
are being considered. 

 
 

 
Section 2 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before obtaining 
approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via email – no 
electronic signatures or paper copies are needed. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Lynda Grove 

Job title: Strategic Housing Customer and Service Development Manager 
 

Date: 25th June 2019 
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Mark Wade 

Position: Head of Housing 

Date: 28th June 2019 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 373

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


Appendix C 
 

If you require this information in alternative format e.g. Large print, please contact 
07197 63xxx or email xxxxxx 

 
Dear xxxxxx 
 
District Housing Office Service and your views on proposed changes  
We want you to have your say on our proposal to change the way we deliver the 
District Housing Office service. This letter is a follow up to the letter you should have 
received back in June 2019. We received 150 responses and feedback highlighted 
how much tenants value the housing service. The main concern was that any 
improvements to IT systems should not replace the face to face service being 
delivered. Under Section 105 of the Housing Act 1985, we have a duty to inform and 
consult with you on any changes on ‘matters of housing management’. 
 

Why are we proposing to make changes? 
The Housing Service has undertaken a review to look at how it can modernise the way 
it delivers the service. We also need to make sure the service has the right level of 
resources in place to address the increasing priorities and demands it’s facing in 
relation to supporting tenants, the impact of Universal Credit, preventing 
homelessness, meeting housing need, improving Council houses and investing in 
building new homes to name but a few examples.  
 
What changes are we proposing? 
We are consulting on proposals to reduce the number of District Housing Offices. 
The reason we are proposing these changes is that the way tenants are contacting 
us is changing – far more are contacting the service by phone and online. This 
means the numbers calling into some local Housing Offices has fallen.  
We looked at: 

 How many people use the DHO’s 

 The way tenants access our services (face-to-face or phone/online) 

 The condition and investment needed to the building  
The proposals are to close 3 offices which include West Cross, Penlan and Eastside. 
Services will still be provided from the nearest housing offices and Neighbourhood 
officers will continue to make home and estate visits. They will also hold Housing 
advice/rent surgeries in local community buildings if tenants don’t want a home visit. 
Tenants will still be able to pay their rent in local post offices, shops displaying the 
payzone sign, online, over the phone and by direct debit, or by calling into other 
housing offices or the civic centre. Recycling bags can be picked up from local 
libraries, some shops, post offices, ordered online, over the phone or by putting 
request tags out with recycling bags. A project is also taking place to co-locate the 
District Housing office with the Library service in Gorseinon in 2020.  
 
Our priority is to continue to deliver a frontline face to face housing service that 
tenants value but to improve the way we do it. We are looking to increase the amount 
of time staff spend on home and estate visits using new mobile technology, i.e.tablet, 
upgrade our telephone systems and reduce the amount of form filling that tenants 
have to complete by modernising our back office processes. We will also improve the 
way tenants can make online transactions and access housing services via a 
computer, tablet or mobile phone. 
 

Page 374



We would welcome your views on the following;  
 
Our proposal: Closure of 3 District Housing offices, i.e. Penlan, Eastside and 
West Cross. Services will still be provided from the nearest housing offices; 
along with Neighbourhood Officers continuing to make home and estate visits 
and local surgeries being held in community buildings. 

Strongly Agree Tend to Agree Tend to Disagree Strongly Disagree 

Please explain your answer below. 

 
Do you agree or disagree with the following:  

Closure of Penlan DHO 

Strongly Agree Tend to Agree Tend to Disagree Strongly Disagree 

Please explain your answer below. 

Closure of Eastside DHO 

Strongly Agree Tend to Agree Tend to Disagree Strongly Disagree 

Please explain your answer below. 

Closure of West Cross DHO 

Strongly Agree Tend to Agree Tend to Disagree Strongly Disagree 

Please explain your answer below. 

 
Do you agree or disagree that staff should spend more time on home and 
estate visits with the use of new mobile technology? 
 
Strongly Agree Tend to Agree Tend to Disagree Strongly Disagree  
 
Please explain your answer below 

Do you agree or disagree that improvements should be made to the way 
tenants can make online transactions and access housing services via a 
computer, tablet or mobile phone.  
 
Strongly Agree Tend to Agree Tend to Disagree Strongly Disagree 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 375



Please explain your answer below 

Are there any other options you feel the Council should consider to improve 
the delivery of the frontline face to face housing service? 
 
Please give your answer below 

 
Which District Housing Office is your ‘local’ office? 
 
Penlan DHO   Towncentre DHO   West Cross DHO 
Blaenymaes DHO  Townhill DHO   Morriston DHO 
Eastside DHO  Gorseinon DHO   Sketty DHO 
 

We would like you to let us know your views by (date to be added). You can do this 
by: 

 Completing the enclosed comments form and returning it to us using the 
FREEPOST envelope OR completing it online at (on line web address/link to 
be included). 

 Calling into any District Housing Office to speak to a member of staff or to 
hand in your completed comments form 

 E-mailing your comments to the housing inbox  housing@swansea.gov.uk 

 Calling the housing team to discuss on (contact number to be identified)  

 Attending one of the drop in sessions (dates and venues to be scheduled) 
 

The consultation begins xxxxx 2020 and will finish on xxxxx 2020. Before making a 
final decision on this matter the Council will consider all representations made in 
response to this consultation exercise. 

 

 

Page 376

mailto:housing@swansea.gov.uk


 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Economy & Strategy  

 
Cabinet – 21 November 2019 

 

Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring 
2nd Quarter 2019/20 

 

 
Purpose: 
 

To report on financial monitoring of the 2019/20 
revenue and capital budgets, including the 
delivery of budget savings. 

 
Policy Framework: 

 
Budget 2019/20 
Transformation and Future Council  
(Sustainable Swansea –fit for the future) 

 
Consultation: 
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report Author: 
 
Finance Officer: 
 
Legal Officer: 
 
Access to Services 
Officer: 

 
Cabinet Members, Corporate management 
Team, Legal Services and Access to Services. 
 

1. It is recommended that the comments and 
variations in this report, and the actions in 
hand to address these, are noted. 

2. That Director’s plans to assure Cabinet 
that service budgets can be sustainably 
brought back into line for 2019-20 and 
beyond are noted and implemented by 1 
April 2020, and earlier still where possible.    

3. That no officer may consider any material 
further spending commitments until those 
savings plans , as outlined above to 
address service overspending are assured 
and delivered. 

 
Ben Smith 
 
Ben Smith 
 
Tracey Meredith 
 
Rhian Millar 

 
 
 
 

Page 377

Agenda Item 11.



1. Background and Introduction 
 
1.1  This report details forecast variations from the agreed budget for 2019/20, including 

 the latest assessment of the delivery of savings. 
 
1.2   In respect of Revenue Budgets, this report provides a consolidated forecast which 

 combines: 
 

 projected variations (mainly shortfalls) in relation to budget savings agreed by 
Council in February 2019 

 

 Variations arising from other service pressures not directly linked to specific 
savings plans (e.g. increased service demand, price and pay inflation, increased, 
but most often unfunded, regulatory obligations and burdens from both UK and 
Welsh governments) 

 
1.3 The report includes comments from Directors in relation to the variations 
 highlighted and the action that is in hand or proposed as appropriate. 
 
1.4  The report also includes the latest completed Savings tracker summary in Appendix 

 C that indicates the current overall forecast delivery % of the various savings 
 streams by the services is at 80%. Any shortfalls in achieving savings will be 
 reflected in the table at 2.3 and in Appendix A.  
 

2 Revenue Outturn Forecast Based on 2nd Quarter Position 
 
2.1  Appendix ‘A’ to this report details the approved Revenue Budget for 2019/20 and 

 the forecast variation at this time. 
 
2.2 Other than projected variations on Directorate expenditure, it is still too early to 
 forecast variations that may arise on some significant Corporate items, including 
 the level of Council Tax collection (which posted a deficit in 2018-19 of £0.3m 
 though in previous years has returned a modest surplus) – it is assumed at the 
 current time that these remain largely as per the approved budget. 

 
2.3  The overall Directorate position is summarised below:- 
 

DIRECTORATE      

 FORECAST  SAVINGS   OTHER 

 VARIATION  VARIATION  VARIATION 

 2019/20  2019/20  2019/20 

 £000  £000  £000 

RESOURCES -65  1,757  -1,822 

PEOPLE - SOCIAL SERVICES 986  975  11 
 
PEOPLE - EDUCATION 1,986  0  1,986 

PLACE 0  701  -701 
      

NET DIRECTORATE 
EXPENDITURE 2,907  3,433  -526 

 

Page 378



 
2.4 Directors’ comments on the above variations are shown at Appendix B :- 
 
2.5 Within the Sustainable Swansea Delivery Programme, work continues to develop 

service delivery plans that will include all savings requirements across all strands. 
This includes the cross cutting nature of new reviews as well as the completion of 
current in-flight reviews.  

 
2.6 Whilst continuing to improve, the above potential service overspend remains a 

significant risk and needs to be addressed on a whole Council basis as it remains 
unsustainable in the medium term to continuously spend more than budgeted, 
especially so given the position is helped only temporarily by one off grant funding 
sources . A number of the overspend areas follow on from the outturn position for 
2018/19 and need to be considered in the light of the forecast savings going forward 
within the 2019/20 budget, Medium Term Financial Plan, and the cumulative effect of 
non-achievement of savings going forward. 

 
2.7 Corporate Management Team has re-enforced the current arrangements for budget 

monitoring in particular :- 
 

 focus on a range of corrective actions; 

 targeted immediate spend reduction action; 

 spending control on all vacancies and contracts; 

 a continued reminder that no Responsible Officer is authorised to 
 overspend their budget in line with Financial Procedure Rules;  

 and consequently that Directors have brought forward to Cabinet and 
 Corporate Management Team detailed and realistic mitigation plans to 
 contain service overspending. 

 
2.8 Offsetting opportunities do exist to temporarily ameliorate the currently identified 

service demand and price pressures as follows.    
 

 £1m was set aside in the budget for the potential costs relating to the impact of the 
Apprenticeship Levy. The final costs relating to this levy will only be known once 
final employee related costs are calculated at the year end. Should the full 
allocation not be required then any saving will be proposed to be used to mitigate 
service pressures at year end.  
 

 £2m was also set aside to meet any specific and significant inflationary increases 
arising in year. A Commercial savings target was held corporately in 2018/19 and 
initially 2019/20. Any actual contract/procurement savings were delivered within 
services and not allocated to this central target. For 2019/20 this total has been 
allocated to services and is funded from the Inflationary provision to avoid double 
counting against previous contract procurement savings. Given the overall 
financial projection at this stage it is proposed by the S151 officer that £1.1m is 
allocated to services to cover commercial pricing pressures as outlined in the 1st 
Quarter report and the remaining £0.9m be conserved for now as a hedge against 
potential service over spending . The most likely area needing further budgetary 
support in year for inflation costs continues to be Social Services given a range of 
contract renewals and re-tenders and continued fragility of some providers in the 
market.  

 
 

Page 379



 Use of the Contingency Fund as detailed below. 
 

3 Contingency Fund Provision for 2019/20 
 
3.4 The contingency fund is set at the £7.072m contribution for 2019/20 as set out in the 

budget report approved by Council in February 2019. This is significantly higher than 
in recent years reflecting additional mitigation against any repeated overspending. 

 
3.5 The current potential calls on the contingency fund for 2019-20 are:- 

 

 Contingency Fund 2018/19 Prediction 

  
2019/20 

(£m) 

Budgeted contribution for year. 7.072 

One off interim support arrangements for 
Chief Executive and ongoing regional 
working.  -0.030 

One off support to a range of events 
celebrating the 50th anniversary of the 
granting of city status to Swansea .  -0.158 

Support for Swansea Community Awards. -0.003 

Key Cities Subscription.  -0.010 

High Street Multi Story Car Park urgent lift 
works. -0.135 

Swansea Market urgent works  -0.075 

New Depot : CTU equipment(previous service 

earmarked reserve fully used in extremis to balance 
budget 18-19. Anticipated spend now funded in 19-
20) -0.314 

Western Powerhouse subscription -0.020 

Equalities consultation and co-production 
support -0.005 

ER/VR in year costs if ultimately exceeding 
balance on Restructure Reserve of £3m 
(this is currently not expected to be needed 
on basis of levels of ER/VRS). 0.000 

Service overspend mitigation £2.007m  
and mitigation for future spend 
risks/demand and regulatory 
pressures/inflation £4.315m -6.322 

Balance 31st March 2020 0 

 
The above table lists current potential calls on the budgeted contingency fund. The 
final amounts will be dependent on a number of factors during the year including 
speed of implementation, actual costs/commitments incurred and final Directorate 
outturn position. Spend approvals will be deliberately limited to seek to maximise 
underspend here as part of mitigating budget savings action. Updates will be provided 
during the financial year as part of the routine quarterly reporting to members. 
 
As set out in the 2018-19 Revenue outturn report to members some £3m remained 
within the Restructure Reserve to contribute toward ER/VR costs in 2019-20. The 
S151 officer proposes that any such costs over and above this £3m will be funded via 

Page 380



the contingency. The final costs of ER/VR will only be known towards the end of the 
year once all management actions re savings proposals etc are implemented. At this 
stage it is assumed that all ER/VR costs will be able to be contained within the sum 
left in the Restructure Reserve.  
 
The S151 officer proposes that ,as set out in Appendix A, the forecast shortfall in the 
funding of service costs for 2019-20 of £2.007m (Service overspends of £2.907m less 
unallocated Inflation provision £0.9m) will be met in full from the Contingency fund. 
That the remaining balance on the Contingency Fund of £4.315m be provisionally 
allocated to mitigate any potential additional spend risks/ demand and regulatory 
pressures/ pay and price inflation arising in the financial year.  
 
The S151 officer proposes to reserve his final position on the recommended levels of 
use of the restructure reserve and contingency fund until the success or otherwise of 
reducing the forecast overspend is known at year-end.  

 
3.6 The current indication is that, for 2019-20, there still needs to be urgent and decisive 

action to pursue and deliver all savings proposals across the Council. 
 

3.7 The action being taken includes working through existing plans on an accelerated 
delivery basis  : 

 

 Management and Business Support Review: ongoing review of the management 
structure across the Council and future requirements given the Council’s priorities, 
future challenges and the changing nature of the role of managers 

 Reducing the Pay Bill: review of options to reduce employee costs across the 
Council as part of our overall future workforce strategy (subject to trade union 
consultation at the appropriate time) 

 Commercialism through third party Procurement Savings and Income Generation: 
review of further options to increase income from fees and charges, trading etc, in 
addition to the targets already set for 2019/20 

 Progressing implementation of Commissioning Reviews and Cross Cutting 
Themes. 

 Further implementation of the Social Services Saving Plan through which we have 
identified mechanisms for bringing down overall costs.  

 Continuing the extant spending restrictions which have been reviewed, refreshed 
and reissued by Corporate Management Team. 

 Directors detailed action plans which are summarised in their commentary in 
Appendix B. 

 
3.8 It should be noted that at this time, although the Council continues to pursue a number 

of VAT related claims, some are more advanced than others, there is NO certainty of 
windfalls from VAT refunds or any other external source being received in the current 
year. 

 
4 Revenue Budget Summary 
 
4.4 The position reported above reflects the best known current position. A net £2.907m 

of shortfall in service revenue budgets, offset by £0.9m of identified additional savings 
from the non-allocation of the Inflation provision together with utilising £2.007m from 
the use of the Contingency Fund.  

 

Page 381



4.5 Corporate Management Team have reinforced the expectation that both service and 
overall net expenditure must be contained within the relevant limits of the current year 
budget as set by Council.  

 
4.6 As previously mentioned, it is too early to provide an accurate forecast as to the 

potential outturn on corporate items such as Council Tax collection which is in itself 
potentially affected by the effects of welfare reform measures, but offset by an often 
increasing tax base.  
 

4.7 Included in the projected budget for 2019/20 for other corporate items are capital 
finance charges. At this early stage no variance is forecast, in any case any 
underspending or overspending will be transferred at year end to or from the capital 
equalisation reserve, a strategy previously agreed by Council. This will be reviewed 
and updated during the year as various capital schemes/programmes progress. 
 

4.8 The overall judgement at this point is that there remains an urgent need to identify and 
implement existing and additional budget savings across all Council Services to 
improve the 2019/20 position and beyond.   

 
4.9 There remains a degree of confidence that some further inroads can continue to be 

made into the forecast overspend position by ongoing management and member 
action. Equally, the scale remains such, that it would be on balance very unlikely that 
spending can be fully contained in year without wide scale mitigation actions, including 
those set out in this report.  

 
4.10 There continue to be increasing risks around general inflationary pay and price 

pressures (including potentially another higher than previously budgeted teachers’ pay 
award from September). Nevertheless the Council simply cannot afford to fund them, 
unless additional grant support is forthcoming from Welsh Government, otherwise 
savings will have to be made elsewhere to meet such pressures.  
  

4.11 Detailed monitoring of budgets will continue to be carried out and reported to 
Departmental Performance and Financial Management meetings on a monthly basis.  

 
4.12 The Section 151 Officer has previously considered professional advice given as to 

funding levels within the Insurance Reserve and notwithstanding the ongoing modest 
draws from the reserve over the duration of the MTFP to help support the revenue 
budget, he is satisfied there is at least a further £2.648m of headroom (over funding) 
beyond that reasonably likely needed to meet future claims. This enables a transfer to 
be made between earmarked reserves and bolster the capital equalisation reserve yet 
further in anticipation of the substantial future capital spending which remains to be 
predominantly financed from unsupported borrowing. This transfer was approved by 
Council on the 24th October 2019 in the annual Review of Revenue Reserves report.   

 
4.13 It is imperative that sustainable base budget savings are found to replace these in 

year one off actions to stabilise the 19-20 budget ahead of an anticipated extremely 
challenging and uncertain 2020-21 budget round. 

Page 382



 
5 Capital Budget 
 
5.1 Expenditure to 30th September 2019 is £41.81 million, summarised as follows: 

    Directorate Budget 
2019/20 

Actual 
to 

30/09/19 

% 
spend 

  £'000 £'000   

Corporate Services 6,522 695 10.7% 

People 28,264 2,898 10.3% 

Place (General Fund) 77,793 18,853 24.2% 

Place (HRA) 60,746 19,364 31.9% 

  
  

  

Total 173,325 41,810 24.1% 

 
Expenditure on major capital schemes is detailed in Appendix D. 
 
It should be noted that the actual spend to 30 Sept may only have 4 or 5 months costs 
relating to external invoices.  In addition the budgets will be reviewed during October 
which will result in some budgets being re-profiled into later years. Nevertheless it 
remains highly likely that some capital expenditure slippage will ensure and this will 
help reduce the in-year revenue costs of capital financing.  
 

6. Housing Revenue Account  
 

6.1 There are no material budget issues to flag at this stage of the year. There are some 
anticipated underspends on employee costs (currently forecast at around £100K) and 
any slippage on the capital programme may lead to a reduction in capital finance 
costs however it is too early in the year to make an accurate forecast.  Overall the 
current repairs forecast is a small overspend (£60k) and will continue to be monitored 
closely. 

 
7. Legal Issues 
 
7.1 There are no legal issues contained within this report. 

 
8. Equality issues 
 
8.1 The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales) and must, in the 

exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

Our Equality Impact Assessment process ensures that we have paid due regard to 
the above.  

 

Page 383



8.2 The Revenue budget of the Council was approved following the application of the 
corporate Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) process throughout the Budget setting 
process.  It is essential where service levels are affected by changes to the 
Revenue Budgets (including savings options) that  the EIA process (alongside 
consultation and engagement as appropriate) is applied to ensure due regard is 
paid to the potential equality impacts of any proposals prior to decision making.  

 
Background papers: - None 
 
Appendices: Appendix A – Revenue Budget forecast 2019/20 
  Appendix B – Directors comments on variances and action plans 
  Appendix C – Savings tracker summary 
  Appendix D - Expenditure on major Capital Schemes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 384



 
Appendix A 

REVENUE BUDGET PROJECTION QUARTER 2 2019/20 

      

DIRECTORATE BUDGET  PROJECTED  VARIATION 

 2019/20  2019/20  2019/20 

 £000  £000  £000 
RESOURCES 45,598  45,533  -65 

PEOPLE - SOCIAL SERVICES 121,080  122,066  986 

PEOPLE – EDUCATION 170,679  172,665  1,986 

PLACE 56,331   56,331  0 
      

NET DIRECTORATE EXPENDITURE 393,688   396,595  2,907 
SPECIFIC PROVISION FOR 
APPRENTICESHIP LEVY/INFLATION 

 
             1,850  950  -900 

CONTINGENCY FUND              6,322  4,315  -2,007 

      

OTHER ITEMS      

LEVIES      
   SWANSEA BAY PORT HEALTH 
AUTHORITY 86  86  0 

CONTRIBUTIONS      
   MID & WEST WALES COMBINED FIRE 
AUTHORITY 12,971  12,971  0 

CAPITAL FINANCING CHARGES       

  PRINCIPAL REPAYMENTS  14, 478  14,478  0 

  NET INTEREST CHARGES 18,119  18,119  0 

NET REVENUE EXPENDITURE 447,514   447,514  0 

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES      

 GENERAL RESERVES 0   0   0 

 EARMARKED RESERVES -4,588  -4,588  
 

0 
      

TOTAL BUDGET REQUIREMENT 442,926   442,926   0 

DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 400  400  0 

TOTAL CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 
REQUIREMENT 443,326   443,326   0 

COMMUNITY COUNCIL PRECEPTS 1,465  1,465  0 

TOTAL REQUIREMENT   444,791   444,791   0 

      

FINANCING OF TOTAL REQUIREMENT      

REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT 242,197  242,197  0 

NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES 80,014  80,014  0 

COUNCIL TAX  - CITY AND COUNTY OF 
SWANSEA 121,115  121,115  0 

COUNCIL TAX  - COMMUNITY COUNCILS 1,465  1,465  0 

TOTAL FINANCING   444,791   444,791   0 

 
 
 

Page 385



 
     Appendix B 
Directors comments on budget variances and summary action plans  

  
Director of Resources 
 

Variance £000 Explanation and Action 

   

Savings Variation   

18/19 Sustainable 
Swansea Savings 
targets: 

  

Management review of 
grade 10 and above 

113 These three areas form part of 
Corporate Services proposals to merge 
and review cross-cutting functions 
across the Council related to Business 
Support functions, exploring new ways 
working including regional collaboration 
where possible. Limited opportunities 
are available regarding shared services 
and the regional working options are 
very slow in progressing, with little if any 
appetite across other organisations. 
Further Proposals and plans are being 
discussed.   

Service 
review/regional 
working/shared 
services 

239 

Stopping or reducing 
services through new 
ways of working 

597 

Merging of Land 
Charges with Planning 
and Building Control 
as per the 
Commissioning 
Review 

25 The team has successfully merged with 
Planning and savings achieved in the 
Place Directorate. It was planned that 
new ways of working would release this 
£25k in legal, however, this is no longer 
possible. Alternative savings are now 
being sought in legal however this is 
proving difficult with the additional 
pressures from savings already made in 
staffing. 

Establishing Business 
Support hubs in the 
People and Place 
Directorates 

-79 An additional saving as a result of 
implementing the ‘One Council’ 
approach to Business Support. 

19/20 balance  -125 Additional savings as a result of 
vacancy freeze and delay in appointing 
staff.  

16/17 & 17/18 saving 
targets 

531 The savings identified in previous years 
requires changes to terms and 
conditions or the potential stopping of 
services, this to date has not had 
support and remains an area of further 
investigation before anything is 
recommended or agreed. 

Sub total  1,301  

Other saving targets:   

Transfer and review of 
the Welsh Translation 

150 The Welsh Translation Unit is reviewing 
ways of working however, the demand 

Page 386



Unit, including cost 
and charges 

for Welsh translation continues to 
increase. In order for the Council to 
meet its statutory responsibilities and 
statutory deadlines for certain reports 
further budget reductions are not 
possible. External translation services 
are now being used to help with 
capacity, which impacts the budget. 
Although the team will continue to 
improve and change processes and 
ways of working, including the use of 
technology, it is anticipated this saving 
cannot be achieved due to rising 
demand. 

16/17 
Communications 
model & Corporate 
Health & 
Safety/Wellbeing 

306 This saving is challenging with the 
identified model of merging the 
marketing and communications from 
across the council into one team not 
able to progress. In addition, the 
increase in demand in the referrals to 
occupational health has not enabled the 
growth of this area to become income 
generating due to all spare capacity 
being used internally.  

Total Savings variation 1,757  

Other Net 
Underspends 

-1,822 Mainly as a result of Legal Services 
underspends of £-439k due to staff 
savings of £-263k and income from the 
Liberty Stadium court case £-130k, 
Financial Services underspends due to 
CTRS forecasted underspend of £-350k, 
however, this dependant on caseloads 
& net staff savings of £-480k, Digital and 
Transformation staff savings £-400k and 
potential IT contract cost savings of £-
105k 

   

Total Variation -65  

 
Corporate Services underwent significant change in 2017/18 which followed into 2018/19, 
in order to realise savings and rebalance the budget.   
 
The Directorate has proactively and strictly managed any overspending in Quarter 1, and 
as a base budget has performed well. The legacy savings from the previous years have 
affected the budget and for Quarter 2 these have been offset by underspends on service 
areas mainly as a result staff savings through managing vacant posts and from a one off 
income item in relation to the Liberty Stadium court case and CTRS underspend which is 
dependent on caseloads. This has resulted in an overall variance of £-65k. 
 
Detailed plans and proposals are in place for all of the savings variances above by 31st 
March 2020. 
 
 

Page 387



Action Plans for Resources include: 
 

 Releasing of vacancies in each service 

 Ensuring all legacy savings are achieved, which were previously allocated to 
services 

 Service budget reviews to release additional savings, reviewing the risk across the 
Council including impact on other Directorates. 

  A range of other measures are being considered as part of in year and annual 
budget savings considerations , these include. 

o Review of the CTRS which is a demand-led service 
o Reductions in corporate services. 

 Bringing forward savings as a result of digital wherever possible 

 Reducing and stopping fees and subsidies wherever possible. 
 
Director of Social Services 
 
Social Services 

 

Variance £000 Explanation and Action 

Savings Variation 

Implement preferred options 
as outcome of 
Commissioning Review 
(Learning Disability, Physical 
Disability & Mental Health 
service provision) 

500 This project continues with dedicated 
resource and senior management input. 
Initial retendering exercise underway. The 
continued effect of increases to minimum 
wage and the need to diversify the supplier 
base will cause costs to increase.  

Review of CHC 
Arrangements/LD MH Right 
Sizing and Review  

248 This figure has improved since the first 
quarter as project has had further success in 
identifying individuals eligible for third party 
funding.  

Review all packages of care 
to ensure fit for purpose and 
effectively manage new 
admissions to domiciliary 
care. 

140 Domiciliary care continues to be subject to 
significant demand pressures. Rightsizing 
work is therefore likely to release capacity 
rather than reduce spend.   

Direct Payments Strategy - 
Targeted increase in 
recourse to direct payments 
as alternative to non-complex 
domiciliary care packages  

200 Savings in this area continue through 
reviews of allowances paid and, where 
appropriate, the reclaim of unused balances.  

Income Targets  -500 Targets are expected to be exceeded in this 
area due to significant deferred payment 
receipts as well as cash transfers received 
in respect of legislative changes.  

New Business Support Hub 
for Education and Social 
Services 

50 Savings established from Social Services - 
remaining £50k assigned to Education.  No 
confirmation as yet from Education on their 
contribution to the target 

Maximise Income 
Opportunities in Outdoor 
Centres 

25 Staffing changes have taken place in the 
centres, however there is an expected 
overspend in this area.  
 

Page 388



Variance £000 Explanation and Action 

Creation of a single family 
support function across 
Poverty & Prevention and 
CFS 

50 This target is 87% achieved. Unachieved 
savings are primarily a consequence of the 
Youth Offending Service’s disaggregation 
from regional arrangements.  

Increase income from training 
delivered  

10 This saving target is dependent on income 
that will not be realised until later in the year.   

Realignment of employability 
service to maximise efficiency 
of grant and management. 

100 This saving is currently 50% achieved. An 
Employability Commissioning Review is 
underway to identify further opportunities to 
offset core funds to achieve this target in 
19/20 and beyond. 

   

Cross Cutting Savings 132 Cross cutting savings arising from a 
combination of proposed changes to terms 
and conditions are unlikely to be achieved.  

Other 

Independent Child and 
Family Placements 

860 This budget is subject to both fee and 
demand pressures. It is hoped that the 
implementation of a new practice model will 
see this forecast reduce over time.   

Adoption Fees 200 The council contributes towards a regional 
adoption service where there costs are 
shared between partners dependent on 
placement activity. Currently the Council has 
placed more children than its funding share.  

External Residential Care 125 This area continues to be exposed to both 
demographic and cost pressures. Work to 
ensure all placements are appropriate and 
cost effective continues. 

Internal Staffing and Services -2,774 A number of grants have been received that 
are able to support the overall financial 
position. Work to ensure services are 
designed in a way that enables the Council 
to access all funding sources continues and 
will cause significant underspends to appear 
in these initial stages. Work to rebalance the 
Service’s budgets is underway.  
 
In addition, the service continues to maintain 
tight vacancy and contract management  

Third Party Spend 20 

MHLD Complex Care 1,600 This is a continuation of previous years’ 
overspend and remains an area of extreme 
demand and price pressure. Additional 
budget has been allocated but is being 
outstripped by both pressures on demand 
and fee levels. 

Overall Variation 986  

 
  
 
 
 

Page 389



 
Director’s Comments  
 
At the halfway point of the financial year, the forecast outturn is for a c £1.0m overspend 
on gross expenditure of c. £175m. This is a significantly improved half year position 
compared with recent financial years. 
 
The £1.0m is predominantly made up of a £975k shortfall on likely achievement of 
savings.  
 
In order to address the £1m gap, an in year review of gross expenditure across the 
Directorate compared to last financial year is being undertaken. For any increases above 
2% wage inflation, remedial action will be taken to bring increased spend back below 2% 
by year end. 
 
In addition to the above, a vacancy freeze will be implemented across the Directorate for 
any posts which do not give rise to either a safeguarding or business continuity risk. 
 
Finally WG have announced a further tranche of regional grants to address Winter 
pressures and the local authority will seek to draw down further funding to accelerate 
transformational activity this financial year. 
 
In light of the above, there is a good deal of confidence that the Social Services & Poverty 
and Prevention Directorate will achieve a balanced budget by year end (if not a small 
underspend). 
 
However there remains concern that at least £4million of grant income will cease in the 
new financial year creating an additional financial burden for which alternative income or 
further compensatory savings have not yet been agreed. 

 
Director of Education 
 

Variance £000 Explanation and Action 

Home to School Transport 694 Inflationary fuel price pressures and 

continuing demand, particularly within the 

ALN and post 16 sector continue to 

increase costs.  

These demand and price pressures are 
inherently volatile and uncontrollable within 
current transport policy.   

Catering and Cleaning  567 The service continues to be subject to 
substantial inflationary pressures on the 
cost of food and staff. This has been 
partially offset by a combination of 
management cost control and positive take 
up of paid meals. Further means of 
reducing net cost are being examined.  

Additional Learning Needs 600 This forecast primarily concerns the cost of 
placements within Independent Special 
Schools. The Council continues to see both 
cost and demand pressures in this area, 
despite continued efforts to increase the 
supply of such places locally. Should 

Page 390



demand for such placements continue to 
rise, this forecast will increase.  

Centrally funded non-
delegated pressures.  

466 This overspend is primarily attributable to 
ongoing historic pension costs borne by the 
Council on behalf of Schools. It also 
includes increases in the cost of 
maternity/paternity leave. 

Potential one-off managed 
savings  
 

-341 All savings opportunities are being explored 
to alleviate the pressures above.  

Overall Variation 1,986  

 
Many of the pay, price and demand pressures identified above are a continuation of 
the overspend position from 2018/19. Ongoing robust management action will 
continue. This will seek to mitigate pressures and continue to bring forward additional 
savings where possible.  
 
The scale of external demand and cost pressures facing education services is such 
that no continuing robust management action will be able to bring the net spending 
across the directorate into balance within the 2019-20 financial year.  By far the most 
significant area of education spending is the delegated schools budget and whilst this 
cannot be reduced in year it would be possible to effectively ‘top slice’ the budget in 
2020-21, as a one off base adjustment, to effectively recover any net overspend by 
the year end on the 1st April 2020.  Any such retrospective ‘top slicing’ would be in 
addition to any cash or real terms reductions in funding for schools approved as part 
of the Council budget for 2020-21. 
 
However, to mitigate and minimise any potential reduction to schools delegated 
budgets all LEA budgets will be reviewed further in the first instance. 
 
Director of Place 
 

A number of issues need to be highlighted for the purpose of visibility. These include 
unfunded budget pressures as follows: 
 

 Significant increased electricity costs for street lighting of £200k 

 Reduced recycling prices in waste management reflecting an improved position 
from 1st quarter of  £87k 

 Increased costs for maintaining and replacing aging social services fleet £381k 
 
In year savings of  £701k have been identified as difficult to achieve by year end and 
these comprise mainly of Commissioning Review (Service in the Community), IT delays 
for rollout of mobile working and delayed and “cashable” Integrated Transport Unit savings 
and transport savings removed budget but authorisation to implement withdrawn  
 
In addition there are some challenges in achieving all of the “cross cutting” saving 
requiring policy changes identified for 19/20 in particular 
 

 Staff – Christmas closure, average holiday pay, 50% Honoraria reduction, 50% 
market supplement reduction and remove first aid payments (total £118k) 

 
The directorate has identified appropriate mitigation to offset these spending pressures 
within its overall budget to enable it to offset these costs and return a balanced budget. 

Page 391



September 2019 MTFP Tracker Report 
 

Target Savings Expected Savings by 31st March 2020 Delivered 

£12.64m £10.13m £6.31m 

 August £10.11m August £5.99m 
  July £5.72m 

 
 

 

  

P
age 392



 

 

P
age 393



  

 Appendix D 
 

 

Capital expenditure on major schemes to 30 September 2019 
(where spend greater than £250k) 

£000’s 

People  

Pentrehafod Comp School Remodelling 515 

EOTAS new build 686 

Gorseinon primary new build 896 

Resources  

Agile & Mobile programme (laptops and accessories) 563 

  

Place  

Swansea Central (Arena) 5,422 

Kingsway infrastructure and demolition 784 

  

Highways - carriageways & resurfacing 2,651 

Highways - footways 254 

Bascule Bridge 428 

CTU - chassis cabs and bodies 278 

  

Corporate Building (including school improvements) 2,695 

  

Disability Facilities Grants 1,441 

Mini adaptation grants 317 

  

Freedom Leisure improvements 2,014 

  

HRA capital programme (excluding More Homes schemes) 18,342 

HRA capital programme - More Homes schemes 1,021 
 

 

Total scheme value where spend greater than £250k 38,307 
 

Page 394



 

 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Investment,  
Regeneration and Tourism  

 
Cabinet - 21 November 2019 

 

City Centre Marketing of Strategic Sites Joint Venture 
Opportunity and FPR7 

 

Purpose: To set out future regeneration options 
building on the catalytic effect of current 
development projects in the city centre 
including the marketing of strategic sites to 
secure a Joint Venture partner.  
 

Policy Framework: Swansea Local Development Plan: Swansea 
Central Area Regeneration Framework 
(2016)(SCARF), Corporate Priority Creating a 
Vibrant and Viable City and Economy, 
Council Constitution, Financial Procedure 
Rules 
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal, Property 
Services. 

 
Recommendation(s):  It is recommended that:   
  

1) The revenue funding requirements as set out in paragraph 5.3 are 
approved.  

2) Option 3 is progressed and the Joint Venture Opportunity is marketed 
then advertised on Sell2Wales 

3) Authority is delegated to the Director of Place and Chief Legal Officer 
to approve the marketing and tender documentation including 
Memorandum of Information and draft Legal Agreement/vehicle for 
delivery. 
 

Report Author:                                 Huw Mowbray 
 

 

Finance Officer:                               Ben Smith 
 

 

Legal Officer:                                   Debbie Smith 
 

 

Access to Services Officer:           Catherine Window  
  

Page 395

Agenda Item 12.



 

1. Introduction  
 
1.1 The last major regenerative shift in Swansea occurred following the 
 2nd world war. Interventions since then by public authorities were 
 generally small scale and failed to trigger private investment. In order to 
 address this the Council commissioned a robust regional economic 
 strategy and produced the most comprehensive analysis of the 
 challenge. Productivity in the region had fallen from 93% of the UK 
 average to 77% within three decades.  At the same time it became clear 
 that the future role of cities was changing; shaped by structural changes 
 to the economy, environmental concerns and the growth of the 
 World Wide Web. 
  
1.2 The evidence was clear that failure to intervene would see further rapid 
 decline in the City fabric, depopulation, continuing falls in productivity, 
 skills leakage, and increases in poverty and worklessness. 
 
1.3 City Centre regeneration became one of the Council’s Corporate 
 priorities. 
 
1.4   Following the Council’s commitment to deliver Swansea Central Phase 1 
 and the Digital Village that form part of the City Deal programme, it is 
 now pertinent to capitalise on this investment through further 
 regeneration of the city, delivering economic growth and creating a better 
 place for people to live, work and visit in accordance with the Council’s 
 priorities and objectives, in particular the Swansea Central Area 
 Framework (SCARF) and LDP. 

 
1.5 In particular the fundamental aims are to:  

 

 Encourage more people living and working in the city centre 
resulting in a 8 until 8 economy 

 Enhance built environment and green infrastructure  

 Be at the forefront of the digital and tech sectors 

 Create a step change in the city centre through a leisure retail 
scheme at its heart to attract residents, workers and visitors 

 Capitalise on the significant number of regeneration projects 
currently being delivered, the Council’s  financial commitment to 
Phase 1 and City Deal funding, passing delivery and cost risk to the 
private sector 

 Provide high quality city centre residential accommodation for 21st 
century living 

 Emphasise Swansea’s distinctiveness and sense of place including 
culture 

 
1.6  Since publication of the SCARF the role of city centres has continued to 

 shift with less emphasis on retail, but in Swansea there is evidence of an 
 increase in demand for office use, particularly from the public sector. 
 

Page 396



 

1.7  It is the Council’s intention to minimise further direct funding on future 
 regeneration projects and therefore officers, in conjunction with property 
 advisors, have been exploring how to attract private investment to 
 ensure ongoing delivery of developing Council owned strategic 
 development sites.   
 

1.8  The Council issued a PIN Notice via Sell2Wales on 10/04/2019 asking for 
 potential investors to register their interest. Other organisations have also 
 come forward separately and in total there have been 14 responses. 

 
1.9 This report sets out a proposed way forward to secure a Joint Venture 

partner and seeks authority to proceed with a formal OJEU marketing 
exercise via Sell2Wales inviting offers from a shortlist of developers 
through following a Competitive Dialogue procurement process. 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1 A separate Cabinet report is recommending approval for the Council to 

fund the delivery of Swansea Central Phase 1, securing a contribution from 
City Deal. This would deliver a new Arena, car parking and coastal park 
on the former LC car park, a bridge over Oystermouth Road, together with 
an additional multi storey car park, 33 residential units and 478m2 of 
commercial space on part of the St Mary’s car park/Wellington Street. A 
hotel will also be developed by the private sector adjacent to the Arena as 
part of the scheme. 

 
2.2 The City Deal is also providing funding towards the Digital Village project 

at 71-72 The Kingsway that the Council is taking forward, this will be the 
subject of a future separate report to Cabinet. 

 
2.3 Historically Swansea Council has had a large property holding and there 

are currently several significant sites that could be brought forward for 
development in the short, medium and longer term. Seven of these have 
been identified and they comprise  
 

 Swansea Central Phase 2 (possibly excluding the first phase of a 
Public Sector hub if this is to be delivered by the Council) 

 Former Oxford Street School Site 

 Site 9 Swansea Marina 

 Civic Centre Site 

 Sailbridge Site 

 Former St Thomas Station site 

 Hafod Copperworks Site 
 

 Plans of these sites are attached as Appendix A. 
 
 In addition, there will be the possibility of the inclusion of one or more 
 sites within the wider city region provided there is agreement by the 
 Council and the JV partner to take these forward and there is no 
 compromise to delivering the Council’s priority sites. 

Page 397



 

2.4 It is not envisaged that the Council will be in a position to deliver 
 regeneration development projects on these sites without additional 
 funding and therefore Council officers have been asked to consider 
 options for delivery. 
 
2.5 Option 1 
 
 The Council could dispose of the sites on the open market by simply selling 
 its interests to the highest bidder. This would reflect existing market value 
 of the sites but the Council would only have control over future use 
 through the  planning system with little say over delivery timescales. It is  
 unlikely that the Councils regeneration objectives would be met as 
 development by the private sector would be commercially driven. 
 
2.6 Option 2 
   
 The Council could sell off individual sites on a traditional development 
 agreement approach that would provide a degree of control over future 
 development to ensure regeneration and other Council objectives are met 
 through a formal legal agreement setting out the Councils terms.   
 
2.7 Due to the complex nature of these sites and the need for a holistic 
 approach to development given the wider regeneration agenda and 
 Council policies, this would entail a detailed marketing exercise of each at 
 the appropriate time in the development cycle. The marketing exercise 
 would need to include extensive information relating to the site, detailed 
 planning briefs and then drawing up bespoke legal agreements depending 
 on the terms of each disposal following each procurement process. Whilst 
 this option is potentially a way forward to deliver the Council’s wider 
 objectives it is likely to require a significant amount of resources from 
 officers with the relevant specialist expertise, alongside input from 
 consultants where required, to undertake each marketing exercise that 
 would need to be timed appropriately to correspond with economic cycles 
 and market forces to ensure values are optimised. It could mean the 
 Council working at risk with a shortage of resources, along with sole 
 responsibility for ongoing management and maintenance of this property 
 portfolio for an unknown period of time. 
 
2.8 This approach would not necessarily deliver a cohesive approach due to 
 the likelihood of having separate developers on each site. 
 
2.9 Option 3 
 
 An alternative approach is to appoint a private sector Joint Venture partner 
 to work alongside the Council to deliver regeneration projects that would 
 allow a transfer of risk and access to wider, potentially more effective 
 resources. 
 
2.10 In order to protect the Councils interests it would be a  condition of the JV 
 agreement that the Council could add or remove sites from the 
 arrangement, including the possibility of delivering one or more sites 

Page 398



 

 within the wider city region provided there is agreement by the 
 Council and the JV partner to take these forward and there is no 
 compromise to delivering the Council’s priority sites.  

 
2.11 There would also be backstop dates for development to ensure that 

 delivery objectives are met and provision for income sharing. 
 
2.12 The benefits of this approach include 

 To transfer as much of the future development and cost risk away 
from the Council and on to the Private Sector as possible 

 To increase the breadth and depth of developers in the city centre 

 To bring in expertise and assist with the delivery of projects (ie joint 
ventures) 

 To provide funding 

 To raise Swansea’s profile, thus attracting further private sector 
investment and new occupiers 

 To ensure a cohesive approach to regeneration across the city 
based on the Council’s regeneration objectives 

 
2.13 To ensure success the Council would need to 

 Provide long term commitment 

 Provide the land 

 Champion the projects 

 Seek gap funding/other financial interventions where required 

 Ensure delivery accords with Council priorities  

 Protect public interest to ensure quality of development and delivery 
in a timely fashion 
 

2.14 Key responses from the EOI indicate the need for scale in terms of value 
 and duration of the Joint Venture arrangement. Investors would require a 
 potential development value in the order of £1bn and in order to deliver 
 this all of the 7 priority sites would need to be included as a minimum. The 
 length of any Joint Venture agreement would need to be at least 20 years. 
 
2.15 Council officers and their advisors recommend option 3 as the preferred 
 way forward. 
 
2.16 Next steps 
 
 On the basis of Option 3 above the next steps would be to select a Joint 

Venture partner through a 2 stage OJEU Competitive Dialogue Process.  
   
2.17 This would entail 

 Preparation of marketing material, advertising and launch events to 
promote the opportunity 
 

 Providing relevant property information (including plans, surveys, 
site investigations, identifying opportunities and constraints) 
together with reports on title and planning policy background for 
each site that would be uploaded to a data room to be shared with 

Page 399



 

potential bidders so that they have sufficient information to be able 
to develop their proposals, prepare appraisals and formulate a 
financial offer. 
 

 Preparing the procurement documentation including details of the 
proposed dialogue meetings (eg dates of meetings and topics to 
be discussed) 
 

 Agreeing the scoring criteria of submissions and bids to reflect the 
Council’s priorities 

 
2.18 The first stage of this process will involve the Council issuing a Supplier 
 Questionnaire (SQ) to ensure that bidders meet minimum selection criteria 
 in terms of their technical and professional ability, experience and financial 
 standing. Bidders shortlisted at this stage will be taken through to the 
 dialogue stage. 
 
2.19 Once the dialogue stage is complete bidders will provide detailed 
 formal submissions based on 3 of the sites to demonstrate their delivery 
 approach and the financial implications of their proposed Joint Venture 
 model to be analysed and scored by the Council and their advisors. 
  
2.20 In terms of timescales the following key milestones are envisaged  
 

January-March 2020 Launch 

March 2020  Issue SQ on Sell2Wales 

June 2020 Issue Invitation to Participate in Dialogue 
(ITPD) to shortlisted bidders  

October 2020 Close dialogue 

November 2020 Issue Invitation to Submit Final Tender 
(SFT) 

January 2021 Analyse bids and identify preferred bidder 

February 2021 Report to Cabinet 

March 2021  Appoint partner 

 
2.21 In order for the process to run smoothly governance is a key issue that 
 needs to be addressed, and it is proposed that a Project Board is set up 
 comprising officers from Planning and City Regeneration, Legal, 
 Procurement and Finance that will report through City Regeneration 
 Programme Board and Members Steering Group. 
 
2.22 Once a preferred bidder has been identified then a report would be brought 
 back to Cabinet outlining the bids received and providing detailed 
 information on the terms proposed by the preferred bidder for a decision 
 on whether to proceed to enter into the JV agreement. 
 
3. General Issues 
 
3.1 Property Services are investigating the possibility of a Public Sector office 

hub in Swansea, with the potential of a first phase in the order of 7,000m2 

Page 400



 

to be occupied by the Council and another public sector partner on part of 
the Swansea central Phase 2 site. Due to the timing and funding required 
it appears beneficial for the Council to deliver this itself therefore it is 
proposed that the red line excludes an area suitable for this development 
with the option to either reintroduce it to the Strategic Sites process if the 
Council does not proceed  with this hub or potentially extend the red line 
to include a wider public sector hub development. This proposal will be   
the subject of separate reports seeking confirmation of the decision to 
relocate the Council’s services from the existing Civic Centre and the scale 
and timing of the public sector hub development based on advice received 
from Rivington Hark, the Council’s retained property development 
managers. 

 
4. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
4.1 The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales) and 

must, in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

Our Equality Impact Assessment process ensures that we have paid due 
regard to the above.  

 
4.2 An EIA Screening Form has been completed and is attached as Appendix 

B - a full EIA report is not required at this stage. Each site will need to be 
considered in detail once the development proposals are known. 

 
4.3 This project is a good example of the 5 Ways of Working promoted by 

 the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and will make a 
significant contribution to the 7 well-being goals. It is an example of 
collaborative working between the public and private  sector in a 
sustainable way resulting in a long term partnership with the  objectives 
of developing key strategic sites within the city for the benefit of future  
generations. 

 This is a major public and private sector investment programme, assisting 
 in the regeneration of our city centre, stimulating economic 
 growth, addressing issues such as city centre decline, poverty, 
 inequality, jobs and skills which directly contributes to the council’s 
 obligations to act in a sustainable way pursuant to the WFGA 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 The overall budget required to select a Joint Venture partner to work with 
 Swansea Council to deliver development of strategic sites is estimated at 
 £250,000. Also the Council have a contract with external consultants to 
 provide specialist advice and support the Council in delivery of 

Page 401



 

 regeneration projects and a further £600,000 is required to fund this in line 
 with Financial Procedure Rules. 
 
5.2 A table is attached as Appendix C setting out the spend allocation. 
 
5.3 At present there is no specific funding allocation for this however Cabinet 
 previously authorised a capital budget of £850,000 to develop the 
 Swansea Central Phase 2 scheme, as referred to in the Swansea Central 
 Phase 1 Project Update and FPR7 on 29th November 2018. This is a 
 capital funding allocation however the Joint Venture expenditure proposed 
 is revenue spend. As the project is in feasibility and scoping phase, 
 expenditure shall be revenue in nature until the creation of an asset. It is 
 proposed that the £850,000 required will be funded in the interim by 
 the Capital Equalisation Reserve and the £850,000 capital budget 
 included in the capital programme will be appropriately reduced. A 
 budget will be set up within revenue to deliver the Joint Venture set  up. 
   
5.4 If this proposal is approved none of the money will be available towards 
 the delivery of the Public Sector Hub that will need a standalone budget 
 moving forward.  
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 The Competitive Dialogue process to appoint a Joint Venture partner will 
 be undertaken in accordance with the provisions of the Public Contracts  
 Regulations 2015. 
 
6.2 The council must consider how it will evaluate any joint venture proposals 
 submitted by the bidders. This will require a detailed prior understanding 
 of the various contractual models that are available and their 
 potential financial and legal benefits and risks. 
 
6.3 The council has therefore appointed external legal advisors with significant 
 experience in this legally complex area to assist in house lawyers with this 
 project. 
 
6.4 External legal costs will be met from the reallocation of funds referred to 
 in paragraph 5.3 above. 
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A   Plans of the sites 
Appendix B  FPR7 allocation of spend 
Appendix C  EIA Screening  

Page 402



Page 403

allison.lowe�
FreeText
Appendix A�



Page 404



Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Financial Procedure Rule 7

Appendix B

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS : SUMMARY

Portfolio: Place
Service   : Regeneration
Scheme  : Strategic sites marketing

1. CAPITAL  COSTS 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 TOTAL
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure
 0

Consultancy Fees - (property advice) 160 160 160 480
 Consultancy Fees - ( Marketing exercise) 125 125 250

Consultancy contingency 40 40 40 120
0

EXPENDITURE 325 325 200 0 850

Financing

Capital Equalisation Reserve 325 325 200 850
0
0

0
 

FINANCING 325 325 200 0 850

2. REVENUE COSTS 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 FULL YEAR
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Service Controlled - Expenditure

Employees 0
Maintenance 0
Equipment 0
Administration 0

NET EXPENDITURE 0 0 0 0 0

 

Page 410



Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form                        Appendix C 
 
Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while 
completing this form. If you would like further guidance please contact the 
Access to Services team (see guidance for details). 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: Planning and City Regeneration    

Directorate: Place 
 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 
 

      Service/                Policy/  
      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                                                                            
 
 

 

(b) Please name and describe here: 

 
Marketing of Strategic Sites JV Opportunity 
 
 

 There will be a Cabinet report to set out future Regeneration options to build 
on the catalytic effects of the projects currently in delivery including the 
marketing of sites to secure a JV partner together with implications of the 
delivery process. 
 

 PIN Notices issued seeking Expressions of Interest from private sector 
organisations to enter into a partnership with the Council to deliver the next 
wave of development projects thus building on the catalytic effects of 
projects currently in delivery. 
 

 The Council would provide its existing land interests and place these within 
an agreed Vehicle for delivery, with the private sector partner leading to an 
overall strategic development strategy created by the Council. 
 

 7 sites have currently been identified – Swansea Central Phase 2, Civic 
Centre site, Sailbridge Site, Site 9 The Marina, Former Oxford Street 
School, St Thomas Station and Hafod Copperworks. 
  

 

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 
Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 
         
   (H)        (M)  (L) 
 

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 
     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   

need to want to  automatically provided to basis 
 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)        (M)    (M)  (L) 
 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 
        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 
    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 
Children/young people (0-18)      
OIder people (50+)     
Any other age group       
Disability      
Race (including refugees)      

Page 411



Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form                        Appendix C 
 
Asylum seekers      
Gypsies & travellers      
Religion or (non-)belief     
Sex     
Sexual Orientation     
Gender reassignment      
Welsh Language     
Poverty/social exclusion     
Carers (inc. young carers)     
Community cohesion     
Marriage & civil partnership      
Pregnancy and maternity      
 

Q4 WHAT ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION / CO-PRODUCTIVE 
APPROACHES WILL YOU UNDERTAKE?  

Please provide details below – either of your planned activities or your 
reasons for not undertaking engagement 

 
Engaging with potential JV partners through advertising on Sell to Wales and 
specialist publications. 
 
Consultation events will be undertaken on a site by site basis if the council 
proceeds. 
 
Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 
    (H)   (M)  (L) 
 
(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? 

(Consider the following impacts – legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception  etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
     (H)         (M)          (L) 

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other 
Council service?  

 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
Finance, Legal, Procurement, and in house consultation 
with colleagues. 

 
Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   →  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 
 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      →  Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 
followed by Section 2  

 
Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for an EIA report, 

you must provide a full explanation here.  Please ensure that you 
cover all of the relevant protected groups.   

   
Page 412



Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form                        Appendix C 
 

Screening forms/full EIAs may be required on a site by sites basis that will 
cover the relevant groups. Insufficient detail is known at this stage relating to the 
development proposals. 

 
Section 2 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for 
agreement before obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service 
approval is only required via email – no electronic signatures or paper copies are 
needed. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Chantel Ellis/Katy Evans 

Job title: Project Officer/Team Leader 

Date: 15/7/19 
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Phil Holmes 

Position: Head of Service 

Date: 22/7/19 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 413

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 
 
 

Joint Report of the Cabinet Member for Delivery & Performance and the 
Cabinet Member for Homes, Energy and Service Transformation 

 
Cabinet – 21 November 2019 

 

Statutory Compliance Strategy  
 

Purpose: To seek Council endorsement on the adoption of 
the Statutory Compliance Strategy for buildings 
under the control of Swansea Council.  
 

Policy Framework: Council Constitution  
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal  
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

 
1) Cabinet approve the draft Statutory Compliance Strategy  

 
2) The actions contained within the strategy are noted and delegated to 

the Cabinet Member for Delivery & Performance and the Cabinet 
Member for Homes, Energy and Service Transformation. 

Report Author: Martin Nicholls  
 

Finance Officer: Ben Smith  
 

Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith  
 

Access to Services Officer: Catherine Window  
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The basis of UK Health and Safety Law is the Health and Safety at Work 

Act 1974 (HSWA), this Act sets out the broad principles for managing 
health and safety legislation in most workplaces. The act which came into 
force on 1st April 1975 still remains the main health and safety legislation 
in existence today. 

 
1.2 Local Authorities (LA) have a duty to ensure that buildings and land under 

their control comply with all relevant statutory, regulatory and corporate 
standards. 

Page 414

Agenda Item 13.



2. Main Body of Report 
 
2.1 Local Authorities (LA) have a duty to ensure that buildings and land under 

their control comply with all relevant statutory, regulatory and corporate 
standards.  As such, Swansea Council’s Building Services and Property 
Services have devised a Statutory Compliance Strategy (Appendix A) 
which applies to all stakeholders utilising Swansea Council’s owned 
building assets.  

 
2.2 Swansea Council (SC) has a large and varied portfolio of land and property 

assets.  Principal areas of the portfolio include: 
 

 Civic Buildings  

 Environment Buildings – including parks, depots, sports 
pavilions, car parks, travellers site 

 Community Buildings – youth centres; Residential centres 
(Borfa & Rhossili) 

 Social Care Buildings – day centres and residential homes 

 Libraries and Museums 

 Cemeteries and Crematoria 

 Marina 

 Sports stadium - St Helens Rugby Ground 
 
 Due to a number of recent changes throughout the operational 

arrangements of the Council, responsibilities for the delivery of services 
and the management of assets has passed to third parties. Consequently 
the existing or proposed leases, and the relationship between the Council 
and school governors will be in line with Corporate Landlord/operational 
tenant model being adopted.  More specifically the following asset 
categories are managed through this process:-  

 

 Community Buildings – youth and community centres, 
occupied via “yellow licence” arrangements 

 School Buildings- as defined by Division of responsibility and 
therefore not forming part of this report 

 Leisure Buildings – Leisure centres now managed by 
Freedom Leisure 

 Over 13,000 housing properties – responsibility of ring fenced 
HRA 

 Commercial investment Portfolio –responsibilities govern by 
lease arrangements 

 
2.3 Given the importance of ensuring that the LA adheres to the appropriate 

guidelines and to protect the Authority’s interest, the following are 
identified as core areas in relation to Statutory Compliance and as such 
form the basis of the strategy: 

 
1. Asbestos Management 
2. Electrical Testing 

Page 415



3. Water Hygiene and Safety (Legionella RA’s) 
4. Gas Safety 
5. Fire Safety 
6. Glazing Safety 
7. Grounds/Play Equipment 
8. Kitchens 
9. Lifting equipment 
10. Pressure Vessels 
11. Local Exhaust Ventilation 

  
2.4 A series of specific performance indicators have been developed, covering 

each of the areas and against which the entire programme is monitored 
accordingly.  The programme is monitored on a monthly basis by specialist 
officers, with the overall programme being reviewed on a quarterly basis.  

 
 The PI has been introduced as a performance measurement of the actual 

Number of revisits/inspections/tests completed against the programmed 
Number of tests to be carried out within a given timeframe to ensure 
compliance, expressed as a percentage.  This PI is consistent, should the 
inspection/testing frequency be monthly, 3 monthly, 6 monthly, annual or 
5 yearly. 

 
 The PI is recorded and updated where applicable on a quarterly basis by 

relevant technical officers with year end data being collated as part of the 
business planning and performance management process.  It is likely that 
this will result in some recommendations for new corporate PIs when they 
are next reviewed for the 20/21 financial year 

 
 In simple terms only the achievement of 100% compliance will satisfy the 

requirements of the performance indicator and this overarching strategy.  
Any identified risks will be managed immediately as they occur through 
existing lines of management reporting, via the Heads of Service, Director 
and CMT. Escalation via the risk register will also be actioned where 
necessary 

 
3. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
3.1 The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales) and 

must, in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

Our Equality Impact Assessment process ensures that we have paid due 
regard to the above.  
 

Page 416



3.2 A EIA Screening form was completed (Appendix B) with an outcome 
indicating a full EIA was not required.  Whilst the reputational and legal risk 
of any non-compliance is high, the report and the strategy cover day to 
day operational issues as to how this risk is managed and therefore, whilst 
important, is not an equalities issue.   

 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.  Any specific 

aspects arising as a result of the development of the actions, which would 
affect Council budgets, would be subject to separate decisions in line with 
financial procedure rules as and when they arise. 

 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report at present.  Any 

specific aspects with implications that require changes will be dealt with, 
including any amendments to the Council’s Constitution and Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

 
 
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A Swansea Council’s Statutory Compliance Strategy  
Appendix B EIA Screening Form  
 

Page 417



Appendix A 

 

Building and Property Services 
Statutory Compliance Strategy 

 
Number: Building Services & 

Property Services 
Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: November 2019 

 

Document Owner: Building Services & Property Services 

Document Author: Geoff Bacon / Nigel Williams Post: Head of Property & Head of Building 

 
Approved by: 
Primary Contact: 

Martin Nicholls 
Geoff Bacon / Nigel Williams 

Post: 
Tel: 

Director of Place 
637535 

 
Purpose: To ensure that all building assets under the control of the Swansea Council comply with 

appropriate statutory, regulatory and corporate standards 

Scope: This Strategy applies to all stakeholders utilising Swansea Council’s owned building assets 
 

 
If you have any queries relating to the content of this document, or suggestions for improvements, please contact 

the Document Owner named above. 

 

Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 1 of 22 

 

 

Contents         Page 
 

1.0 Introduction        2 
           
2.0 The Council’s Property Assets     4 
 
3.0 Corporate Landlord       5 
  
4.0 Revenue Maintenance Budget [RMB]    5 
 
5.0 Asset Management Database [AMD]    5 
           
6.0 Management of Asbestos      6 
          
7.0  Electrical Testing       7 
      
8.0  Water Hygiene and Safety (Legionella RA’s   9 
    
9.0 Gas Safety        11 
 
10.0 Glazing        12 
 
11.0  Fire Safety        12 
 
12.0 Safety of lifting equipment (LOLER)    13 
13.0 Pressure vessels       14 

Page 418



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 2 of 22 

 

 

 
14.0 Local Exhaust Ventilation      16 
 
15.0 Grounds/Play Equipment      16 
       
16.0 Schools        16 
 
17.0 Performance Indicators      17 
    
18.0 Audit of Compliance Programme     18 
 
19.0 Period for review       19 
 
20.0 Table of Legislation       19 
 
21.0 Glossary of abbreviations      21 
     
22.0 References & Further information     22 

 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 

Local Authorities (LA) have a duty to ensure that buildings and land 
under their control comply with all relevant statutory, regulatory and 
corporate standards. 

 
The basis of UK Health and Safety Law is the Health and Safety at 
Work Act 1974 (HSWA), this Act sets out the broad principles for 
managing health and safety legislation in most workplaces. The act 
which came into force on 1st April 1975 still remains the main health 
and safety legislation in existence today. 
 
Section 2 of the Act places a general duty on employers to "ensure so 
far as is reasonably practicable the health, safety and welfare at work 
of all their employees". This H&S duty is designed to give protection to 
employees and extends to: 
 

a) The Provision and maintenance of plant and system of work 
b) H&S risks from use, handling, storage and transport of  

articles and substances 
c) Provision of training, information, instruction and supervision 
d) Workplace – maintenance of its condition so that it is safe 

and no risks to health; provision and maintenance of access 
and egress from it is safe and without risks 

e) Provision and maintenance of a working environment for his 
employees that is safe and without risks to health; adequate 
welfare facilities.  
 

Page 419



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 3 of 22 

 

 

Section 3 of the Act, General Duty to Others requires employers to 
conduct their undertaking in a way that does not pose risk to the Health 
and Safety of non-employees. This section is designed to give 
protection to the general public and other non-employees, such as 
children at school, clients in residential care homes and contractors.  
 
A Local Authority’s activities are ones to which the HSWA is likely to be 
particularly relevant as the majority of premises occupied by Local 
Authorities are open to the general public. Section 3 of the HSWA sets 
out a clear duty on Local Authorities to conduct their undertakings in 
such a way as to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable the safety 
of the public using the premises. 
 
Councils regularly face challenges in terms of their ability to control and 
manage what goes on within the buildings they have legal responsibility 
for and which buildings are used by staff or clients.  
 
Councils are faced with a wide range of Health and Safety 
responsibilities that fall on building occupiers.  Even where rigid policies 
and procedures are set out at a corporate level, responsibilities for their 
implementation are frequently delegated to premises managers who do 
not always appreciate the importance of ensuring that regular checks 
and control measures are carried out and recorded. 
 
Authorities are faced with the situation where day to day responsibility 
and the majority of available resources are delegated to premises level 
but with the ultimate accountability remaining at corporate level within 
the Council.  
 
In an attempt to ensure that the Council’s property portfolio is as 
compliant as it can be, the Council has adopted a Corporate Landlord 
model in an attempt to place budgets and responsibilities in the most 
appropriate specialist areas.  Where there are responsibilities that have 
to reside with service areas and their designated premises managers, 
this roles and responsibilities are more specifically identified as part of 
an overarching Service Tenancy agreement between the Council as 
Corporate Landlord and the Service Area as occupational tenant. This 
will be monitored by regular inspections by Property Services officers 
utilising the survey forms attached as Appendix 1.  

 
Given the importance of ensuring that the LA adheres to the 
appropriate guidelines, the following are identified as core areas in 
relation to Statutory Compliance: 
 
To protect the Authority’s interest in relation to statutory compliance, to 
include: 

1. Asbestos Management 
2. Electrical Testing 
3. Water Hygiene and Safety (Legionella RA’s) 

Page 420



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 4 of 22 

 

 

4. Gas Safety 
5. Fire Safety 
6. Glazing Safety 
7. Grounds/Play Equipment 
8. Kitchens 
9. Lifting equipment 
10. Pressure Vessels 
11. Local Exhaust Ventilation 

 
2.0 The Council’s Property Assets 

 
Swansea Council (SC) has a large and varied portfolio of land and 

 property assets. 
 

Principal areas of the portfolio include: 
 

 Civic Buildings  
 Environment Buildings – including parks, depots, sports 

pavilions, car parks, travellers site 
 Community Buildings – youth centres; Residential centres 

(Borfa & Rhossili) 
 Social Care Buildings – day centres and residential homes 
 Libraries and Museums 
 Cemeteries and Crematoria 
 Marina 
 Sports stadium - St Helens Rugby Ground 

 
Due to a number of recent changes throughout the operational 
arrangements of the Council responsibilities, for the delivery of services 
and the management of assets has passed to third parties. 
Consequently the existing or proposed leases, and the relationship 
between the Council and school governors will be in line with Corporate 
Landlord/operational tenant model being adopted.  More specifically 
the following asset categories are managed through this process:-  

 
 Community Buildings – youth and community centres, 

occupied via “yellow licence” arrangements 
 School Buildings- as defined by Division of responsibility 

and therefore not forming part of this report 
 Leisure Buildings – Leisure centres now managed by 

Freedom Leisure 
 Over 13,000 housing properties – responsibility of ring 

fenced HRA 
 Commercial investment Portfolio –responsibilities govern by 

lease arrangements 
 
 
 
 

Page 421



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 5 of 22 

 

 

3.0  Corporate Landlord  
 
In order to ensure clarity of roles and responsibilities between the 
corporate landlord and service “tenants” an over arching agreement 
has been developed for all service areas, an example of which is 
shown in Appendix 2. 
 
These agreements set out the properties that ware utilised 
operationally by the individual service areas and also specify actions 
required by the Corporate Landlord and Service Tenant.  The identified 
specific actions required by Premises Managers, coupled with the 
continuation of premises manager training provided by the Corporate 
H&S team will mitigate the risk of confusion on day to day and planned 
activities.  Monitoring of compliance will be undertaken by the Property 
Team in accordance with the attached templates. These new 
arrangements will ensure clarity of responsibility.  
 
It is expected that as this is a new regime that it will take a number of 
years before the process is imbedded and greater certainty of 
compliance is achieved. To ensure mitigation of potential lack of 
compliance, higher risk areas Social Services establishments, will be 
targeted first.  

 
The AMP provides a strategic overview of the Authority’s property and 
land assets and describes the systems, processes and policies already 
in place or being progressed to manage and maintain them. 

 
The AMP is intended to be used as a tool to help maximise the 
deployment of these assets to support service delivery and deliver the 
Authority’s corporate priorities and objectives.  

 
4.0 Revenue Maintenance Budget [RMB] 
 

At present, approximately 50% of the overall RMB is allocated to 
statutory compliance and a further commitment is allocated from the 
annual Capital Maintenance Budget [CMB] for more significant works in 
relation to Asbestos removal, Legionella, Glazing and Fire Risk 
Assessment. 

 
To ensure compliance is maintained, it is recommended that any 
proposed reduction in the budget would automatically trigger a review 
of the policy. 

 
5.0 Asset Management Database [AMD] 
 

Currently the statutory compliance programme is monitored/recorded 
on a number of different spreadsheets. There is a need to migrate the 
data across to the AMD. This strategy will be revised accordingly once 
the data is migrated and the timeline for data migration will be dictated 

Page 422



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 6 of 22 

 

 

with available resources. By maintaining all the property data in one 
system we can ensure that an acquisitions or disposals can be 
recorded and a full and accurate picture maintained of the Council’s 
property portfolio.  
 
The ability to amend/upgrade the current AMD – Technology Forge 
facility is currently under investigation. If this is achievable this will 
convert the existing system into a cloud based system that will enable 
better mobile working, aid resilience and save money in the long run.  

 
6.0 Management of Asbestos  
 

The Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 requires employers to 
prevent the exposure of their employees and others e.g. contractors to 
asbestos as far as is reasonably practicable. If this cannot be achieved 
then employers must take measures to reduce the employee’s 
exposure to asbestos to the lowest level reasonably practicable. 
 
Under Regulation 4 of the Control of Asbestos Regulations the “duty 
holder” must ensure that a suitable and sufficient assessment is 
undertaken to determine whether asbestos is present on the premises, 
the type of asbestos present and the condition of any asbestos 
identified in the property.  
 
All SC building assets have been surveyed with an appropriate report 
being developed. The report identifies type and condition of any 
asbestos detected, all survey reports are available for perusal on the 
Intranet. 
 
Once the assessment has been completed, conclusions from the 
assessment and any subsequent reviews are recorded.  In addition to 
this, the duty holder must also consider building plans, other relevant 
information and the age of the premises, and inspect reasonably 
accessible parts of the premises. 
 

As previously mentioned all relevant information is retained within the 
report. A copy of the report is retained on site by the nominated 
premises manager. For ease of reference an electronic copy is also 
available on the corporate website.  
 
Where asbestos is identified or suspected, the duty holder must: 
 

 Determine the risk from asbestos 
 Prepare a written plan identifying the areas of the premises 

concerned and the measures necessary for managing the 
asbestos risk 

 Implement the measures within the plan 
 Record the measures taken to implement the plan 

 

Page 423



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 7 of 22 

 

 

These measures should include means for: 
 

 Monitoring the condition of any asbestos or suspected 
asbestos 

 Maintaining the asbestos or safely removing it 
 Providing information which identifies the location and 

condition of identified asbestos to any person likely to 
disturb it. This would include caretakers and contractors 
working on the premises but this list is not exhaustive 

 
The assessment and written plans must both be reviewed if they 
become invalid or if there have been significant changes to the 
premises. 
 
Following consultation with The Health and Safety Executive all building 
assets are periodically re-visited, the frequency of any revisit will be 
based upon a suitable risk assessment, which will consider age, 
condition of asbestos etc. These revisits take place on a frequency of 
three months, six months, 1 year or two years, dependant on the 
outcome of the risk assessment carried out on individual properties. 
The risk assessment is based on the type of asbestos material 
identified, quantity of material present and the potential for this material 
to deteriorate. 
 
The purpose of any revisit will be to determine the condition of the 
Asbestos and whether there has been any fundamental change in the 
building. Revisit documentation will be completed at the time of the 
revisit, this will also be signed by the premises manager. A copy of the 
retest documentation will then be added to the premises manager’s file. 
The master copy [retained centrally] will also be updated.  
 
Building Services (BS) will monitor the agreed programme of revisits 
and this will form the basis of its PI under this compliance strategy with 
a target of 100% of all visits being carried out in the relevant financial 
year.  In 2018/19, the target of 100% was met with 546 revisits having 
been carried out.  

 
7.0 Electrical Testing  
 

The Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 state that all electrical 
systems and equipment used in the working environment should be in a 
safe condition.  The installations should be maintained to prevent 
danger as far as reasonably practicable.  The Health & Safety 
Executive recommend that to comply with the regulations, an 
appropriate system of periodic visual inspection and testing by a 
competent person should be implemented at all places of work.  
 
 
 

Page 424



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 8 of 22 

 

 

The frequency of inspection must be determined taking into account: 
 

 The type of installation 
 Usage and operation 
 The frequency and quality of maintenance 
 The external influences to which it is subjected 

 
Fixed Electrical Testing is a requirement in accordance with 
BS7671:2008 (IEE Wiring Regulations 17th Edition) and the guidance 
provided in Inspection and Testing Guidance Note 3 (Issued by the 
IEE). All Council owned building assets will require the appropriate 
testing. 
 
This work involves the inspection and testing of the fixed electrical 
wiring within building assets.  There is a statutory requirement to 
undertake this work under the Health and Safety at work Act 1974, The 
Electricity at Work Regulations 1989, Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005 and the Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) 
Regulations 1992.  There is also a link to Assets that are utilised for 
‘Public Entertainment’ may be subject to other specific legislation. 
 
Periodic inspection is necessary as all electrical installations deteriorate 
due to a number of factors such as damage, wear and tear, corrosion, 
excessive electrical loading, ageing and environmental influences.  
 
Consequently, legislation requires that certain electrical installations are 
maintained in a safe condition and therefore must be periodically 
inspected and tested. 
 
Licensing Authorities, Public Bodies, Insurance Companies, Mortgagers 
and others may require periodic inspection and testing of electrical 
installations. 
 
Additionally, periodic inspection and testing should be considered: 
 

 To assess compliance with B7671 
 On a change of ownership/tenancy 
 On a change of use 
 Following amendments to the original installation 
 Due to any significant change in the electrical loading 

of the installation 
 Where there is reason to believe that damage may 

have been caused to the installation 
 
BS has set the frequency of the testing which generally ranges from 
one to five years depending on the type of establishment and usage.  If 
an installation is considered as unsatisfactory, a risk assessment is 
carried out and the installation is either recommended for isolation or for 
further precautions to be taken, including a six monthly retest.   

Page 425



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 9 of 22 

 

 

BS will monitor the agreed programme of testing and this will form the 
basis of its PI under this compliance strategy with a target of 100% of 
all visits being carried out in the relevant financial year.  In 2018/19 the 
target of 100% was met with 229 tests having being carried out.  

 
8.0 Water Hygiene and Safety (Legionella RA’s) 

 
The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 states employers, so far as is 
reasonably, practicable, have to ensure the health, safety and welfare 
at work of all employees.  
 
The risk assessment of work activities and premises required under the 
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 is of 
particular relevance when considering the health and safety risks from 
disease.  
 
Under the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 
2002 (COSHH) pathogenic bacteria, including legionella are deemed to 
be “substance hazardous to health” and therefore are subject to the 
assessment, prevention/control and monitoring, provision of these 
Regulations. 
 
The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 covers the risk from legionella 
bacteria which may arise from work activities. In addition to the 
legislation mentioned above, the “Control of Legionella bacteria in water 
systems Approved Code of Practice” apply to the control of legionella 
bacteria in water systems.  
 
An employer or a person in control of the premises (i.e. landlord), must 
identify and assess the sources of risk, prepare a scheme (or course of 
action) for preventing or controlling the risk and implementing and 
managing the scheme.  A person must be appointed to be managerially 
responsible, sometimes referred to as the ‘responsible person’.  This 
responsible person must keep records and check that what has been 
done is effective and if appropriate, notify the LA that there is a cooling 
tower(s) on site.  In order to carry out the risk assessment, an employer 
should find out if the water systems (including the equipment 
associated with the system such as pumps, heat exchangers, showers 
etc) are likely to create a risk.  
 
If, after carrying out the risk assessment it is considered that the risks 
are insignificant then no further action is needed other than to review 
the assessment periodically in case anything changes in the system.  If 
a risk is identified which cannot be prevented then proper controls must 
be introduced. 
 
In order to control the risks it will be necessary to implement a 
successful management policy, have competent staff and ensure that 
proper control strategies are put in place. 

Page 426



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 10 of 22 

 

 

 
As part of the strategy suitable procedures are in place which set out 
how it is intended to control the risk from legionella.  This includes: 
 

 A Description of the system  
 Identification of the responsible person 
 What control methods and other precautions will be used 

and provide details of the checks that will be carried out 
on the control scheme and how often they will be carried 
out 

 
It is important to appoint someone to take responsibility for managing 
the control scheme that has been put in place.  The ‘responsible 
person’ needs to be competent, this means that they need to have 
sufficient knowledge and experience of the system to enable them to 
manage and control the scheme effectively.  
 
Where contractors are employed to carry out water treatment or other 
work, it is still the responsibility of the appointed responsible person to 
ensure that the treatment is carried out to the required standards. 
Before appointing a contractor it is necessary to be satisfied that they 
are capable of doing the work to the required standard.  
 
The findings from the risk assessment should be kept in writing along 
with details of any monitoring or checking that is carried out.  A written 
record should also be kept of the written scheme and who is 
responsible for managing the scheme prepared, the results of the 
routine monitoring should also be recorded and all of these records 
need to be kept for a minimum of five years.  Risk assessments should 
be updated every two years or earlier, if circumstances change i.e. 
when any changes are made to the system. 
 
BS arrange to carry out Legionella Risk Assessments for all substantial 
commercial water systems in line with the Authority’s Health and Safety 
procedures. 
 
The Risk Assessments are reviewed on a bi-annual basis or on 
substantial change of use of the installation.  The risk assessment will 
highlight any alterations or remedial works necessary to the installation 
and identify recommended maintenance and monitoring procedures.  
 
BS will monitor the agreed programme of Legionella monitoring and this 
will form the basis of its PI under this compliance strategy with a target 
of 100% of all visits being carried out in the relevant financial year.  In 
2018/19, the target of 100% was met, with 284 visits having being 
carried out.  
  
 
 

Page 427



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 11 of 22 

 

 

9.0 Gas Safety 
 

The Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 place duties on 
gas consumers, installer, suppliers and landlords.  It is the duty of the 
employer to ensure any gas appliance associated pipe work and flues 
in the work places are maintained in a safe condition.  These 
regulations link with other safety controls on combustion equipment, 
such as the Building Regulations, which provide standards for 
ventilation and flues. 
 
By law, anyone carrying out work on gas appliance or fittings as part of 
their business must be competent and registered with Gas Safe.  

 
The aim of this strategy is to define the operational procedures to be 
undertaken by Building Services to ensure that the Authority conforms 
to the relevant sections of the Gas Safety (Installations & Use) 
Regulations 1998.  

 
The strategy will: 

 
 Ensure gas inspections and services are completed in 

accordance with current law and best practice  
 Ensure compliance with HSE Codes of Practice and 

Guidelines.  
 

The Approved Code of Practice and Guidance ‘Safety in the installation 
and use of gas systems and appliances’ Gas Safety (installation and 
Use) Regs 1998 place responsibilities on persons servicing and 
repairing gas appliances and landlords as follows:  

 
 Ensure persons doing gas work are ‘Gas Safe’ Registered  
 Not to use or permit the use of unsafe appliances  
 Ensure safe maintenance of gas appliances, flues and 

installation pipe-work. 
 Ensure an Annual Gas safety check is carried out and to 

record, maintain records Gas Safety Checks  
 

BS are responsible for carrying out an annual gas safety check within 
all Council owned properties and must provide evidence of this by 
issuing a Landlord Gas Safety Certificate.  

 
BS will also carry out a Gas Safety Check every time the status of a 
property or its tenancy changes. This is usually when a property 
becomes empty or when a mutual exchange takes place.  

 
BS will monitor the agreed programme of safety checks and this will 
form the basis of its PI under this compliance strategy with a target of 
100% of all visits being carried out in the relevant financial year.  In 

Page 428



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 12 of 22 

 

 

2018/19 the target of 100% was met, with 235 commercial services 
having being carried out.  
 

10.0 Glazing 
 

To ensure compliance with The Workplace (Health Safety and Welfare) 
Regulations 1992, specifically Regulation 14, the Authority has a duty 
to ensure that every window or other translucent surface be of safety 

material or be protected against breakage and be appropriately marked 
or incorporate features so as, in either case, to make it apparent 
 
If this identified glass is determined not to be of a sufficient safety 
standard then appropriate action should be taken to upgrade the 
glazing and to reduce the risk of such injury, the Authority has 
formulated its own glazing risk assessment and has acted upon the 
findings by fitting safety film to the necessary glazing. 

 
The majority of the Authority’s assets have been fitted with safety film 
which offers the same level of protection as safety glass. Due to the 
lifespan on the film there is an ongoing regime of surveying existing 
buildings as well as adding existing sites on a risk assessed basis.  

 
On existing rough surface glass that the film will not adhere to, 
arrangements are made to replace the existing glazing. 

 
All schools were issued with a glazing schedule report which provides a 
list of all glazing within the establishment confirming the location and 
type of glazing, details of the film application and also glazing that due 
to its location falls outside the scope of the Regulations. 

 
It is intended to electronically update all sites recently filmed with their 
own glazing register and also send updated glazing registers to schools 
where existing film has had to be replaced. 

 
This is an ongoing annual programme and the condition of existing film 
is evaluated and tested to ensure it performs to the necessary level. 

 
Schools are self governing, having their own maintenance budgets and 
have been notified that they must adhere to the authority’s glazing risk 
criteria when replacing damaged glazing units and update their records 
accordingly. 
 

11.0 Fire Safety 

The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, places the 
responsibility on the duty holders in Public, Commercial and Housing 
assets to undertake formal fire risk assessments.  

Page 429



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 13 of 22 

 

 

The previous fire management strategy has been revised to ensure a 
more efficient process. Corporate Health and Safety will support 
premises managers in the drafting and finalisation of fire risk 
assessments and operating procedures. BS hold the capital budget for 
undertaking any works required as result of findings of any risk 
assessment and discussions with M&WWFR&RS.  

12.0 Safety of Lifting Equipment (LOLER) 
 
 Swansea Council has a duty placed on it by the Lifting Operations and 
 Lifting  Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER) to undertake periodic 
 examinations of its lifts and lifting equipment. The HSE define lifting 
 equipment as any work equipment for lifting and lowering loads, and 
 includes any accessories used in  doing so (such as attachments to 
 support, fix or anchor the equipment).  
 
 Examples of lifting equipment used within the Council include:  

 Patient hoists and slings 

 Motor vehicle lifts  

 Vehicle tail lifts and cranes fitted to vehicles  

 A building cleaning cradle and its suspension equipment  

 Goods Lifts 

 Passenger lifts  

 Tele handlers and fork lifts  

 Lifting accessories 
 
 Lifting accessories are pieces of equipment that are used to attach the 
 load to lifting equipment, providing a link between the two. Examples of 
 lifting  accessories include fibre or rope slings, chains (single or 
 multiple leg), hooks, eyebolts, spreader beams etc.   
 
 Unless there is a specific ‘examination scheme’ specifying other 
 intervals, thorough examination inspection frequencies for lifting 
 machinery are conducted every:  
 

 6 months for lifting equipment and any associated 
accessories used to lift people 

 6 months for all lifting accessories such as slings, chains, 
‘D’ shackles  

 12 months for all lifting equipment i.e. overhead cranes, 
chain blocks, lift trucks  

 The contract administrators shall ensure monitoring of all 
thorough examination reports, to ensure quality assurance 
against maintenance contracts and prevent the potential 
escalation of B category notifications to A category 
notifiable. 

 Corporate Health & Safety will monitor all category A 
notifications to ensure equipment is isolated where required 

Page 430



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 14 of 22 

 

 

and advise premises managers on amendments for 
continued safe operation of the site. 

 Corporate Landlord Services, will monitor where plant is not 
available and 3rd party inspections pertinent to the 
Authorities buildings portfolio and periodically audit 
compliance in partnership with Corporate Health & safety. 

 Managers shall ensure that all equipment requiring 
examination is made available. Receive a copy of the all 
thorough examinations via Allianz or alternative contractor, 
for their premises which must be retained on site and 
isolate any equipment upon notification of any category A 
defect notice.  

 
 BS provides the administration function of the 3rd party thorough 
 examination scheme contract. 
 
 All lifting equipment must be maintained to ensure it remains safe for 
 use is a requirement under PUWER. Visual and user checks on 
 lifting equipment should be undertaken between inspections. The 
 nature, need for and frequency of such checks should be determined 
 through risk assessment, taking full account of any manufacturer's 
 recommendations.  
 
 BS provides the administration function of the various maintenance and 
 services contracts relating to lifts and lifting equipment. 
 
 BS manages the Councils lifts/lifting equipment asset list  
 
13.0 Pressure vessels 
 
 The main regulations covering pressure equipment and pressure 
 systems are the Pressure Equipment Regulations 2016 (PER) and the 
 Pressure Systems Safety Regulations 2000 (PSSR). 
 
 Examples of pressure systems and equipment are: 
 

 boilers and steam heating systems  

 pressurised process plant and piping  

 compressed air systems (fixed and portable)  

 pressure cookers, autoclaves and retorts  

 heat exchangers and refrigeration plant  

 valves, steam traps and filters  

 pipework and hoses  

 pressure gauges and level indicators 
 
 Under the Pressure Systems Safety Regulations 2000 (PSSR), all 
 users and owners of pressure systems need to be able to demonstrate 
 that their equipment is safe to use and that they are firmly aware of its 
 safe operating limits. 

Page 431

http://www.hse.gov.uk/pUbns/priced/l122.pdf


Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 15 of 22 

 

 

 
 This is achieved by having a Written Scheme of Examination (WSE) 
 completed by a ‘Competent Person’ with associated thorough 
 examination reports. The WSE needs to be in place before the system 
 or equipment is launched for operation, ensuring that any mandatory 
 examinations within the Scheme are completed. A written scheme of 
 examination is required for most pressure systems. Generally only very 
 small systems are exempted. 
 
 The following pressurised systems are likely to require a written 
 scheme of examination:  

 a compressed air receiver and the associated pipework, 
where the product of the pressure in bars multiplied by the 
internal capacity in litres of the receiver is equal to or 
greater than 250 bar litres;  

 a steam sterilising autoclave and associated pipework and 
protective devices; a steam boiler and associated pipework 
and protective devices;  

 a pressure cooker;  

 a gas-loaded hydraulic accumulator;  

 a vapour compression refrigeration system where the 
installed power exceeds 25 kW;  

 a narrow-gauge steam locomotive;  

 the components of self-contained breathing apparatus sets 
(excluding the gas container); and 

 a fixed liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) storage system, 
supplying fuel for heating in a workplace. 

 
 The WSE must be maintained throughout the lifetime of the equipment. 
  
 All authority pressure systems are covered by the definition of ‘work 
equipment’, and therefore, the Provision and Use of Work Equipment 
Regulations 1998 (PUWER) will also apply. 
  
 Where an asset is found to be operational and requiring a WSE and a 
WSE is not in place, the asset must be taken out of service 
immediately.  
 
 The responsible person / asset owner must advise immediately in 
writing any change or modification to a pressure system which has a 
written scheme of examination.  
 
 BS are responsible for undertaking a programme of maintenance and 
servicing of pressure equipment and systems within Council premises. 
 
 BS provides the administration function of the 3rd party thorough 
examination scheme contract “The pressure system must be examined 
in accordance with the written scheme by a competent person”. 

Page 432

https://www.britishengineeringservices.co.uk/engineering-inspection-services


Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 16 of 22 

 

 

 
14.0  Local Exhaust Ventilation 
 
 Local exhaust ventilation (LEV) systems use extract ventilation to 
 prevent or reduce the level of airborne hazardous substances entering 
 the breathing zone of people in the workplace. For these systems, the 
 purpose of the inspection is to assess the performance of the system 
 as a whole, demonstrating that the plant and associated ducting is 
 performing in a manner consistent with the design specification.  
 
 Swansea Council is required to undertake thorough examinations of 

 LEV such as fume hoods, spray booths, etc at least every 14 
 months to comply with the  Control of Substances Hazardous to Health 
 Regulations 2002 (COSHH) (as  amended), Regulation 9. This 
requirement extends to all mechanical equipment installed to reduce 
 or control exposure to airborne contaminants.   

 
 BS provides the administration function of the 3rd party thorough 
 examination scheme contract and maintenance and services contracts. 
 

15.0 Grounds/Play Equipment 
                    

BS provides the monitoring function of the Contractor for the grounds 
maintenance Contract and ensures that the specifications meet current 
and proposed legislative requirements. 

 
All Outdoor Play Equipment must be manufactured, installed and 
maintained in strict accordance with BSEN 1176 & 1177 and this 
statutory requirement places a duty on the asset manager to ensure 
the periodic maintenance and inspection regime is undertaken. This 
places a duty on the Authority to ensure that PS provides competent 
advice and guidance and also assist in the independent inspection 
process of the equipment, on a regular basis. 

 
As part of the Service Level Agreement, PS will coordinate Tree 
Surveys, Emergency works and tree pruning following storm damage, 
in order to mitigate the Health and Safety risks.  
 

16.0 Schools 
 
As referred to in paragraph 2 above, school buildings and the day to 
day responsibility for property maintenance are all covered within the 
Division of Responsibility document which is part of ongoing 
discussions between the Council/LEA and representatives of schools at 
the Premises Working Group.  This will form part of a separate report 
when agreement has been reached to clarify areas of responsibility.  
 
However, in general, all of the areas contained within this report fall 
within the responsibility of the School Governors.  If there is ultimately a 

Page 433



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 17 of 22 

 

 

situation of lack of compliance or one that falls to be the subject of an 
HSE investigation then responsibility resides with the Chief Executive. 
 
Schools have the opportunity to buy into the SLA’s offered by Building 
services to cover the majority of the physical aspects of compliance. 
However, fire safety remains the responsibility of individual Head 
Teachers and Governors.  

  
The situation specifically relating to kitchens is that BS will ensure that 
they comply with current Food Hygiene/Health and Safety legislation 
ensuring that any remedial work is work is undertaken. The 
management and organisation of the kitchen planned maintenance 
programme, to include the following:  
 

 Annual inspection, servicing and associated repairs  
 Annual inspection, cleaning inspection cleaning of duct work  
 Portable appliance testing  

 
This will support the Premises Manager in ensuring compliance is met 
for all commercial kitchens. In 2018/19, 100% compliance was 
achieved, with 98 inspections having being carried out.  
  

 
17.0 Performance Indicators (PI’s) 
 

BS have recognised the significant importance of the aforementioned 
statutory legislation. To that end, BS have developed a series of 
specific performance indicators covering each of the areas and against 
which the entire programme is monitored accordingly. The programme 
is monitored on a monthly basis by specialist officers, with the overall 
programme being reviewed on a quarterly basis.  

 
The PI has been introduced as a performance measurement of the 
actual Number of revisits/inspections/tests completed against the 
programmed Number of tests to be carried out within a given timeframe 
to ensure compliance, expressed as a percentage. This PI is 
consistent, should the inspection/testing frequency be monthly, 3 
monthly, 6 monthly, annual or 5 yearly. 
 
The PI is recorded and updated where applicable on a quarterly basis 
by relevant technical officers with year end data being collated as part 
of the business planning and performance management process. 
 
In simple terms only the achievement of 100% compliance will satisfy 
the requirements of the performance indicator and this overarching 
strategy. 
 

Page 434



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 18 of 22 

 

 

Any identified risks will be managed immediately as they occur through 
existing lines of management reporting, via the Heads of Service, 
Director and CMT.  

 
18.0 Audit of compliance programme 

The objective of the audit is to carry out an independent appraisal of 
risk control mechanisms and by making recommendations to improve 
effectiveness and efficiency of the activities and operating procedures. 

The achievement of this objective involves: 

 Reviewing and appraising the soundness, adequacy and 
application of the procedures adopted in fulfilling all areas 
of the compliance programme  

 Ascertaining the level of compliance at a given point in 
time. This will involve analysis of the proposed 
programme against the actual compliance programme  

 During the course of an audit the auditor will consider 
whether risk management, control and governance 
arrangements are adequate to manage risk relative to the 
programme.  

Periodic spot check sample Inspections will be facilitated by an 
independent Management & Compliance Officer from within BS 
However, as the requirements within each area of compliance varies it 
is difficult to set any firm figures for random auditing but the relevant 
manger i.e. Group Leader, Technical Services, will ensure that suitable 
and random audits are carried out to verify the achievements of 
compliance with this strategy. However it is not expected that the 
number of audits would exceed 10% of the total stock for any of the 
activities listed.  

 
In addition to the year end performance indicators, a brief summary of 
what audits have been carried out and any recommendations will be 
summarised for the year end report 

 
Under the HASAWA74, duty holders such as owners and employers 
have an obligation to ensure every item of equipment provided to, or 
used by, their employees is safe. 
 
The type and nature of engineering inspection required varies 
depending on the equipment and which other regulations it falls under. 
However, as a rule, the more hazardous the equipment, the more 
regular and thorough any inspection must be.  The main groups of 
plant that need statutory inspections by 'Competent Persons' are: 

 Boiler plant/pressure systems 

 Lifting equipment 

Page 435



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 19 of 22 

 

 

 COSHH (Control of Substances Hazardous to Health) 
Regulations, usually known as Local Exhaust Ventilation (LEV) 

 Power presses; 

 Electrical equipment. 
 
Even if your workplace equipment does not fall under any of the above 
legislation then it will fall under the Provision and Use of Work 
Equipment Regulations (PUWER), which has its own requirements for 
inspections to be conducted. 
 
Using an independent 'competent person' is highly recommended for 
any statutory inspections, as it rules out any suggestion of a conflict of 
interest when it comes to service and repairs. To this end, Swansea 
Council has a 3-year contract with Allianz Inspection Services for the 
three groups that mainly affect Council business 
 

 Boiler plant/pressure systems 

 Lifting equipment 

 COSHH (Control of Substances Hazardous to Health) 
Regulations, usually known as Local Exhaust Ventilation (LEV) 

 
This has been agreed in conjunction with our Insurers Travellers and 
Marsh our brokers and currently satisfies their / our insurance 
requirements. 

 
19.0 Period for review 
 

The strategy will be reviewed on a 3 year basis, with the exception of 
any significant change in legislation or budget which will be initiate a 
review at the appropriate time.  

 
20.0 Table of Legislation 

 
Below is a list of relevant pieces of legislation that impact upon the 
compliance programme: 

 
 Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 

 
 The Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998  

 
 The Gas Safety (Management) Regulations 1996  

 
 The Gas Safety (Rights of Entry) Regulations 1996  

 
 Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences 

Regulations 2013   
 

 The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 
 

Page 436



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 20 of 22 

 

 

 Approved Code of Practice and guidance Legionnaires’ disease: 
The control of legionella bacteria in water systems. Approved Code 
of Practice and guidance L8  

 
 Water Regulation and Water Byelaws 2000 

 
 BS EN 806-5 2012 (was BS6700) 

 
 Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 

 
 17th Edition IEE Regulations BS 7671:2008 + amendments  

 
 Electricity Supply Regulations 1990 

 
 The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985.  

 
 The Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998.  

 
 Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999.  

 
 Occupiers Liability Act 1957 
 
 Occupiers Liability Act 1984 

 
 Gas Safety (Management) Regulations 1996 No.551  

 
 Gas Appliances (Safety) Regulations 1995 No 1629  

 
 Gas Safety (right of Entry) Regulations 1996 No 5235  

 
 HSE Leaflet – LANDLORDS. A Guide to Landlords’ Duties: Gas 

Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998.  
 

 HSE Leaflet – NEW INFORMATION. It Could Save Your Life.  
 

 HSE Leaflet - GAS APPLIANCES. Get Them Checked. Keep Them 
Safe  

 
 The Approved Code of Practice and Guidance ‘Safety in the 

installation and use of gas systems and appliances’ Gas Safety 
(installation and Use) Regs 1998. 

 
 Regulatory Reform Fire Safety Order 2005 

 
 The Workplace (Health Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992, 

specifically Regulation 14. 
 

 Outdoor Play Equipment must be manufactured, installed and 
maintained in strict accordance with BSEN 1176 & 1177. 

Page 437



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 21 of 22 

 

 

 
 Intruder alarm upgrades comply with EN 50131 (PD6662) 

 
 GDPR 2018 
 
 Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 
 
 Pressure Equipment Regulations 2016 (PER)  
 
  Pressure Systems Safety Regulations 2000 (PSSR). 

 
 Control of Substances Hazardous to Health 2002 

 
 Authority H&S policies 
 

 Corporate Health and Safety Policy 
 

 Electrical Safety Policy 
 

 Management of Fire Safety Policy & Corporate Strategy  
 

 Control of Substances Hazardous to Health 
 

 Management of Asbestos Policy 
 

 Legionella Policy (Final draft) 
 

Authority Guidance 
 
 Portable Appliance Testing 

 
21.0 Abbreviations 
 

SC  Swansea Council 
 

RMB  Revenue Maintenance Budget 
 

CMB  Capital Maintenance Budget 
 

BS  Building Services 
 
PS  Property Services 

 

AMP  Asset Management Plan 
 

AMD  Asset Management Database  
 

LEA  Local Education Authority 
 

LA  Local Authority 

Page 438



Title Statutory Compliance Strategy 

Ref PS / BS Status: Issue 1 Issue Date: Nov 2019 Page 22 of 22 

 

 

 

PI  Performance Indicator 
 

IEE  Institution of Electrical Engineers 
 

ACM  Asbestos Containing Material 
 
HSE  Health and Safety Executive 

  
 
22.0 References & Further Information 
 

The following HSE publications give further general guidance: 
 
BS7671:2008 (IEE Wiring Regulations 17th Edition) 

 
Approved Code of Practice and guidance Legionnaires’ disease: The 
control of legionella bacteria in water systems. Approved Code of 
Practice and guidance L8 (Fourth edition) HSE Books ISBN 978 0 7176 
66157 . Part 1 
 
Legionnaires disease – Technical Guidance (2014); HSE books ISBN 
978 0 7176 6635 5 

 
Health and safety in care homes HSG220 HSE Books 2001 ISBN 978 
0 7176 2082 1 

IET Wiring Regulations 17th Edition (BS 7671:2008 incorporating 
amendment number 1:2011) Guidance note 3 

 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/632/contents/made 

 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1998/2451/contents/made 

 

 
 
Appendix 1 – Survey Forms  
Appendix 2 – Example Agreement Document  
 
 
 

Page 439

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/632/contents/made


 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 

Compliance Evidence Information 
 

Area No 
 

Documents  

Fire 1.0   

 1.1 Fire Risk Assessment  

 1.2 Emergency Action Plan  

 1.3 Normal Operating Procedures  

 1.4 Fire Log Book  

 1.5 Training Records  

 1.6 Fire Extinguisher Servicing Records  

Asbestos 2.0   

 2.1   

 2.2 Asbestos Register  

 2.3 Asbestos Plan  

Electricity 3.0   

 3.1 Portable Appliance Test Certificates   

 3.2 Periodical Fixed Electric Test Certificate  

 3.2a Minor Repair Certificate  

 3.3 Emergency Lighting Service Records  

 3.3a Continuation Repair Certificate  

 3.4 Generator Internal Checks  

 3.4a Generator Annual Service Records  

 3.5 Kiln Service Record  

 3.5a Kiln Maintenance/Repair  

 3.6 C.D.T Service Record  

 3.6a C.D.T Maintenance/Repair  

 3.7 Lightning Protection Service Record  

Gas 4.0   

 4.1 Landlords Certificate (boiler)  

 4.1a Gas Safety Inspection   

 4.2 Landlords Certificate (kitchen)  

 4.2a Gas Safety Inspection  

Legionella 5.0   

 5.1 Legionella File  

 5.2a TMV Internal Checks  

 5.2b Chlorination Certificate  

 5.2c E-Coli Checks   

Loler 6.0   

 6.1a Hoists & Slings Inspection Certificate  

 6.1b Beds Inspection Certificate  

 6.2a Passenger Lift   

 6.2b Stair Lifts  

L.E.V 7.0   

a 7.1   

b 7.1 LEV Equipment Internal Checks  

Page 440



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 

Commercial 
Kitchen 

8.0   

 8.1 Gas Safety Inspection  

 8.2 Post Clean Report  

a 8.3   

b 8.3   

 8.4   

Glazing 9.0   

 9.1 Glazing Certificate  

Transport 10.0   

a 10.1 Drivers Licence  

b 10.1 Insurance (for business use)  

c 10.1 M.O.T  

d 10.1 M.I.D.A.S Training Certificate  

 10.2a Vehicle Safety Checks  

 10.2b Servicing & MOT Certificates  

Traffic Mgt 11.0   

 11.1 Traffic Mgt Risk Assessment  

Outdoor  12.0   

 12.1   

 12.2 Tree Survey Report  

 12.2a Essential Tree Work  

 12.3 Play Inspections  

 12.3a Weekly  

 12.3b Operational   

 12.3c Independent   

Security 13.0   

a 13.1 Service Contract  

b 13.1   

 

Page 441



Social Services – Child & Family Asset Management Plan 18-19 
 
 
Service Description 
 
Child & Family Services promote better outcomes for children, placing the voice of the child at the 
centre of the service, and aim to reduce the number of children with complex needs having to live 
outside of Swansea. They ensure that each of the vulnerable children supported can be assured 
of the best possible services to enhance their wellbeing. 
 
 
 
Asset Implications 
 
 Outcomes/ decisions taken as part of the Commissioning reviews could have an impact on 

asset provision: 
o Family Support Continuum 

 
 Outcomes/decisions taken within Western Bay Regional Partnership Board could have an 

impact on asset provision, e.g. Regional Adoption Service 
 
 Implementation of corporate Agile working programme/policy. 

 
 Changes to social work management/team structures 

 
 Further development of partnership with BAYS 

 
 Implementation of WCCIS (Wales Community Care Information System) is due to commence 

in late 2017/early 2018. 
 

 Current in-house children’s residential homes needing relocation and investment to ensure fit 
for purpose, and meeting standards under Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) 
Act 2016. 

 
 
List of Assets 
 
1. Council owned assets – adhere to the Corporate Tenancy Agreement 
 
Cockett House 

Nant Y Felin 

Coed Lan Children’s Home 

Dynevor Centre 

 
2. Assets leased to the Council – adhere to the individual lease agreement 
 
Unit 5 Sharpmaster House 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Page 442



 
CORPORATE TENANCY AGREEMENT 

 
Responsibilities 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, each party will perform the following responsibilities. 
 
Corporate Landlord 
 
 Responsibility for all technical services including building surveys, mechanical and electrical 

engineering, asbestos/legionella surveys, energy efficiency advice , a full compliance service via 
compliance officers to include fire, security, glazing and legislative audits. A conduit to the local 
authorities CDM service, construction officers, project managers, structural engineers, estates 
and asset management surveyors. 
 

 Administer all requests for day-to-day, planned, statutory and cyclical maintenance for the 
building. 
 

 Ensure all statutory duties are carried out with regards to asset / building compliance with current 
legislation, including boiler plant testing/servicing, fire alarm testing/servicing, fixed electrical 
inspection/testing, gas soundness testing, emergency lighting testing/servicing, lifting equipment 
inspection/testing, independent third party examinations. 

 
 Ensure all legionella risk assessments, asbestos surveys, fire risk assessments; energy 

performance certificates are available via TF system. 
 

 Provision of an emergency response for out of hours building maintenance related issues. 
 
 Provision of a Facilities Management Service; including all non-emergency maintenance 

requests and online website via Staff Net.  Any proposed alterations, 3rd party lettings or room 
hire to the Facility including grounds cannot be undertaken unless an online (Landlord Building 
Consent/3rd Party Lettings Consent) application has been submitted via the Facilities 
Management website and approved by Facilities Management/Estates to undertake the said 
works.  
 

 Provision of all energy management advice. 
 
 Advice on all strategic estate and asset management issues relating to the building. 

 

 Provision of cleaning services to an agreed specification. 
 

 Provision of all ground maintenance and services. 
 

 Subject to budget transfers responsible for all costs associated with day-to-day maintenance 
utilities, building cleaning, planned maintenance, rent, NNDR, grounds maintenance, security, 
window cleaning. 

 
Tenant 
 
 To ensure a nominated person is appointed to act as the Premises Manager for all building/ 

grounds related issues; 
 

 To respond and report building maintenance issues in a timely manner. 
 

 To complete the Landlord Consent form before considering any work on the building, please 
complete the form in the link http://www.swansea.gov.uk/staffnet/buildingconsent 

 

Page 443

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/staffnet/buildingconsent


 If you have access to a Handyman, there are limitations as to the type of repair and maintenance 
work they are permitted to undertake. Please contact the Compliance Team via email or phone 
for advice and guidance before undertaking any works on the building. 
 

 To act as key holder. 
 Day to day management of cleaning staff. 
 Workplace traffic management at site  
 First aid arrangements for the premises 
 Managing contractors on site 
 Fire Management (must be recorded) 
  - Daily inspection of the Fire Alarm panel for normal operation of the system 
  - To test manual call break points on a weekly basis and ensure the fire alarm  
  sounders can be heard, any doors operated by the fire alarm system are being  
  released and closing fully. 
  - To test emergency lighting (via test key/localised switch) on a monthly basis. 
  - Undertake a visual inspection of Fire Extinguisher media (monthly). 
  - Undertake regular housekeeping exercise where possible separating ignition  
  sources from combustible materials. 
  - Premises Manager is to ensure suitable and sufficient training delivered to staff by 
  a competent person. 
  - Fire Drills are undertaken to stimulate fire conditions on a six monthly basis. 
 
 Legionella (must be recorded) 
  - monitor water temperatures; water services that are used infrequently would need 
  to be flushed weekly (as per legionella risk assessment). 
 Asbestos (must be recorded) 
  - Undertake periodic inspections of the site in line with asbestos management  
  survey. 
  - Ensure the asbestos survey is available at all times to site users; i.e. contractors.   
  - In the event of a suspected breach carry out site emergency action plan and inform 
  asbestos team within Corporate Building & Property services as soon as practicably 
  possible.  
 
 Waste Management 
 Site security  
 General building maintenance and housekeeping 

 

 To be responsible for energy consumption and energy use providing meter reading information 
to the landlord as and when required. 
 

 To occupy in accordance with the Council insurance policy. 
 

 Not to undertake any alterations or lettings, or hire within the building and or grounds unless in 
accordance with the Council’s landlord consent procedure; as explained on FM Website; see 
link;  http://www.swansea.gov.uk/staffnet/facilitiesmanagement 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 444

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/staffnet/facilitiesmanagement


 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 

Corporate Landlords Compliance Inspection 
 
 
 

Strategic Estates & Facilities 
Corporate Building & 

Property Services 
Swansea Council 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Facility Inspected _________________________                                              
 
Date Inspected _________________________ 
 
Inspecting Officer _________________________ 
 
 

 

Page 445



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

                          Facilities Management  
 
              (Aide memoire & Compliance Checklist.) 
 
Premise:          Date  
  
Contact name and number –  
 
The following documents MUST be held on the premises to ensure compliance 
with health and safety and fire safety regulations / legislation: 
 

  

COMPLIANCE CHECK CARRIED OUT ON THE 
FOLLOWING: 

 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
N/A 

 
1.0 

 

Fire Safety (RRO 2005 Fire Safety) 
   

1.1 Do you have a current FRA (fire risk assessment) 
With an action plan. 

 

 

  

1.2  Do you have an EAP (emergency action plan) and a 
zoned plan of the building showing all emergency exits 
etc? 

 
 

  

1.3  Do you have an NOP (normal operating procedure) 
 

   

1.4 
 

a 
b 
c 
 

d 
e 
f 
g 
h 
i 
j 
k 
 

Do you have a Fire Log Book that includes regular 
entries of :- 
Fire Alarm System Tests 
Fire Drills / False Alarms 
Emergency / break glass call point tests (which are   
numbered) 
Emergency lighting tests 
Fire extinguisher operational checks 
Dorgard checks (if fitted) 
Dry Riser Servicing 
Deluge System Checks 
Sprinkler System Check / Servicing 
Fire Hydrant 
Fire Officer visits 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

1.5 Have all staff received fire safety training and do you 
have designated fire marshals / wardens 

   

1.6 Fire Extinguishers Service Records 
 

   

2.0  Asbestos (Control of Asbestos Regs 2012) 
 

   

2.1 Do you know how to Access  the Asbestos register  
 
 

   

Page 446



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

2.2 Do you have an up to date copy of the sites register 
available for all staff, contractors, and  visitors to view 
if required. 

 
 

  

2.3 Have you got an asbestos plan which includes  
Emergency procedures / day-to-day management? 
 

  
 

 

3.0 Electricity (Electricity at Work Regs 1989) 
 

   

3.1 Are all portable appliances tested (PAT) with   
records kept 

   

3.2 
 

a 

Do you have a copy of your latest fixed electrical  
testing report 
Minor Repair Certificate 

   

3.3 
a 

Do you have a copy of the Emergency Lighting Service 
Continuation Repair Certificate 

   

3.4 
a 

Generator Testing Reports 
Generator Service Contract 

   

3.5 
a 

Kiln Service Contract 
Maintenance/Repair Certificate 

   

3.6 
a 

C.D.T Equipment Service Records 
Maintenance/Repair Certificate 

   

3.7 Lightning Protection System test 
 

   

4.0  Gas (Gas Safety Installation & Use Regs 1998) 
 

   

4.1 
 
 

a 

Are all gas boilers (plant) heaters and flues serviced 
annually and have you got copies of all servicing 
documents. 
Landlords Certificate (boiler) 

 
 

  

4.2 
 

a 

Are all oil boilers (plant) serviced annually and have 
you got copies of all servicing documents. 
Service Report 

   

5.0 Legionella (HASAWA 74,COSHH 2002) 
 

   

5.1 Do you have a copy of your Legionella risk  
assessment (e.g. Aquatreat blue file) 

   

5.2 
 

a 
b 
c 

Do you have records of any identified controls  
being  carried out. 
TMV testing 
Chlorination 
E-Coli 

 

 

 

 

  

6.0 Lifting equipment / Lifts (LOLER 98)     
                           

   

6.1 
 
 
 

a 

Are all hoists and slings used to lift people subject to an 

examination scheme or “Thorough  Examination” every 6 months 
by a competent Person with 1 check being independent of the 
other and records kept. 
 

Hoists & Slings 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 447



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

b Beds  
 

 

 

6.2 
 
 
 
 

a 
b 

Are all passenger / goods lifts subject  

      to an examination scheme or “Thorough   
      Examination” every 6 months by a competent  
      Person with 1 check being independent of the other   
      And records kept. (to include all vehicle tail lifts) 
 

Passenger Lifts 
Stair Lifts 

 
 

  

7.0 L.E.V. (Local Exhaust Ventilation) COSHH  
2002 

   

7.1 

 

Do you have dust, fume, vapour extraction If “Yes” is the 

LEV equipment subject to a thorough examination a minimum of 

every 14 months and records kept for 5 years 

   

a 
b 
 

Service Records  
Maintenance Records 
 

   

8.0 Commercial Kitchen 
 

   

8.1 External Canopy Cleaning (Air Quality Test - AQT) 
 

   

8.2 Internal Canopy Cleaning (Grease Reading) 
 

   

8.3 
a 
b 
 

ComCat5 (Combined Ovens & Steamers) 
Service Report (Landlords Certificate (kitchen) 
Maintenance Report 

   

8.4 Waste Collection of Oils Records 
 

   

9.0 Glazing (HS&W Regs 1992)reg14 (EN12600) 

 

   

9.1 Do you have any records or file on the glazing fitted on 
your premises i.e. the fitting of safety film where 
required and any recently replaced doors or windows 
that has safety glass fitted  

 
 

 

 

 

10.0 Workplace transport (Road Traffic Act 88,91) 
 

   

10.1 
 
 
 
 

10.1a 
10.1.b 
10.1.c 

If you have a site mini bus or if staff use their own cars 
for work purposes do you ensure staff members are 
legally authorised to operate them by undertaking the 
following document checks? 

 
Drivers Licence 
Insurance (for business use) 
M.O.T. (where applicable 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 448



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

10.1.d M.I.D.A.S. training 
 
 

 

10.2 
 

a 
 

b 

If you have purchased vehicles for site use do you 
ensure they receive:- 
Daily recorded safety checks prior to use with all faults 
or defects reported and addressed. 
Regular servicing and MOT (where applicable) to industry 
standard by a competent and or qualified person 
See point 6.2 LOLER 98 Reg (tail lifts, wheel chair lifts) 
etc. 

   

 The following points although not a statutory 
requirement should be addressed to ensure a safe 
environment is maintained and managed. 

   

11.0 Traffic management. 
 

   

11.1 Have you undertaken a risk assessment of your  
Site considering the movement and segregation of 
both vehicles and pedestrians, designated parking 
areas and a restricted speed limit?. If yes have any 
traffic management controls been introduced?    

   

12.0 Outdoor Equipment 
 

   

12.1 Do you have outdoor play equipment / apparatus 
Or Garden Furniture if “YES” is it subject to an 
inspection regime by a competent and or   
independent person 
         

   

12.2 
a 

Do you have a Tree Survey Report 
Has all the essential works been carried out 
 

   

12.3 
a 
b 
c 
 

If you have Play Equipment do you carry out: 
Weekly Inspections 
Operational Inspections 
Independent Inspection 
 

   

13.0 Security Systems 
 

   

13.1 
a 
b 
 

Do you have an Intruder Alarm, if yes who provides the  
Service Contract 
Do you have Police Response  
 

   

 
 
 
 
 Signed:                                           Date:       /         /             

               

Page 449



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Existing control measures 

 
 
 Premise                                                          Date  
 
*If the answer is no to any of the questions please state what existing control measures are in 

place and rate the risk with regards to non-compliance with statutory requirements on a High 
Medium or Low basis. 
 
 
Number 

                
             Existing  Control Measures   (provide full details)                                

 
Risk 

Rating 

   
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  

 
 
 

  

 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 

Page 450



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

    Additional preventative and control measures required 
 
 
*If the risk rating is high please state what additional preventative control measures are 
required to reduce any risk to a medium or low rating to ensure compliance is achieved 
 
 Premise                                                          Date  
 

 
Number 

                
             Additional preventative and control measures required 

 
Risk 

Rating 

 
 

  

 
 
 

  

 
 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 

 
Is monitoring and review required? (if yes please give details) 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Signed                                          Date                                 Review Date                

Page 451



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

Compliance Evidence Sheet 
 
Site                    Date  
 
 

Area No Date of 
Document 

Company Comments 

Fire 1.0    

 1.1  
 

  

 1.2  
 

  

 1.3  
 

  

a 1.4  
 

  

b 1.4  
 

  

c 1.4  
 

  

d 1.4  
 

  

e 1.4  
 

  

f 1.4  
 

  

h 1.4  
 

  

i 1.4  
 

  

j 1.4  
 

  

k 1.4  
 

  

 1.5  
 

  

 1.6  
 

  

Asbestos 2.0    

 2.1  
 

  

 2.2    
 

 2.3   
 

 

Electricity 3.0    

 3.1    

Page 452



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

   

 3.2  
 

  

a 3.2  
 

  

 3.3   
 

 

a 3.3 
 

   

 3.4  
 

  

a 
 

3.4    

 3.5  
 

  

a 3.5  
 

  

 3.6 
 

   

a 3.6  
 

  

 3.7   
 

 

Gas/Oil 4.0    

 4.1    
 

a 4.1 
 

   

 4.2    
 

a 4.2 
 

   

Legionella 5.0    

 5.1    
 

 5.2    
 

a 5.2  
 

  

b 5.2  
 

  

c 5.2  
 

  

LOLER 6.0    

 6.1   
 

 

a 6.1    

Page 453



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

 

b 6.1 
 

 
 
 

  

a 6.2   
 

 

b 6.2  
 

  

LEV 7.0    

 7.1    
 

a 7.1    
 

b 7.1 
 

   

Com 
Kitchen 

8.0    

 8.1  
 

  

 8.2  
 

  

a 8.3  
 

  

b 8.3  
 

  

 8.4 
 

   

Glazing 9.0    

 9.1    
 

Transport 10.0    

 10.1   
 

 
 

a 10.1    
 

b 10.1    
 

c 10.1   
 

 
 

d 10.1  
 

  
 

 10.2  
 

  
 

a 10.2 
 

   

b 10.2  
 

  

Page 454



 

 corporatelandlords.service@swansea.gov.uk 
 
 

Traffic 11.0    

 11.1   
 

 
 

Outdoor 12.0    

 12.1    
 

 12.2 
 

   

a 12.2    
 

 12.3 
 

   

a 12.3 
 

   

b 12.3 
 

   

c 12.3 
 

   

Security 13.0    
 

a 13.1  
 

  

b 13.1  
 

  

 

Page 455



Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form        Appendix B 
 

(If NO, you need to consider whether you should be undertaking 
consultation and engagement – please see the guidance) 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while 
completing this form. If you would like further guidance please contact your 
directorate support officer or the Access to Services team (see guidance for 
details). 

 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: Property Services 

Directorate: Place  
 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 
 

      Service/                Policy/  
      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                                                                           
 
 

 

(b) Please name and describe below 
Statutory Compliance Strategy 
 Local Authorities (LA) have a duty to ensure that buildings and land under 

their control comply with all relevant statutory, regulatory and corporate 
standards.  As such, Swansea Council’s Building Services and Property 
Services have devised a Statutory Compliance Strategy which applies to all 
stakeholders utilising Swansea Council’s owned building assets.  

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 
Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 
         
   (H)        (M)  (L) 
 

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 
     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   

need to want to  automatically provided to basis 
 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)      (M)    (M)  (L) 
 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 
        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 
    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 
Children/young people (0-18)      
Any other age group (18+)      
Disability      
Gender reassignment      
Marriage & civil partnership      
Pregnancy and maternity      
Race      
Religion or (non-)belief     
Sex     
Sexual Orientation     
Welsh Language     
Poverty/social exclusion     
Carers (inc. young carers)     
Community cohesion     
 

Q4 HAVE YOU / WILL YOU UNDERTAKE ANY PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
AND ENGAGEMENT RELATING TO THE INITIATIVE?  

 

  YES      NO   
 
If yes, please provide details below  

Page 456



Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form        Appendix B 
 
 
Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 
    (H)   (M)  (L) 
 
(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? 

(Consider the following impacts – legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception  etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
     (H)         (M)          (L) 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other 
Council service?  

 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
Programme relates to Building Capital Maintenance Works in Authority buildings 
and the role that premises managers and heads of service have to play in the day 
to day management of operational premises.   
Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   →  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 
 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      → Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 
followed by Section 2  

Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for a full EIA report, 
you must provide adequate explanation below.  In relation to the 
Council’s commitment to the UNCRC, your explanation must 
demonstrate that the initiative is designed / planned in the best 
interests of children (0-18 years).  For Welsh language, we must 
maximise positive and minimise adverse effects on the language and 
its use.  Your explanation must also show this where appropriate.  
 Whilst the reputational and legal risk of any non-compliance is high, the 
report and the strategy cover day to day operational issues as to how this 
risk is managed and therefore, whilst important, is not an equalities issue.   

Section 2 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for 
agreement before obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service 
approval is only required via email – no electronic signatures or paper copies are 
needed. 

Screening completed by: 
Name:  

Job title:  

Date:  
 

Approval by Head of Service: 
Name:   

Position: 

Date:  

 
  

Page 457



 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration and Tourism 
 

Cabinet – 21 November 2019 
 

Scrutiny Inquiry on Tourism  
Cabinet Member Response and Action Plan  

 
Purpose: To outline a response to the scrutiny recommendations 

and to present an action plan for agreement. 
 

Policy Framework: None 

Consultation: Legal, Finance, Access to Services 

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

1) The response as outlined in the report and related action plan be agreed. 
 

Report Author: Councillor Robert Francis-Davies  

Finance Officer:  Aimee Dyer  

Legal Officer:   Debbie Smith 

Access to Services 
Officer:  

Catherine Window 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The scrutiny report on Tourism was submitted to Cabinet on the 18 July 

2019 after the Scrutiny Working Group completed a detailed inquiry.  The 
scrutiny report is attached as Appendix A. 

 
1.2 Having considered the contents of the scrutiny report, and specific 

recommendations made, advice to Cabinet on whether it should agree, 
or not agree, with each recommendation is detailed in this report. 

 
1.3 Cabinet is also asked to consider, for each of the responses, any 

relevant policy commitments and any other relevant activity.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 458

Agenda Item 14.



2.0 Response to Scrutiny Recommendations 
  

Recommendation 1 
 
The Working Group was pleased to see how much hard work is being 
done by the Authority to promote tourism in the area. We feel that there 
is a lot more the Authority could do but recognise that this is restricted 
by the budget that has reduced drastically in recent years.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:   
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020  
 
Action already being undertaken: Over the last 3 years, we have 
been working towards a 50% reduction in budget. This has resulted in 
the closure of the Tourist Information Centre (2016) and the 
refocussing of activity in line with a digital strategy, which will increase 
more web visits, increase social media followers and engagement and 
capture additional segmented and profiled email addresses.  
 
New actions following from the recommendation: Having just 
reviewed the Destination Management Plan (DMP), one of the 
recommendations is to ensure greater input from those Heads of 
Service whose service areas play an important role in the management 
of the destination. These will be invited to future steering group 
meetings.  
 
Cabinet Member Comments: Consider how a Tourism Strategy may 
also be introduced, working alongside the current DMP. 
 
Recommendation is AGREED  
 

 
Recommendation 2 
 
We feel it is important to recognise the value of the natural environment 
to tourism and the economy and recommend that:  
a. Work on an off-road cycling network is brought forward and that 
money is found to fund the production of a cycling map for the area 
(estimated at £50,000, mostly in legal fees).  
b. Consideration is given to making more use of volunteers to help 
maintain our environmental assets such as footpaths, steps etc. This is 
a valuable resource for the Authority and can be a great learning and 
social experience for volunteers.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:   
Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 
Corporate Priority: Maintaining and enhancing Swansea's Natural 
Resources and Biodiversity  
Council’s Section 6 Biodiversity Plan (and associated Corporate 

Page 459



Biodiversity Action Plan) 
Green Infrastructure Strategy  
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020  
 
Action already being undertaken:   
 
The Council has a duty under the Environment (Wales) Act to 'maintain 
and enhance biodiversity' and to 'promote the resilience of 
ecosystems'. Each Council function/Service Area should now be 
considering where and how they can achieve this through their 
service/business plans. The Corporate Biodiversity working group will 
provide a vehicle for raising awareness and encouraging best practice. 
 
The natural environment plays an important role in tourism and 
consistently comes up as one of the main reasons why people visit our 
area. As such, sustainability is one of the four key priorities in the 
Destination Management Plan and the Tourism Team encourages 
responsible tourism throughout our marketing activity, e.g. recycling, 
reducing ecological footprint, sustainable transport, walking/cycling, 
using local produce, etc.  
 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
In response to the specific recommendations: 
 
a) off-road cycling network and map: 
 
We’ve previously investigated this but Active Travel money cannot be 
used for non-urban routes.  
 
The possibility of a Gower off-road cycle route is at early stages of 
consideration. This project would develop and promote a network of 
bridleways as a way of enjoying the countryside by bike. It would 
enable visitors to explore large areas of Gower AONB by bicycle and 
cross much of the landscape including the high points of all the major 
hills. There would however be some unavoidable short road sections. It 
is estimated the cost of the initial phases including physical works, 
legal processes, landowner compensation, etc. would cost £26,000. 
There is currently no budget available for such works, so grant funding 
will need to be identified, but it unlikely to cover full costs and future 
management implications. 
 
b) volunteers to help maintain environmental assets  
 
The Council already uses volunteers, for example the Ramblers, for 
such purposes. However, active, committed volunteers are only one 
part of a solution to meeting the demands of the service currently, 
which also includes equipment, supervision, training and transport 
costs.  Even if the number of volunteers and volunteer days was 
doubled, the impact on the amount of maintenance needed would be 

Page 460



minimal and so we are not in a position to increase our responsibilities 
as a result. However, the Service is in the process of appointing a 
Welsh Government funded, volunteer coordinator, to increase the 
number of volunteer projects undertaken and we welcome the support 
to promote this, within the context of the information above.  
 
Cabinet Member Comments: Welcome the suggestions and 
enthusiasm for a sustainable solution to developing the network but 
funding will need to be identified first. 
 
Recommendation is Partly Agreed to investigate grant funding for the 
network and increase the recruitment of volunteers. 
 

 
Recommendation 3 
 
The Working Group would like to see an improvement in signage 
especially in Gower. Many signs are missing or in need of repair. The 
Authority has a statutory duty to signpost footpaths and bridle paths 
and we would like people to be made aware that if the Department is 
informed of any signage issues for these areas they will rectify them.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:   
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020  
 
Action already being undertaken: 
 
Regarding different signage:  
 
Highways signage – a comprehensive audit was conducted a few 
years ago in partnership with Highways. Findings were forwarded to 
maintenance team for repairs / replacement. Some improvements still 
outstanding due to lack of budget to address all issues.  
 
Footpaths/bridleways signage – it is a statutory duty of the Council’s 
Countryside Access Team to rectify any signage issues with footpaths 
and bridleways. However signage is only appropriate where the 
footpath or bridleway is fully accessible, i.e. maintained in a good 
condition.  Due to reduced maintenance budget and grant availability 
the number of footpaths and bridleways the Council is able to maintain 
in a good condition is decreasing every year.  
 
Waymarks Fingerposts – an audit was conducted 2 years ago at 
various Council-run beaches and a rolling programme is in place to 
repair/replace the wooden fingerposts on the seafront as and when 
budget becomes available. Langland Bay was completed this year and 
Caswell is to follow.  
 
Statutory Signage – e.g. dog ban, water quality, bye-laws, restrictions, 
planning notices, etc. 

Page 461



 
Promotional / Interpretation Signage – e.g. Blue Flags, Lobster 
Campaign, Smoke-free Beaches, safety messages, etc. 
 
Signage ‘clutter’ is a recurring issue across the destination, however it 
becomes more evident in the traditional hotspots such as Port Eynon 
for example, where a lot of different signs have been erected over the 
years but not removed (where relevant) or maintained (where needed). 
This is mainly due to the fact that signage, (as outlined above) has 
varying functions across different services and each with reduced or 
zero resources to apply a coordinated approach to ongoing 
maintenance or replacement.  
 
New actions following from the recommendation: 
 
Await the findings of the 2019 visitor and trade surveys to see if there 
are issues with highways signage. 
 
Highways signage: consider another strategic audit for 2020 if 
resources could be ring-fenced for any identified improvements and 
repairs.  
 
Consider a site-specific, co-ordinated approach to signage between the 
various Council teams and allocate responsibility/pool resources for on-
going maintenance. 
 
Cabinet Member Comments:   
 
Consider funding application and opportunity for policy commitments to 
resource signage improvement.  
 
Recommendation is AGREED subject to budget constraints 
 

 
Recommendation 4 
 
We are concerned about funding post Brexit and recommend that a 
piece of work is undertaken to identify future grant funding possibilities.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:  
 
Explore innovative funding and investment strategies and borrow 
prudently to support the City Deal, only when it is right to do so. 
 
Implement a joined up approach to all public expenditure and the use 
of buildings and resources to ensure we can continue to do more with 
less and can seek the wider and more imaginative community use of 
public assets, such as Council-owned buildings. 
 
Continue to explore collaborative and innovative ways in which local 

Page 462



services can be financed and delivered most efficiently, and how the 
value of council assets can be maximised. 
 
Action already being undertaken:   
 
The Economic Development and External Funding Team subscribes to 
an online grants database and continually monitors available grant and 
loan funding opportunities.  
 
There is a need for continued engagement with Welsh Government to 
influence the shape of tourism funding post Brexit, and to explore 
partnership funding models where other organisations may be in a 
better position to bid for funding but with the backing and support of the 
Council. There is some success already with this approach, e.g. Hafod 
Copperworks’ Musgrave Engine House project working with Swansea 
University and Friends of Hafod-Morfa Copperworks. External funding 
from EU sources has been decreasing as a percentage of overall 
external funding secured in recent years. 
 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
In any new DMP action plan, ED&EFT to review actions and identify 
potential funding streams.  
 
Continue engagement with Welsh Government to influence shape of 
tourism funding post Brexit. 
 
Explore potential partnership funding models for future projects. 
 
Cabinet Member Comments:  
 
The City Deal and regeneration of Hafod Copperworks remain a key 
priority for the Council in improving economic wellbeing and tourism in 
the area. 
 
Recommendation is AGREED  
 

 
Recommendation 5 
 
We feel that the Authority should look at good practice from other areas 
regarding the marketing of accommodation in Swansea.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:   
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020  
 
Action already being undertaken:   
 
The accommodation sector is part of a destination’s overall tourism 
offer and is intrinsically linked to other elements such as activities, 

Page 463



attractions, food & drinks and major events.  
 
Our marketing campaigns focus on promoting the destination as a 
whole rather than just the accommodation sector.  
 
However, we do have a comprehensive ‘Where To Stay’ section on the 
official tourism website with 56 listed private sector accommodation 
providers (e.g. hotels, B&Bs, hostels, caravan and camping sites, etc.). 
These are businesses/organisations who buy into a yearly marketing 
package with the Council, i.e. Visit Swansea Bay Marketing Partners.  
 
Our current requirement is that all accommodation operators on the 
tourism website must be inspected and graded/listed with either 
VisitWales or The AA. 
 
Although this provides reassurance to visitors and a level of protection 
for the Council in case of a complaint, this also restricts the number of 
businesses that can be recruited as Marketing Partners. It also doesn’t 
reflect the way visitors now search for accommodation i.e. they search 
for brands, recommendations and increasingly, through the sharing 
economy. 
 
Some operators, whether graded or not, choose to promote their 
property through other, unregulated sharing economy networks such 
as Airbnb or local private websites (e.g. gower.com). 
 
We already undertake regular benchmarking exercises to assess how 
other comparable destinations market themselves and also exchange 
good practice e.g. through BRADA (British Resorts and Destinations 
Association) of which we are members.  
 
A few years ago, we also worked with Visit Wales in appointing a 
consultancy to undertake an Accommodation Demand Study. This 
work has informed some of the most recent hotel developments in the 
City Centre.  
 
STEAM figures and occupancy figures are also a good benchmark to 
determine how Swansea compares to the Welsh average and other 
destinations. Swansea occupancy figures for serviced accommodation, 
for example, are consistently higher than the Wales average and the 
STEAM figures demonstrate continuous growth.  
 
Regular visitor surveys give us an insight into who our visitors are, 
where they come from, where they stay, how they booked their holiday, 
how much they spent, whether they are satisfied with their visit and 
likely to visit again and/or recommend us to others. We are able to use 
this intelligence to target our marketing activity more effectively. 
 
We are also planning a tourism trade survey for this Autumn to 
benchmark destination performance against the 2012 findings. 
Questions revolve mainly around destination management issues.  

Page 464



 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
 
Research the arrangements that other LAs in Wales have with their 
businesses who want to promote their services with them.  
 
Review our current requirement to only accept graded properties on 
our tourism website and consider a policy statement for this.  
 
 
Report the findings of the visitor and trade surveys to relevant Cabinet 
Members and the DMP Steering Group. 
 
Cabinet Member Comments:   
 
We welcome a review of the current approach across Wales and to 
receiving a report as to how changes would impact upon the 
destination marketing plans in the future.  
 
Recommendation is AGREED  
 

 
Recommendation 6 
We recommend that the Authority explores introducing an information 
and availability phone line for holiday accommodation in the area. If 
this includes a booking system, and commission is charged, it could 
pay for itself.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:   
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020  
 
Action already being undertaken:   
 
In 2016, due to financial cuts, the Council made the decision to close 
the Tourist Information Centre; a trend reflected across Wales and 
England over recent years. The TIC acted as a one-stop shop for 
visitors seeking information about the area and offered an 
accommodation booking service in return for a small fee. However, 
demand for this service reduced as online bookings increased. Local 
accommodation providers were also reluctant to pay a nominal 
commission / booking fee to the TIC. 
 
The general shift towards the Internet paved the way for the digital 
transformation of our services and substantial investment in 
www.visitswanseabay.com. We refocussed our marketing a number of 
years ago when we ceased the production of a printed holiday guide 
and its ‘mailed’ distribution via a distribution agency. Our digital 
strategy now strongly focuses on increasing web visits and social 
media followers, stimulating online engagement as well as capturing 

Page 465



segmented and profiled email addresses for use in future marketing 
activity. 
 
Today, businesses are far more digitally advanced than ever before 
and most offer online booking facilities on their website or via third 
party sites. 
 
Via Visitswanseabay.com, we also offer Partners the chance to upload 
their ‘Late Availability’ on the tourism website to fulfil any last-minute 
vacancies.  
 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
None - this is a strategy most LAs are following across Wales, as is 
Visit Wales. We will continue to promote all aspects of the destination 
online and keep abreast of the latest digital developments.  
 
Cabinet Member Comments:   
 
The ongoing transformation and development of the service is in 
response to customer behaviour and industry trends.  Retaining 
adequate level of resources is the current priority in order to ensure the 
sustainability of the service and, consequently, the sector.  
Recommendation is NOT AGREED  
 

 
Recommendation 7 
 
We would like to see the Authority make use of the membership of 
national organisations to market eco-tourism in the area such as 
National Trust, RSPB etc.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:   
Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 
Corporate Priority: Maintaining and enhancing Swansea's Natural 
Resources and Biodiversity  
Council’s Section 6 Biodiversity Plan (and associated Corporate 
Biodiversity Action Plan) 
Green Infrastructure Strategy  
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020 
 
Action already being undertaken:   
 
Eco-tourism is not a market we are in a position to currently proactively 
promote as outlined above. Resources are stretched and our focus is 
on driving commercial partnerships. However, it forms part of our 
marketing campaigns in the sense that we always encourage our 
visitors to follow responsible tourism principles and to respect the 
natural environment - appealing to those that favour active, outdoors 

Page 466



pursuits.   
 
We are witnessing businesses becoming increasingly environmentally 
conscious and aware, and we signpost operators to organisations such 
as WRAP, Green Key, BayTrans, Swansea Bay Good Food Circle 
(local produce) etc. in order to reduce their ecological footprint.  
 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
Continue to develop our own visitor databases to target throughout the 
year, as we don’t have access to membership databases, such as NT, 
due to GDPR reasons. 
 
Consider potential advertising with these membership organisations in 
the future, should the right opportunities arise. 
 
Invite these organisations to future destination management 
stakeholder events to further promote their services and their role in 
eco-tourism.  
 
Cabinet Member Comments:  
 
We remain committed to embedding sustainability and protection of the 
environment in all our priorities and service plans and will continue to 
do so as much as possible.   
 
Recommendation is NOT AGREED  
 

 
Recommendation 8 
 
We feel that there needs to be a ‘whole council’ approach to supporting 
big events in Swansea. Departments such as Refuse and Street 
Cleansing need to work with the Tourism team to ensure events run 
smoothly and everything is cleaned up afterwards.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:  
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020 
 
Action already being undertaken:   
 
Events are a key driver of Tourism. The Special Events Team currently 
works closely with several other Council departments / teams in order 
to deliver safe and enjoyable events across the City and County. These 
include Council organised events and those run by the private sector.  
 
For example: 
 
Highways – road closures, traffic plans, event parking, enforcement, 
Park & Ride 

Page 467



 
Parks & Cleansing – event site preparation & reparation; litter 
collection, recycling  
 
Public Health – food safety, event licensing 
 
Legal – events contracts and indemnities 
 
Communications – corporate press and social media support 
 
Health & Safety – emergency management and contingency planning 
 
Cultural Services Marketing & Tourism team undertake the event 
marketing activity to residents and visitors.  
 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
That the Special Events Team within Cultural Services acts as the first 
and single point of contact for events and event organisers in relation 
to the delivery of events and event management enquiries. The 
delivery of events in public spaces is a cross cutting activity involving 
all relevant departments as part of our ongoing ability to deliver on the 
Council’s priority of transforming our economy and infrastructure, 
inclusion and wellbeing factors.    
 
Endeavouring to ensure that associated new developments or major 
events take into account sustainable development principles where 
possible and, where feasible, mitigating actions are developed 
regarding sustainability. 
 
Cabinet Member Comments:   
 
A systematic approach for the whole council, for internal and externally 
provided events is the preferred operating model. 
 
Recommendation is AGREED  
 

 
Recommendation 9 
 
We would like the Authority to consider ring-fencing a percentage of 
receipts from car parks to maintain the local destination, including 
maintaining and cleaning public facilities, etc.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:   
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020 
 
Action already being undertaken:   
 
The Council adopts an approach where all income is taken into 

Page 468



account when setting directorate and service budgets and as such is 
built into the medium term financial plan. 
 
Any ring-fencing of income from car parks would have to take place as 
part of a budget proposal and offset by a compensatory additional 
budget allocation into the car parks budget. 
 
Alternatively Council could decide as part of the budget process to 
allocate additional finding to any priority area as part of its annual 
budget setting process 
 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
A coordinated approach to events and resource setting as above, will 
assist in ensuring a sustainable provision. We will continue to monitor 
the situation, opportunities and risks, via the Destination Management 
Plan delivery and sub groups and service planning procedures. 
 
Cabinet Member Comments:   
 
We will continue to consider the best opportunities for income, support 
mechanisms and sustainability of our services but recognise they are 
already interdependent and connected in terms of provision, cost and 
reliance on income. We cannot agree this at present as it would affect 
the ability of one part of the Directorate to function, in favour of another, 
so further work would be required on this as part of budget setting and 
analysis of impact.  
 
Recommendation is NOT AGREED  
 

 
Recommendation 10 
 
We would like marketing videos to show more of what people can do 
and see if they visit Swansea, such as walking/cycling in Gower and 
promotion of cultural tourism. We would also like to see more use of 
‘viral’ types of advertising that have proved effective in the past and we 
would like to see more use of sites with large footfall throughout 
Swansea to promote/advertise tourism in the area, such as the Market 
and Quadrant Bus Station. 
 
Relevant Policy Commitments: 
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020 
 
Action already being undertaken:   
 
Our marketing activity targets potential visitors from outside Wales, 
therefore it is not always visible to Swansea residents. We already 
have a range of promotional videos produced to market the destination, 
which can be viewed on our YouTube channel at: 

Page 469



www.youtube.com/user/visitswanseabayTV  
 
Our videos are produced in a number of formats so that they can 
become viral, shared by our partners and are often produced in such a 
way that they can have a number of different uses.  
 
These videos are promoted online via the tourism website, social 
media and email marketing to our targeted audiences. This is one of 
many channels we use to promote the 130 private sector Partners, who 
have signed up to yearly marketing packages with us.  
 
Our digital content focusses on the main reasons why people visit 
Swansea Bay, which are the key findings of our visitor survey, i.e. 
beaches, natural landscape and our coastline.  
 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
New videos are already planned for 2020 ‘Year of the Great Outdoors’ 
however, a strong commitment to continue with this strategy for 2021 
and beyond will be vital as Tourism is the only section within the 
Council, which proactively place-markets the destination. 
   
Cabinet Member Comments:   
 
The digital transformation of the team is reaping benefits and the 
increasing number of users of these platforms, justifies recent, albeit 
tough decisions we have had to make. It is critical that the digital 
content is continually refreshed to continue to be able to target the 
relevant markets. 
 
Recommendation is AGREED  
 

 
Recommendation 11 
 
Members of the Working Group are happy to promote tourism in 
Swansea through social media, by posting videos and tweeting links 
etc. We suggest all councillors are contacted, to ask if they will do the 
same.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:   
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020 
 
Action already being undertaken: 
 
We have existing channels that both businesses and consumers follow 
to receive information, including Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, 
Instagram, e-newsletters, etc.  
 
We post regular updates and generate a high level of engagement with 

Page 470



our audiences. 
 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
To identify and share with all members the digital channels they can 
follow and sign up to, so they can assist in the promotion of the 
destination.  
 
Cabinet Member Comments:   
 
I welcome this opportunity for members to share the good work of the 
team amongst their own networks and help to extend the reach of the 
campaigns.  
 
Recommendation is AGREED  
 

 
Recommendation 12 
 
We feel that scrutiny needs to look at this topic in more detail than can 
be done in a one-off working group. We will therefore recommend to 
the Scrutiny Programme Committee that Tourism is considered as a 
future scrutiny inquiry topic.  
 
Relevant Policy Commitments:   
Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
Destination Management Plan 2017-2020 
Welsh Government ‘Partnership for Growth’: Strategy for Tourism 
2013-2020 
 
Action already being undertaken:   
 
We have presented to scrutiny inquiries in 2014 and 2019 and 
welcome any further opportunities to raise the profile of Tourism and its 
importance to the local economy, Council priorities, Welsh Government 
priorities and the Well-Being of Future Generations Act.  
 
New actions following from the recommendation:  
 
Whilst we would be happy to be part of a future topic, the real 
challenge lies in ensuring that a tourism strategy for the destination is 
developed and integrated alongside other council strategies and 
polices. An ideal starting point for this, at a time when the national 
strategy is being reviewed, is to present the work of the tourism team to 
the Policy Development Committee (PDC). 
 
Cabinet Member Comments:  
 
Tourism is a vital part of our employment and resident offer, as well as 
a generator of income and investment from visitors and businesses. 

Page 471



We are committed to ensuring it continues to thrive and the work of the 
council in promoting this is recognised and supported accordingly, with 
local, regional and national stakeholder partnerships in place. 
 
Recommendation is AGREED  
 

 
2.1 An action plan for the agreed recommendations is attached as Appendix 

B. 
 
3. Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
3.1 A full EIA report will be produced following the review of the current DMP 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 There are no legal implications with this report 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no specific financial implications for this report 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers: 
Destination Management Plan 2017-20 available at www.swansea.gov.uk/dmp  
 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Original Scrutiny Report 
Appendix B – Proposed Cabinet Action Plan

Page 472



 
 

         Report of the Tourism Scrutiny Working Group 
 

Cabinet – 18 July 2019 
 

Scrutiny Report on Tourism  
 

 

Purpose: This report presents the findings, conclusions and 
recommendations resulting from a Scrutiny Working Group 
on Tourism. Cabinet is required to consider the conclusions 
and recommendations and respond.  

 
Policy Framework: 
 
Consultation: 

Council Constitution 
 
Access to Services, Legal and Finance 
 

Recommendation(s): 
 

It is recommended that: 
 

1) Cabinet receives the report and tasks the relevant Cabinet Member to report 
back to a Cabinet meeting with a written response to the report and 
recommendations of the Scrutiny Working Group and proposed action(s), for 
Cabinet decision. 

 

Report Authors: 
 
 
Finance Officer: 
 

 

Councillor Peter Jones 
Liz Jordan 
 
Paul Cridland 

Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith 
 
Access to Services 
Officer: 
 

 
Catherine Window 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 A one-off Scrutiny Working Group to look at issues around Tourism was 

established by the Scrutiny Programme Committee. A small number of 
Working Groups are set up each year to carry out ‘light-touch’ examination of 
topics of importance and concern.  
 

1.2 A cross-party group of scrutiny councillors were appointed by the Committee 
and met on 1 May to consider information, ask  questions, and discuss 
Tourism. This report presents the findings, conclusions and recommendations 
resulting from the Scrutiny Working Group into Tourism, for Cabinet decision. 

Appendix A 

Page 473



 
1.3 The convener of the Working Group, Councillor Peter Jones, will present the 

report and accompanying recommendations. 
 

1.4 Cabinet should respond to the report within two months and provide an 
explanation for any recommendations that are not agreed. 
 

1.5 The Scrutiny Programme Committee will be responsible for follow up and 
monitoring of agreed action with the relevant Cabinet Member during the 
course of its work. 
 

2.      What the Working Group Looked At 
 
2.1 The Working Group looked at:  

 

 Overview in terms of context 

 What is being done to promote Wales as a tourist destination 

 What is being done to promote Swansea Bay as a tourist destination 

 What is the current picture 

 Strengths and Weaknesses 

 Vision/strategy to promote/sustain tourism for the next 5 to 10 years 

 What is the business plan for putting this in place 

 Data on why people visit the area 

 Findings/recommendations from previous tourism inquiry and follow up and 
any outstanding issues 

 Information on benchmarking with the rest of the UK (Scotland, Ireland) 

 Any other information the department thinks it would be useful for the 
Working Group to consider. 

 
2.2 The Working Group heard from the Cabinet Member for Investment, 

Regeneration and Tourism along with the Tourism and Marketing Manager 
and the Strategic Manager, Tourism, Marketing and Events.  A written report 
was provided by the Cabinet Member for discussion. 
 

2.3       The Working Group also received presentations on sustainable/eco-tourism 
           from Officers from Gower AONB, Nature Conservation and Countryside Access 
 teams. 

 
3.        Findings  
 
3.1 Sustainable / Eco-Tourism Presentations 

 
3.1.1 Chris Lindley, Gower AONB Team Leader, Deb Hill, Nature Conservation 

Team Leader and Chris Dale, Countryside Access Team Leader attended to 
present an overview of the work the Authority undertakes in relation to 
sustainable/eco-tourism. 

 
 
 
 

Page 474



3.1.2 The following main issues were discussed: 
 

 Important to recognise the value of natural environment to tourism and the 
economy. 

 As well as Gower, the River Tawe Corridor is also important to tourism. 
The Local Development Plan has just been agreed and includes access to 
riverbank along Tawe corridor. 

 Working Group pleased to see how much hard work is being done by 
Authority. 

 There is a lot more the Authority could do in relation to tourism if it had the 
resource but budget has been reduced by 50% in some areas over last 3 
years. Department welcomes recommendations from scrutiny on things 
that can be done with minimum resource.     

 Eco-tourism is very important for Gower.  Working Group would like to see 
work on off-road cycling network brought forward. Estimated cost to do this 
is £50,000 (mostly in legal fees).  Working Group recommends that money 
is found to fund production of a cycle map. 

 All walking/cycling/trail riding routes are available on line. 

 Signage in Gower could be better.  It needs to be accurate and replaced if 
damaged or disappeared.  There is lack of funding available for this work.    

 Statutory duty to signpost footpaths/bridle paths.  Members should inform 
Department if aware of signage issue for these areas and they will rectify. 

 European Union is one of the biggest funders for this work.  Uncertainty 
with grants after Brexit. 

 More use should be made of volunteers to repair footpaths etc.  This has 
already worked well in one area of Swansea. 

 Important to have joined up way of recording and promoting everything 
going on in the area.  Swansea Bay ‘Surfari’ campaign including 
campervan at Gower Show was very good.  Ideas like this should be used 
more.  

 In Llangollen, there is one number to ring to find out availability of 
accommodation and to contact hotels etc. There is a charge for using this 
line so it pays for itself.  Would be a good idea for Swansea to do this, if it 
is not already. 

 Would be good to have deck chairs back on Swansea beach.  However, 
the issue of maintenance may be a problem. 

 In terms of marketing eco-tourism opportunities, the Authority should make 
use of memberships of national organisations.  Could look at establishing a 
group again with Natural Resources Wales and other national 
organisations represented.   

 
3.2 Tourism Report and Presentation 
 
3.2.1 Robert Francis-Davies, Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration and 

Tourism; Steve Hopkins, Tourism and Marketing Manager and Frances 
Jenkins, Strategic Manager, Tourism, Marketing and Events attended to 
present an overview of marketing and development of tourism delivered by the 
Authority, based on the brief provided by the Working Group prior to the 
meeting, and answer the Working Group’s questions.   

 

Page 475



3.2.2 The following main issues were discussed: 
 

 Tourism and Marketing is a small team of four staff.  They are focussing 
their marketing efforts on North West England, South West England, 
London and Birmingham.   

 Need to ensure big events in Swansea are supported by all departments - 
emptying bins, cleaning up afterwards etc. as this affects people’s 
opinions.  There has to be a whole Council approach.   

 Have to make Gower work as a tourist destination whilst still protecting the 
environment and recognising it is also a place where people live.  It is not 
easy to get the balance right. 

 The Skyline will be a big tourist attraction if it goes ahead.  Signs are 
positive. 

 A percentage of receipts from car park charges should be used to maintain 
the destination.  However, the cost of car parking should not increase in 
order to fund local destinations as the cost of parking is a barrier to 
tourism.   

 Working Group Members are happy to tweet tourism videos and put on 
their social media pages. 

 Important for different types of accommodation to be made available in the 
area including pubs, bed and breakfasts, family run hotels and campsites.  
Should look at good practice from other areas with regards marketing of 
accommodation in Swansea 

 Working Group would like to see more advertising like the ‘EPIC’ banner at 
Rhosilli last year.  This ‘viral’ sort of advertising is good use of the budget. 

 Marketing videos are good but could be longer and include more activities 
such as hiking/trail walking and the Copper Works. 

 Department tends to focus on operators.  Would be worth investigating 
using booking site that the Authority would receive commission from. 

 Tourism is now an all-year-round business. 

 Glamping pods are a good idea for extending the season. 

 Access to and capacity of campsites on Gower is an issue. 

 Working Group feels planning policies hinder tourism, for example, a 
campsite on Gower was asked to remove ‘pods’ as they did not meet some 
planning regulations, the owners of the campsite had to go through a long 
process to show they did meet planning regulations; There have been 
planning issues regarding access to Three Cliffs campsite.  If we want to 
remain a tourist destination we need to change planning. 

 Authority should use sites with large footfall all over City and County of 
Swansea to promote/advertise tourism in the area.  Should look into using 
big screen more; using walls at entrances to Swansea Market to advertise 
local areas; displaying information at the Railway Station and the Quadrant 
Bus Station; and consider the possibility of pop ups on the main artery 
roads when arriving into Swansea.   

 Authority needs to advertise cultural tourism in Swansea on different 
platforms such as videos. 

 Need to work with BID in promoting tourism in Swansea. 
 
 
 

Page 476



4. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
4.1 The Working Group was pleased to see how much hard work is being done by 

the Authority to promote tourism in the area.  We feel that there is a lot more 
the Authority could do but recognise that this is restricted by the budget that 
has reduced drastically in recent years.  
 

4.2 We feel it is important to recognise the value of the natural environment to 
tourism and the economy and recommend that:  
a. Work on an off-road cycling network is brought forward and that money is 

found to fund the production of a cycling map for the area (estimated at 
£50,000, mostly in legal fees).  

b. Consideration is given to making more use of volunteers to help maintain 
our environmental assets such as footpaths, steps etc. This is a valuable 
resource for the Authority and can be a great learning and social 
experience for volunteers. 

 
4.3 The Working Group would like to see an improvement in signage especially in 

Gower.  Many signs are missing or in need of repair. The Authority has a 
statutory duty to signpost footpaths and bridle paths and we would like people 
to be made aware that if the Department is informed of any signage issues for 
these areas they will rectify them.   
 

4.4 We are concerned about funding post Brexit and recommend that a piece of 
work is undertaken to identify future grant funding possibilities.  
 

4.5 We feel that the Authority should look at good practice from other areas 
regarding the marketing of accommodation in Swansea. 
 

4.6 We recommend that the Authority explores introducing an information and 
availability phone line for holiday accommodation in the area. If this includes a 
booking system, and commission is charged, it could pay for itself.   
 

4.7 We would like to see the Authority make use of the membership of national 
organisations to market eco-tourism in the area such as National Trust, RSPB 
etc.  
 

4.8 We feel that there needs to be a ‘whole council’ approach to supporting big 
events in Swansea.  Departments such as Refuse and Street Cleansing need 
to work with the Tourism team to ensure events run smoothly and everything 
is cleaned up afterwards. 
 

4.9 We would like the Authority to consider ring-fencing a percentage of receipts 
from car parks to maintain the local destination, including maintaining and 
cleaning public facilities etc. 
 

4.10 We would like marketing videos to show more of what people can do and see 
if they visit Swansea, such as walking/cycling in Gower and promotion of 
cultural tourism.  We would also like to see more use of ‘viral’ types of 
advertising that have proved effective in the past and we would like to see 

Page 477



more use of sites with large footfall throughout Swansea to promote/advertise 
tourism in the area, such as the Market and Quadrant Bus Station.   
 

4.11 Members of the Working Group are happy to promote tourism in Swansea 
through social media, by posting videos and tweeting links etc.  We suggest all 
councillors are contacted, to ask if they will do the same.  
 

4.12 We feel that scrutiny needs to look at this topic in more detail than can be 
done in a one-off working group.  We will therefore recommend to the Scrutiny 
Programme Committee that Tourism is considered as a future scrutiny inquiry 
topic. 

 
5. Equality and Engagement Implications  

 

5.1 The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales) and must, in 
the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 
Our Equality Impact Assessment process ensures that we have paid due 
regard to the above.  

 
 Any recommendations agreed by Cabinet will be subject to the council’s EIA 

process.  
 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There is a financial implication to two recommendations in this report.  

Recommendation 4.2a - if accepted, the cost of production of a cycle map for 
the area is estimated at £50,000.  Recommendation 4.9 – if accepted, would 
have a financial implication on how receipts from car parking are used. Any 
costs arising would need to come from existing resources or would be subject 
to the usual budget process for future years. 

 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1 There are no specific legal implications at this stage. 
 
 
 
Background  None. 
Papers:   
 
Appendices: None. 

Page 478



Appendix B 
 

Scrutiny Inquiry into Tourism  – Cabinet Action Plan 
 

(NB Only include the recommendations agreed, in the action plan) 
 

Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action 
Proposed 

Timescale Responsible Officer 

1. The Working Group was pleased to 
see how much hard work is being 
done by the Authority to promote 
tourism in the area. We feel that 
there is a lot more the Authority 
could do but recognise that this is 
restricted by the budget that has 
reduced drastically in recent years.  
 
 

Over the last 3 years, 
we have been working 
towards a 50% reduction 
in budget. This has 
resulted in the closure of 
the Tourist Information 
Centre (2016) and the 
refocussing of activity in 
line with a digital 
strategy, which will 
increase more web 
visits, increase social 
media followers and 
engagement and 
capture additional 
segmented and profiled 
email addresses.  
 
 

Having just reviewed the 
Destination 
Management Plan 
(DMP), one of the 
recommendations is to 
ensure greater input 
from those Heads of 
Service whose service 
areas play an important 
role in the management 
of the destination. These 
will be invited to future 
steering group meetings. 
 
Cabinet Member 
comment:  
‘Consider how a 
Tourism Strategy may 
also be introduced, 
working alongside the 
current DMP.’ 
 

 
2020/21 

 
Steve Hopkins  

 

2. We feel it is important to recognise 
the value of the natural environment 
to tourism and the economy and 
recommend that:  

a. Work on an off-road cycling 
network is brought forward and that 
money is found to fund the 

The Council has a duty 
under the Environment 
(Wales) Act to 'maintain 
and enhance 
biodiversity' and to 
'promote the resilience 
of ecosystems'. Each 

In response to the 
specific 
recommendations: 
 
a) off-road cycling 
network and map: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
2020-
onwards 

 
 
 
 
 
Chris Dale 
 

P
age 479



production of a cycling map for the 
area (estimated at £50,000, mostly 
in legal fees).  

b. Consideration is given to making 
more use of volunteers to help 
maintain our environmental assets 
such as footpaths, steps etc. This is 
a valuable resource for the Authority 
and can be a great learning and 
social experience for volunteers.  
 
 

Council function / 
Service Area should 
now be considering 
where and how they can 
achieve this through 
their service/business 
plans. The Corporate 
Biodiversity working 
group will provide a 
vehicle for raising 
awareness and 
encouraging best 
practice. 
 
The natural environment 
plays an important role 
in tourism and 
consistently comes up 
as one of the main 
reasons why people visit 
our area. As such, 
sustainability is one of 
the four key priorities in 
the Destination 
Management Plan and 
the Tourism Team 
encourages responsible 
tourism throughout our 
marketing activity, e.g. 
recycling, reducing 
ecological footprint, 
sustainable transport, 
walking/cycling, using 
local produce, etc.  

We’ve previously 
investigated this but 
Active Travel money 
cannot be used for non-
urban routes.  
 
The possibility of a 
Gower off-road cycle 
route is at early stages 
of consideration. This 
project would develop 
and promote a network 
of bridleways as a way 
of enjoying the 
countryside by bike. It 
would enable visitors to 
explore large areas of 
Gower AONB by bicycle 
and cross much of the 
landscape including the 
high points of all the 
major hills. There would 
however be some 
unavoidable short road 
sections. It is estimated 
the cost of the initial 
phases including 
physical works, legal 
processes, landowner 
compensation, etc. 
would cost £26,000. 
There is currently no 
budget available for 
such works, so grant 
funding will need to be 
identified, but it unlikely 
to cover full costs and 
future management 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 480



implications. 
 
 
b) volunteers to help 
maintain environmental 
assets  
 
The Council already 
uses volunteers, for 
example the Ramblers, 
for such purposes. 
However, active, 
committed volunteers 
are only one part of a 
solution to meeting the 
demands of the service 
currently, which also 
includes equipment, 
supervision, training and 
transport costs.  Even if 
the number of 
volunteers and volunteer 
days was doubled, the 
impact on the amount of 
maintenance needed 
would be minimal and so 
we are not in a position 
to increase our 
responsibilities as a 
result. However, the 
Service is in the process 
of appointing a Welsh 
Government funded, 
volunteer coordinator, to 
increase the number of 
volunteer projects 
undertaken and we 
welcome the support to 

 
 
 
 
 
2020/23 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Deb Hill 

P
age 481



promote this, within the 
context of the 
information above.  
 
Recommendation is 
Partly Agreed to 
investigate grant funding 
for the network and 
increase the recruitment 
of volunteers 
 

 

3. The Working Group would like to 
see an improvement in signage 
especially in Gower. Many signs are 
missing or in need of repair. The 
Authority has a statutory duty to 
signpost footpaths and bridle paths 
and we would like people to be 
made aware that if the Department 
is informed of any signage issues for 
these areas they will rectify them.  
 
 

Regarding different 
signage:  
 
Highways signage – a 
comprehensive audit 
was conducted a few 
years ago in partnership 
with Highways. Findings 
were forwarded to 
maintenance team for 
repairs / replacement. 
Some improvements still 
outstanding due to lack 
of budget to address all 
issues.  
 
Footpaths / bridleways 
signage – it is a 
statutory duty of the 
Council’s Countryside 
Access Team to rectify 
any signage issues with 
footpaths and 
bridleways. However 
signage is only 
appropriate where the 
footpath or bridleway is 

Await the findings of the 
2019 visitor and trade 
surveys to see if there 
are issues with 
highways signage. 
 
Highways signage: 
consider another 
strategic audit for 2020 if 
resources could be ring-
fenced for any identified 
improvements and 
repairs.  
 
Consider a site-specific, 
co-ordinated approach 
to signage between the 
various Council teams 
and allocate 
responsibility/pool 
resources for on-going 
maintenance. 
 
Cabinet Member 
comments:  
‘Consider funding 
application and 

 
2020/21 

 
Relevant Council Officers 
from Place Directorate 
depending on nature of 
signage (e.g. Highways, 
Cultural Services and 
Regeneration) 

P
age 482



fully accessible, i.e. 
maintained in a good 
condition.  Due to 
reduced maintenance 
budget and grant 
availability the number 
of footpaths and 
bridleways the Council is 
able to maintain in a 
good condition is 
decreasing every year.  
 
Waymarks Fingerposts 
– an audit was 
conducted 2 years ago 
at various Council-run 
beaches and a rolling 
programme is in place to 
repair/replace the 
wooden fingerposts on 
the seafront as and 
when budget becomes 
available. Langland Bay 
was completed this year 
and Caswell is to follow.  
 
Statutory Signage – e.g. 
dog ban, water quality, 
bye-laws, restrictions, 
planning notices, etc. 
 
Promotional / 
Interpretation Signage – 
e.g. Blue Flags, Lobster 
Campaign, Smoke-free 
Beaches, safety 
messages, etc. 
 

opportunity for policy 
commitments to 
resource signage 
improvement.’  
 
Recommendation is 
AGREED subject to 
budget constraints 

P
age 483



Signage ‘clutter’ is a 
recurring issue across 
the destination, however 
it becomes more evident 
in the traditional 
hotspots such as Port 
Eynon for example, 
where a lot of different 
signs have been erected 
over the years but not 
removed (where 
relevant) or maintained 
(where needed). This is 
mainly due to the fact 
that signage, (as 
outlined above) has 
varying functions across 
different services and 
each with reduced or 
zero resources to apply 
a coordinated approach 
to ongoing maintenance 
or replacement.  
 

 

4. We are concerned about funding 
post Brexit and recommend that a 
piece of work is undertaken to 
identify future grant funding 
possibilities.  
 
 

The Economic 
Development and 
External Funding Team 
subscribes to an online 
grants database and 
continually monitors 
available grant and loan 
funding opportunities.  
 
There is a need for 
continued engagement 
with Welsh Government 
to influence the shape of 
tourism funding post 

Explore innovative 
funding and investment 
strategies and borrow 
prudently to support the 
City Deal, only when it is 
right to do so. 
 
Implement a joined up 
approach to all public 
expenditure and the use 
of buildings and 
resources to ensure we 
can continue to do more 
with less and can seek 

 
2020/21 

 
Paul Relf  

P
age 484



Brexit, and to explore 
partnership funding 
models where other 
organisations may be in 
a better position to bid 
for funding but with the 
backing and support of 
the Council.  
 
There is some success 
already with this 
approach, e.g. Hafod 
Copperworks Musgrave 
Engine House project 
working with Swansea 
University and Friends 
of Hafod-Morfa 
Copperworks. External 
funding from EU sources 
has been decreasing as 
a percentage of overall 
external funding secured 
in recent years. 
 
The City Deal and 
regeneration of Hafod 
Copperworks remain a 
key priority for the 
Council in improving 
economic wellbeing and 
tourism in the area. 
 

the wider and more 
imaginative community 
use of public assets, 
such as Council-owned 
buildings. 
 
Continue to explore 
collaborative and 
innovative ways in which 
local services can be 
financed and delivered 
most efficiently, and how 
the value of council 
assets can be 
maximised. 
 
In any new DMP action 
plan, ED&EFT to review 
actions and identify 
potential funding 
streams  
 
Continue engagement 
with Welsh Government 
to influence shape of 
tourism funding post 
Brexit 
 
Explore potential 
partnership funding 
models for future 
projects.  
 

 

5. We feel that the Authority should 
look at good practice from other 
areas regarding the marketing of 
accommodation in Swansea.  
 

The accommodation 
sector is part of a 
destination’s overall 
tourism offer and is 
intrinsically linked to 

Research the 
arrangements that other 
LA’s in Wales have with 
their businesses who 
want to promote their 

 
 
 
2020/21 

 
 
 
Steve Hopkins 

P
age 485



 other elements such as 
activities, attractions, 
food & drinks and major 
events.  
 
Our marketing 
campaigns focus on 
promoting the 
destination as a whole 
rather than just the 
accommodation sector.  
 
However, we do have a 
comprehensive ‘Where 
To Stay’ section on the 
official tourism website 
with 56 listed private 
sector accommodation 
providers (e.g. hotels, 
B&Bs, hostels, caravan 
and camping sites, etc.). 
These are 
businesses/organisation
s who buy into a yearly 
marketing package with 
the Council, i.e. Visit 
Swansea Bay Marketing 
Partners.  
 
Our current requirement 
is that all 
accommodation 
operators on the tourism 
website must be 
inspected and 
graded/listed with either 
VisitWales or The AA. 
 

services with them.  
 
Review our current 
requirement to only 
accept graded 
properties on our 
tourism website and 
consider a policy 
statement for this.  
 
Report the findings of 
the visitor and trade 
surveys to relevant 
Cabinet Members and 
the DMP Steering 
Group. 
 
 

P
age 486



Although this provides 
re-assurance to visitors 
and a level of protection 
for the Council in case of 
a complaint, this also 
restricts the number of 
businesses that can be 
recruited as Marketing 
Partners. It also doesn’t 
reflect the way visitors 
now search for 
accommodation i.e. they 
search for brands, 
recommendations and 
increasingly, through the 
sharing economy. 
 
Some operators, 
whether graded or not, 
choose to promote their 
property through other, 
unregulated sharing 
economy networks such 
as Airbnb or local private 
websites (e.g. 
gower.com). 
 
We already undertake 
regular benchmarking 
exercises to assess how 
other comparable 
destinations market 
themselves and also 
exchange good practice 
e.g. through BRADA 
(British Resorts and 
Destinations 
Association) of which we 

P
age 487



are members.  
 
A few years ago, we 
also worked with Visit 
Wales in appointing a 
consultancy to 
undertake an 
Accommodation 
Demand Study. This 
work has informed some 
of the most recent hotel 
developments in the City 
Centre.  
 
STEAM figures and 
occupancy figures are 
also a good benchmark 
to determine how 
Swansea compares to 
the Welsh average and 
other destinations. 
Swansea occupancy 
figures for serviced 
accommodation, for 
example, are 
consistently higher than 
the Wales average and 
the STEAM figures 
demonstrate continuous 
growth.  
 
Regular visitor surveys 
give us an insight into 
who our visitors are, 
where they come from, 
where they stay, how 
they booked their 
holiday, how much they 

P
age 488



spent, whether they are 
satisfied with their visit 
and likely to visit again 
and/or recommend us to 
others. We are able to 
use this intelligence to 
target our marketing 
activity more effectively. 
 
We are also planning a 
tourism trade survey for 
this Autumn to 
benchmark destination 
performance against the 
2012 findings. Questions 
revolve mainly around 
destination management 
issues.  
 

 

8. We feel that there needs to be a 
‘whole council’ approach to 
supporting big events in Swansea. 
Departments such as Refuse and 
Street Cleansing need to work with 
the Tourism team to ensure events 
run smoothly and everything is 
cleaned up afterwards.  
 
 

Events are a key driver 
of Tourism. The Special 
Events Team currently 
works closely with 
several other Council 
departments / teams in 
order to deliver safe and 
enjoyable events across 
the City and County. 
These include Council 
organised events and 
those run by the private 
sector. For example: 
 
Highways – road 
closures, traffic plans, 
event parking, 
enforcement, Park & 
Ride 

That the Special Events 
Team within Cultural 
Services acts as the first 
and single point of 
contact for events and 
event organisers in 
relation to the delivery of 
events and event 
management enquiries.  
 
The delivery of events in 
public spaces is a cross 
cutting activity involving 
all relevant departments 
as part of our ongoing 
ability to deliver on the 
Council’s priority of 
transforming our 
economy and 

 
2020/21 

 
David Price-Deer  

P
age 489



 
Parks & Cleansing – 
event site preparation & 
reparation; litter 
collection, recycling  
 
Public Health – food 
safety, event licensing 
 
Legal – events contracts 
and indemnities 
 
Communications – 
corporate press and 
social media support 
 
Health & Safety – 
emergency 
management and 
contingency planning 
 
Cultural Services 
Marketing & Tourism 
team undertake the 
event marketing activity 
to residents and visitors.  
 

infrastructure, inclusion 
and wellbeing factors.   
 
Endeavouring to ensure 
that associated 
new developments or 
major events take into 
account sustainable 
development principles 
where possible and, 
where feasible, 
mitigating actions are 
developed regarding 
sustainability. 
 

 

10. We would like marketing videos to 
show more of what people can do 
and see if they visit Swansea, such 
as walking/cycling in Gower and 
promotion of cultural tourism. We 
would also like to see more use of 
‘viral’ types of advertising that have 
proved effective in the past and we 
would like to see more use of sites 
with large footfall throughout 
Swansea to promote/advertise 

Our marketing activity 
targets potential visitors 
from outside of Wales, 
therefore it is not always 
visible to Swansea 
residents.  
 
We already have a 
range of promotional 
videos produced to 
market the destination, 

New videos are already 
planned for 2020 ‘Year 
of the Great Outdoors’ 
however, a strong 
commitment to continue 
with this strategy for 
2021 and beyond will be 
vital as Tourism is the 
only section within the 
Council, which 
proactively place-

 
 
2020/21 

 
 
Steve Hopkins  

P
age 490



tourism in the area, such as the 
Market and Quadrant Bus Station. 
 
 

which can be viewed on 
our YouTube channel at: 
www.youtube.com/user/
visitswanseabayTV  
 
Our videos are produced 
in a number of formats 
so that they can become 
viral, shared by our 
partners and are often 
produced in such a way 
that they can have a 
number of different 
uses.  
 
These videos are 
promoted online via the 
tourism website, social 
media and email 
marketing to our 
targeted audiences. This 
is one of many channels 
we use to promote the 
130 private sector 
Partners, who have 
signed up to yearly 
marketing packages with 
us.  
 
Our digital content 
focusses on the main 
reasons why people visit 
Swansea Bay, which are 
the key findings of our 
visitor survey, i.e. 
beaches, natural 
landscape and our 
coastline.  

markets the destination. 
   
 

P
age 491



 
      

11. Members of the Working Group are 
happy to promote tourism in 
Swansea through social media, by 
posting videos and tweeting links 
etc. We suggest all councillors are 
contacted, to ask if they will do the 
same.  
 

We have existing 
channels that both 
businesses and 
consumers follow to 
receive information, 
including Facebook, 
Twitter, YouTube, 
Instagram, e-
newsletters, etc.  
 
We post regular updates 
and generate a high 
level of engagement 
with our audiences. 
 

To identify and share 
with all members the 
digital channels they can 
follow and sign up to, so 
they can assist in the 
promotion of the 
destination.  
 
 

 
 
2020/21 

 
 
Steve Hopkins  

 

12. We feel that scrutiny needs to look 
at this topic in more detail than can 
be done in a one-off working group. 
We will therefore recommend to the 
Scrutiny Programme Committee that 
Tourism is considered as a future 
scrutiny inquiry topic.  
 
 

We have presented to 
scrutiny inquiries in 2014 
and 2019 and welcome 
any further opportunities 
to raise the profile of 
Tourism and its 
importance to the local 
economy, Council 
priorities, Welsh 
Government priorities 
and the Well-Being of 
Future Generations Act.  
 

Whilst we would be 
happy to be part of a 
future topic, the real 
challenge lies in 
ensuring that a tourism 
strategy for the 
destination is developed 
and integrated alongside 
other council strategies 
and polices. An ideal 
starting point for this, at 
a time when the national 
strategy is being 
reviewed, is to present 
the work of the tourism 
team to the Policy 
Development Committee 
(PDC). 
 

 
2020/23 

 
Steve Hopkins 

 

 

P
age 492



 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Resilience & Strategic Collaboration 
 

Cabinet – 21 November 2019  
 

Scrutiny Inquiry into Equalities – Cabinet Member Response 
 

Purpose: To outline a response to the scrutiny recommendations 
and to present an action plan for agreement. 
 

Policy Framework: The Equality Act 2010 and Equality Act 2010 (Statutory 
Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 
 

Consultation: Legal, Finance and Access to Services  

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

1) The response as outlined in the report and related action plan be agreed 
 

Report Author: Sarah Lackenby 

Finance Officer: Ben Smith 

Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith  

Access to Services 
Officer: 

Rhian Millar 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Equalities Inquiry report was received by Cabinet on the 19 September 

2019 after the Equalities Scrutiny Inquiry Panel completed a detailed 
inquiry into the matter.   

 
1.2 The response to the recommendations are contained in this report. Cabinet 

have considered the contents of the scrutiny report, looking at each of the 
specific recommendations made and gained advice on whether it should 
agree, or not agree each individual recommendation. 

 
2.0 Response to Scrutiny Recommendations 

Recommendation 1 

Implement a high-level cross council Strategic Equality Group.  
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
69. Establish Policy Development and Delivery Committees to ensure 
all elected members and the public can influence how policies are 

Page 493

Agenda Item 15.



written and services are delivered. 
 

Action already being undertaken: Equalities Policy Development 
Committee (PDC) established and work plan for the remainder of the 
year agreed. 
 

New actions following from the recommendation:  None 
 

Cabinet Member Comments: The PDC will provide focus to this 
priority area 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 2 

Develop a new Equality Plan co-productively.  Ensure it is more 
streamlined and outcome and impact focused. The Council should take 
up the offer from the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) 
Wales to work with us on our Plan. 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken: See below 
 

New actions following from the recommendation:  
New Equality Plan in development drawing on: 
 Recommendations from the Scrutiny inquiry 
 This Cabinet response 
 Consultation activity 
 The ‘Is Wales Fairer’ report. 
Due to the timing of activity this year a full co-productive approach is 
not possible in order to meet the statutory deadline. However, this will 
form part of the plan from 2020 onwards. The Council will also 
proactively engage the EHRC on this and future equality plans. 
 

Cabinet Member Comments: The Equality Plan is a key strategic 
document for the Council. Co-producing this will be important and 
adequate time and resources are required to accomplish this in a 
meaningful way. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 3 

Promote ”SMART” working with our Equality Forums, ensuring they all 
have clear terms of reference, work plans and schedules.  Ensure 
better engagement with Council departments and Councillor 
Champions. Facilitate the establishing of Women’s and Inter-Faith 
Consultative Forums. 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 

Page 494



ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken:  

 Leadership Team discussion with Heads of Service to determine 
and agree areas of consultation, engagement and co-production 
that can inform the future work plans across all equality forums 

 

New actions following from the recommendation:  

 Work plans and schedules to be planned across equality forums 

 Development of the Equality Champions 
 

Cabinet Member Comments: Forward planning to support equality 
forums is already underway. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 4 

Clarify and further promote the role of Councillor Champions, ensure 
better engagement with Equality Groups/Forums and establish links 
with the Strategic Equality Group. 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken:  
 

New actions following from the recommendation: 

 Review of Councillor Champion involvement in light of the work 
plans and schedules across Equality Forums 

 Develop a role description for Councillor Champions so 
responsibilities are clear 

 Communicate work of the Strategic Equality Group so Councillor 
Champions can easily engage with the group 

 

Cabinet Member Comments: None 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 5 

Clarify expectations of those acting in the Equality Staff Representative 
role.  We would expect those nominated to be able to take part in co-
ordinating meetings and training and that they are linked to a wider 
knowledge base/support network for advice, guidance and support.   
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 
 

Page 495



Action already being undertaken:  

 Equality Champions network already identified 

 Training underway 
 

New actions following from the recommendation:  

 Equality Champions involved in work planning and scheduling so 
they can lead and co-ordinate at relevant Equality Forums 

 Further and ongoing training to be delivered 

 Role description articulated and reviewed annually. 
 

Cabinet Member Comments: This is an important priority and the 
Equality Champions are a valued network. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 6 

Complete the Carers Strategy as a matter of urgency. 

 

Relevant Policy Commitments:   

55. Continue to stand up for the rights of all people in Swansea to live 

their lives, freely without fear, hatred, discrimination, or repression 

regardless of race, colour, religion and beliefs, sexual orientation, 

gender or age. 

 

Action already being undertaken:   

 West Glamorgan Regional Partners Board are progressing the 

development of Regional Carers Strategy 

 Arrangements for progressing the development of local and 

regional strategies are scheduled to commence early 2020 

following the appointment of Regional Carers Partnership Board 

Coordinator 

 The creation of People Directorate Commissioning Hub will lead to 

an overview of Carers requirements across the Directorate and 

enable responsibility for evaluating needs and developing a Carers’ 

Strategy to be allocated to a designated officer(s) 

 Timescales for developing regional and local Carers Strategies are 

in development, in collaboration with relevant partner organisations 

 To ensure the voice of carers are heard a new peer led forum has 

been launched in Swansea that gives parents and carers of children 

with disabilities and additional needs a greater voice in the way 

services are run and developed 

 The Swansea Parent Carer Forum has been created co-

productively with Swansea Council to make sure that the views of 

all parent carers are represented and taken into account 

 The forum will work collaboratively in equal partnership with the 

council and others on developing and improving services in 

Swansea 

 The launch, on the 18th October, was an important part of 

connecting with the wider parent carer community and ensuring the 

Page 496



Council represents the diverse community.  During the launch there 

was the opportunity for people to find out about and influence the 

forum’s work priorities and meet a number of organisations who 

work locally with disabled people and their families. 

New actions following from the recommendation:  

 Continue to work with carers to develop the strategy 

 Continue to ensure a co-productive approach working with carers  

 

Cabinet Member Comments: This is an important priority and good 

progress has been made. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 7 

Complete the review of Recruitment and Selection Policy as a matter of 
urgency.  This should include looking at better promotion of staff 
vacancies and apprenticeships to different groups, consider advertising 
these more carefully to promote representation of Black, Asian and 
Ethnic Minority people (BAME), disabled people, Lesbian Gay Bisexual 
and Transgender (LGBT), veterans and women in male dominated 
roles (and vice-versa). 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken:  

 Review of the Recruitment and Selection Policy underway 

New actions following from the recommendation:  

 Complete the review of the Recruitment and Selection Policy 

 Take a co-productive approach to developing the new Policy and 
procedures working with equality forums 

 Incorporate good practice 

 Establish networks to disseminate. 

Cabinet Member Comments: This work links well with the Council’s 
Organisational Development Strategy. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 8 

Lead positive campaigns celebrating Swansea’s diversity and zero 
tolerance for discrimination.  Use the Swansea 50th Year as a City 
Anniversary to launch what will be an ongoing process. 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken:  
Throughout the 50th year a number of activities have been undertaken 

Page 497



to promote diversity, see the list at recommendation 15. 
 

New actions following from the recommendation: 
We will create an external communication programme to promote 
significant dates relating to equality and diversity issues, e.g. 

 Holocaust Memorial Day 

 LGBT history month 

 International Women’s Day 

 Deaf Awareness Day 

 Mental Health Awareness Week 

 Swansea Pride 

 UK Day of Older People 

 Black History Month 

 Children’s Day 

 International Day for Elimination of Violence Against Women 

 World Aids Day 

 Human Rights Day. 

Cabinet Member Comments:  A great deal of work has already been 
undertaken throughout the 50th celebrations. The planned promotion of 
future activities in 2020 will ensure these important issues continue to 
receive a high profile within Swansea and its communities. This will 
have to be achieved within existing resources and as part of our teams’ 
existing work programmes. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 9 

Review training opportunities to ensure they are fit for purpose. 
Including: 
a) Ensuring better uptake of equality related training amongst staff, 

especially front facing staff.   
b) Ensuring middle managers have completed training and encourage 

staff to do so 
c) Developing training with equality groups where possible.  
d) Ensuring the opportunities to do the training are repeated regularly 

particularly around unconscious bias, using alternative formats and 
making a reasonable adjustment. 

Smarter working with others to meet our duty well by investigating the 
sharing of some training and consultation activities with other large 
organisations and/or procure jointly to improve economies of scales. 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken:  

 Review of mandatory training completed. Equalities training 
remains mandatory and is therefore a requirement for all staff to 
complete either via e-learning or face-to-face 

 

Page 498



New actions following from the recommendation:  

 Reviewing the list of employees that have / have not completed the 
mandatory training including refreshers and working with managers 
to address any gaps 

 Commissioning and co-producing training alongside the Strategic 
Equality Group and equality forums 

 Using existing HR&OD networks to investigate and adopt good 
practice and share resources wherever possible 

 Further Develop the Co-production strategic Framework alongside 
the Strategic Equality Group 
 

Cabinet Member Comments: This work aligns with the Council’s 
Organisational Development Strategy. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 10 

Support the continued development of community hubs across the 
Council area and ensuring that all staff involved have full equalities 
training. 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
50. Swansea Council will make imaginative use of digital technologies 
and put this at the heart of all its policies. 
 

Action already being undertaken: 
The strategy and business case around community hubs has been 
reviewed with digital at the heart of the hub model. 
 

New actions following from the recommendation: 
 

Cabinet Member Comments: The community hub model is in the 
process of being revised to ensure digital first is at the heart of the 
transformation of Council services. 
 

Recommendation is AGREED  

 

Recommendation 11 

Address the significant issues with the Council website as identified in 
this report. Key aspects should be developed co-productively. Consider 
use of more ‘hover over’ facilities for key words where pictures are 
shown. Be mindful of problems with PDFs/tables for screen readers. 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
50. Swansea Council will make imaginative use of digital technologies 
and put this at the heart of all its policies. 
 

Action already being undertaken:   

 To produce a new Council website with improved accessibility to 
meet AA standard using W3C 2.1 guidance 

 Alt tags are present on all images already for screen readers, or 
when images are not loaded 

Page 499



 Web editors are already advised to use tables only when absolutely 
necessary to display information and to keep tables as small and 
simple as possible  

 Guidance for web editors has been produced and is supplemented 
with new content as it is developed: 
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/staffnet/websiteaccessibility 

 

New actions following from the recommendation:  

 To meet with the Disability Liaison Group to discuss any current 
difficulties using the site 

 To co-produce the new site utilising their experiences to improve 
accessibility for a wide range of user needs 

 To ask web editors to add Word versions of smaller pdf documents 
to improve accessibility for users, especially those using screen 
readers 

 

Cabinet Member Comments: The upgrade of our website is a key 
priority within the Digital Strategy and Sustainable Swansea, as the 
Council moves towards a Digital First approach 

Recommendation is AGREED  

 

Recommendation 12 

Develop more easy read and plain English resources. 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:   
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken:   

 Departmental Equality Representatives facilitated a session with 
Swansea People First on Easy Read/Plain English 

 Public Service Board funding has trained a number of officers in 
producing Easy Read documents 

 A new Consultation and Engagement Strategy is being developed 
which clarifies responsibility around easy read and other alternative 
formats 

 Social Services are working co-productively with Swansea People 
first in developing Easy Read/Plain English formats  

 

New actions following from the recommendation: 

 Raise awareness with staff on the importance of producing Easy 
Read and Plain English documents 

 Share best practice internally from areas within the authorities who 
are at the forefront of developing Easy read and Plain English 
documents  

 Consult with users to understand where people would benefit from 
more Easy Read and plain English resources. 

 
 

Page 500

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/staffnet/websiteaccessibility


Cabinet Member Comments: Developing easy read and plain English 
resources is helpful however, this must be balanced alongside 
available resources and relative priorities. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 13 

Build upon the development of a Co-production Strategy with inclusion 
of a Toolkit for use by staff across the authority. 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken:  

 Co-production Strategic Framework developed 
 

New actions following from the recommendation: 

 Work with the Strategic Equality Group to further develop the 
framework and draft action plan 

 Develop e-learning materials and a toolkit for staff and teams 
looking to use co-production in service design, development and 
changes 

 

Cabinet Member Comments: This is a new area for the Council and 
although good work is underway a plan for roll out with appropriate 
guidance and support for managers is important. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 14 

Collect better data on our workforce and develop better resources to 
encourage staff to give their personal data, for example based upon a 
toolkit by Stonewall ‘what it has got to do with you’.  In future report on 
pay gaps such as disability and BAME, as well as gender. 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments: 
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken: 
The Council includes an Equal Opportunities form with every 
recruitment application pack and new starter pack. This information is 
collated in order to provide Welsh Government with a full range of 
Equalities Data 
 
The Council produces its annual gender pay report and has an action 
plan to close the gap. 
 
 

Page 501



New actions following from the recommendation: 

 Revision of the Equal Opportunities form (in line with the Welsh 
Government template) 

 Revision of the Staff Profile Survey 

 The Council is working on broadening the application process 
during recruitment (see recommendation 7) 

 The Council plans to increase employee self-service to capture 
additional data 

 The Council will work towards achieving the Disability Confident 
Employer Standard 

 HR staff are working with the Poverty & Prevention Team to attract 
minority groups during recruitment 

Cabinet Member Comments: Improving data and information about 
our workforce is a key priority, not only to increase equal opportunities 
but also to ensure the Council’s workforce is sustainable in the longer 
term. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 15 

Develop an internal communications rolling programme, led by the 
Strategic Equality Group, to promote training, challenge negative views 
or attitudes and provide positive messages to staff. 
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
 

Action already being undertaken: 
A significant number of internal communications initiatives have 
already taken place this year, including: 

 Swansea Council and Swansea 50 major sponsor to Swansea 
Pride 

 Council LGBT+ Staff Group coordinated large council presence and 
participation at Pride 

 Pride flags flown from civic buildings for LGBT History Month, 
during Pride and for IDAHOT (International Day Against 
Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia) 

 Internal LGBT+ staff campaign – profiles of members and their 
stories. 

 Swansea Icons poll encourages people to vote for Swansea’s 
greatest icon.  Features a wide range of people representative of 
the city’s diversity. 

 Royal visit as part of Swansea 50 meet and greet learning 
disabilities service clients who work at the Victoria Park kiosk. 

 Profile on Hanif Miah – owner of Patti Pavillion as part of Royal visit.  

 Street Party in St Helens Road for Swansea 50 celebrating the 
area’s cultural diversity 

 Holocaust Memorial events (school based) 

 Well-being strategy consultation promotion 

Page 502



 Dementia friends training for staff and promotion of the scheme 

 High 5 Awards, celebrating success of Young people who have 
succeeded against the odds to make things better for those around 
them.  Winners this year (as in previous years) have included a 
number of ethnic minorities and those with disabilities.  

 Welsh Veterans Awards – council awards success 

 World Social Work Day – videos and feature articles for staff 

 Hearing Loop System for meetings – communications to raise 
awareness and encourage staff to use this facility 

 Local Area Coordination – promotion of the work of the local area 
coordination team within the community (staff and external) 

 International Woman's Day staff events and profiles. (staff and 
external) 

 Safeguarding Week – videos and feature articles for staff to raise 
awareness of the issues and encourage staff to take training. 

New actions following from the recommendation: 
Our Equalities, HR and Communications teams will work with the 
Strategic Equality Group to: 

 Establish key messages for staff 

 Identify opportunities to promote existing work and training 
opportunities within this area 

 Provide updates on communication activities undertaken both 
internally and externally around equality and diversity issues. 

Cabinet Member Comments: 
Our internal communications channels frequently reflect and promote 
equality and diversity issues to staff and Members through a broad 
range of initiatives and platforms. Our Equalities, HR and 
Communications teams will support the Strategic Equality Group to 
develop a programme of future activities and to ensure they are 
promoted effectively. However, we need to acknowledge these teams 
are already under pressure and this work will need to be done within 
existing resources. 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 16 

Continue steps towards Swansea becoming a Human Rights City; 
explore how we could embed the UN Convention on the Rights of 
Persons with Disabilities and the UN Convention on the Elimination of 
Discrimination Against Women in the same way as with the UN 
Convention on the Rights of the Child.  Ensure these Conventions are 
reflected in the Councils new Equalities Plan in 2020. 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
51. Follow the co-operative one Council model and ensure that Elected 
Members and staff work together to empower local communities and 
ensure their voices are heard. 
55. Continue to stand up for the rights of all people in Swansea to live 
their lives, freely without fear, hatred, discrimination, or repression 
regardless of race, colour, religion and beliefs, sexual orientation, 
gender or age. 
 

Page 503



Action already being undertaken:  
Work undertaken by the Council in relation to the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) has developed to 
include a consideration of Human Rights. A significant amount of the 
work already undertaken by the Council takes into account Human 
Rights, but not all of it captured. 

New actions following from the recommendation:  

 The Council will articulate its own strategy and then work with the 
Public Services Board (PSB) 

 The ultimate approach will be reviewed with options including the 
potential for a statement of intent 

 

Cabinet Member Comments: There are many standards which can 
be applied to the future city aspiration. These are being reviewed by 
the PDC from a Council perspective and PSB from a partnership 
viewpoint.  

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 17 

Develop further opportunities for adults with disabilities, including 

looking at expanding our social enterprise base. 

  

Relevant Policy Commitments:   

49. Support and expand community enterprises  

78. Work towards reducing poverty and increasing prosperity 

57. Support people to live independently by ensuring a network of local 

area co-ordinators is established 

Action already being undertaken:   

 Employability support and sector specific skills training for citizens 

through Swansea Working and associated employability 

programmes.  This has included enterprise support.  

 Personalised 121 employability mentor support for citizens  

 Adult Learning training and accreditation in numeracy, literacy and 

digital Essential Skills 

 The Commissioning Review of Day Opportunities which is now 

underway will actively consider the development of social enterprise 

as part of the range of future options 

 The Council has supported the parents of an individual with a 

learning disability to establish a Community Interest Company 

 Supporting the parents of people with a learning disability who wish 

to develop a social enterprise in Swansea 

 Bid for the Foundational Economy Fund to establish micro 

enterprises and cooperatives 

 The Local Area Co-ordinators regularly work alongside people with 

both learning and physical impairments 

 Cwmtawe has set up Cwm Alliance Community Interest Company 

which will be providing services around wellbeing 

 Regional funding available from West Glamorgan supports the 

development of a number of social enterprises  

Page 504



New actions following from the recommendation:  

 Increased promotion of employment and skills support for adults 

with disabilities 

 Alignment of all employability support through the Employability 

Commissioning review 

 A key focus of work of the new West Glamorgan regional Research, 

Innovation and Improvement Hub will be development of Social 

Enterprise, once established 

  

Cabinet Member Comments: The Commissioning Review will be a 

key project moving forward 

Recommendation is AGREED 

 

Recommendation 18 

Work with teachers and learners to tackle issues around gender 
stereotyping in schools particularly relating to sporting activities.  
 

Relevant Policy Commitments:  
 

Action already being undertaken:  
All schools have a Strategic Equality Plan in place and must include 
equality objectives and explain how the school will achieve them.  They 
must also demonstrate that the school collects relevant information and 
evidence on which to base its decisions.  The plan is also required to 
outline processes for monitoring progress and assessing equality 
impacts. 
  
Equality objectives should be linked to existing strategies and 
approaches to inclusion, bullying, behaviour management, improving 
attainment, pupil voice, wellbeing and pupil support.  Schools should 
seek to build on their existing work and to ensure questions of equality 
and fairness are considered in the mainstream of activities. 
  
In addition to the above, some of the equality objectives included in 
schools’ plans will emanate from issues identified as a result of 
consultation undertaken with pupils, parents, carers and governors.  
These combined objectives, together with issues arising from analysis 
of the school’s data will form the basis of the equality objectives within 
the SEP for the next four years. 
 

New actions following from the recommendation: 
The SEP template for schools will be reviewed in 2019/2020 and 
additional areas can be considered as part of this review. 
  
A new template will be published by September 2020. 
 

Cabinet Member Comments:  

Recommendation is AGREED 

 
 

Page 505



2.1 An action plan for the agreed recommendations is attached in Appendix A, 
for the original report as received at Cabinet on 19 September follow the 
link. 

 
3.0 Equality and Engagement Implications 
 
3.1 The Council is subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty (Wales) and must, in 

the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) process ensures that we have paid 
 due regard to the above. 
 
3.2  An EIA screening form is attached at Appendix B which determines a full 
 EIA is not required for this report. Individual screenings will be undertaken 
 within the individual actions and projects. 
 
4.0 Legal Implications 
 
4.1 Legal implications of each recommendation are not fully known at this 
 stage in the process. However, legal input will be sought as actions are 
 delivered, particularly with regard to Policy changes. 
 
5.0 Financial Implications 
 
5.1 Financial implications of each recommendation are not fully known at this 
 stage in the process. Business cases will be brought forward should 
 investment be required to deliver any of the proposed actions. 
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Proposed Cabinet Action Plan 
Appendix B - EIA 

Page 506

https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=124&MId=8583&Ver=4&LLL=0


Appendix A 
 

Scrutiny Inquiry into Equalities – Cabinet Action Plan 
 

Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

1 Implement a high-level 
cross council Strategic 
Equality Group.  
 

Equalities Policy Development 
Committee (PDC) established 
and work plan for the remainder 
of the year agreed. 
 

 Aug 
2019 

Head of 
Democratic 
Services 

 

2 Develop a new 
Equality Plan co-
productively.  Ensure it 
is more streamlined 
and outcome and 
impact focused. The 
Council should take up 
the offer from the 
Equality and Human 
Rights Commission 
(EHRC) Wales to work 
with us on our Plan. 
 

 New Equality Plan in development 
drawing on: 
 Recommendations from the 

Scrutiny inquiry 
 This Cabinet response 
 Consultation activity 
 The ‘Is Wales Fairer’ report. 
Due to the timing of activity this year 
a full co-productive approach is not 
possible in order to meet the statutory 
deadline. However, this will form part 
of the plan from 2020 onwards. The 
Council will also proactively engage 
the EHRC on this and future equality 
plans. 
 

Mar 
2020 

Corporate 
Performance 
Manager 

 

3 Promote ”SMART” 
working with our 
Equality Forums, 
ensuring they all have 
clear terms of 
reference, work plans 

Leadership Team discussion with 
Heads of Service to determine 
and agree areas of consultation, 
engagement and co-production 
that can inform the future work 
plans across all equality forums 

 Work plans and schedules to be 
planned across equality forums 

 Development of the Equality 
Champions 

 

Mar 
2020 

Chief 
Transformation 
Officer 

P
age 507



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

and schedules.  
Ensure better 
engagement with 
Council departments 
and Councillor 
Champions. Facilitate 
the establishing of 
Women’s and Inter-
Faith Consultative 
Forums. 
 

 

 

4 Clarify and further 
promote the role of 
Councillor Champions, 
ensure better 
engagement with 
Equality 
Groups/Forums and 
establish links with the 
Strategic Equality 
Group. 
 

  Review of Councillor Champion 
involvement in light of the work 
plans and schedules across 
Equality Forums 

 Develop a role description for 
Councillor Champions so 
responsibilities are clear 

 Communicate work of the 
Strategic Equality Group so 
Councillor Champions can easily 
engage with the group 

 

Mar 
2020 

Policy and 
Strategy Officer 

 

5 Clarify expectations of 
those acting in the 
Equality Staff 
Representative role.  
We would expect 
those nominated to be 
able to take part in co-
ordinating meetings 

 Equality Champions network 
already identified 

 Training underway 
 

 Equality Champions involved in 
work planning and scheduling so 
they can lead and co-ordinate at 
relevant Equality Forums 

 Further and ongoing training to be 
delivered 

 Role description articulated and 

Mar 
2020 

Consultation 
Co-ordinator 

P
age 508



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

and training and that 
they are linked to a 
wider knowledge 
base/support network 
for advice, guidance 
and support. 
 

reviewed annually. 
 

 

6 Complete the Carers 
Strategy as a matter of 
urgency. 
 

 West Glamorgan Regional 

Partners Board are 

progressing the development 

of Regional Carers Strategy 

 Arrangements for progressing 

the development of local and 

regional strategies are 

scheduled to commence early 

2020 following the 

appointment of Regional 

Carers Partnership Board 

Coordinator 

 The creation of People 

Directorate Commissioning 

Hub will lead to an overview of 

Carers requirements across 

the Directorate and enable 

responsibility for evaluating 

needs and developing a 

Carers’ Strategy to be 

allocated to a designated 

officer(s) 

 Timescales for developing 

 Continue to work with carers to 

develop the strategy 

 Continue to ensure a co-

productive approach working with 

carers  

 

Dec 
2020 

Director of 
Social Services 

P
age 509



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

regional and local Carers 

Strategies are in 

development, in collaboration 

with relevant partner 

organisations 

 To ensure the voice of carers 

are heard a new peer led 

forum has been launched in 

Swansea that gives parents 

and carers of children with 

disabilities and additional 

needs a greater voice in the 

way services are run and 

developed 

 The Swansea Parent Carer 

Forum has been created co-

productively with Swansea 

Council to make sure that the 

views of all parent carers are 

represented and taken into 

account 

 The forum will work 

collaboratively in equal 

partnership with the council 

and others on developing and 

improving services in 

Swansea 

 The launch, on the 18th 

October, was an important 

part of connecting with the 

wider parent carer community 

P
age 510



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

and ensuring the Council 

represents the diverse 

community.  During the launch 

there was the opportunity for 

people to find out about and 

influence the forum’s work 

priorities and meet a number 

of organisations who work 

locally with disabled people 

and their families 

 

7 Complete the review of 
Recruitment and 
Selection Policy as a 
matter of urgency.  
This should include 
looking at better 
promotion of staff 
vacancies and 
apprenticeships to 
different groups, 
consider advertising 
these more carefully to 
promote 
representation of 
Black, Asian and 
Ethnic Minority people 
(BAME), disabled 
people, Lesbian Gay 
Bisexual and 
Transgender (LGBT), 
veterans and women 

Review of the Recruitment and 
Selection Policy underway 

 Complete the review of the 
Recruitment and Selection Policy 

 Take a co-productive approach to 
developing the new Policy and 
procedures working with equality 
forums 

 Incorporate good practice 

 Establish networks to 
disseminate. 

Mar 
2020 

Strategic 
HR&OD 
Manager 

P
age 511



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

in male dominated 
roles (and vice-versa). 
 

 

8 Lead positive 
campaigns celebrating 
Swansea’s diversity 
and zero tolerance for 
discrimination.  Use 
the Swansea 50th Year 
as a City Anniversary 
to launch what will be 
an ongoing process. 
 

Throughout the 50th year a 
number of activities have been 
undertaken to promote diversity, 
see the list at recommendation 
15. 
 

We will create an external 
communication programme to 
promote significant dates relating to 
equality and diversity issues, e.g. 

 Holocaust Memorial Day 

 LGBT history month 

 International Women’s Day 

 Deaf Awareness Day 

 Mental Health Awareness 
Week 

 Swansea Pride 

 UK Day of Older People 

 Black History Month 

 Children’s Day 

 International Day for 
Elimination of Violence Against 
Women 

 World Aids Day 

 Human Rights Day. 

Mar 
2021 

Head of 
Communication 
& Marketing 

 

9 Review training 
opportunities to ensure 
they are fit for purpose. 
Including: 
e) Ensuring better 

uptake of equality 
related training 
amongst staff, 

 Review of mandatory training 
completed. Equalities training 
remains mandatory and is 
therefore a requirement for all 
staff to complete either via e-
learning or face-to-face 

 

 Reviewing the list of employees 
that have / have not completed 
the mandatory training including 
refreshers and working with 
managers to address any gaps 

 Commissioning and co-producing 
training alongside the Strategic 
Equality Group and equality 

Sept 
2020 

Strategic 
HR&OD 
Manager 

P
age 512



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

especially front 
facing staff.   

f) Ensuring middle 
managers have 
completed training 
and encourage 
staff to do so 

g) Developing training 
with equality 
groups where 
possible.  

h) Ensuring the 
opportunities to do 
the training are 
repeated regularly 
particularly around 
unconscious bias, 
using alternative 
formats and making 
a reasonable 
adjustment. 

Smarter working with 
others to meet our duty 
well by investigating 
the sharing of some 
training and 
consultation activities 
with other large 
organisations and/or 
procure jointly to 
improve economies of 
scales. 
 

forums 

 Using existing HR&OD networks 
to investigate and adopt good 
practice and share resources 
wherever possible 

 Further Develop the Co-
production strategic Framework 
alongside the Strategic Equality 
Group 

 

P
age 513



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

 

10 Support the continued 
development of 
community hubs 
across the Council 
area and ensuring that 
all staff involved have 
full equalities training. 
 

The strategy and business case 
around community hubs has 
been reviewed with digital at the 
heart of the hub model. 

 Mar 
2022 

Chief 
Transformation 
Officer 

 

11 Address the significant 
issues with the Council 
website as identified in 
this report. Key 
aspects should be 
developed co-
productively. Consider 
use of more ‘hover 
over’ facilities for key 
words where pictures 
are shown. Be mindful 
of problems with 
PDFs/tables for screen 
readers. 
 

 To produce a new Council 
website with improved 
accessibility to meet AA 
standard using W3C 2.1 
guidance 

 Alt tags are present on all 
images already for screen 
readers, or when images are 
not loaded 

 Web editors are already 
advised to use tables only 
when absolutely necessary to 
display information and to 
keep tables as small and 
simple as possible  

 Guidance for web editors has 
been produced and is 
supplemented with new 
content as it is developed: 
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/s
taffnet/websiteaccessibility 

 

 To meet with the Disability Liaison 
Group to discuss any current 
difficulties using the site 

 To co-produce the new site 
utilising their experiences to 
improve accessibility for a wide 
range of user needs 

 To ask web editors to add Word 
versions of smaller pdf documents 
to improve accessibility for users, 
especially those using screen 
readers 

 

Jun 
2020 

Web 
Development 
Manager 

P
age 514

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/staffnet/websiteaccessibility
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/staffnet/websiteaccessibility


Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

 

12 Develop more easy 
read and plain English 
resources. 
 

 Departmental Equality 
Representatives facilitated a 
session with Swansea People 
First on Easy Read/Plain 
English 

 Public Service Board funding 
has trained a number of 
officers in producing Easy 
Read documents 

 A new Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy is being 
developed which clarifies 
responsibility around easy 
read and other alternative 
formats 

 Social Services are working 
co-productively with Swansea 
People first in developing 
Easy Read/Plain English 
formats  

 

 Raise awareness with staff on the 
importance of producing Easy 
Read and Plain English 
documents 

 Share best practice internally from 
areas within the authorities who 
are at the forefront of developing 
Easy read and Plain English 
documents  

 Consult with users to understand 
where people would benefit from 
more Easy Read and plain 
English resources 

Mar 
2021 

Consultation 
Co-ordinator 

 

13 Build upon the 
development of a Co-
production Strategy 
with inclusion of a 
Toolkit for use by staff 
across the authority. 
 

 Co-production Strategic 
Framework developed 

 
 

 Work with the Strategic Equality 
Group to further develop the 
framework and draft action plan 

 Develop e-learning materials and 
a toolkit for staff and teams 
looking to use co-production in 
service design, development and 
changes 

 

Sept 
2020 

Chief 
Transformation 
Officer 

P
age 515



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

 

14 Collect better data on 
our workforce and 
develop better 
resources to 
encourage staff to give 
their personal data, for 
example based upon a 
toolkit by Stonewall 
‘what it has got to do 
with you’.  In future 
report on ‘pay gaps 
such as disability and 
BAME, as well as 
gender. 
 

The Council includes an Equal 
Opportunities form with every 
recruitment application pack and 
new starter pack. This information 
is collated in order to provide 
Welsh Government with a full 
range of Equalities Data 
 
The Council produces its annual 
gender pay report and has an 
action plan to close the gap. 
 

 Revision of the Equal 
Opportunities form (in line with the 
Welsh Government template) 

 Revision of the Staff Profile 
Survey 

 The Council is working on 
broadening the application 
process during recruitment (see 
recommendation 7) 

 The Council plans to increase 
employee self-service to capture 
additional data 

 The Council will work towards 
achieving the Disability Confident 
Employer Standard 

 HR staff are working with the 
Poverty & Prevention Team to 
attract minority groups during 
recruitment 

Mar 
2021 

Service Centre 
Manager / 
Strategic 
HR&OD 
Manager 

 

15 Develop an internal 
communications rolling 
programme, led by the 
Strategic Equality 
Group, to promote 
training, challenge 
negative views or 
attitudes and provide 
positive messages to 
staff. 
 

A significant number of internal 
communications initiatives have 
already taken place this year, 
including: 

 Swansea Council and 
Swansea 50 major sponsor to 
Swansea Pride 

 Council LGBT+ Staff Group 
coordinated large council 
presence and participation at 
Pride 

Our Equalities, HR and 
Communications teams will work with 
the Strategic Equality Group to: 

 Establish key messages for staff 

 Identify opportunities to promote 
existing work and training 
opportunities within this area 

 Provide updates on 
communication activities 
undertaken both internally and 
externally around equality and 

Mar  
2020 

Head of 
Communication 
& Marketing 

P
age 516



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

 Pride flags flown from civic 
buildings for LGBT History 
Month, during Pride and for 
IDAHOT (International Day 
Against Homophobia, 
Transphobia and Biphobia) 

 Internal LGBT+ staff 
campaign – profiles of 
members and their stories. 

 Swansea Icons poll 
encourages people to vote for 
Swansea’s greatest icon.  
Features a wide range of 
people representative of the 
city’s diversity. 

 Royal visit as part of Swansea 
50 meet and greet learning 
disabilities service clients who 
work at the Victoria Park 
kiosk. 

 Profile on Hanif Miah – owner 
of Patti Pavillion as part of 
Royal visit.  

 Street Party in St Helens 
Road for Swansea 50 
celebrating the area’s cultural 
diversity 

 Holocaust Memorial events 
(school based) 

 Well-being strategy 
consultation promotion 

 Dementia friends training for 

diversity issues. 

P
age 517



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

staff and promotion of the 
scheme 

 High 5 Awards, celebrating 
success of Young people who 
have succeeded against the 
odds to make things better for 
those around them.  Winners 
this year (as in previous 
years) have included a 
number of ethnic minorities 
and those with disabilities.  

 Welsh Veterans Awards – 
council awards success 

 World Social Work Day – 
videos and feature articles for 
staff 

 Hearing Loop System for 
meetings – communications to 
raise awareness and 
encourage staff to use this 
facility 

 Local Area Coordination – 
promotion of the work of the 
local area coordination team 
within the community (staff 
and external) 

 International Woman's Day 
staff events and profiles. (staff 
and external) 

 Safeguarding Week – videos 
and feature articles for staff to 
raise awareness of the issues 

P
age 518



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

and encourage staff to take 
training 

 

16 Continue steps 
towards Swansea 
becoming a Human 
Rights City; explore 
how we could embed 
the UN Convention on 
the Rights of Persons 
with Disabilities and 
the UN Convention on 
the Elimination of 
Discrimination Against 
Women in the same 
way as with the UN 
Convention on the 
Rights of the Child.  
Ensure these 
Conventions are 
reflected in the 
Councils new 
Equalities Plan in 
2020. 
 

Work undertaken by the Council 
in relation to the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the 
Child (UNCRC) has developed to 
include a consideration of Human 
Rights. A significant amount of 
the work already undertaken by 
the Council takes into account 
Human Rights, but not all of it 
captured. 

 The Council will articulate its own 
strategy and then work with the 
Public Services Board (PSB) 

 The ultimate approach will be 
reviewed with options including 
the potential for a statement of 
intent 

 

TBC TBC 

 

17 Develop further 
opportunities for adults 
with disabilities, 
including looking at 
expanding our social 
enterprise base. 
 

 Employability support and 

sector specific skills training 

for citizens through Swansea 

Working and associated 

employability programmes.  

This has included enterprise 

 Increased promotion of 

employment and skills support for 

adults with disabilities 

 Alignment of all employability 

support through the Employability 

Commissioning review 

Mar 
2021 

Director of 
Social Services 

P
age 519



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

support.  

 Personalised 121 

employability mentor support 

for citizens  

 Adult Learning training and 

accreditation in numeracy, 

literacy and digital Essential 

Skills 

 The Commissioning Review of 

Day Opportunities which is 

now underway will actively 

consider the development of 

social enterprise as part of the 

range of future options 

 The Council has supported 

the parents of an individual 

with a learning disability to 

establish a Community 

Interest Company 

 Supporting the parents of 

people with a learning 

disability who wish to develop 

a social enterprise in 

Swansea 

 Bid for the Foundational 

Economy Fund to establish 

micro enterprises and 

cooperatives 

 The Local Area Co-ordinators 

regularly work alongside 

people with both learning and 

 A key focus of work of the new 

West Glamorgan regional 

Research, Innovation and 

Improvement Hub will be 

development of Social Enterprise, 

once established 

 

P
age 520



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

physical impairments 

 Cwmtawe has set up Cwm 

Alliance Community Interest 

Company which will be 

providing services around 

wellbeing 

 Regional funding available 

from West Glamorgan 

supports the development of a 

number of social enterprises  

 

18 Work with teachers 
and learners to tackle 
issues around gender 
stereotyping in schools 
particularly relating to 
sporting activities. 
 

All schools have a Strategic 
Equality Plan in place and must 
include equality objectives and 
explain how the school will 
achieve them.  They must also 
demonstrate that the school 
collects relevant information and 
evidence on which to base its 
decisions.  The plan is also 
required to outline processes for 
monitoring progress and 
assessing equality impacts. 
  
Equality objectives should be 
linked to existing strategies and 
approaches to inclusion, bullying, 
behaviour management, 
improving attainment, pupil voice, 
wellbeing and pupil support.  
Schools should seek to build on 
their existing work and to ensure 

The SEP template for schools will be 
reviewed in 2019/2020 and additional 
areas can be considered as part of 
this review. 
 

Mar 
2021 

Head of 
Stakeholder 
Engagement 
Unit 

P
age 521



Recommendation Action already being 
undertaken 

New Action Proposed Time
scale 

Responsible 
Officer 

questions of equality and fairness 
are considered in the mainstream 
of activities. 
  
In addition to the above, some of 
the equality objectives included in 
schools’ plans will emanate from 
issues identified as a result of 
consultation undertaken with 
pupils, parents, carers and 
governors.  These combined 
objectives, together with issues 
arising from analysis of the 
school’s data will form the basis 
of the equality objectives within 
the SEP for the next four years. 
 

 

 
 

P
age 522



Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form                           Appendix B 
 
Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while 
completing this form. If you would like further guidance please contact the 
Access to Services team (see guidance for details). 

Section 1 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 

Service Area: Digital & Transformation    

Directorate: Resources 
 

Q1(a) WHAT ARE YOU SCREENING FOR RELEVANCE? 
 

      Service/                Policy/  
      Function             Procedure             Project              Strategy                 Plan                 Proposal 

                                                                                            
 
 

 

(b) Please name and describe here: 

 
Cabinet response to the Scrutiny Inquiry into Equalities 
 
The Equalities Inquiry report was received by Cabinet on the 19 September 2019 
after the Equalities Scrutiny Inquiry Panel completed a detailed inquiry into the 
matter.   
The response to the recommendations are contained in the report. Cabinet have 
considered the contents of the scrutiny report, looking at each of the specific 
recommendations made and gained advice on whether it should agree, or not 
agree each individual recommendation. 
 
 

 

Q2(a) WHAT DOES Q1a RELATE TO? 
Direct front line  Indirect front line Indirect back room 

 service delivery service delivery service delivery 
         
   (H)        (M)  (L) 
 

(b) DO YOUR CUSTOMERS/CLIENTS ACCESS THIS…? 
     Because they  Because they   Because it is On an internal   

need to want to  automatically provided to basis 
 everyone in Swansea i.e. Staff 

            (H)        (M)    (M)  (L) 
 

Q3 WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE FOLLOWING… 
        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Don’t know 
    (H)   (M) (L)   (H) 
Children/young people (0-18)      
OIder people (50+)     
Any other age group       
Disability      
Race (including refugees)      
Asylum seekers      
Gypsies & travellers      
Religion or (non-)belief     
Sex     
Sexual Orientation     
Gender reassignment      
Welsh Language     
Poverty/social exclusion     
Carers (inc. young carers)     
Community cohesion     
Marriage & civil partnership      

Page 523



Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form                           Appendix B 
 
Pregnancy and maternity      
 

Q4 WHAT ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION / CO-PRODUCTIVE 
APPROACHES WILL YOU UNDERTAKE?  

Please provide details below – either of your planned activities or your 
reasons for not undertaking engagement 

 
Each of the recommendations has a set of actions which include a range of 
engagement / co-production activities with equality forums or internally with 
Councillors and staff. The actions are related to improvements to the way the 
Council meets the equality duty as opposed to being specifically about one service. 
Individual EIAs will be undertaken where there are significant projects, e.g. Carers’ 
Strategy.  
 
It is not visible to all residents, but will involve those members of the public 
involved in equality forums. 
 
The action plan is being presented at Cabinet and will be a public document. 
 
 
Q5(a) HOW VISIBLE IS THIS INITIATIVE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC? 
 

 High visibility Medium visibility Low visibility 
    (H)   (M)  (L) 
 
(b) WHAT IS THE POTENTIAL RISK TO THE COUNCIL’S REPUTATION? 

(Consider the following impacts – legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception  etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
     (H)         (M)          (L) 

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other 
Council service?  

 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  

      

 
Q7 HOW DID YOU SCORE?  

Please tick the relevant box 

MOSTLY H and/or M → HIGH PRIORITY   →  EIA to be completed  

        Please go to Section 2 
 

MOSTLY L    →    LOW PRIORITY /      →  Do not complete EIA 

         NOT RELEVANT    Please go to Q8 
followed by Section 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 524



Equality Impact Assessment Screening Form                           Appendix B 
 
 
 
 
Q8 If you determine that this initiative is not relevant for an EIA report, 

you must provide a full explanation here.  Please ensure that you 
cover all of the relevant protected groups.   

   
Individual projects within the action plan may be subject to full EIA once 

 those screenings have been completed. However the overall plan is to 
 improve the Council’s performance and adopt good practice around 
 equalities. 
 

Section 2 
NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for 
agreement before obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service 
approval is only required via email – no electronic signatures or paper copies are 
needed. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Sarah Lackenby 

Job title: Chief Transformation Officer 

Date: 25/10/2019 
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Adam Hill 

Position: Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Resources 

Date: 28/10/2019 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 525

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 
 

Report of the Chief Legal Officer 
 

Cabinet – 21 November 2019 
 

Exclusion of the Public 
 

Purpose: 
 

To consider whether the Public should be excluded from 
the following items of business. 

Policy Framework: 
 

None. 
 

Consultation: 
 

Legal. 

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

1) The public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following 
item(s) of business on the grounds that it / they involve(s) the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as set out in the Paragraphs listed below of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007 subject 
to the Public Interest Test (where appropriate) being applied. 

 Item No’s Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A 

 17  14 

Report Author: 
 

Democratic Services 

Finance Officer: 
 

Not Applicable 

Legal Officer: 
 

Tracey Meredith – Chief Legal Officer(Monitoring Officer) 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local 

Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007, allows a 
Principal Council to pass a resolution excluding the public from a meeting 
during an item of business. 

 
1.2 Such a resolution is dependant on whether it is likely, in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members 
of the public were present during that item there would be disclosure to them 
of exempt information, as defined in section 100I of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

 
2. Exclusion of the Public / Public Interest Test 
 
2.1 In order to comply with the above mentioned legislation, Cabinet will be 

requested to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the 
item(s) of business identified in the recommendation(s) to the report on the 

Page 526

Agenda Item 16.



grounds that it / they involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
set out in the Exclusion Paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007. 

 
2.2 Information which falls within paragraphs 12 to 15, 17 and 18 of Schedule 12A 

of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended is exempt information if and 
so long as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

 
2.3 The specific Exclusion Paragraphs and the Public Interest Tests to be applied 

are listed in Appendix A. 
 
2.4 Where paragraph 16 of the Schedule 12A applies there is no public interest 

test.  Councillors are able to consider whether they wish to waive their legal 
privilege in the information, however, given that this may place the Council in a 
position of risk, it is not something that should be done as a matter of routine. 

 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 The legislative provisions are set out in the report. 
 
4.2 Councillors must consider with regard to each item of business set out in 

paragraph 2 of this report the following matters: 
 
4.2.1 Whether in relation to that item of business the information is capable of being 

exempt information, because it falls into one of the paragraphs set out in 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended and reproduced 
in Appendix A to this report. 

 
4.2.2 If the information does fall within one or more of paragraphs 12 to 15, 17 and 

18 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended,  the 
public interest test as set out in paragraph 2.2 of this report. 

 
4.2.3 If the information falls within paragraph 16 of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 in considering whether to exclude the public members 
are not required to apply the public interest test but must consider whether 
they wish to waive their privilege in relation to that item for any reason. 

 
Background Papers:  None. 
Appendices:               Appendix A – Public Interest Test. 

Page 527



Appendix A 
 

Public Interest Test 
 

No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A 
  

12 Information relating to a particular individual. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 12 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
to make this information public would disclose personal data relating to an 
individual in contravention of the principles of the Data Protection Act.  
Because of this and since there did not appear to be an overwhelming public 
interest in requiring the disclosure of personal data they felt that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information.  Members are asked to consider this factor when determining 
the public interest test, which they must decide when considering excluding the 
public from this part of the meeting. 

  

13 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 13 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
the individual involved was entitled to privacy and that there was no overriding 
public interest which required the disclosure of the individual’s identity.  On that 
basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information.  Members are asked to 
consider this factor when determining the public interest test, which they must 
decide when considering excluding the public from this part of the meeting. 

  

14 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information). 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 14 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that: 

 

a)   Whilst they were mindful of the need to ensure the transparency and 
accountability of public authority for decisions taken by them in relation to 
the spending of public money, the right of a third party to the privacy of 
their financial / business affairs outweighed the need for that information to 
be made public; or 

 

b)   Disclosure of the information would give an unfair advantage to tenderers   
for commercial contracts. 

 

This information is not affected by any other statutory provision which requires 
the information to be publicly registered. 

 

On that basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  Members are asked 
to consider this factor when determining the public interest test, which they 
must decide when considering excluding the public from this part of the 
meeting. 

  

 

 

Page 528



No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A 
  

15 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the 
Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 15 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
whilst they are mindful of the need to ensure that transparency and 
accountability of public authority for decisions taken by them they were 
satisfied that in this case disclosure of the information would prejudice the 
discussion in relation to labour relations to the disadvantage of the authority 
and inhabitants of its area.  On that basis they felt that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.  Members are asked to consider this factor when determining the 
public interest test, which they must decide when considering excluding the 
public from this part of the meeting. 

  

16 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

 No public interest test. 
  

17 Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 

(a) To give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or 

(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 17 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
the authority’s statutory powers could be rendered ineffective or less effective 
were there to be advanced knowledge of its intention/the proper exercise of the 
Council’s statutory power could be prejudiced by the public discussion or 
speculation on the matter to the detriment of the authority and the inhabitants 
of its area.  On that basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  
Members are asked to consider this factor when determining the public interest 
test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public from this 
part of the meeting.  

  

18 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with 
the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 18 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
the authority’s statutory powers could be rendered ineffective or less effective 
were there to be advanced knowledge of its intention/the proper exercise of the 
Council’s statutory power could be prejudiced by public discussion or 
speculation on the matter to the detriment of the authority and the inhabitants 
of its area.  On that basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  
Members are asked to consider this factor when determining the public interest 
test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public from this 
part of the meeting. 

 

Page 529



Document is Restricted

Page 530

Agenda Item 17.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972
as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.



Document is Restricted

Page 557

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972
as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.


	Agenda
	3. Cofnodion.
	8. Cam 1 Abertawe Ganolog - Adroddiad Cyflwyno Terfynol.
	08a - Rivington REDACTED - Appendix 1
	08b - Appendix 2 Swansea Digital Core Principles
	08c - Appendix 3
	08d - Appendix 4 2019 7 23 SC Phase 1 EIA v4
	08e - Appendix 5
	08fi - Appendix 6 - Fin imps
	A1 Central phase 1

	08fii - Appendi6 - FPR7 Cashflow
	cashflow
	extract for report text

	08g - Ap 7 - WAO letter

	10. Canfyddiadau Adolygiad Comisiynu Tai.
	11. Monitro Refeniw a'r Gyllideb Gyfalaf - Chwarter 2il 2019/20
	11 (2 of 3) - Appendix C September 2019 MTFP Tracker Report
	11 (3 of 3) - Appendix D

	12. Marchnata Safleoedd Strategol - Cyfle am Fenter ar y Cyd yng nghanol y ddinas & FPR7.
	12 (2 of 4) - City Centre Marketing Append A
	12 (3 of 4) - City Centre Marketing Append B
	12 (4 of 4) - City Centre Marketing append C

	13. Strategaeth Cydymffurfio Statudol.
	13 (2 of 8) - Compliance Strategy Appendix A
	13 (3 of 8) - Compliance Append A1
	13 (4 of 8) - Compliance Append A2
	13 (5 of 8) - Compliance Append A3
	13 (6 of 8) - Compliance Append A4
	13 (7 of 8) - Compliance Append A5
	13 (8 of 8) - Compliance Appendix B

	14. Ymchwiliad Craffu ar Dwristiaeth - Ymateb a Chynllun Gweithredu Aelod y Cabinet.
	14 (2 of 3) - Scrutiny Toursim append a
	14 (3 of 3) - Scrutiny Inquiry on Tourism  Append b

	15. Ymchwiliad Craffu ar Waith Cydraddoldeb - Ymateb Aelodau ' r Cabinet.
	15 (2 of 2) - Equalities append b

	16. Gwahardd y cyhoedd.
	17. Cam 1 Abertawe Ganolog - Adroddiad Cyflwyno Terfynol.
	17a - Rivington Report FULL




